# **Implementation of Serbia's Domestic Violence Legislation**

December 2017







# **Implementation of Serbia's Domestic Violence Legislation**

A Human Rights Report

The Advocates for Human Rights Minneapolis, Minnesota USA

Autonomous Women's Center Belgrade, Serbia

December 2017





# **ABOUT THE ADVOCATES FOR HUMAN RIGHTS**

The mission of The Advocates for Human Rights is to implement international human rights standards in order to promote civil society and reinforce the rule of law. By involving volunteers in research, education, and advocacy, we build broad constituencies in the United States and select global communities. The Advocates has produced more than 80 reports documenting human rights practices in more than 25 countries, and works with partners overseas and in the United States to restore and protect human rights. The Advocates for Human Rights holds Special Consultative Status with the United Nations.

The Advocates for Human Rights 330 Second Avenue South, Suite 800 Minneapolis, MN 55401 USA 612-341-3302 hrights@advrights.org www.theadvocatesforhumanrights.org



# **ABOUT AUTONOMOUS WOMEN'S CENTER**

Autonomous Women's Center (AWC) is a women CSO, specialized in protection of women from domestic, intimate partner and sexual violence, with more than 20 years of experience in providing consultant and legal support to women. AWC developed programs for educations on VAW for professionals in all relevant institutions and conducted researches and policy analyses in this field. For more then 15 years, AWC is monitoring state policies, prepares legislative proposals and amendments and publicly advocate for policy changes. AWC coordinates network of women CSO's in Serbia called Women against violence, and is a member of the two largest European women networks Women Against Violence Europe (WAVE) and European Women's Lobby (EWL).

Autonomous Women's Center Tiršova 5a 11000 Belgrade, Serbia +381 11 2687 190 azc@azc.org.rs www.womenngo.org.rs/en/



# **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

This report was authored by The Advocates for Human Rights and the Autonomous Women's Center.

Special thanks to Oak Foundation and Sigrid Rausing Trust for providing the financial support to produce this report.

Special thanks and acknowledgments are due to Vanja Macanovic, Natasa Jovanovic, Sonja Lalic, Amy Bergquist, Karen Coppens, Theresa Dykoschak, Madeline Lohman, Kara Lyons, Jennifer Miernicki, Rose Park, and Robin Phillips.

The authors would like to thank the many volunteers, interns, and others who helped with the preparation of this report.

© 2017 The Advocates for Human Rights All rights reserved. Published 2017.

ISBN: 0-929293-81-9

This report is dedicated to the women of Serbia.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	6
INTRODUCTION	11
POLICE	14
ATTITUDES REGARDING DOMESTIC VIOLENCE	14
POLICE TRAINING	15
RESPONSES TO REPORTS OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE	16
RISK ASSESSMENTS	
INFORMATION TO VICTIMS	
COLLECTING EVIDENCE FROM THE SCENE AND POLICE REPORTS	19
Reporting on prior incidents	21
WARNINGS	22
ARRESTS	23
POLICE ROLE IN CRIMINAL AND MISDEMEANOR PROCEEDINGS	24
POLICE ROLE IN FAMILY LAW PROCEEDINGS: ENFORCEMENT OF PROTECTIVE MEASURES VIOLATIONS OF PROTECTIVE MEASURES	
FAMILY LAW JUDGES	29
ATTITUDES	29
CONFRONTATION	
PROTECTIVE MEASURES: GENERALLY	
PROTECTIVE MEASURES: IMMEDIATE PROTECTION IS NOT AVAILABLE	
No <i>ex parte</i> orders	
Interim protective measures are available but delayed	
PROTECTIVE MEASURES: EVICTION	
COURT DELAYS	
Heavy case loads	
Undue reliance on reports from CSWs	
Delays arising from service of summons	
PROBLEMS IN ENFORCEMENT AND EXECUTION OF ORDERS	
INFORMATION SHARING AMONG ACTORS	
NO DOMESTIC VIOLENCE SCREENINGS PRIOR TO MEDIATION OR RECONCILIATION	42

PROSECUTORS	44
TRAININGS AND ATTITUDES	45
INVESTIGATIONS	
CHARGING: MISDEMEANOR VERSUS CRIMINAL	
EVIDENCE AND VICTIM TESTIMONY	
DISMISSING CRIMINAL CHARGES	50
PRIVATE PROSECUTION	51
DEFERRAL OF PROSECUTION	52
Humanitarian fines and community service	53
Psychosocial treatment	54
MEASURES TO SECURE THE DEFENDANT	55
Detention	56
COURTROOM SECURITY	57
SENTENCES	58
Security measures	60
ROLE IN FAMILY LAW PROTECTIVE MEASURES	60
CRIMINAL JUDGES	64
ATTITUDES	64
COURTROOM SECURITY	
TIMELINES	67
CRIMINAL PROCEEDINGS	
Evidence: victim testimony	
Evidence: forensic	71
Evidence: other	71
Measures to secure the defendant and for unobstructed criminal proceedings	72
Predominant Aggressor Determinations	73
Violations of Family Law Protective Measures	73
SANCTIONS	74
Punishments	75
Influential Factors	76
Cautionary measures: suspended sentence	77
Protective supervision	

Security measures	
REHABILITATION	
MISDEMEANOR JUDGES	
NO SPECIALIZATION	
TRAINING AND ATTITUDES	
SUMMARY VS. REGULAR MISDEMEANOR PROCEEDINGS	
EVIDENCE	
CONFRONTATION	
RESTRAINING ORDERS	
SENTENCING	
DUAL CHARGES AND CONVICTIONS	
PROTECTING THE VICTIM – PRECAUTIONARY MEASURES	94
APPEALS	
CENTERS FOR SOCIAL WORK	
TRAINING	
ATTITUDES	
SAFETY OF CSW WORKERS	
RISK ASSESSMENTS	
VICTIM SERVICES	
Financial assistance	
MANDATORY REPORTING	
REQUESTS FOR PROTECTIVE MEASURES	
OPINIONS AND REPORTS TO THE FAMILY LAW COURTS	
BATTERER INTERVENTION PROGRAMS	
CHILDREN	
VICTIM SERVICES	
SHELTERS AND SAFE HOUSES	
LEGAL AID	
OTHER NGO VICTIM SERVICES	
TRACKING FEMICIDES	
DOCTORS	
IMPLEMENTATION OF THE HEALTH PROTOCOL	

BARRIERS TO EFFECTIVE RESPONSES TO DOMESTIC VIOLENCE	
Attitudes	
Domestic violence screenings	
Heavy patient loads	
ADDITIONAL MEASURES TO PROTECT VICTIMS	
Referrals to resources	
Mandatory reporting	
EVIDENCE	
Health protocol form	
Injury classification and qualification	
Forensic doctors	
INTER-AGENCY ACTIONS	
CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	
PARLIAMENT	
MINISTRY OF THE INTERIOR	
MINISTRY OF JUSTICE	
MINISTRY OF HEALTH	
MINISTRY OF SOCIAL POLICY	
POLICE	
PROSECUTORS	
CRIMINAL JUDGES	
MISDEMEANOR JUDGES	
FAMILY LAW JUDGES	
CSWs	
DOCTORS	
INTER-AGENCY ACTIONS	
APPENDIX A. EXCERPTS OF LAWS	
Criminal Code (Official Gazette of RS, Nos. 85/2005, 88/2005, 107/2005, 72/2009, 11: 121/12, 104/13, 108/14, 94/16)	
Criminal Procedure Code (Official Gazette no. 72/2011, 101/2011, 121/2012, 32/2013 and 55/2014)	
Family Law (Official Gazette no. 18/2005, 72/2011 and 6/2015)	

Law on Public Peace and Order (Official Gazette, no. 51/92, 53/93, 67/93, 48/94, 101/2005, 85/2005) (replaced by Law on Public Peace and Order (Official Gazette no. 06/2016)
Law on Public Peace and Order (Official Gazette of RS no. 06/2016) (replacing Law on Public Peace and Order (Official Gazette, no. 51/92, 53/93, 67/93, 48/94, 101/2005, 85/2005))
Misdemeanor Law (Official Gazette no. 65/2013)165
Law on Police (Official Gazette, 2005 and no. 92/2011) (replaced by Law on Police, Official Gazette, no. 06/2016)
Law on Police (Official Gazette, no. 06/2016)180
Law on Social Protection (Off. Gazette, no. 24/2011)182
APPENDIX B. COMMENTARY ON THE LAW ON PREVENTION OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE
I. GENERAL PROVISIONS
II. AUTHORITIES AND INSTITUTIONS
III. PROCEEDINGS
IV. COOPERATION IN THE PREVENTION OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE
VI. PROTECT AND SUPPORT VICTIMS OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE AND VICTIMS OF CRIMES DEFINED BY THIS LAW
VII. A RECORD OF CASES OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE
VIII. APPLICATION OF MONITORING
IX. SANCTIONS
X. CLOSING AND FINAL CONDITIONS
APPENDIX C. LIST OF TERMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

## **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

Violence against women is a global epidemic that deprives women of their human rights and is deeply rooted in gender inequalities. The World Health Organization estimates that 35 percent of women worldwide have experienced either physical or sexual violence at some point in their lives.<sup>1</sup>

Women's experiences in Serbia are no different. A study by the Serbian Directorate for Gender Equality determined that, in 2010, 37.5 percent of women in the Republic of Serbia<sup>2</sup> were victims of domestic violence; 54.2 percent were victims over the course of their lives.<sup>3</sup> Men were the perpetrators of violence in the vast majority of cases.<sup>4</sup> In nearly three-quarters of cases of violence against women, the perpetrator was a current or ex-husband or partner, and perpetrators repeated violence more than once in 75 percent of cases, and more than five times in 50 percent of cases.<sup>5</sup> At least 192 women were reportedly killed by family members or partners in Serbia between January 1, 2010, and December 31, 2015,<sup>6</sup> and this number may be even higher because the government does not track data on femicides.

Despite these high percentages, however, few cases of domestic violence make their way into and through the judicial system. As described by the Ombudsman, the number of criminal reports that police submit to the public prosecutor is ten times lower than the number of cases police receive, and the number of police-initiated misdemeanor proceedings is even lower.<sup>7</sup> At least three-quarters of reported cases of domestic violence end with a warning by police.<sup>8</sup> And indictment and trial occur in a mere 25 percent of criminal reports submitted to the public prosecutors.<sup>9</sup> Twenty-five percent of charges of domestic violence are dismissed, and deferred criminal prosecution is applied in another 15.2 percent of cases.<sup>10</sup>

Serbia has undertaken a number of measures to address violence against women. The government has ratified several relevant treaties. Serbia should be commended as a leader in the region and one of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> World Health Organization, Violence against women: Intimate partner and sexual violence against women, Fact sheet, Updated November 2017, <u>http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs239/en/</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Excluding the territory of the Autonomous Province of Kosovo and Metohija and the Autonomous Province of Vojvodina.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> List of issues and questions with regarding to the consideration of periodic reports: Serbia, Addendum, Replies of Serbia to the list of issues to be taken up in connection with the consideration of its combined second and third periodic reports (CEDAW/C/SRB/2-3), CEDAW/C/SRB/Q/2-3/Add.1, ¶39 (citing *Mapping of Domestic Violence against Women*).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Women against Violence Network, Femicide: Narrative and Quantity Annual Report for 2015, and Femicide: Statement for 2013, both available at <u>http://www.zeneprotivnasilja.net/en/femicide-in-serbia</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Republic of Serbia Protector of Citizens, Special Report of the Protector of Citizens on the Implementation of the General and Special Protocols on Protection of Women against Violence, para. 14, Belgrade, Nov. 2014 ("2014 Special Report of the Ombudsperson").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> *Id.*at ¶14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> *Id.*at ¶15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Id.

first countries to ratify the Council of Europe's Convention on Preventing and Combating Violence against Women and Domestic Violence (Istanbul Convention).<sup>11</sup>

Serbia has also enacted several laws that address violence against women specifically. Serbia included domestic violence as a crime in its Criminal Code in 2002. The Family Law entered into force in July 2005, which at that time included new protection measures against domestic violence. These measures include eviction of the perpetrator from the shared home and restraining orders from approaching persons or places. Due to the Family Law's broader definition of "family member," the scope of persons covered by its civil protections is greater than those covered under the Criminal Code.<sup>12</sup>

Beginning in 2010, several ministries also adopted protocols relating to domestic violence. The General Protocol<sup>13</sup> recognizes that the police, social protection system, health institutions, public prosecutors, and courts have affirmative obligations to act in cases of domestic violence.<sup>14</sup> In addition, the Ministry of Interior, the Ministry of Health, and the Ministry of Labor, Employment and Social Policy each adopted special protocols addressing how these ministries should act in response to reports of domestic violence. The Ministry of Justice and State Administration adopted a special protocol for judges and public prosecutors ("Judicial Protocol") in January 2014.

Despite these advances, however, full implementation of Serbia's laws has not been achieved and certain practices and procedures have a negative impact on safety for victims and accountability for offenders in Serbia. The description below summarizes the main findings of this report.

Family law courts can issue civil protective measures; however, the law does not include *ex parte* protective measures. The lack of emergency protection from family law courts and delays in the issuance of orders for protection weaken protection for victims in Serbia. The Istanbul Convention requires parties to ensure that restraining or protection orders are available for immediate protection.<sup>15</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The Istanbul Convention addresses several forms of violence against women and directs States parties to exercise due diligence to prevent, investigate, punish, and provide reparation for acts of violence, including domestic violence. Council of Europe, Convention on preventing and combating violence against women and domestic violence ("Istanbul Convention"), Treaty No. 210, Art. 5, ¶2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The scope of those covered under the definition of domestic violence in the new Law on Prevention of Domestic Violence, which entered into force on June 1, 2017, is similarly broad.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Vesna Jarić, ed., "General Protocol for Action and Cooperation of Institutions, Bodies and Organizations in the Situations of Violence against Women within the Family and in Intimate Partner Relationships" ("General Protocol"), Multisectoral Cooperation – Institutional Response to Violence against Women, Belgrade, Serbia, United Nations Development Program, 2013, General Protocol, at 14. In addition to the General Protocol, the Multisectoral Cooperation also includes the Special Protocol For Action of The Centre for Social Work – Custody Authority in Cases or Domestic and Intimate Partner Violence against Women ("CSW Protocol"), Special Protocol on Conduct of Police Officers in Cases of Domestic and Intimate Partner Violence against Women ("Police Protocol"), Republic of Serbia Ministry of Health – Special Protocol for The Protection and Treatment of Women Victims of Violence ("Health Protocol"), and Overview of The Procedure to be followed by Educational Institutions in Case of Violence Against Girls and Family Violence. These protocols are available at

http://www.rs.undp.org/content/dam/serbia/Publications%20and%20reports/English/UNDP\_SRB\_opsti%20protok ol\_eng.pdf?download.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> General Protocol, at 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Istanbul Convention, Art. 53, ¶¶1, 2.

No such authority existed under Serbian law at the time of research.<sup>16</sup> It can take the courts months – or even years – to issue protective measures because of heavy caseloads, procedural delays caused by the perpetrator, or extended deadlines to receive Centers for Social Work (CSWs) reports, even though such reports are not required. Family law judges appear to uniformly require reports from the CSW to issue even interim protective measures. In addition, even though violations of protective measures are crimes, family law judges are not required to provide their orders to the police, which can result in violations not being prosecuted. Courts also do not monitor compliance with the protective measures.

Moreover, when judges issue protective measures, the majority are restraining orders. Family law judges rarely order the violent party to be evicted from a shared home.<sup>17</sup> Indeed, judges stated a preference to avoid granting eviction measures if another protective measure can achieve the same purpose. And interviewees indicated that the rare situations where judges granted eviction were cases of extreme physical violence or where there was evidence that the perpetrator had financial capacity to support himself.

The family law courts are not the only courts plagued by delays in proceedings. The most common reasons cited for delays in other courts were problems in serving perpetrators and high caseloads. Between January 1, 2013 and June 30, 2014, courts concluded only 60 percent of the proceedings that had been initiated during that time.<sup>18</sup> Criminal proceedings relating to domestic violence typically last two years, and there were reports of cases lasting five years. One exception to delayed proceedings is the summary proceeding in misdemeanor courts, which sometimes conclude in less than 24 hours; however, amendments to the definition of public place in the Law on Public Peace and Order have reduced the law's application in domestic violence cases.

Judicial and police responses to domestic violence cases remain weak. Criminal and misdemeanor sanctions are minimal, with suspended sentences imposed in most criminal cases.<sup>19</sup> There were reports of repeat offenders receiving multiple suspended sentences. Prosecutors also defer prosecutions and imposed humanitarian fines or community service instead. Police issue an overwhelming number of warnings in response to domestic violence; one study identified that police issue warnings in 71 percent of reports.<sup>20</sup> These responses have a chilling effect on victim reports and foster a sense of impunity in perpetrators.

In addition to these weak responses, judges are requiring more evidence to impose sanctions, and judges and prosecutors place a significant amount of weight on victim testimony. Victim recantation or refusal to testify is common in domestic violence proceedings because of the social and economic pressure placed on victims. As a result of these recantations, prosecutors do not bring criminal charges, or judges drop cases. Further, even when victims testify, family law and misdemeanor courts use the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Article 17 of the LPDV, which entered into force on June 1, 2017, provides that police can impose temporary emergency measures to temporarily remove the perpetrator from the house and ban the perpetrator from contacting or approaching the victim. It is not clear yet whether these provisions will be implemented effectively. <sup>17</sup> See, e.g., Interview with Gender Equality Ombudswoman, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> 2014 Special Report of the Ombudsperson, ¶16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> *Id.* at ¶26.

dangerous practice of confrontation. This practice can be particularly harmful because it places the victim within a short distance of her attacker, allowing a perpetrator to intimidate and exert power over the victim. In addition to potentially re-traumatizing the victim, this practice may result in the court misinterpreting the victim's testimony or body language, given the lack of judicial training on the dynamics of domestic violence.

Although interviewees shared examples of system actors who demonstrated a deep understanding of the dynamics of domestic violence and a commitment to ending impunity, there were also examples of professionals whose interactions with victims demonstrated patriarchal, victim-blaming attitudes. Many of these attitudes could be countered through good training programs on the dynamics of domestic violence and the roles of these professionals; however, such trainings are not universally available. Of particular concern was the lack of training available to doctors and judges. Police appear to have taken significant steps to extend training to the greatest number of employees.<sup>21</sup>

Victims also receive limited services and support. Free legal aid is not generally available, and the strict requirements to qualify exclude many victims where it does exist. Although the new Law on Prevention of Domestic Violence (LPDV),<sup>22</sup> described below, states that victims of domestic violence have the right to free legal aid under a special law, the Law on Free Legal Aid has not yet been adopted by the government. Legal aid at reduced cost is available in certain locations; however, the legal services provided are often limited to drafting documents. The NGOs that provide these services face funding shortages. In addition, there are economic and procedural barriers for women to use the limited number of shelter spaces that are available, and financial aid from the government is too low to assist women in breaking economic dependence on violent partners.

Some recent legal developments and amendments to laws are positive steps, and the impacts of these changes are noted throughout the report, where relevant. Amendments to the Criminal Code also entered into force in June 2017, adding crimes for stalking (Article 138a) and sexual harassment (Article 182a). These amendments also increased the minimum penalty for rape from three years to five years<sup>23</sup> and removed the requirement that victims initiate cases of marital rape by motion.<sup>24</sup>

In addition to the Family Law's protective measures, victims can also obtain protection through a separate law, the LPDV. Serbia's LPDV entered into force on June 1, 2017 and will have positive and negative consequences for victims. On one hand, the LPDV allows police to issue temporary, emergency eviction and restraining orders that can be extended by the court up to 30 days and requires collaboration among system actors on domestic violence cases.<sup>25</sup> The LPDV also provides that violations of the emergency protection orders are misdemeanors subject to summary proceedings and punished by up to 60 days in prison. On the other hand, victims are left unaware of court decisions because courts

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> See, e.g., Id. at 22-23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Entered into force on June 1, 2017. This law provides protection for victims that is separate and in addition to the Family Law's protective measures.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Criminal Code, Art. 178, ¶1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> *Id.*, Art. 186.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Violations of these emergency measures are misdemeanor offenses, subject to imprisonment for up to 60 days. LPDV, Art. 36.

are not required to inform the victim whether they decided to extend the emergency order or not. The LPDV also references the Council for the Prevention of Domestic Violence, which will monitor the implementation of the law.<sup>26</sup> The LPDV also provides for the creation of a Central Register to assist professionals in domestic violence proceedings, but this register had not been established at the time of publication.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> *Id.,* Art. 35.

## **INTRODUCTION**

Serbia has made significant advances in enacting multiple laws and protocols that address domestic violence. These laws include the Criminal Code, which specifically criminalizes domestic violence, the Family Law, which provides for protective measures in cases of domestic violence, and the Law on Public Peace and Order, which is used in misdemeanor proceedings related to domestic violence.<sup>27</sup> The recent Law on Prevention of Domestic Violence (LPDV) is another step forward in addressing domestic violence in Serbia, and references to the LPDV are included throughout this report, where relevant.

First, Article 194 of the Criminal Code prohibits domestic violence and is the main provision under which acts of violence between family members can be prosecuted.<sup>28</sup> Article 194(1) defines domestic violence as the "use of violence, threat of attacks against life or limb, insolent or ruthless behaviour [that] endangers the tranquility, physical integrity or mental condition of a member of his family."<sup>29</sup> The relationship between the victim and perpetrator is a key element of Article 194.<sup>30</sup> The protections of Article 194 do not extend to ex-spouses or unmarried intimate partners who do not have mutual children or live in the same household because these individuals are not included within the Criminal Code's definition of "family member."<sup>31</sup> Article 194(5) also states that violations of civil protective measures are crimes punishable by imprisonment and a fine.

Appellate courts have strictly interpreted endangering tranquility under Article 194(1) as a "consequence" of a crime that causes long-lasting effects.<sup>32</sup> Thus, a single act would not endanger someone's tranquility under Article 194(1) unless it resulted in long-term consequences.<sup>33</sup> In a case where a husband poured water over his wife and forced her to sleep wet next to an open window during winter, the appellate court overturned the basic court's conviction, stating:

... It is not enough that the perpetrator of the criminal act jeopardized the tranquility of the family for the first time. It is necessary that this disturbance lasts for a shorter or longer period of time ... [that] the endangerment presents a continuous condition for members of the family... This court finds the ruthless behavior of the defendant did

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Most misdemeanor cases involving domestic violence were charged under Article 6 or 12 of the previous Law on Public Peace and Order. The parallel provisions under the new Law on Public Peace and Order are Articles 7, 8, and 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Article 194(4) also addresses domestic violence offenses that result in the death of a family member, but prosecutors may use Article 114(10) for aggravated murder because it carries a higher penalty. Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B, Oct. 16, 2014. Article 114(10) carries a prison sentence of ten years minimum or thirty to forty years, and Article 194(4) carries a prison term of three to fifteen years. Article 194(4) applies to murder by negligence, while a prosecutor must show premeditation to use Article 114. Interview with Prosecutor, Location B, Oct. 16, 2014 (explaining that, conversely, the aggravated murder provision of Article 114 requires premeditation).
<sup>29</sup> Criminal Code, Art. 194(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Criminal Code, Art. 112(28). These individuals are, however, covered by the definition of family member under Article 197 of the Family Law.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Id.

not jeopardize the tranquility of the victim, considering the fact that he has committed this action only during one instance  $\dots$ .<sup>34</sup>

Second, the Family Law clearly prohibits domestic violence and further provides that "[e]veryone has the right to protection from domestic violence in accordance with the law."<sup>35</sup> Specifically, domestic violence is defined as "the behavior by which one family member endangers the physical integrity, mental health or tranquility of another family member."<sup>36</sup> "Family members" include spouses and former spouses, children, those who live in the same family household, those who live or lived together, and those who are or were in an emotional or sexual relationship or have a child in common.<sup>37</sup> Since the Family Law definition includes those who are or were in a relationship, the group of persons who qualify as victims of domestic violence under the civil Family Law is broader than that under the Criminal Law.

The Family Law describes five protective measures that a court may order against domestic violence perpetrators:

- 1. the issuance of a warrant for eviction from a family apartment or house, regardless of a right to property or a lease to immovable property;
- 2. the issuance of a warrant for moving into a family apartment or house, regardless of a right to property or a lease to immovable property;
- 3. prohibition of getting closer to a family member than a certain distance;
- 4. prohibition of access to the vicinity of the place of residence or workplace of a family member;
- 5. prohibition of further molestation of a family member.<sup>38</sup>

With regard to misdemeanor domestic violence cases, those offenses were charged under Articles 6 or 12 of the previous Law on Public Peace and Order. These articles were not specific to domestic violence and generally addressed violence. Article 6 covered disruptions of public peace and order by arguments or shouting, interference with safety, threats to life or of bodily harm, insults or mistreatment, use of force, or provocation or participation in physical fights.<sup>39</sup> Article 12 addressed indecent, impudent, or ruthless behavior that interferes with peace or disrupts public order and peace.<sup>40</sup> The new Law on Public Peace and Order that entered into force in January 2016 includes articles that parallel these offenses; however, the sanctions are lower in many cases<sup>41</sup> and its definition of "public place" precludes its

<sup>39</sup> Amendments to the Law on Public Peace and Order that entered into force on January 26, 2016, also are not specific to domestic violence and are general articles addressing quarrels or noise in public places (Art. 7), or insults and the use or threat of violence (Art. 9). Law on Public Peace and Order (Off. Gazette of RS, no. 6/2016).
<sup>40</sup> Amendments to the Law on Public Peace and Order that entered into force on January 26, 2016, also are not

specific to domestic violence and are general articles addressing rude, insolent or ruthless behavior (Art. 8). Law on Public Peace and Order (Off. Gazette of RS, no. 6/2016).

<sup>41</sup> *Id.*, Arts. 7-9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Family Law, Art. 10(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> *Id.,* Art. 197.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Family Law, Art. 198(2).

application to domestic violence situations unless they occur in public, were audible, or the consequences occurred in public.<sup>42</sup>

Beginning in 2010, several ministries adopted protocols related to domestic violence. The General Protocol recognizes that the police, social protection system, health institutions, public prosecutors, and courts have positive obligations to act in cases of domestic violence.<sup>43</sup> The special protocols for the police, health care, CSWs, and judiciary/public prosecutors detail specific actions that these actors should take in responding to domestic violence.<sup>44</sup>

Several of these changes were developed following major reforms within the judicial system in Serbia. In 2010 and 2012, new laws on the organization of courts, judges, and prosecution entered into effect, and the Criminal Code and Criminal Procedure Code were amended in 2013. These laws significantly increased the role of public prosecutors in criminal cases and altered the roles of criminal judges and the police.

Despite the legal and policy advances and efforts to improve court structures, significant gaps remain both within the language of the laws and with their implementation to protect victims of domestic violence and hold perpetrators accountable. As described by one interviewee, "[i]t is our experience that there are a lot of things on the books, but problems arise when you implement them."<sup>45</sup>

To monitor the implementation of these laws, the Autonomous Women's Center and The Advocates for Human Rights conducted fact-finding interviews in Serbia to assess the government's implementation of domestic violence laws. The authors conducted two monitoring missions in October 2014 and February 2015 in four cities, including several municipalities within the capital, Belgrade. The authors conducted 92 interviews with ministry officials, non-governmental organizations (NGOs), shelter workers, Centers for Social Work (CSW) employees, police, judges, prosecutors, health care workers, ombudspersons, and local government officials. Since the monitoring missions, The Autonomous Women's Center has provided information on legislative updates and other developments.

This report presents findings on the implementation of relevant legislation and makes recommendations, based on international human rights standards, on ways to increase victim safety and offender accountability.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> *Id.*, Art. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> General Protocol, at 20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> The Special Protocol for the Judiciary in cases of violence against women in the family and intimate relationships was issued by the Ministry of Justice and State Administration, and it is dated Jan. 14, 2014. It addresses the special role of the public prosecutors, and criminal, family, and misdemeanor judges. Number 119-01-00130/2013-05, available at mpravde.gov.rs/files/Protokol p14. 1. 2014..doc. This document was not available in English.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Interview with Gender Equality Deputy Ombudsman, Belgrade, Oct. 16, 2014.

## POLICE

Police play an essential role in responding to domestic violence in Serbia. Police are a gateway to the justice system and receive the highest number of reports within Serbia's legal and social service systems.<sup>46</sup> They also serve as a point of access to victim services; for example, most referrals to CSWs come from the police.<sup>47</sup>

Serbian laws and policies give police important responsibilities in domestic violence cases.<sup>48</sup> Several laws, primarily the Criminal Procedure Code, Law on Police, and Misdemeanor Law, set forth the police authority and roles. In addition, the Ministry of the Interior (MoI) adopted the Special Protocol on Conduct of Police Officers in Cases of Domestic and Intimate Partner Violence against Women (Police Protocol) in February 2013.<sup>49</sup> The protocol describes appropriate police conduct in cases of domestic violence and requires ongoing assessment of measures to protect against domestic violence, identification of needs and improvements, and monitoring, including collection and dissemination of data.<sup>50</sup> Both the Police and General Protocols provide detailed procedures for police to follow in domestic violence cases and their interactions with other actors.

Police have taken steps to disseminate the Police Protocol,<sup>51</sup> and reports of their efforts to implement the protocol have been positive.<sup>52</sup> Although police have shown marked progress in improving their response to domestic violence, interviews reflected additional areas for improvement, including training and implementation of procedures, evidence collection and reporting to prosecutors, eliminating the use of warnings, and increasing requests for misdemeanor precautionary measures.

## ATTITUDES REGARDING DOMESTIC VIOLENCE

As an entry point to the justice system, police demeanors and attitudes often impact whether a victim will pursue justice.<sup>53</sup> Interviewees expressed a range of opinions on the police, from exemplary police officers to those who blamed the victim for bringing violence upon herself.<sup>54</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> 2014 Special Report of the Ombudsperson, at 25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Interview with CSW, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014 (majority of cases notified by the police); Interview with CSW, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014 (police report 70 percent of the cases); Interview with CSW, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014 (majority of cases notified by the police).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> This role increases under the LPDV because police have the authority to order temporary, emergency restraining orders and evictions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> 2014 Special Report of the Ombudsperson, at 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Police Protocol, at 89.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Police, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014 (reporting that they received a printing of a smaller, pocket version of the Police Protocol).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> Interview with Gender Equality Deputy Ombudsman, Belgrade, Oct. 16, 2014; *see also* Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015 ("Police did the most to give life to their Special Protocol.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> As described below in Collecting Evidence from the Scene and Police Reports, the information that police gather and relay from the scene informs the prosecutors, who, in turn, decide whether to qualify an incident as a criminal offense and whether to detain a perpetrator. When police incorporate their personal attitudes in the information they convey, this can influence the prosecutor's response and result in serious crimes going unpunished. Interview with Prosecutor, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 25, 2015.

One NGO recognized the great contribution that police can make in protecting victims of violence, describing particular officers with whom they have good cooperation as "pearls within the institution."<sup>55</sup> Such officers are important allies when other officers fail to respond appropriately. The NGO described a police officer who refused to intervene in a domestic violence case within the Roma community. The victim had been dragged and had rope marks on her legs. The initial police officer assessed the situation as "not being serious" and without risk. The victim repeatedly called the police for help over several hours, but could not elicit a response. Finally, an NGO contacted a "pearl" police officer at home, who then contacted his colleague and resolved the situation.<sup>56</sup>

Interviews revealed concerns about police attitudes that minimize violence and result in police inaction.<sup>57</sup> In one example involving repeated physical violence against a woman and her children, the police blamed the victim and asked, "How did you provoke him so that he got so crazy? It's 11:00 p.m. and the children are not in bed, so he has a reason to beat you. You are at home all day, and you make the same lunch every day."<sup>58</sup> In another example, an elderly victim was subjected to physical violence by her husband and son. At times, they cut off the electricity to her part of the house. When she reported to the police, the police spoke with everyone, but did nothing else. As a result, the elderly victim did not contact the police again.<sup>59</sup>

#### **POLICE TRAINING**

The Police Protocol calls for training on regulations and principles of police conduct, dynamics of domestic violence, prejudices, the prosecutor's role, court procedures, support groups for victims, and information exchange with other sectors.<sup>60</sup> In addition, the Police Protocol urges basic training for all officers working on domestic violence reports, with specialized training for officers who more frequently address issues of domestic violence.<sup>61</sup> Such trainings are especially important to counteract police attitudes that minimize violence. As observed by one interviewee, "Abusers use all the mechanisms to make it impossible for the victim of domestic violence to get protection. It is very dangerous because institutions like the CSW and police do not recognize hidden indicators of violence and often believe the abusers."<sup>62</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014 (insulting the victim's nationality). *See also* Interview with Police, Location B-1, Oct. 17, 2014; Interview with Gender Equality Ombudswoman, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> Interview with NGO, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A, Oct. 13, 2014 (police prioritize physical violence); Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014 (reporting that police lecture domestic violence victims to "keep silent, to be more tolerant," and then leave).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> Police Protocol, at 88.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> *Id.*, at 88-89.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> Interview with Gender Equality Ombudswoman, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014.

The police appear to have taken significant steps to train officers on domestic violence.<sup>63</sup> Interviews revealed that the police receive trainings from multiple sources, including the MoI,<sup>64</sup> local police directorates,<sup>65</sup> and NGOs.<sup>66</sup> Police reported completing at least some basic training for responding to domestic violence,<sup>67</sup> including annual or semi-annual trainings.<sup>68</sup> Interviews revealed, however, that not all police undergo appropriate training.<sup>69</sup> Other interviews revealed specific training gaps, such as recognizing signs of coercive control.<sup>70</sup>

### **RESPONSES TO REPORTS OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE**

Police maintained they respond to all reports of domestic violence.<sup>71</sup> Interviews revealed, however, that whether they respond at times depends on their assessment of the "veracity" of the caller and the severity of the situation.<sup>72</sup> At least one interview revealed instances when police dismissed a woman's fears in high-risk cases. A CSW interviewee described how the police would not respond to long-term violence despite the perpetrator's repeated break-ins into the victim's home:

He was leaving different notes saying, "God will punish you." He was unscrewing light bulbs. She was afraid he would put something in her food. He would leave semen in her

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> Information reported to the Protector of Citizens by the police directorates and police stations. There were 487 police officers trained in nine municipalities between January 2013 and June 2014. 342 of these officers were in Niš, 59 in Vranje, and 40 in Cacak. 2014 Special Report of the Ombudsperson, at 22-23. At least one NGO, however, reported that most police in their area were not aware of the current protocols. Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> Previous Law on Police, Art. 153. The Ministry of the Interior is required to implement advanced training in its inhouse educational institutions and other units; however, it was unclear whether the Ministry of the Interior had developed trainings for police officers to specialize in domestic violence. Interview with Police, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Family Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Police, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014. Each police directorate has designated two coordinators, and police officers reported that they had conducted trainings with respect to the Police Protocol.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup>Interview with Police, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Police, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview with Police, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Police, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> Interview with Police, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 13, 2014 (describing visits to all 27 of the police districts to give three-hour lectures on domestic violence); Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> Interview with Police, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Police, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview with Police, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Police, Location D, Oct. 15, 2014 (reporting NGO seminar attendance but "no official training").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> Interview with CSW, Location B, Oct. 15, 2014 (but noting that the police deal well with indicators of sexual and physical violence). Coercive control includes tactics such as stalking, monitoring or regulating the victim's activities of daily living such as her access to money, food, and transportation. The tactics may include controlling how the victim dresses, cleans, cooks, or performs sexually. These types of extreme control measures target the victim's autonomy, independence and dignity in ways that compromise her ability to make decisions to escape from the subjugation. The Advocates for Human Rights, *Coercive Control: A New Model for Understanding Domestic Violence*, StopVAW, available at www.stopvaw.org.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 17, 2014; Interview with Police, Location B-1, Oct. 17, 2014; Interview with Police, Location D, Oct. 15, 2014.

towels.... She was trapped in this apartment for months. He would break the lock and she would fix it, and he would break the lock, and she would fix it. It was a very expensive lock, so that was part of the economic abuse. He even used a drill to break the lock.... [The police] would not respond. They would say, 'she is calling again.' They would not intervene in the proper way. They would not go to the crime scene.<sup>73</sup>

Police generally recognize that "[t]he first and the main duty of the officer who comes to the scene is to stop the violence and to separate the victim and the perpetrator."<sup>74</sup> In addition, at least one police station reported bringing a female officer when responding to domestic violence calls if she is on the shift.<sup>75</sup> Police take statements<sup>76</sup> and, if there are objects that may be used as evidence, they conduct an onsite investigation,<sup>77</sup> take pictures of the home, and collect weapons used by the perpetrator.<sup>78</sup> With regard to telephone reports, police appear to be implementing some portions of the Police Protocol, including those that relate to collecting information. Officers from at least four police stations reported that they ask the recommended questions from the Police Protocol, <sup>79</sup> including questions about victim safety, presence of weapons, details about the event, and the parties' history of violence.<sup>80</sup>

If a party needs medical attention, police either call for assistance or transport the injured person to the emergency room.<sup>81</sup> Not all police consistently follow these practices, however, and there were examples of police failing to provide appropriate responses to victims with visible injuries. An NGO described the story of a woman with severe injuries:

Last year, we had a case of a woman with so many injuries. . . . She asked the police to take her to the health care center, but they did not. . . . After she fainted [from the injuries], they got scared and informed the health care service. She is a victim of violence, and the police came and brought both of them, the victim and perpetrator, in the same car to the police station. . . . After [an NGO filed a petition against the police officers], she experienced a lot of pressure from the police that she dared to file a petition against them. . . . The complaint against the police was for both not bringing her to the health center and also for bringing them both in. . . . She suffered more serious

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> Interview with Police, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014. This reflects the good practice in the Police Protocol of having female police officers interview female victims. Police Protocol, at 84

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Police, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Police, Location D, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Police, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Doctor, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014 (noting that they go to the scene with police and police always separate the victim and perpetrator).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> Interview with Police, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> Interview with Police, Location D, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> Police Protocol, at 78-79; Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Police, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview with Police, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> Interview with Police, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> *Id.*; Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 17, 2014; Interview with Doctor, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014 (stating the police always call for medical assistance in cases of domestic violence); Interview with Police, Location D, Oct. 14, 2014 (stating they refer both parties to doctors, if there are no other witnesses).

harm because the police wouldn't take her there. . . . Her lips were lacerated, and she had a swollen eye.  $^{82}$ 

#### **RISK ASSESSMENTS**

Risk assessments are an effective tool that police can use to identify dangers to victims.<sup>83</sup> The Police Protocol recognizes their importance and references the need for officers to assess the risks to victims and themselves.<sup>84</sup> One police officer pointed out that "all parts of the system should be working on risk assessments, because the next cycles of violence could be much stronger, and the victim could be killed. What happens in our leaky system?"<sup>85</sup>

Despite the importance of risk assessments, interviews revealed that police were not consistently using them.<sup>86</sup> One officer, who looked to the Ministry for further guidance, admitted being unsure of what actions to take because the Police Protocol did not provide an assessment tool. Other officers used the common risk factors listed in the Police Protocol.<sup>87</sup> The 2017 LPDV includes provisions requiring police to conduct risk assessments when they receive reports of domestic violence.<sup>88</sup> It is crucial that police use the standard risk assessment tools and receive training to ensure consistent and effective implementation.

#### **INFORMATION TO VICTIMS**

Pursuant to the Law on Police<sup>89</sup> and the Police Protocol,<sup>90</sup> police are required to inform victims of their rights and the measures they or prosecutors take with respect to the perpetrator.<sup>91</sup> Police generally

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014. In another example, a perpetrator would not let his wife go to the doctor and she suffered violence for many years. When she finally called the police, they did not bring her to the health care center for an assessment of untreated injuries of potentially dislocated joints or broken bones.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> Risk assessments are tools to establish how safe or at risk of future violence a survivor may be, ensure that she receives appropriate protection, and help her develop a safety plan.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> The Police Protocol includes a list of 14 common risks in domestic violence situations. Police Protocol, at 81.
 <sup>85</sup> Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014. Risk assessments by police officers are even more important because prosecutors report not using risk assessments and relying on the police and victims for this information.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Police Protocol, at 81.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> See LPDV, Art. 16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> The previous Law on Police provided that "[i]n performing law enforcement duties, the police shall provide information and advice to individuals relevant to their personal safety and property, as well as other related information obtained by the police...." Law on Police (2005, 2011), Art. 189.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> The Police Protocol acknowledges that the victim needs information about all participants involved in providing assistance and ensuring safety, and the Police Protocol requires the police to clearly inform the victim of her legal rights, especially the protective measures and the measures and actions to be undertaken by police in the future against the perpetrator. Police Protocol, at 85-86.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> If the prosecutor determines that there are no elements of an *ex officio* crime, the Police Protocol requires police officers to inform the victim of the qualification, tell her that she can file a private complaint, and notify the victim of police measures undertaken in connection with the Misdemeanor Law (Police Protocol, at 83). Article 51 of the Criminal Procedure Code also states that the prosecutor must notify the victim that they can object to the prosecutor's decision. The LPDV also requires that relevant institutions that have the first contact with a victim of domestic violence give the victim complete notification of authorities, legal persons and associations and the

reported that, after taking a victim's statement, they inform her of her options.<sup>92</sup> Police typically do so verbally rather than provide information in writing,<sup>93</sup> even though she may be in shock after the violence.<sup>94</sup> Moreover, police practice on providing information was inconsistent. The Gender Equality Provincial Ombudsperson expressed concern about the failure of police to inform a victim about her right to file protective measures.<sup>95</sup> Police admitted that the information a victim received regarding applications for protective measures under the Family Law depended on which officer responded to the scene.<sup>96</sup> The LPDV, however, now requires police to send written information to a victim if they issue an emergency protection measure, including which measures they issue and when they will expire.<sup>97</sup>

#### **COLLECTING EVIDENCE FROM THE SCENE AND POLICE REPORTS**

Police intervention at the scene is the first step to protect victims and hold perpetrators accountable. Other duties include "[c]ollect[ion of] all data necessary to inform and prove the criminal offense or misdemeanor of domestic or intimate partner violence."<sup>98</sup> This information is especially important as it can impact the qualification of charges. Pursuant to the Criminal Procedure Code, prosecutors qualify whether an incident is a criminal offense based on information from the police.<sup>99</sup> Reports that document repeat violence involving the same parties can compel prosecutors to charge acts as criminal, rather than misdemeanor, offenses.<sup>100</sup> Prosecutors also rely on police information to identify next steps to take in the investigation.<sup>101</sup>

<sup>92</sup> Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Police, Location D, Oct. 14, 2014. One police station reported good practices in providing referrals to SOS hotlines and the local municipality, but it was unclear whether they also provided information on protective measures. Interview with Police, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014.
<sup>93</sup> Interview with Police, Location D, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>98</sup> Police Protocol, at 80. The Criminal Procedure Code also states: "[i]f there are grounds for suspicion that a criminal offense which is prosecutable *ex officio* has been committed, the police [are] required ... to detect and secure traces of the criminal offense and objects which may serve as evidence, as well as to collect all information which could be of benefit for the successful conduct of criminal proceedings," Criminal Procedure Code, Art. 286, and notify the public prosecutor within no more than 24 hours about the performance of the measures the police have taken. Criminal Procedure Code, Art. 286; Interview with Police, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>99</sup> Criminal Procedure Code, Art. 43; Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 17, 2014. Interview with Police, Location B-1, Oct. 17, 2014; Interview with Police, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview with Police, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014.
 <sup>100</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>101</sup> Criminal Procedure Code, Art. 285; Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 17, 2014; Interview with Police, Location D, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014 ("We mostly collect evidence through the police but we can do it directly as well."). 2014 Special Report of the Ombudsperson, p. 26-27 (stating "out of the total number of 6624 criminal charges pressed with the [prosecutors], the majority of them were pressed by the police – 5284, followed by victims – 1051, and

actions provided for protection and support, in a way and language that a victim of violence can understand. LPDV, Art. 29.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>94</sup> Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Police, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup> Interview with Gender Equality Ombudswoman, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup> Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014. The police interviewee attributed this shortfall to the lack of training to familiarize all officers with the new protocols and regulations, the high number of new police officers, and the lack of recent or new trainings before the police respond to the scene.
<sup>97</sup> LPDV, Art. 17.

As described in the Prosecutors Section on Evidence and Victim Testimony, when police do conduct effective investigations and gather evidence, they can help promote successful prosecutions even without victim cooperation. In one case of severe physical violence, the police immediately photographed the scene and victim.<sup>102</sup> Although the victim later withdrew her statement, the prosecutor and courts could still use evidence from witnesses and police photographs.<sup>103</sup> The offender received a six-month prison sentence.<sup>104</sup>

Nevertheless, interviews revealed that police at times prepare incomplete reports or fail to collect all information from the scene,<sup>105</sup> which prevents critical information from being relayed to the prosecution.<sup>106</sup> For example, the Police Protocol directs police to specify the type and location of the victim's injuries and, with the victim's consent, take photographs.<sup>107</sup> The type and extent of injuries affects how the prosecutor qualifies an incident. Police, however, are not consistently following this procedure, and prosecutors reported that police rarely take photographs.<sup>108</sup> Instead, police defer to forensic doctors or experts to photograph and describe a victim's injuries.<sup>109</sup> Not all victims, however, visit a forensic or medical doctor, and consequently, police observations in their report may be the only documented description of injuries.<sup>110</sup>

Interviewees offered several explanations for the gaps in information collection. Police do not have a checklist of the information prosecutors need to charge and prosecute domestic violence offenses. Without this tool, the prosecutor on call bears the responsibility for asking the appropriate questions so that police do not omit any information.<sup>111</sup> Given these gaps, several interviewees recommended

other bodies and institutions – 289."). Information collected by the police can also be used in misdemeanor proceedings or by the Family Law courts in connection with requests for protective measures.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>102</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>103</sup> As described in the Criminal Judge Section on Evidence: victim testimony, victims may decide to withdraw their statements for a variety of reasons, including fear, financial constraints, or a misunderstanding of the process.
 <sup>104</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>106</sup> Interview with Gender Equality Ombudswoman, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup> Police Protocol, at 83. The Police Protocol also requires the police to "[c]ollect clothes that are torn or bloody, as well as objects that can provide traces, etc., in accordance with the rules of criminal tactics and techniques" and "[p]hotograph and describe the appearance of the scene of events as found..."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Police, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Police, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014 (stating "but also when the patrol is at the crime scene and doing interviews there, the police record in the report any injuries police might notice. When we file a misdemeanor petition or in the case of criminal charges and are witnessing in the court, usually the other side would ask us what we witnessed in [the] crime scene. And they insist on a description.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>109</sup> Interview with Police, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview with Police, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014 (forensic experts report to the scene when the violence is more severe); Interview with Police, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014 (stating "it's not up to us to assess."); Interview with Police, Location D, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 17, 2014; Interview with Police, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 17, 2014; Interview with Police, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup> Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015.

POLICE

additional trainings on securing a crime scene and effective reporting to prosecutors for charging decisions, as well as the development of a standard checklist of questions.<sup>112</sup> At least one police station had established a standard list of 11 questions,<sup>113</sup> but this did not appear to be a widespread practice. The Ministry of the Interior has created a checklist for specialized officers to conduct risk assessments required by the LPDV.<sup>114</sup>

#### **Reporting on prior incidents**

Police reports also provide critical documentation of an offender's history. The Police Protocol broadly requires police to submit to prosecutors a history of all prior convictions, records of domestic violence protective measures and any violations, reports of violence to the police, and information from other sources.<sup>115</sup> An NGO indicated, however, that they still advise their clients to ask for copies of police reports in case they became unavailable.<sup>116</sup> Police also reported they rarely received orders for protective measures from family law courts.<sup>117</sup>

Shortfalls in police reports can create serious gaps in the prosecution process. Because police provide information to misdemeanor judges, proper collection and transmission of all relevant information is essential.<sup>118</sup> Misdemeanor courts may assume that police include the perpetrator's history of violence,<sup>119</sup> when in fact, not all police stations do so.<sup>120</sup> Without it, a judge may erroneously assume there is no prior misdemeanor history and consequently, fail to identify repeat offenders. One NGO specifically attributed ineffective criminal prosecutions to omissions of domestic violence histories in police reports.<sup>121</sup> As with misdemeanor judges, criminal judges do not typically investigate a perpetrator's history but tend to rely on the police report. If that report omits his history, they cannot make an appropriate assessment, particularly when the current incident does not involve extreme violence.<sup>122</sup>

A positive development is that risk assessments under the LPDV require a specialized police officer to assess whether the perpetrator has previously committed domestic violence.<sup>123</sup> The police provide this risk assessment to the Center for Social Work and the public prosecutor who, if he or she moves to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup> Interview with Attorney, Location J, Feb. 25, 2015; Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup> Interview with Police, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Attorney, Location J, Feb. 25, 2015; Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> Personal communication from NGO to The Advocates for Human Rights, via email, Nov. 19, 2017 (on file with authors).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup> Police Protocol, p. 83; Interview with Police, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup> See Police Role in Family Law Proceedings: Enforcement of Protective Measures and Violations of Protective Measures.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location B, Oct. 17, 2014; Interview with Police, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location B, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>121</sup> Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>122</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>123</sup> LPDV, Art. 16.

extend the emergency measures, also assesses the risk again and provides the risk assessment to the court.<sup>124</sup>

#### WARNINGS

When a victim is finally encouraged to report the violence and police only issue a warning, she loses her trust in the institutions.... The police justify issuing warnings by saying that it was a one-off incident that happened for the first time. They keep forgetting the possibility a victim suffered and was exposed to violence for many years and that perhaps this was the [first] time she reported the violence.

- Gender Equality Ombudsperson<sup>125</sup>

Police may issue warnings to persons "whose actions or failure to act may endanger personal or thirdparty safety or property, disturb public order or endanger traffic, or when there are reasonable grounds to expect that a person may commit, or induce another to commit, a criminal offense."<sup>126</sup> Available data indicated that police overwhelmingly issued warnings in response to domestic violence, instead of pursuing criminal or misdemeanor actions. The Ombudsman's 2014 report indicated that in 14 municipalities and cities, 71 percent of reports ended with an oral warning by the police to the perpetrator of violence. Just 10.6 percent of reports ended with the police pressing criminal charges, and 5.5 percent of reports ended with the police initiating misdemeanor charges.<sup>127</sup> The Gender Equality Ombudswoman also expressed concern about the high number of warnings.<sup>128</sup>

The circumstances for which police used oral warnings varied. Some police insisted they never issue warnings in any circumstances<sup>129</sup> or would not use them in cases where there were visible injuries.<sup>130</sup> Others reserve warnings for certain cases,<sup>131</sup> such as cases involving intoxication or verbal insults.<sup>132</sup> Several officers reported seeking direction from the prosecutor.<sup>133</sup>

At times, police used warnings in cases when they should pursue charges. One officer issued a warning in response to a violation of a restraining order instead of seeking criminal prosecution.<sup>134</sup> Another interviewee revealed how the police issued an oral warning after a husband beat his wife in front of the CSW.<sup>135</sup> Others used warnings for repeat offenders.<sup>136</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>124</sup> LPDV, Arts. 16 and 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>125</sup> Interview with Gender Equality Ombudsperson, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup> Previous Law on Police, Art. 39; 2016 Law on Police, Art. 72.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>127</sup> 2014 Special Report of the Ombudsperson, p. 26. 2629/3713, 395/3713, and 205/3713, respectively.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>128</sup> In 2013, 62 percent of police reports ended in warnings. Interview with Gender Equality Ombudswoman, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014 (2,564 out of 4,114).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>129</sup> Interview with Police, Location B-1, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>130</sup> Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup> Interview with Police, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>132</sup> Interview with Police, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Police, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>133</sup> Interview with Police, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Police, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Police, Location B-1, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>134</sup> Interview with Police, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014; Criminal Code, Art. 194, para. 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>135</sup> Interview with Minister of Social Policy, Belgrade, Oct. 18, 2014.

#### ARRESTS

The 2013 Criminal Procedure Code curtailed police authority to arrest and detain perpetrators. Police formerly decided whether to detain perpetrators.<sup>137</sup> After 2013, public prosecutors decide whether acts are criminal offenses and whether the police should arrest and hold the suspect in custody.<sup>138</sup> Absent criminal court approval extending detention, the period of custody is limited to 48 hours.<sup>139</sup> Police reported that prosecutors make these determinations, but do not notify police in a timely manner.<sup>140</sup> In addition to delays, officers also expressed frustration because prosecutors rarely impose detention even though necessary for victim safety.<sup>141</sup> In these cases, shelters are the only immediate option to protect victims.<sup>142</sup>

Police can detain perpetrators for misdemeanor offenses for a limited period of time.<sup>143</sup> Interviewees, however, were unclear on their authority. Some police indicated they had discretion to hold a perpetrator in custody for 48 hours,<sup>144</sup> while others waited until the prosecutor determined criminal charges.<sup>145</sup> Interviewees also reported different durations for detention, ranging from 4 hours<sup>146</sup> to 12

<sup>140</sup> Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>141</sup> Id.

<sup>143</sup> Police Protocol, at 82. First, if the perpetrator is drunk, police are able to hold him for up to 12 hours. Interview with Police, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 17, 2014; Misdemeanor Law, Art. 193 (if there is a risk the perpetrator will continue to carry out violations). Second, police can detain in situations of aggravated violence (Interview with Police, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014) or if a person's life is threatened. Interview with Police, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014. Third is a situation where police estimate that the perpetrator will continue the violence. Misdemeanor Law, Art. 190; Interview with Police, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Police, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014. Fourth, they can detain for up to 24 hours if there are no judges or prosecutors on call. Misdemeanor Law, Art. 190 (if cannot be immediately taken to court and the police suspect he will immediately resume the offense); Interview with Police, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014. Fifth is a situation where the police catch the perpetrator conducting a criminal offense. Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 13, 2014. In this situation, the police must bring the perpetrator directly to the prosecutor. Criminal Procedure Code, Art. 291. And finally, if the prosecutor has decided not to pursue criminal proceedings, the police can detain the person according to misdemeanor proceedings. Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Police, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>144</sup> Interview with Police, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014 (stating "the perpetrator would be brought to the station, because my authority is that I don't need the prosecution consent to detain him for 48 hours. Those are my authorities").

<sup>145</sup> Interview with Police, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Police, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014 (stating "in case the prosecutor has decided that, according to the Criminal Code, the perpetrator is to be detained for 48 hours, we inform the perpetrator of the decision, and he will be taken to prosecutor for summary proceedings where the prosecutor decides to do summary proceedings.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>136</sup> Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>137</sup> Interview with Police, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>138</sup> Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 25, 2015; Interview with Police, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Police, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; Interview with Police, Location B-1, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>139</sup> Criminal Procedure Code, Art. 294; Interview with Police, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014. This 48-hour period of time allows the police to collect evidence, take witness statements, obtain medical documentation, and create criminal complaints, while the perpetrator does not have contact with others. If the police complete their work before the 48 hours expires, the prosecutor can authorize the defendant's release.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>142</sup> Id.

hours<sup>147</sup> to 24 hours.<sup>148</sup> This confusion may result in police failing to effectively exercise their authority to detain a perpetrator. Such authority is especially important in misdemeanor cases, where judges report they lack authority to detain defendants.<sup>149</sup>

POLICE

## POLICE ROLE IN CRIMINAL AND MISDEMEANOR PROCEEDINGS

Police are required to immediately submit criminal complaints to the public prosecutors.<sup>150</sup> After this step, police involvement in criminal proceedings is limited to testifying,<sup>151</sup> collecting further evidence,<sup>152</sup> assisting with service of process as needed,<sup>153</sup> and enforcing court orders.<sup>154</sup>

In contrast, police play a larger role in misdemeanor proceedings.<sup>155</sup> Under the Misdemeanor Law, the injured party, the public prosecutor, or another authorized party can initiate misdemeanor proceedings.<sup>156</sup> In reality, victims rarely, if ever, file such a request.<sup>157</sup> Instead, police generally initiate

<sup>150</sup> Under Article 281 of the Criminal Procedure Code, police are required to immediately submit criminal complaints to the public prosecutors.

<sup>151</sup> Police disagreed on the frequency with which they testified in criminal proceedings. One officer stated that ninety percent of cases went to deferral (Interview with Police, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014) while another indicated that the officers who made the complaint and were at the scene will frequently be called to clarify facts. Interview with Police, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014. *See also* Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Police, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>152</sup> Criminal Procedure Code, Arts. 285 and 286.

<sup>157</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>146</sup> Interview with Police, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>147</sup> Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>148</sup> Misdemeanor Law, Art. 190; Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 13, 2014, Previous Law on Police Art. 53, para. 1 (stating it cannot exceed 24 hours for disturbance of peace or endangering public order).
<sup>149</sup> The misdemeanor courts report that they do not have the authority to detain defendants, so it is important that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>149</sup> The misdemeanor courts report that they do not have the authority to detain defendants, so it is important that the police detain when necessary to protect victims from further harm. Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location B, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>153</sup> Criminal Procedure Code, Art. 242; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2016. The police may also be involved in the service of process on criminal defendants or respondents in Family Court proceedings. One of the many complaints regarding problems with the criminal proceedings was the delay in service. At least one police station was complimented for its procedures and coordination with the courts with respect to serving a summons on a defendant. In that station, the police will call the court if they are unable to find a defendant, and they then send a written report as well. The court reported that this knowledge allowed the court to use other measures to secure the defendant's presence. Interview with Criminal Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>154</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014. Police bring people to court-ordered treatment. If a defendant receives a suspended sentence, the Criminal Court cannot place the perpetrator in the hospital. If the defendant then refuses to comply with an order for treatment, the court can order the police to take the perpetrator to the hospital for treatment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>155</sup> Misdemeanor offenses relating to domestic violence are described in more detail in the Misdemeanor Judges Section of this report.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>156</sup> Misdemeanor Law, Arts. 127 (public prosecutor), 179, 180 (initiation of misdemeanor proceedings).

these proceedings, after a determination by the public prosecutor.<sup>158</sup> If the prosecutor decides not to pursue a criminal case,<sup>159</sup> police may initiate misdemeanor proceedings.<sup>160</sup>

Some police interviewees expressed confusion as to their role in misdemeanor proceedings. One police officer explained they cannot initiate misdemeanor proceedings when the prosecutor abandons criminal proceedings.<sup>161</sup> This misunderstanding can result in missed opportunities to pursue valid misdemeanor claims in the absence of criminal prosecution.

Police do not consistently notify victims once they initiate misdemeanor proceedings. For example, when the prosecutor did not initiate criminal proceedings for light bodily injuries, police were expected to initiate misdemeanor proceedings and inform the victim of her right to initiate private criminal prosecution.<sup>162</sup> At least one officer reported he informs the victim after he initiates proceedings,<sup>163</sup> yet others indicated the victim would need to ask the police to learn this status.<sup>164</sup>

As described in the Misdemeanor Judges Section on Summary vs. Regular Misdemeanor Proceedings, police acting as petitioner decide whether to file the misdemeanor as a summary or regular proceeding.<sup>165</sup> Summary proceedings can be resolved in as little as one day and sanctions imposed immediately.<sup>166</sup> In most cases, police filed domestic violence-related offenses as summary proceedings.<sup>167</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>158</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014; Interview with Police, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location B, Oct. 17, 2014; Interview with Police, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Police, Location B-1, Oct. 17, 2014; Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>159</sup> Criminal Procedure Code, Art. 284. If the public prosecutor dismisses a criminal complaint that was submitted by a police authority, the prosecutor will notify the police of the dismissal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>160</sup> Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 17, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015 (police file a misdemeanor when the prosecutor drops criminal charges). Some police indicated they notify the prosecutor when they initiate misdemeanor proceedings. Interview with Police, Location B-1, Oct. 17, 2014. Because there is sometimes a two- to three-month delay in the prosecutor's decision, this is a critical step if the prosecutor has not yet determined whether the actions contain elements of criminal offenses.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>161</sup> Interview with Police, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>162</sup> Interview with Police, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>163</sup> Interview with Police, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>164</sup> Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>165</sup> Summary proceedings compared to regular proceedings are described in the Misdemeanor Judges Section on Summary vs. Regular Misdemeanor Proceedings. Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014; Interview with Police, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014 (explaining that once the prosecutor qualifies as a misdemeanor, he will not interfere on whether summary or regular). Police sometimes reach this decision in consultation with the misdemeanor judge. Interview with Police, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>166</sup> Interview with Police, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014; Interview with Police, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>167</sup> Indeed, up to 80 percent of misdemeanor cases were routed as summary proceedings in certain jurisdictions. Interview with Police, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014. For a discussion of the difference between summary and regular misdemeanor proceedings, see the Misdemeanor Judges Section on Summary vs. Regular Misdemeanor Proceedings; Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

In addition, police have an opportunity to request precautionary measures that would protect the victim, including restraining orders.<sup>168</sup> They rarely do.<sup>169</sup> One misdemeanor judge, for example, had never seen a request for precautionary measures in her 10 years as a judge.<sup>170</sup> Not surprisingly, with the low number of precautionary measures, police receive few calls regarding violations of those measures.<sup>171</sup>

Police can ask the court to order precautionary measures for addiction treatment, and they also play a role in their implementation.<sup>172</sup> They transport perpetrators to health institutions for expert opinions on drug or alcohol addiction.<sup>173</sup> If the perpetrator does not comply with outpatient treatment, the police can bring him for regular checkups; this practice, however, is reportedly rare.<sup>174</sup>

Of concern were reports that police had initiated misdemeanor proceedings against both the man and the woman in domestic violence cases.<sup>175</sup> For example, when there are conflicting statements on verbal violence, police may note in the complaint who reported the incident for the court's consideration.<sup>176</sup> This practice can deter victims from reporting violence to the police out of fear they will be charged with an offense. Even more concerning were reports that both parties were indeed charged, even when one used verbal abuse and the other used physical violence.<sup>177</sup> Although dual misdemeanor charges were reportedly rare, data was unavailable to determine the extent of this practice.<sup>178</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>168</sup> Precautionary measures also include mandatory drug or alcohol treatment. Misdemeanor Law, Art. 52. Interviewees were inconsistent on whether judges can issue precautionary measures without a request from the petitioner. Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014; Interview with Police, Location B-1, Oct. 17, 2014 (explaining judges will issue the measures, even without a request); Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 17, 2014 (explaining they are not authorized to request measures and judges order few measures); Interview with Police, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014 (reporting they are not authorized to request measures); Interview with Police, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014 (explaining that requests are limited to alcohol treatment or seizure of objects).
<sup>169</sup> Precautionary measures may be imposed to eliminate conditions that enable or encourage a perpetrator to commit a new offense. Misdemeanor Law, Art. 51; Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>170</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>171</sup> Interview with Police, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>172</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014; Misdemeanor Law, Art. 59. Judges can also request the evaluation of whether this measure is warranted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>173</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>174</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>175</sup> Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015; Interview with Police, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview with Police, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>176</sup> Interview with Police, Location B-1, Oct. 17, 2014

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>177</sup> Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Police, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014 (misdemeanor charge for verbal violence and criminal or misdemeanor charge for physical violence).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>178</sup> Dual charges are addressed in more detail under the Misdemeanor Judges Section on Dual Charges and Convictions of this report.

## POLICE ROLE IN FAMILY LAW PROCEEDINGS: ENFORCEMENT OF PROTECTIVE MEASURES AND VIOLATIONS OF PROTECTIVE MEASURES

Police rarely, if ever, receive copies of orders for protective measures from the family law courts,<sup>179</sup> even though the violations of such measures are criminal offenses.<sup>180</sup> This creates a gap in the enforcement of orders. As noted by one officer, "How can we file a criminal charge when we do not have in writing who actually has a protection measure?"<sup>181</sup> When police do not know of these orders, the burden is on victims to demonstrate to the police that the measures are in place.<sup>182</sup>

Some good practices for sharing orders were identified between CSWs, who receive the orders from the courts, and police, but these were uncommon.<sup>183</sup> When systems actors share information regarding protective measures, however, there can be positive results:

We received notification by the institute for penalties and corrective facilities (jail) that the person who was convicted and confined is being released today. They notified us that they had information that he intends to go back to the house where the victim lives, although there is a protective measure [prohibiting him from approaching the house]. We contacted the case manager at the CSW, and we found out that measure expired. [Then we contacted] the victim, and we informed her that she should file a request for an extension of the measure. We are now conducting the risk assessment, and we will send that assessment to the competent authority.<sup>184</sup>

Police lack direct authority to enforce the Family Law protective measure evicting the perpetrator. If the perpetrator does not voluntarily comply with eviction, the victim must seek an additional order from an enforcement judge. Only after the enforcement judge issues that order can police assist court executors with the eviction.<sup>185</sup> This additional proceeding places further burden on victims and delays protection. Even with the enforcement judge's order, police still face barriers to enforcing eviction orders. For example, police explained they cannot enter someone's home without a warrant, even if they are acting to enforce an eviction.<sup>186</sup> The police further described that "If we can see through the window the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>179</sup> Interview with Police, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Police, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 17, 2014; Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Police, Location B-1, Oct. 17, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>180</sup> Criminal Code, Article 194, ¶5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>181</sup> Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>182</sup> Interview with Police, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 25, 2015 (victims have to have a copy of the order); Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>183</sup> Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>184</sup> Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>185</sup> Interview with Police, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Police, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>186</sup> Interview with Police, Location B, Oct. 17, 2014.

person who needs to be evicted, we will notify the prosecutor. We will ask for a warrant to enter with force, but in practice, we don't get those warrants."<sup>187</sup>

# **FAMILY LAW JUDGES**

Family law judges may encounter victims of domestic violence in a variety of proceedings, including divorce, parental rights, and child custody proceedings. Importantly, family law judges also preside over requests for protective measures in situations of domestic violence. As the primary avenue through which many victims seek civil protection from domestic violence, the family court's responsiveness and application of appropriate measures is especially important. As interviews revealed, family law judges in Serbia struggle to balance significant caseloads and a high volume of petitions that are "urgent" requests. Many interviewees experience extensive delays in requests for interim and final protective measures, and interviews revealed that not all protective measures are regularly granted or even requested. Moreover, even if a judge grants the protective measures, courts do not monitor compliance or inform the police of the protective measures. Interviewees also reported delays and difficulties in enforcement. Many judges have received training on domestic violence by NGOs or third parties.<sup>188</sup> As findings revealed, however, more systematic training is still needed to address problems with judges' responses to domestic violence.

## **ATTITUDES**

Judges at times display attitudes that prioritize preservation of the family over victim safety. In one example, a judge in a divorce proceeding "verbally attacked the victim and told her she should reconsider the divorce as she is still young."<sup>189</sup> Even though the victim had protective measures against her husband for a broken jaw and bruises on her arms, the judge tried to convince the victim to give her marriage another try.<sup>190</sup> The judge never addressed the man, leading the interviewee to believe the judge faulted the victim for the domestic violence.<sup>191</sup> An interviewee reported judges have also advised women to give up the domestic violence cases to expedite their ongoing divorce cases.<sup>192</sup>

Judicial misunderstandings of domestic violence can translate to shorter terms for orders for protection or delays, even in situations of severe violence. In one example, the court issued protective measures for only eight months, even though the perpetrator had previous criminal charges for inflicting head injuries on the woman and had destroyed her property.<sup>193</sup> In another case, a judge delayed ruling on the issuance of interim measures for an entire year. In this case, the perpetrator held a knife to the woman's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>188</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014 (stating "we regularly attend seminars on domestic violence. But we need more seminars and trainings. This is not enough."); *see also* Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Family Law Judges, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location I, Feb. 25, 2015 (describing seminars offered by NGOs and bar associations). <sup>189</sup> Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014. The victim was not represented by an attorney. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>190</sup> Id

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>191</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>192</sup> Interview with CSW, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>193</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014. He destroyed her garden in his actions. *Id*.

throat, set her parents' house on fire, and grabbed the daughter by her hair to slam her head into a wardrobe. When finally granted, the measures only protected the victim and not her children.<sup>194</sup>

Even ten years after the Family Law's adoption, judges remain unclear on evidentiary standards and what constitutes "sufficient evidence" to issue protective measures.<sup>195</sup> One interviewee described judicial apprehension in deciding requests for protective measures: "They ask for additional reports. They want this. They want that. All that prolongs the case."<sup>196</sup> The interviewee also noted that judges require victims to demonstrate beyond a reasonable doubt—the standard applied in criminal cases—that violence occurred, instead of applying the lower burden of proof applicable in civil cases.<sup>197</sup> Judges also disagreed whether a victim must carry the burden of proof on her own<sup>198</sup> or whether the court has an investigative duty to assist a petitioner to present her evidence.<sup>199</sup> One judge explained that the court is obliged to ask the victim for possible witnesses to summon or if she spoke to the police so the judge can request the report.<sup>200</sup> This practice, however, does not appear to be widespread.

Interviews revealed that judges may distrust a victim's claim of domestic violence. For example, judges explained they rely on an intuitive "feeling" when assessing whether domestic violence has occurred or individuals are being truthful.<sup>201</sup> Because judges are charged with the collection and assessment of evidence,<sup>202</sup> it can be particularly harmful to victims when a judge does not understand the behaviors that victims and perpetrators exhibit and how these behaviors may be inconsistent with traditionally expected responses to non-violent situations. As described below, these misperceptions are particularly harmful when judges use confrontation.

Judges voiced their perception that false reporting was prevalent, particularly as a means of exploiting the system.<sup>203</sup> Judges opined that lawyers might attempt to abuse the civil process and obtain faster results with falsified domestic violence claims.<sup>204</sup> For example, one family law judge reported that "if the

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>194</sup> Interview with NGO, Location B-1, Oct. 14, 2014. As described *infra* in the Criminal Judges Section on Sanctions:
 Influential Factors, the perpetrator was sentenced by the criminal court to seven months in prison.
 <sup>195</sup> Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 25, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>196</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>197</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>198</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014 (success in petition for protective measures depends on whether the victim provides sufficient evidence in support of her complaint).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>199</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>200</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>201</sup> See, e.g., Interview with Family Law Judges, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014 (stating "every family judge has to have a feeling for children and psychology knowledge to recognize abuse of rights."). See also Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014(explaining that credibility is assessed "according to practiced behavior and the way they address each other"); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014, stating:

<sup>[</sup>I assess the credibility of the parties by] questioning them, observing their behavior. In some cases the abuser will acknowledge that they inflicted the injury, and then he'll promise that he will never do it again, and say that he regrets it. And sometimes you can evaluate his violence by his demeanor in court: the way that he treats the court and the victim ....

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>202</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014(stating "our work is based exclusively on the interrogation of the parties and witnesses, on police reports, and medical records").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>203</sup> See, e.g., Interview with Family Law Judges, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>204</sup> Interview with Family Law Judges, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014

mother is aware that she won't get parental custody, then she may decide to use that domestic violence provision" in divorce proceedings.<sup>205</sup> Further, judges suggested that parties requesting eviction may be seeking to gain advantage, and courts therefore must "be very careful" when this measure is considered.<sup>206</sup> One judge commented, "Only in cases of eviction or moving are there possible abuses," and further expressed a belief that 30 percent of eviction requests were based on a false report of domestic violence.<sup>207</sup>

### **CONFRONTATION**

Judges often use confrontation, a process employed by the court to provide parties with an opportunity to question witnesses and opposing parties face-to-face.<sup>208</sup> One family law judge explained they are compelled to confront the victim with the perpetrator:

If we fail to [use confrontation] and there are disputed facts, the judgment will be overturned and will require confrontation to be done. Confrontation is important because, based on demeanor and faces, you can tell who is telling the truth or lying, and you can describe this in the judgment and say that demeanor was not enough to convince the court he was telling the truth. I can't remember a case where there was no confrontation. [The appellate courts] always overturn the decision if there is no confrontation. We confront witnesses with the abuser and victim. Witnesses – you read written evidence, hear the abuser and based on what he says, you unfold the evidence. Then one-by-one, the witnesses come in and the abuser is present while the witnesses give the testimony. The defendant then says the witness is lying. Then you organize confrontation between the witness and the defendant.<sup>209</sup>

The use of confrontation in domestic violence cases is an unreliable way for judges to assess testimony because perpetrators' controlling and coercive tactics may frighten victims and impact their testimony. As judges do not conduct formal risk assessments, such practices can heighten an already high-risk situation.<sup>210</sup> Moreover, this practice is particularly threatening to victims because confrontation is often conducted in small courtrooms that place a victim and perpetrator within close proximity.<sup>211</sup>

## **PROTECTIVE MEASURES: GENERALLY**

The Family Law includes five types of protective measures that can be requested by or for victims of domestic violence. Interviewees consistently reported that the most common protective measures

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>205</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>206</sup> Interview with Family Law Judges, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014; *see also* Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014(stating "judges think that it [the eviction measure] is systemically being abused. They usually think that women are overprotected.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>207</sup> Interview with Family Law Judges, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>208</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>209</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>210</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>211</sup> Id.
issued are prohibitions against further molestation and restraining orders.<sup>212</sup> Findings revealed wide variation as to the party most likely to file a petition for a protective measure,<sup>213</sup> but females are most often the petitioners or the victims.<sup>214</sup>

Serbia's legislation does not explicitly require physical injury or a certain level of violence for the court to order protective measures, but despite this, interviewees indicated that judges are requiring severe levels of physical injury to issue protective measures.<sup>215</sup> One interviewee described a case where the perpetrator inflicted past injuries of such severity that the victim's spleen ruptured. Yet, the court rejected her request for protective measures because it did not find the violence she presented to be serious enough.<sup>216</sup>

Granting more than one protective measure – whether they are requested or initiated by the judge *sua* sponte – can be important as perpetrators may skirt the legal limits of the court's orders.<sup>217</sup> In one case. a judge did not issue an order banning further harassment, but issued a restraining order limiting how close the perpetrator could approach the victim's workplace and home. The perpetrator measured the distance to her home and then urinated in the victim's direction from the street. Because he was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>212</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>213</sup> There is a consensus among family law judges that filings by public prosecutors are extremely rare. See Interview with Family Law Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014 (stating "I have had no motions filed by [the] public prosecutor. And I think my colleague hasn't either"); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014 (stating the court had not seen a prosecutor apply for a protective measure during her five years as a judge); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 13, 2014 (recalling no filings by public prosecutor); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014 (recalling no cases filed by CSW or prosecutor). But see Interview with Prosecutor, Location A, Oct. 13, 2014 (stating that she applied for protective measures "very frequently"); Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014 (stating there are many cases for which they have filed for protective measures).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>214</sup> See Family Law, Art. 284(2) (stating that the law allows civil actions regarding domestic violence or requests for protective measures to be commenced by "a family member who was subject to domestic violence, his legal representative, the public prosecutor and the guardianship authority."); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location G, 20 Oct 2014; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location H, 23 Oct 2014 (stating that CSWs cooperate with a lawyer who prepares the application and the lawyer on behalf of the victim does it). One family law judge reported that "there were only two applications by the prosecution office and none from the Centre for Social Work" during the course of his family law court career. Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-1, 13 Oct 2014; see also Interview with Family Law Judge, Location F, 20 Oct 2014 (usually not against women); Interview with CSW, Location E, 15 Oct 2014(stating that CSW lawyers do not assist victims with filing for protective measures; they refer them to NGOs); Interview with CSW, Location F, 21 Oct 2014(stating that they want victims to file themselves so they are less likely to drop case).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>215</sup> See, e.g., Interview with Family Law Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014 (implying that only domestic violence resulting in severe injuries merits one-year orders for protection). <sup>216</sup> Interview with CSW, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>217</sup> Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014 (stating "perpetrators are constantly violating these orders and making threats. Some stop after the first time, but most go on. . . . They are not stopped in an adequate way").

outside the mandated distance and the victim did "not need to look at him," the judge did not find the perpetrator to be in violation of the order.<sup>218</sup>

# PROTECTIVE MEASURES: IMMEDIATE PROTECTION IS NOT AVAILABLE<sup>219</sup> No *ex parte* orders

*Ex parte* orders for protective measures, which can be issued without a hearing, provide immediate protection from the danger victims face.<sup>220</sup> Yet Serbia's Family Law does not empower judges to issue emergency orders *ex parte*; instead, judges always hold a hearing to issue interim protective measures.<sup>221</sup> One interviewee explained that procedural law requires both parties be summoned, but that temporary protective measures may be issued in exceptional cases with heavy physical violence.<sup>222</sup> Even then, some judges require evidence before they will issue a protective measure *ex parte*, such as medical documentation and a police report.<sup>223</sup>

Under the 2017 LPDV, additional protection is available through the police issuance of temporary, emergency restraining orders and orders for the perpetrator to distance himself from the family home or apartment; however, these measures still require prosecutors to request and courts to approve extensions beyond the initial 48 hours. With court approval, the measures can only be extended up to 30 days.<sup>224</sup>

#### Interim protective measures are available but delayed

Family law judges reported issuing temporary, interim protective measures in more than 50 percent of cases.<sup>225</sup> Interim protective measures are intended to be issued more quickly than final protective

<sup>222</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>218</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>219</sup> See Prosecutors Section on Measures to Secure the Defendant: Detention and Criminal Judges Section on Criminal Proceedings: Measures to secure the defendant and for unobstructed criminal proceedings (detention is underused).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>220</sup> Istanbul Convention, Art. 53 – Restraining or protection orders,  $\P 2$  ("Parties shall take the necessary legislative or other measures to ensure that the restraining or protection orders [] are: available for immediate protection . . .; where necessary, issued on an *ex parte* basis which has immediate effect . . . .").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>221</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015 (stating "we do our best to complete case in one to two hearings. So there are no interim measures"). But the same judge described the second hearing as scheduled within 15 days but sometimes a whole month goes by. *Id. See also* Interview with Family Law Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014 (stating the victim cannot obtain immediate protection orders without a hearing. Instead, the victim must go to a shelter for protection).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>223</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-2, Oct.
13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>224</sup> LPDV, Art. 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>225</sup> Interview with CSW, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014 (stating that interim measures are issued often); Interview with Shelter, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014 (stating "almost all who want to initiate civil procedure get granted interim protective measures"). The Supreme Court of Cassation has accepted the use of interim measures based on the law of execution of sentences. *See* Interview with Supreme Court of Cassation, Oct. 16, 2014. Interim measures are in effect until the dispute is resolved and the protective measures become final. Interview with Family Law Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

measures to provide protection during the proceedings,<sup>226</sup> in cases of severe physical violence, or where perpetrators cannot be summoned.<sup>227</sup> In the absence of *ex parte* orders, interim protective measures can provide some degree of protection if issued timely.

Quick issuance, however, does not appear to be common. Most judges still require the CSW's professional opinion before issuing temporary measures.<sup>228</sup> One judge stated they request a CSW report the same day they receive the case and schedule a hearing within eight days.<sup>229</sup> An NGO representative disagreed, stating there was "no way" the courts scheduled hearings for interim measures within that timeframe.<sup>230</sup> At least one interviewee reported delays of several months to obtain interim measures, despite two urgent notices sent to the court.<sup>231</sup>

# **PROTECTIVE MEASURES: EVICTION**

Evicting a perpetrator of domestic violence from the home can promote the safety of the non-violent partner and empower her to recognize she does not need to tolerate violence.<sup>232</sup> Yet family law judges sparingly grant requests for the protective measure of eviction.<sup>233</sup> As one interviewee reported, "The most controversial issue is eviction. Everything else goes smoothly and easily."<sup>234</sup>

Interviews revealed a number of reasons for judicial reluctance to order eviction. Some judges are cautious partly because of unfounded beliefs of false reporting. Many judges expressed their strong

<sup>229</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>226</sup> Interview with Family Law Judges, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014 (explaining that, with evidence showing the violence is happening, the protective measure could be issued the same day); Interview with NGO, Location B-1, Oct. 14, 2014 (explaining the court will not grant interim protective measures without the CSW's report). Serbia's highest court - the Supreme Court of Cassation - indicated that these temporary measures can be issued even before filing the complaint. *See* Interview with Supreme Court of Cassation, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>227</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>228</sup> Interview with NGO, Location B-1, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014 (issuing interim measures at first hearing, considering medical records and police report, if available from victims); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014 (stating that the court can issue interim protective measures without the CSW but the court approaches them and asks for a report and findings as soon as possible); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014 (can issue interim measure from a hearing if receive the report from the CSW).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>230</sup> Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>231</sup> Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>232</sup> Interview with Republic Institute for Social Protection, Belgrade, Feb. 25, 2015 (noting more success in convincing women not to tolerate violence when the perpetrator was evicted or detained).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>233</sup> Interview with Gender Equality Ombudswoman, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014 (stating "there are only a few cases where the protective measure of eviction has been granted. Eviction is one of the measures not used often enough to make perpetrators understand that they cannot act in the manner in which they are acting"); Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014 (stating no eviction measures are issued); Interview with CSW, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014 (reporting that court has not yet granted an eviction request); Interview with Republic Institute for Social Protection, Belgrade, Feb. 25, 2015 ("[Eviction] absolutely does not happen here."); Interview with CSW, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014 (stating that requested eviction measures are never granted); Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014 (recalling how a woman and her children stayed in a shelter for two years while the perpetrator stayed in the house alone); Interview with CSW, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015 (reporting grants of evictions in only one or two cases).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>234</sup> Interview with CSW, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014.

aversion to eviction, with one judge explaining, "If it is established during the proceedings that another protective measure can achieve the purpose of protection, then it won't be granted."<sup>235</sup> Other interviewees explained that courts do not evict perpetrators because they assume they are the homeowners and thus it is "easiest to remove the victim."<sup>236</sup> As a result, victims must leave the home, sometimes fleeing to shelters or safe houses. In one example, the court refused to issue the eviction measure, compelling the victim and her children to flee to a safe house. One of the children was sent to foster care, and another became delinquent. But the interviewee speculated that had the perpetrator been the one evicted from the house, the mother "might have been able to preserve her family."<sup>237</sup>

Another reason for the lower number of eviction orders stems from barriers to request the measure itself. Interviewees conceded that victims may not be aware they can seek this protection.<sup>238</sup> Interviewees also reported that victims may also fear the perpetrator or the reaction of their community.<sup>239</sup> As a result, a social worker reported that a victim only requests evictions "when it comes to shared property over the house or flat. If it is not a shared property, they really just wish to run away, [and] they mostly return to their primary families."<sup>240</sup> In addition, the victim may not seek eviction because she cannot independently afford housing. Serbia's protective measures do not provide for financial assistance. In one case, the woman lost 90 percent of her ability to speak, but ultimately could not remain in the home because she lacked the resources to cover rent.<sup>241</sup>

Interviews revealed that, in the rare cases when judges grant eviction, their decisions rest on two factors: physical violence and the perpetrator's financial capacity. First, although there are no requirements to demonstrate physical violence for eviction or other measures in the Family Law, courts are unofficially requiring evidence of this violence.<sup>242</sup> In the case described in the paragraph above, the court only granted eviction due to the extreme physical injuries she sustained. She had injuries over her entire body, with the majority of injuries on her head. Because of her head injuries, she lost 90 percent of her ability to speak.<sup>243</sup> Second, the focus of granting eviction measures should be the safety of the victims or persons at risk.<sup>244</sup> Yet at least two interviewees identified that, other than in cases of physical

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>235</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014 ("Judges do explain why [they] deny the eviction measure. They say that the measures issued are sufficient for the protection of the victim, to protect her from further violence"); Interview with CSW, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014 (explaining that no eviction order has been granted yet).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>236</sup> Interview with City Council Member, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>237</sup> Interview with NGO, Location B-1, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>238</sup> Interview with Family Law Judges, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014 (explaining that women believe the owner should not have to leave the home).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>239</sup> Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>240</sup> Interview with CSW, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>241</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>242</sup> Interview with CSW, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014 (recalling an eviction granted in a case involving psychological, physical, and sexual violence as reported by the CSW); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014 (explaining eviction is rare and only in the case of physical violence); Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014 (stating for an eviction to be granted, you need severe violence, "repeated violence during the trial, to have great fear of the perpetrator, [or] to have it proposed by the CSW").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>243</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>244</sup> Istanbul Convention, Art. 52.

violence, judges granted eviction orders based on the financial capacity of the perpetrator to afford another residence<sup>245</sup> and not on protection for the non-violent partner and her children.

# **COURT DELAYS**

Several interviewees reported delays in family law court proceedings. Delays with respect to domestic violence cases are of particular concern because of the potential for further violence. Perpetrators have threatened to harm or kill the victims before the court issues protective measures.<sup>246</sup> Unlike criminal courts, family law judges cannot detain perpetrators when these risks are present.<sup>247</sup>

The Family Law requires the initial hearing for protective measures to occur within eight days after the action is filed with the court.<sup>248</sup> Nearly all interviewed parties – including judges – confirmed knowledge of this eight-day requirement.<sup>249</sup> But where courts had trouble meeting the eight-day requirement, judges explained that the parties lived far away or there was insufficient time to serve and respond to the summons. In these cases, the court prolonged the hearing for another eight days.<sup>250</sup> The second hearing may also be delayed due to, among other things, the volume of urgent cases before the court. A judge acknowledged that "sometimes a whole month goes by [before the second hearing is scheduled]."<sup>251</sup> Other perpetrator tactics in the appeals stage, such as not appearing for or claiming illness before a hearing, can delay implementation of eviction measures for as long as three months.<sup>252</sup>

Despite the clear requirements under the Family Law and the classification of these proceedings as "particularly urgent,"<sup>253</sup> protective measures may not be issued for up to a year after filing.<sup>254</sup> Assuming a number of factors are met, the average time between the filing of a petition and order for a protective measure could be less than two months.<sup>255</sup> Interviews also revealed examples of cases in which petitions for protective measures have been pending before family law courts for several years.<sup>256</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>245</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014 (describing an eviction measure granted to a woman with three children because her husband was financially "well-off"); Interview with NGO, Location B-1, Oct. 14, 2014 (explaining an eviction was granted because the perpetrator had two apartments and had money).
<sup>246</sup> Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>247</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>248</sup> Family Law, Art. 285(2); *see also* Interview with CSW, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>249</sup> See, e.g., Interview with CSW, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014; but see Interview with Family Law Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014 (indicating the deadline was 15 days).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>250</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>251</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>252</sup> Interview with CSW, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014. *But see* Interview with Supreme Court of Cassation, Belgrade, Oct. 16, 2014 (stating that the verdict is enforced until the appeal process ends).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>253</sup> Family Law, Art. 285(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>254</sup> Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014 (stating that most take a half-a-year or a year, but noting that one was granted in less than six weeks). In another example, the court did not schedule a hearing and, after six months requested another opinion from the CSW, further delaying the proceedings. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>255</sup> Some of the factors described by interviewees include swift completion of service of process, the court having "all the documentation," and a defendant confession. Interview with Family Law Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015 (describing duration as one to two months); Interview with Gender Equality Ombudswoman, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014 (describing duration as sometimes more than two months); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014 (describing duration as 90 days and not more than

Interviews revealed that court delays can be traced to three primary factors: heavy caseloads, judicial requirements of a CSW report, and perpetrators evading service of the summons. As a result, victims experience significant delays requesting even interim protective measures. And delays in the court proceedings provide perpetrators with time to manipulate the victim from seeking protection.<sup>257</sup>

#### **Heavy case loads**

Although actual numbers vary significantly among courts and territories, interviewees reported that family law judges handle as many as 1,400 cases at any given point in time.<sup>258</sup> Some judges described hearing three to four domestic violence cases each a week,<sup>259</sup> while others reported only five or six such cases annually.<sup>260</sup> At present, there is no specialization among these judges to facilitate greater efficiency on issues of domestic violence.<sup>261</sup>

An overburdened court system can impact victim safety. In one example, the court did not schedule a victim's first hearing until after summer holidays, well beyond the eight-day requirement. The victim had been subjected to long-term violence and worried about her safety, but the court responded there were not enough judges to expedite the hearing.<sup>262</sup> After intervention by the ombudsperson, her hearing was scheduled within a month,<sup>263</sup> which was still outside the timeframe set by the Family Law.

#### Undue reliance on reports from CSWs

Contrary to the Family Law and the strict timing requirements noted above, nearly every interviewee indicated that a CSW report is required or requested by the court prior to the issuance of any order for protective measures.<sup>264</sup> The Family Law provides that if the guardianship authority (i.e., CSW) is not the

<sup>257</sup> Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; see also Interview with CSW, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>258</sup> See, e.g., Interview with Family Law Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015 (stating "I deal with 1,400 cases"); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014 (stating the caseload is 1,200 cases).

<sup>260</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015; *see also* Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>261</sup> In the early 2000s, a pilot program was launched by one municipal court to introduce and shepherd civil cases through specialized chambers of the court. *See* Interview with Family Law Judges, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014; *see also* Interview with Minister of Social Policy, Belgrade, Oct. 18, 2014 (stating he had "been suggesting for years to have special family courts").

<sup>262</sup> Interview with Gender Equality Ombudswoman, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>263</sup> Id.

three hearings); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 13, 2014 (describing it takes four hearings on average).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>256</sup> Interview with NGO, Location B-1, Oct. 14, 2014 (stating that interim measures took more than a year in a divorce case initiated in 2011, that was still ongoing); see also Interview with Republic Institute for Social Protection, Belgrade, Feb. 25, 2015 (stating "it can take years, not just months. Then the measure loses all purpose .... There was terrible violence in 2011. The complaint was filed in 2012 by the CSW. . . [T]he case has not yet been processed and it's 2015. The violence continues."); Interview with CSW, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014 (stating that time between filing and granting the petition is at least a year); Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014 (stating that final measures can take up to two years).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>259</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>264</sup> These reports are requested for protective measures whether on an interim or final basis when the CSW is not the petitioner. *See, e.g.,* Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 13, 2014 (stating CSW report is not required); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location H,

party that files for a protective measure, "the court *may* ask the guardianship authority to provide help in acquiring the necessary evidence and state its opinion on the appropriateness of the required measure."<sup>265</sup> The courts regularly use this permissive portion of the Family Law. In the majority of cases shared by interviewees, the CSW was asked to provide evidence (including information regarding the family's living arrangements, occupations, and prior interactions with police and CSW) and also opine on the appropriateness of requested protective measures.<sup>266</sup>

One judge opined that this reliance on CSW reports arises from judicial concerns regarding sufficiency of evidence and a fear of higher courts overturning their order. Because courts cannot cross-reference court records throughout the country and across case types (as described in the section on Information Sharing Among Actors), some judges rely on the CSW report to inform them of prior criminal convictions.<sup>267</sup> The judges' lack of specialized knowledge on domestic violence may also contribute to their increased reliance on CSW reports.<sup>268</sup> In general, the courts agree with the CSW's recommendations regarding the protective measures,<sup>269</sup> although a few examples showed circumstances in which the court reached a different conclusion.<sup>270</sup>

CSWs reported having a very short period of time, sometimes as little as 24 or 48 hours, to complete an opinion for the court.<sup>271</sup> This short timeframe can be attributed to the court's delay in relaying the request, compounded by weekends and other CSW responsibilities.<sup>272</sup> Many CSW reporting deadlines set by the courts fall outside the mandated eight days in which the initial hearing must be scheduled. For example, one judge allows the CSW up to 10 days to complete an opinion on interim protective measures and a month for an opinion related to a final court decision.<sup>273</sup> Even when the court receives

<sup>265</sup> Family Law, Art. 289(1) (emphasis added).

Oct. 23, 2014 (stating it is needed for both interim and final measures); Interview with Family Law Judges, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014 (stating CSW opinion is mostly needed for temporary protective measures); Interview with NGO, Location B-1, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview With CSW,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>266</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015; Interview with CSW, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014 (stating "mainly whatever we propose, it's granted").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>267</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>268</sup> Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014 (stating "the judge has no expert knowledge so needs to involve the CSW").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>269</sup> Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014 (stating judges agree with CSW opinion in 90 percent of cases); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014 (stating judges agree in 99 percent of cases); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014 (recalling no cases where judges have disagreed with CSW recommendations).

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>270</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014. *See also* Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014 (where the court extended a protective measure contrary to the CSW report finding violence had ceased).
 <sup>271</sup> Interview with CSW, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>272</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>273</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; *see also* Interview with NGO, Location B-1, Oct. 14, 2014 (stating it can take 15 days, up to a month-and-a-half, for the court to receive the CSW opinion); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014 (stating 2 to 3 weeks for a CSW opinion is "very fast"); Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014 (describing duration as two weeks); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014 (describing duration as 15 days); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 13, 2014

the CSW opinion, courts may still be slow to issue a decision. One interviewee described a court response as "quick" when the judge issued an order 36 days after receiving the CSW opinion.<sup>274</sup>

#### **Delays arising from service of summons**

Further delays arise as a result of the court's inability to effect service of summons on respondents. When this happens, the proceedings become unnecessarily protracted.<sup>275</sup> For example, one judge noted that proceedings could be delayed by up to a month when a respondent cannot be found at his registered residence or the court is unable to notify the respondent by post, thus requiring police intervention.<sup>276</sup>

As described by one judge, however, there are various service methods available for those who are "resourceful." He explained, "I wrote a letter to police station to say, 'This is urgent, so please deliver summons to him and police found him at 2:00 a.m. and served the summons."<sup>277</sup> But when judges do not proactively find solutions, the burden falls on the victim to find ways for the court to serve the perpetrator. Until that happens, her case will never begin.<sup>278</sup>

# **PROBLEMS IN ENFORCEMENT AND EXECUTION OF ORDERS**

The court is required to immediately deliver a judgment issuing protective measures to the CSWs where the victim and respondent each live.<sup>279</sup> Interviewees reported inconsistent compliance with this obligation.<sup>280</sup> Some CSWs reported receiving copies of all such orders, even if they were not the petitioners.<sup>281</sup> Others, however, reported that the family court did not provide them copies, even when the CSW was the petitioner.<sup>282</sup>

(dismissing 8 days as impossible so describing 15 days to one month as more realistic); Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014 (estimating between three weeks and a few months).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>274</sup> Interview with CSW, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>275</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014 (stating the defendant need not be present in civil cases for the court to proceed if it can be demonstrated that he received the summons); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014 (describing that notice is required to hold a hearing). *But see* Interview with Family Law Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015 (stating there cannot be judgments in a party's absence).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>276</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014. Police may also say it is not part of their job to serve a summons, and they are not able to bring the perpetrator to family court for procedures. *See* Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>277</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015. *See also* Interview with Supreme Court of Cassation, Oct. 16, 2014 (regarding use of temporary proxies).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>278</sup> Interview with NGO, Location B-1, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>279</sup> Family Law, Art. 289; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>280</sup> Interview with Gender Equality Deputy Ombudsman, Belgrade, Oct. 16, 2014; Interview with Gender Equality Ombudswoman, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>281</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 13, 2014 (sometimes copies to police, too); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015. *But see* Interview with CSW, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015 (describing problems with receiving decisions from the criminal court absent a request, even if CSW was the complainant).
<sup>282</sup> Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014.

When asked, interviewees largely agreed that protective measures are sufficient in scope,<sup>283</sup> but differed on their overall effectiveness. Findings revealed that perpetrators take advantage of gaps in the system to delay the enforcement of orders. For example, interim protective orders lack execution measures. In one case, a victim secured an interim measure of child custody, but the perpetrator evaded service of the court's order and kept custody of the child.<sup>284</sup> The victim had to take multiple steps, including complaining to the ministries and initiating two execution proceedings. Several months later, the perpetrator still had the child.<sup>285</sup> Another tactic used by perpetrators manipulates procedural gaps with respect to the final order.<sup>286</sup> Similar to interim protective measures, a final order is not in effect if the perpetrator claims he did not receive it, even if he knows of it.<sup>287</sup> These actions can delay the enforcement of orders by months.<sup>288</sup>

Of particular concern is that the mere issuance of measures does not guarantee safety due to lack of enforcement and supervision.<sup>289</sup> Family law courts do not monitor compliance with the orders, and they are not involved in punishing violations of the orders.<sup>290</sup> One NGO interviewee commented, "There is no one to supervise them or control them. It's not a punishment, not even a warning. It's just a paper that means nothing."<sup>291</sup>

The lack of monitoring and enforcement has been identified as a gap in the law.<sup>292</sup> Interviewees indicated that perpetrators violate the orders and do so with impunity.<sup>293</sup> One interviewee indicated that "perpetrators are constantly violating these orders and making threats. Some stop after the first time, but most continue. They change their tactics."<sup>294</sup> In one example, a victim was seriously harmed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>283</sup> See, e.g., Interview with Family Law Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014 (stating "I think the law includes all of the measures [appropriate to protect victims]").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>284</sup> Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>285</sup> Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>286</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014 (stating "and when it comes to execution, it is a problem because they are using any means – trying by any means to avoid their responsibilities."); Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>287</sup> Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>288</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>289</sup> Interview with CSW, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014 (describing a woman with protective measures who was seriously harmed after their issuance); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 13, 2014 (explaining "before issuing measure of protection, the court has no means to protect a victim unless she calls the police"); Interview with CSW, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>290</sup> Criminal courts can sanction perpetrators for violating orders for protective measures under Criminal Code Art.194, ¶5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>291</sup> Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>292</sup> Interview with CSW, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015; Interview with Minister of Social Policy, Belgrade, Oct. 18, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 25, 2015.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>293</sup> Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014 (stating "they are not stopped in an adequate way.... There are a lot of perpetrators that do not want to comply with court decisions, and they just don't").
 <sup>294</sup> Id.

despite a measure ordering the perpetrator to stay away from her home and workplace. He waited for her in front of her workplace and stabbed her in the neck with a pair of scissors.<sup>295</sup>

# **INFORMATION SHARING AMONG ACTORS**

The Family Law requires the court to deliver a copy of its judgment to the CSW in the territories where the victim and respondent live.<sup>296</sup> Interviewees reported, however, that judges are inconsistent in doing so, except where the CSW has initiated the action.<sup>297</sup> One judge confirmed that the court sends a copy to the parties or the proxy "and no one else."<sup>298</sup>

CSWs are not legally required to transmit the judgment to any other authorities, such as police.<sup>299</sup> Interviewees were nearly unanimous in their response that orders for protective measures are not reported to the police,<sup>300</sup> despite the fact that violations of these measures are crimes.<sup>301</sup> As a result, victims who lack a copy of the order may not receive protection when the police are not aware of the order and reported violations go unprosecuted. As stated by one interviewee, "issuance of these measures does not guarantee safety to women generally."<sup>302</sup>

Even where the court learns of a violation, the court does not affirmatively report it and instead relies on the victim to do so.<sup>303</sup> In one case, a parent violated his order by physically abusing a child protected under it. When the victim alerted the court to the breach, "the only thing the court could do was tell the victim to immediately take the child to a doctor to make a record of the injuries and then direct her to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>295</sup> *Id. See also* Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 13, 2014 (noting there is no protection unless the victim calls the police.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>296</sup> Family Law, Art. 284(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>297</sup> See, e.g., Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014 (stating that "from time to time, they would send [the orders], but usually not."); Interview with Gender Equality Deputy Ombudsman, Belgrade, Oct. 16, 2014; Interview with Gender Equality Ombudswoman, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014; Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Police, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>298</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015. The interviewee also indicated that the CSW receives a copy of the order, even if the CSW is not the petitioner. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>299</sup> Interview with CSW, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015; Interview with Police, Location B-1, Oct. 17, 2014. Few of the parties interviewed indicated that information learned during the course of a domestic violence proceeding is regularly reported to public prosecutors so that criminal charges could be levied if appropriate. *See, e.g.,* Interview with Family Law Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014 (stating "we [haven't contacted the police when we learn of a violation of interim protective measures] to date, because the victim does it before we can. She will report to the CSW, to the police."). *But see* Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 13, 2014 (explaining he sends charges of violence to the prosecutor's office).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>300</sup> See, e.g., Interview with Family Law Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014. One judge indicated that sometimes the police would receive information on protective measures relating to harassment. *See* Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 13, 2014; *see also* Interview with Police, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Police, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Police, Location D, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview With Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview With Police, Location D, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview With Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>301</sup> Criminal Code, Article 194, para. 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>302</sup> Interview with CSW, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>303</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

the CSW to take further steps."<sup>304</sup> In contrast, police indicated that when victims notify them of a violation, they report it to a judge and potentially even the prosecutor.<sup>305</sup>

There also appears to be a lack of clear communication among courts themselves. Without a centralized, shared database between civil and criminal proceedings, a criminal court must affirmatively inform a family law court of ongoing proceedings and vice versa.<sup>306</sup>

In addition, Serbian law lacks a mechanism to consolidate civil cases involving the same parties. Inconsistent decisions between divorce and protective measure proceedings can result in violent perpetrators continuing to have access to and exposing victims and children to further harm. In one example, a judge granted protective measures in a domestic violence case, including prohibition of access to the victim and the children. A different judge handling the divorce and custody issues, however, allowed the perpetrator to visit the children.<sup>307</sup> In cases such as these, it becomes possible for protective measures to be in effect while proceedings for parental rights or divorce continue without any reference to the domestic violence.<sup>308</sup> One family law judge indicated that protective measures may be issued in divorce and custody cases,<sup>309</sup> a practice that would consolidate and reduce inconsistencies, but this does not appear to be common.<sup>310</sup>

# NO DOMESTIC VIOLENCE SCREENINGS PRIOR TO MEDIATION OR RECONCILIATION

Under the Family Law, divorce proceedings include a mediation procedure<sup>311</sup> composed of: 1) reconciliation "to resolve the troubled relation between spouses without conflict and without divorce;"<sup>312</sup> and 2) settlement "to reach an agreement on the exercise of parental rights and an agreement on the division of joint property."<sup>313</sup> A few judges acknowledged they would not proceed with mediation in cases involving violence.<sup>314</sup> One judge explained that "in violence cases, we rarely send them to counselling centers . . . mediation is worthless."<sup>315</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>304</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>305</sup> Interview with Police, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>306</sup> See, e.g., Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014. *But see* Interview with Family Law Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014 (stating that a national database allows judge to see if there are criminal or other proceedings pending).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>307</sup> Interview with CSW, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014 (explaining the Family Law allows court to issue protective measures in divorce proceedings, but courts do not do this).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>308</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>309</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>310</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014 (explaining the court "accidentally" received both the divorce and protective measure proceedings).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>311</sup> Family Law, Arts. 239 and 240. The Family Law provides that court-managed mediation "is regularly carried out" in matrimonial disputes that are initiated by one spouse. Family Law, Art. 230(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>312</sup> Family Law, Art. 234.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>313</sup> *Id.*, Art. 241(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>314</sup> One judge affirmatively stated that he "would never recommend mediation when it comes to domestic violence situations." Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014. *But see* Interview with Family Law Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>315</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015.

The Family Law, however, neither requires pre-screening for domestic violence nor prohibits mediation in cases involving domestic violence.<sup>316</sup> The lack of mandatory screening is troubling, because judges refrain from speaking with parties separately due to suspicion of bias.<sup>317</sup> If one party disagrees with reconciliation, the court is required to cease mediation.<sup>318</sup> But given the coercive dynamics inherent in domestic violence, a victim may not feel safe to voice her disagreement. Consequently, perpetrators can continue to use coercive behaviors against the victim during mediation and influence the outcome of the divorce.

Furthermore, the court is not required to stop a reconciliation procedure when domestic violence is discovered.<sup>319</sup> In these cases, judges will still send the case to reconciliation. One family law judge explained, "Regardless of whether I want to or not . . .along with the summons we have to send an invitation for reconciliation."<sup>320</sup>

The judge conducting mediation is obligated to recommend psychosocial counseling to the mediating couple.<sup>321</sup> If the parties agree, the judge turns over the mediation proceeding to appropriate third party specialists.<sup>322</sup> As with other procedures under the Family Law, the requirement to recommend counseling contains no exceptions for cases involving domestic violence. Yet, best practices discourage marriage counseling in domestic violence.<sup>323</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>316</sup> See, e.g., Family Law, Art. 230(2), describing circumstances in which mediation will not be carried out.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>317</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014 (stating that mediation must proceed "whether there is violence or not").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>318</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014 (explaining if there is further violence, reconciliation would be suspended until relations are normalized); Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014.
<sup>319</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>320</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>321</sup> Family Law Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>322</sup> Family Law, Art. 233; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014 (stating that when there are children, the court turns the reconciliation process over to the CSW).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>323</sup> United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs Division for the Advancement of Women, *Handbook for legislation on violence against women* (New York: United Nations, 2009), §3.9.

# PROSECUTORS

The weakest link is the prosecutor. . . . We wouldn't go for notification of criminal complaints because we notice they get annoyed. Who are we to file criminal complaints? They mostly reject them after a while. There has to be reform in the prosecutor's office. Someone has to be in charge of prosecuting violence.

- Interview with CSW worker<sup>324</sup>

Prosecutors play an important role in holding offenders accountable for domestic violence. Under Serbia's Criminal Procedure Code, the public prosecutor is the authorized body for prosecuting certain crimes *ex officio*.<sup>325</sup> For those offenses, the prosecutor oversees pre-investigation proceedings, determines whether to pursue or defer criminal prosecution, conducts investigations, coordinates testimony, and files indictments and appeals, among other actions.<sup>326</sup> In addition to prosecuting domestic violence crimes and violations of protective measures, prosecutors propose measures to secure a defendant during criminal proceedings, and they can apply for Family Law protective measures.

Following changes to the justice system, prosecutors now bear a new responsibility to conduct investigations, a role previously belonging to criminal judges.<sup>327</sup> The shift has substantially increased prosecutors' workloads.<sup>328</sup> One interviewee explained that 1,600 court investigations had been transferred to 6 prosecutors, who were struggling to process the cases before the statutes of limitations tolled.<sup>329</sup> Others expressed misgivings about the lack of support for prosecutors as they transitioned into this new role. An NGO explained, "[W]ith the new law, I have a sense that the state left them wandering blind in the dark. They are lacking staff, lacking premises, lacking administrative staff, lacking money for various things."<sup>330</sup> She concluded that specialization was sorely needed to engage committed prosecutors on domestic violence cases.<sup>331</sup>

The Ministry of Justice (MoJ) has promulgated a domestic violence protocol to govern judges and prosecutors. The protocol makes recommendations and issues directives to prosecutors, judges, and the magistrate's court on procedure, responsibilities, and training.<sup>332</sup> Dissemination of and training on the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>324</sup> Interview with CSW, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>325</sup> Criminal Procedure Code, Art. 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>326</sup> *Id.*, Art. 43.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>327</sup> Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>328</sup> Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015; Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>329</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>330</sup> Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 25, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>331</sup> *Id.; see also* Interview with Shelter, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>332</sup> Special protocol for the judiciary in cases of violence against women in the family and intimate relationships, The Republic of Serbia: Ministry of Justice and State Administration, Beograd (Jan. 14, 2014). It also outlines legislation regarding domestic violence to create a national normative framework, defines the role of the Ministry of Justice in monitoring and prioritizing cases of domestic violence, outlines the role that the Judicial Academy should play in educating new personnel as well as research on violence against women, and calls for intersectoral cooperation.

protocol appeared to be inadequate,<sup>333</sup> and interviewee responses demonstrated a lack of awareness of the instrument.<sup>334</sup> When asked, an interviewee admitted the protocol added little to shaping the state response other than the directive to treat domestic violence as "urgent."<sup>335</sup> In practice, she had yet to see change that reflects such urgency.<sup>336</sup>

# **TRAININGS AND ATTITUDES**

Interviews revealed some prosecutor attitudes and practices that demonstrated support for victims. One prosecutor explained:

I need to believe the victim. She has been living with the abuser for years and knows best what he is capable of. If she is ready to finally report violence, it must be a very dangerous situation, and we must respond. We always try and provide protection to the victim.<sup>337</sup>

Interviews revealed other positive practices by prosecutors to hold offenders accountable. For example, prosecutors initiated summary criminal proceedings against a man who inflicted repeated violence on his victim.<sup>338</sup> Within 30 days, they obtained a conviction and one-year prison sentence for the abuser.<sup>339</sup> In addition, the prosecutors secured protective measures that allowed the woman and her children to safely return home from the shelter after only eight hours.<sup>340</sup>

Systems actors expressed frustration, however, that good practices are frequently lost when knowledgeable individuals left positions, indicating a need for greater consistency, a systematized response across the sector, and specialization. There are no prosecutor specializations for domestic violence.<sup>341</sup> One city had a prosecutor who collected strong evidence, but that practice disappeared from the office after he left.<sup>342</sup> An official remarked, "There are good examples of specific individuals, but not the system."<sup>343</sup>

<sup>342</sup> Interview with Gender Equality Ombudswoman, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>333</sup> Shadow Report of the Autonomous Women's Center (AWC) on the Follow-up state's report to the Concluding observations of the Committee, April 2016, Recommendation No. 23, ¶48 (noting that the Ministry of Justice never published or distributed the special protocol to courts or prosecutors, and it is difficult to locate on the Ministry's website).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>334</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014 (indicating that they lack a formal protocol to respond to domestic violence reports).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>335</sup> Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>336</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>337</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>338</sup> Interview with CSW, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>339</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>340</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>341</sup> Interview with Deputy Public Prosecutor, Location B-1, Oct. 16, 2014. Prosecutors have worked with the legal academy to train other prosecutors on using the criminal law to prosecute domestic violence, as well as other specific areas, such as using Criminal Procedure Code measures to protect witnesses, *Id.*, deferrals, and applying psychosocial treatment measures. Interview with Prosecutor, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>343</sup> Interview with Gender Equality Ombudswoman, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014.

Other prosecutors exhibited harmful attitudes that viewed women victims as dishonest or mutually violent. One prosecutor explained that mothers may report domestic violence as a way to gain child custody.<sup>344</sup> She also added that investigations can reveal mutual violence by both parties.<sup>345</sup> Other interviewees opined that prosecutors treat domestic violence as a lower priority compared to other offenses, such as crimes against property or drug offenses.<sup>346</sup>

Some trainings are available to prosecutors that could address such misperceptions, but those trainings that are mandatory typically focus on minor victims.<sup>347</sup> NGOs, such as Autonomous Women's Center, offer trainings on domestic violence, but these trainings are not mandatory.<sup>348</sup>

# **INVESTIGATIONS**

Public prosecutors are required to accept crime reports from any source, including police, victims, and other institutions.<sup>349</sup> Police particularly stressed that they notify prosecutors of every case of domestic violence.<sup>350</sup> But reporting does not always result in investigations.<sup>351</sup> An interviewee from a CSW described the prosecutor's failure to investigate the murder of a woman who made repeated reports:

There were multiple reports of violence against the woman by her partner. After several years of living together, she died suddenly. And it wasn't recorded anywhere as a death resulting from violence. There was an autopsy. We went to the prosecutor's office multiple times to ask whether the findings of the autopsy had arrived, but the prosecutor's office never replied. They wouldn't say whether the findings had come in or what they were. And it wasn't noted in the statistics that her death was due to domestic violence. Unofficially, she choked on a fruit stone, but officially, they don't know. Unofficially, there was a cherry pit found in her lungs. . . . At the time when she died, she had a baby who was 40 days old.<sup>352</sup>

# **CHARGING: MISDEMEANOR VERSUS CRIMINAL**

As indicated in the Police Section on Collecting Evidence from the Scene and Police Reports, prosecutors qualify whether an incident is a criminal or misdemeanor offense and direct police with respect to

<sup>348</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>344</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>345</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>346</sup> Interview with NGO, Location B-1, Oct. 14, 2014. *See e.g.*, Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014 (stating "[i]t looks like the public prosecutors act in the best interest of the victim, but they are governmental and state officials, so they have their own interest"); Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015 (stating that prosecutors are just doing their job and are not very interested).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>347</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015; Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014 (explaining the judicial center provides the training on child victims).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>349</sup> Interview with Deputy Public Prosecutor, Location B-1, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>350</sup> Interview with Police, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>351</sup> See Interview with CSW, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014 (explaining the CSW does not notify prosecutors of all domestic violence cases because it has noticed that prosecutors become annoyed). Therefore, some cases of domestic violence may not be reported due to a lack of confidence in the prosecutor's office.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>352</sup> Interview with CSW, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014.

investigations.<sup>353</sup> Interviews with police revealed frustration over prosecutor decisions on qualification.<sup>354</sup> An officer explained that, despite a strong police report, prosecutors still overlook criminal elements.<sup>355</sup> Without heavy injuries or repeat violence, prosecutors are less likely to qualify an offense as a crime.<sup>356</sup> In one reported case, a husband struck his wife across her face; because there were no injuries, the prosecutor classified the offense as a misdemeanor.<sup>357</sup> Charging decisions can also be influenced by the perpetrator's attitude. In one case, an offender inflicted bruises all over the victim's body and caused genital injuries by forcing a bottle into her vagina.<sup>358</sup> The prosecutor declined to charge him because he viewed the abuser's "sincere repentance" as adequate compensation for the victim.<sup>359</sup>

There are certain instances when prosecutors may choose misdemeanor charges in lieu of criminal prosecution, such as violence reported for the first time. Prosecutors explained that a single act of light violence will not lead to criminal charges.<sup>360</sup> Rather, single incidents must rise to the level of grievous bodily injury or severe threats to trigger criminal charges.<sup>361</sup> Barring this, prosecutors will look for a history of violence to qualify an offense as a crime.<sup>362</sup> But many repeated, light acts of violence may go unnoticed by prosecutors, especially when they lack access to a person's full history or when other sources, such as police reports, fail to present this history to them.<sup>363</sup>

Even for repeat violence, prosecutors may choose lesser misdemeanor charges where victims have previously recanted their statements. For five years, one woman continued to file complaints, with medical documentation evidencing serious injuries, against her husband.<sup>364</sup> But her lack of resources prevented her from further cooperation in the case. Each time trial began, she changed her testimony because she had no place to live.<sup>365</sup> When she again refused to cooperate with the prosecution, the prosecutor filed a misdemeanor charge.<sup>366</sup> The husband was convicted, but only fined as punishment.<sup>367</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>353</sup> The principle of double jeopardy bars the state from prosecuting a suspect under both the misdemeanor law and criminal code for the same offense. Euro. Ct. Human Rts., *Maresti v. Croatia*, App. No. 55759/07, Sept. 25, 2009; Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>354</sup> See, e.g., Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>355</sup> Interview with Police, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014. In that case, the prosecutor could still help file a misdemeanor charge, but it required police encouragement for them to do so. Interview with Police, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>356</sup> Interview with Police, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014 (stating that criminal prosecution relies heavily on physical evidence or it will not go forward); Interview with Deputy Public Prosecutor, Location B-1, Oct. 16, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014 (require forensic medical report before issuing criminal charge).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>357</sup> Interview with Police, Location B-1, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>358</sup> Interview with CSW, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>359</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>360</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>361</sup> *Id.*; Interview with Deputy Public Prosecutor, Location B-1, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>362</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>363</sup> Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>364</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>365</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>366</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>367</sup> Id.

# **EVIDENCE AND VICTIM TESTIMONY**

Without her testimony, I can't do much.

-Prosecutor citing a case where a husband broke his wife's arm<sup>368</sup>

With sufficient evidence, prosecutors will readily bring criminal charges *ex officio*. For example, one woman reported her husband who raped her, pulled her hair, punched her mouth, threw her to the ground, and strangled and beat her.<sup>369</sup> The victim had medical reports, a forensics report, and photos documenting her injuries.<sup>370</sup> The substantial evidence, along with the perpetrator's confession to pulling her hair and throwing her, was sufficient for the prosecutor to initiate prosecution.<sup>371</sup>

Interviews revealed that prosecutors require certain evidence before they will initiate charges. For example, prosecutors may require a forensic report before they will bring charges for serious violence.<sup>372</sup> Prosecutors attach extreme importance to victim testimony,<sup>373</sup> and without her cooperation, are reluctant to pursue domestic violence cases.<sup>374</sup> As frontline responders, police expressed frustration by prosecutors' emphasis on victim testimony. Police explained that the first question the prosecutor usually asks when presented with a case is, "Does she want to testify?"<sup>375</sup> They complained that an "atmosphere is being created that, if a victim is not willing to testify, nothing further is going to happen. If we are not able to persuade the prosecutor, then nothing more can happen."

Prosecutorial emphasis on victim testimony continues even after charges are filed and throughout the proceedings. If the victim withdraws her statement, prosecutors determine whether to continue or dismiss the case.<sup>377</sup> Some prosecutors insist that victim cooperation does not influence their decision to continue criminal prosecution.<sup>378</sup> In fact, interviews revealed prosecutors can and have successfully secured convictions without victim testimony using other evidence.<sup>379</sup> Police reported they are called to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>368</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>369</sup> Interview with Police, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>370</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>371</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>372</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>373</sup> See, e.g., Interview with Criminal Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015; Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>374</sup> Interview with CSW, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>375</sup> Interview with Police, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>376</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>377</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B, Oct. 16, 2014. A criminal judge cannot continue the case against the prosecutor's decision. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>378</sup> See, e.g., Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Deputy Public Prosecutor, Location B-1, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>379</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015 (suggesting use of witnesses, evidence of bodily injury, or CSW records pertaining to the family). Prosecutors will continue with a case, as long as there is evidence of the injury. Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Police, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

testify in almost all criminal cases.<sup>380</sup> One prosecutor described how witnesses helped prove a husband inflicted light injuries on his wife.<sup>381</sup> On her way to the police station to report violence, the woman encountered police officers and explained what happened.<sup>382</sup> Although she later invoked her right not to testify, the prosecutors called the patrol officers and a doctor to testify about their observations.<sup>383</sup> In another case, a woman suffered light injuries, including red patches on her face and a swollen eye.<sup>384</sup> The police visited the home to photograph the scene and victim.<sup>385</sup> Although the victim later withdrew her statement, prosecutors introduced testimony by a neighbor, photographs, the police report, and medical report to convict the defendant and sentence him to six months' imprisonment.<sup>386</sup> Prosecutors have also relied successfully on evidence from the scene. After a man beat the victim while she was driving, prosecutors coordinated with police to inspect the car as a crime scene and obtain forensic reports.<sup>387</sup> They secured a six-month prison term for the offender.<sup>388</sup>

More often, however, prosecutors drop the case when victims withdraw their statement.<sup>389</sup> One prosecutor admitted to simply feeling "powerless" when a victim withdraws her statement.<sup>390</sup> As described by a judge, "the victim's statement is the main piece of evidence in domestic violence cases, so when prosecutors lose the victim's statement, it makes no sense to continue with the case."<sup>391</sup> One interviewee estimated that approximately one-third of cases are dropped.<sup>392</sup>

Prosecutors have even dismissed cases involving serious violence because of victim recantation. One woman endured years of psychological, physical, sexual, and economic violence by her husband.<sup>393</sup> He beat his wife with different tools, cut off her hair with a razor, forced her to stand under a cold shower,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>380</sup> Interview with Police, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>381</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>382</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>383</sup> Although the lower court acquitted him, the court of appeals referred the case for retrial. Interview with Prosecutor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>384</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>385</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>386</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>387</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>388</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>389</sup> Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014. But police may file misdemeanor charges if prosecutors abandon the criminal case. Interview with Police, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014. Without victim testimony or other evidence, such as medical certificates or witnesses, it is likely the prosecutor will drop charges or the court will acquit the defendant. Interview with Criminal Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B, Oct. 16, 2014 (explaining that prosecutors drop cases more often than pursuing them when victims withdraw their statements); Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014 (explaining an acquittal is certain unless there is medical evidence); Interview with Prosecutor, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014 (without victim testimony, the state cannot prove the facts through witness testimony or other evidence, and the offender will likely escape prosecution); Interview with Gender Equality Ombudswoman, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>390</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>391</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>392</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>393</sup> Interview with Police, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014.

and stalked her continuously.<sup>394</sup> He left several suicide notes to their two minor daughters, calling their mother a "whore" and "horrible person."<sup>395</sup> As a result of her husband's brutality, the woman only had three teeth left.<sup>396</sup> He tried to commit suicide by hanging himself when the police arrived to arrest him and by running into the walls of his detention cell.<sup>397</sup> But after six months of investigations, the wife decided to withdraw her statement. <sup>398</sup> Despite witnesses, medical records and other evidence, prosecutors dropped the case.<sup>399</sup>

When a victim states her intention not to testify, some prosecutors may actually charge victims for false testimony.<sup>400</sup> Some prosecutors have threatened victims they will bring criminal charges against her if she lies and provides false testimony.<sup>401</sup> A service provider stated, "It is a very big problem, because they do not assess the woman is very, very scared, and that is the reason why she withdraws her statement."<sup>402</sup> As a result, the interviewee advises women not to initiate criminal proceedings if she thinks she will recant, because it will be counterproductive for her.<sup>403</sup> This practice is not universal throughout Serbia, but even prosecutors who know she is telling the truth still apply it.<sup>404</sup>

# **DISMISSING CRIMINAL CHARGES**

As described above, victim recantation or refusal to cooperate is a major reason prosecutors dismiss charges. Reported reconciliation between the parties can also influence a prosecutor to dismiss charges. Serbian law allows prosecutors to dismiss a criminal complaint if the suspect has genuine remorse and indemnified the damage.<sup>405</sup> One mother fled her son's abuse by moving to a shelter, where she lived for two or three years.<sup>406</sup> The mother filed a criminal complaint against her son, but after they reconciled, the prosecutor dropped the charges.<sup>407</sup> The violence continued, compelling the mother to file a second complaint for the violence.<sup>408</sup> This time, the son received six months' imprisonment.<sup>409</sup>

<sup>395</sup> Id.

<sup>396</sup> Id.

<sup>397</sup> Id.

<sup>399</sup> Id.

<sup>400</sup> Criminal Code, Art. 334. See also Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015; Interview with Police, Location B-1, Oct. 17, 2014; Interview with Shelter, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014. But see Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014 (stating he or she had never seen a charge for false testimony against a victim); Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015.

<sup>401</sup> Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015.

<sup>402</sup> Interview with Shelter, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>403</sup> Id.

<sup>404</sup> A criminal judge who had been a judge for 30 years never saw a prosecutor charge a victim with false testimony. Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014 (reluctantly charging if there is no evidence that the victim did not provide false testimony).

<sup>405</sup> Criminal Procedure Code, Art. 284 (this applies to crimes punishable by prison terms up to three years, and for which, "in view of the circumstances of the case the public prosecutor finds that pronouncing a criminal sanction would not be fair").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>394</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>398</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>406</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>407</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>408</sup> Id.

# **PRIVATE PROSECUTION**

There is little recourse when a prosecutor dismisses criminal charges. Victims can complain to the higher prosecutor, but in reality, this rarely happens.<sup>410</sup> Victims may initiate private prosecution when prosecutors dismiss a case, but are not typically successful because they lack evidence.<sup>411</sup> Private prosecution is also rare because of the financial costs and likelihood of an unfavorable outcome.<sup>412</sup> Most victims do not pursue additional proceedings, leading to closure of the case.<sup>413</sup> Police also explained they "are helpless to do anything" when the charges are dropped.<sup>414</sup> Their only hope is that the criminal charges remain in the abuser's record, so the prosecutor may impose detention the next time he commits violence.<sup>415</sup>

Victims may also initiate private prosecution for other reasons. Public prosecutors cannot prosecute light bodily injuries of intimate partners who are not married and have no children because these individuals do not fall within the definition of "family member" in the Criminal Code.<sup>416</sup> Instead, these persons must privately prosecute light bodily injury under Article 122, which does not trigger public prosecution unless a weapon is used, or endangerment under Article 125.<sup>417</sup> The other option is for the case to be relegated to a misdemeanor proceeding. One woman sustained a black eye and posted a photo of her injured face on Facebook.<sup>418</sup> The prosecutor declined to pursue criminal charges because the parties were unmarried, did not have a common child, and did not live together.<sup>419</sup> In these types of cases, the victim "is obligated to file a criminal charge, obligated to be present at the hearings, and that is all up to her."<sup>420</sup>

In extreme cases, abusers have themselves used private prosecution to retaliate against victims. In one case, the prosecutor initiated two criminal charges against the father for kidnapping his children and abusing their mother.<sup>421</sup> The father-offender, in turn, filed criminal charges against the mother alleging

<sup>409</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>410</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>411</sup> Interview with Criminal Judges, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>412</sup> See Interview with Criminal Judges, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014 (explaining that the lack of evidence in cases under Article 122 is why prosecutors have not brought charges *ex officio*); Interview with Criminal Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015. See also Prosecutors Section on Evidence and Victim Testimony (some prosecutors may charge victims for false testimony).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>413</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>414</sup> Interview with Police, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>415</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>416</sup> Criminal Code, Art. 112(28). These individuals are covered by the definition of family member under Family Law, Art. 197.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>417</sup> Criminal Code, Arts. 122, 125; Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014. When a woman does file under Article 122, prosecutors assess those cases and may still file *ex officio* proceedings for domestic violence. Interview with Criminal Judges, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014 (stating that private prosecution is required for light violence inflicted without a weapon).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>418</sup> Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>419</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>420</sup> Interview with Criminal Judges, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>421</sup> Interview with CSW, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014.

that she was violent.<sup>422</sup> Although the CSW made four attempts to obtain temporary custody for the mother, as well as punishment and detention of the father, they were unsuccessful because of the pending criminal proceedings against the mother.<sup>423</sup> The parties divorced, but the mother still had not regained custody of her children at the time of the interview.<sup>424</sup>

### **DEFERRAL OF PROSECUTION**

Serbia's Criminal Procedure Code authorizes deferral of prosecution in specific cases, allowing a defendant to postpone or escape charges for an offense. Deferral is allowed for offenses punishable by fines or sentences up to five years,<sup>425</sup> which includes domestic violence crimes under Articles 194(1) and (2). Prosecutors may defer prosecution if the suspect agrees to any of several obligations, including, *inter alia*: remedying the consequences; paying a humanitarian fine; undergoing substance abuse treatment; completing community service; undergoing psychosocial treatment to eliminate violent behavior; or complying with court-issued decisions or restrictions.<sup>426</sup> Once the defendant completes his deferral obligations, the prosecutor dismisses the criminal charge.<sup>427</sup>

Use of deferral varies widely.<sup>428</sup> For example, interviews revealed that some prosecutors commonly use deferral in domestic violence cases.<sup>429</sup> Out of 6,624 criminal complaints made from January 2013 through the first half of 2014, 493 of those ended in deferral.<sup>430</sup> Other interviewees estimated between 30 and 90 percent of domestic violence cases end in deferral.<sup>431</sup>

Prosecutors cited various reasons why they rely on deferral. One prosecutor viewed deferral as an effective warning, especially if the victim decides not to testify.<sup>432</sup> In cases where the victim recants and there is no other evidence, prosecutors invite both parties in "for peaceful resolution of the dispute, the deferral of the criminal prosecution. . . ."<sup>433</sup> The prosecutor illustrated, "Deferral is used when they regret reporting. . . . A week goes by, and the fight is over. But that is when the violence isn't serious. It's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>422</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>423</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>424</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>425</sup> Prosecutors are required to check if deferral has been used before and if the defendant has completed any obligations ordered. Interview with Deputy Public Prosecutor, Location B-1, Oct. 16, 2014. Deferral is not allowed when children are victims of violence. Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>426</sup> Criminal Procedure Code, Art. 283(1-3), (5-7). This deferral is also referred to as the "principle of opportunity." Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014. Compensation to the victim is rare because the parties are typically spouses. Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>427</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>428</sup> Many criminal cases are reportedly resolved in this manner. Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>429</sup> See e.g., Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>430</sup> Interview with Deputy Public Prosecutor, Location B-1, Oct. 16, 2014 (this data reflects cases where the victim of violence was a woman). Of the 6,624 criminal reports, 1,702 cases were dismissed. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>431</sup> Interview with Police, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>432</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>433</sup> Id.

more of a family argument than domestic violence."<sup>434</sup> Yet such practices do not take into account the fear and lack of economic resources that induce many women to reconcile.<sup>435</sup>

Other interviews suggest that deferral is rare due to policies or personal aversion.<sup>436</sup> One interviewee explained the basic prosecution office instructed prosecutors to avoid deferral in domestic violence cases.<sup>437</sup> That same interviewee also viewed deferral as an inefficient and counterproductive practice.<sup>438</sup>

Prosecutors are not required to obtain victim consent to use deferral, which can leave the victim uninformed about the case's status.<sup>439</sup> For example, after police filed criminal charges, a woman visited the prosecutor's office over several months to learn the status of multiple charges against her abuser.<sup>440</sup> Each time, the prosecutor's office told her they did not know.<sup>441</sup> After her legal aid attorneys filed a complaint to the higher prosecution office, a prosecutor finally informed her that the case had been deferred. Their office had no obligation, however, to inform her of this outcome.<sup>442</sup>

#### Humanitarian fines and community service

Humanitarian fines and community service are two deferral obligations that prosecutors commonly order in domestic violence cases. For example, one defendant had several cases pending in the first nine months of 2014. Of seven cases, he was ordered to pay humanitarian fines in two cases and complete 300 hours of community service in a third case.<sup>443</sup>

Humanitarian fines, typically 30,000 to 50,000 dinars (250 to 416 euros), are common where no physical or repeat violence is involved.<sup>444</sup> Prosecutors will typically allow an offender to miss payments for one to two months before questioning him about his compliance.<sup>445</sup> In cases of non-payment, the prosecution

<sup>445</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>434</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>435</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014; *see also* Interview with Prosecutor, Location H, Oct.
23, 2014 (noting that some victims report violence to ultimately preserve the family).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>436</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014. In a large city, data for the first nine months of 2014 showed eight offenders received deferral for domestic violence. Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014. A prosecutor reported using deferral in only 7 of 427 cases of domestic violence. Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>437</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>438</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>439</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014. The prosecutor explained that they always contact the victim in domestic violence cases before applying deferral. Other prosecutors also sought victim agreement before ordering deferral. Interview with Prosecutor, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014. In one instance, when a victim opposed deferring prosecution via damage compensation, the prosecutor did not defer the proceedings. Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>440</sup> Interview with NGO, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>441</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>442</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>443</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014. In one case, the defendant was ordered to pay a humanitarian fine in the amount of 50,000 dinars. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>444</sup> Criminal Procedure Code, Art. 283(2); Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014. Offenders can pay the fine in installments for up to one year. Proceeds from the fines go to various purposes, including a government account to respond to the 2014 floods or families with ill children. One defendant did agree to pay 250,000 dinars for a humanitarian fine. Interview with Police, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

can resume.<sup>446</sup> Although prosecutors use humanitarian fines, some find it has no impact on wealthy families and only burdens poor families.<sup>447</sup> One woman implored a prosecutor not to impose a 1,000 dinar (8 euros) humanitarian fine because she said, "I will have to work to get this money."<sup>448</sup>

On the other hand, community service may not impose a financial burden on the family, but requires a contract with the municipality or other institution.<sup>449</sup> These contracts reportedly did not exist in some areas, and without the contracts, the justice system has nowhere to send defendants to complete this obligation.<sup>450</sup>

#### **Psychosocial treatment**

Under Article 283(6) of the Criminal Procedure Code, the prosecutor may defer prosecution if the suspect completes psychosocial treatment. Prosecutors reportedly rely heavily on this option, seeing psychosocial treatment as an opportunity for defendants to change.<sup>451</sup> Some prosecutors even favor it in lieu of other deferral measures.<sup>452</sup> Women victims also have preferred treatment over a humanitarian fine that will penalize them as well.<sup>453</sup>

As described in the CSW Section under Batterer Intervention Programs, these treatment programs are at an initial stage and not widely available throughout the country. Observers remained skeptical of the program's effectiveness or the capacity to enforce treatment.<sup>454</sup> An interviewee explained, "Some don't want to go. Some don't regularly attend the sessions. If there is a lack of will, they will not receive the treatment."<sup>455</sup> A prosecutor explained that the defendant may agree to treatment, but they later learn the defendant never even contacted the treatment institution to begin.<sup>456</sup> The allocation of responsibility aggravates these problems. An MoJ unit for the execution of criminal sanctions supervises the enforcement of obligations,<sup>457</sup> but it is unclear who actually monitors compliance with treatment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>446</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>447</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>448</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>449</sup> Criminal Procedure Code, Art. 283(3); Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014. There were limited reports of the duration of community service, but one prosecutor reported that a domestic violence offender was ordered to complete 300 hours of community service. Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014. <sup>450</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>451</sup> Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014 (stating her office has deferred 20 cases of domestic violence for psychosocial treatment in 2013 and 2014). The defendant must consent to treatment. Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>452</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; *see also* Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>453</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>454</sup> Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014 (explaining that several offenders had not received the treatment despite their referral).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>455</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>456</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>457</sup> Interview with Deputy Public Prosecutor, Location B-1, Oct. 16, 2014.

When offenders do not attend, prosecutors reinstate the original criminal proceedings but do not pursue enforcement of or punishment for their non-compliance.<sup>458</sup>

# **MEASURES TO SECURE THE DEFENDANT**

The Criminal Procedure Code provides several mechanisms to secure the defendant's presence and facilitate unobstructed proceedings. These measures, including a restraining order and detention, can provide protection to victims throughout criminal proceedings.<sup>459</sup> Prosecutor requests for these measures are especially important early on because judges do not have ex officio authority to issue them until confirmation of the indictment.<sup>460</sup>

Findings underline the need for clearer guidance for prosecutors on their application.<sup>461</sup> As indicated by their title, these measures are intended to secure the defendant rather than protect the victim.<sup>462</sup> Victims may withdraw their statements when they believe they "cannot be protected" during trial.<sup>463</sup> A judge similarly concluded that the state must provide better protection to victims once they decide to report.464

In addition, the law does not direct prosecutors to conduct a risk assessment that could guide them in using these measures,<sup>465</sup> nor do prosecutors have formal risk assessment tools that could aid them in this task.<sup>466</sup> Interviews revealed high-risk cases where prosecutors did not request measures that may have protected victims from violence or even death. An NGO worker described a murder case where the perpetrator was sentenced to four years' imprisonment for raping his daughter.<sup>467</sup> Although the parents divorced, they continued to live together using separate entrances because the wife could not sell the home.<sup>468</sup> Although the wife reported violence several times, the prosecutor did not order any measures:

The day before the murder happened, she called the police, and the police have the obligation to consult with the basic prosecutor's office. The police called the prosecutor, and they said to go for regular procedure—meaning to file criminal charges. They filed criminal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>458</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>459</sup> Criminal Procedure Code, Art. 188. The prosecutor or court may summon a defendant in writing, informing him of the crime with which he charged, and when and where he is to appear. Criminal Procedure Code, Art. 191. The prosecutor or court may issue an order to bring a defendant in if a summoned defendant fails to appear, if service of summons cannot be completed, or if detention has been ordered. Criminal Procedure Code, Art. 195. Police hold the responsibility to execute an order and bring him in. Criminal Procedure Code, Art. 196.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>460</sup> Criminal Procedure Code, Arts. 197-98, 211-12, 337. The prosecutor retains authority to submit a motion proposing these measures throughout proceedings, including prior to the indictment. *Id.* <sup>461</sup> *See* Interview with Deputy Public Prosecutor, Location B-1, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>462</sup> Criminal Procedure Code, Chapter VIII, Measures to Secure the Presence of the Defendant and for Unobstructed Conduct of Criminal Proceedings; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>463</sup> Interview with Gender Equality Ombudswoman, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>464</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>465</sup> Interview with Deputy Public Prosecutor, Location B-1, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>466</sup> See Interview with Prosecutor, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014 (relying on conversations with the police or the victim to evaluate the danger a victim faces and to inform their decisions); Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 25, 2015 (explaining that there is a risk assessment checklist but it is not noted in the Ministry of Justice protocol). <sup>467</sup> Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>468</sup> Id.

charges, and he didn't [end up in prison]. Then she also called the CSW, and they called the police, and the police went as regular patrol and found that she was killed by a knife. In this case, we wanted to ask for responsibility of basic prosecutor because they didn't take into consideration all of the risks in the case, because he was in prison before and a repeat offender.<sup>469</sup>

#### Detention

Prosecutors may file a motion for detention during the investigation or after filing an indictment.<sup>470</sup> Because police rarely can detain without prosecutor approval and criminal judges can only detain after the indictment is filed, prosecutors hold great responsibility in rendering this decision.<sup>471</sup> Some prosecutors claimed they seek detention in more than 90 percent of cases, and the detention can last up to 30 days.<sup>472</sup> Yet interviewees reported that detention is underused in domestic violence cases.<sup>473</sup> One prosecutor reported that of the 20 domestic violence offenders in that prosecutor's office in 2014, only 3 were held in detention.<sup>474</sup>

Detention serves a number of purposes. Foremost, it can provide a measure of protection to victims.<sup>475</sup> In one example, when a husband moved back in with his wife after serving a prison term for domestic violence, he committed violence again and inflicted severe injuries on her.<sup>476</sup> Despite the CSW's and police efforts, they could not persuade the prosecutor to order detention.<sup>477</sup> After being summoned by the police, the perpetrator fled the country.<sup>478</sup> The prosecution was unable to find him for several

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>469</sup> Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>470</sup> Criminal Procedure Code, Arts. 212, 214, 216; Interview with Deputy Public Prosecutor, Location B-1, Oct. 16, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Police, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Police, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014. In at least one city, prosecutors are on call to make decisions on continued detention of an offender. Interview with Police, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>471</sup> Criminal Procedure Code, Art. 212; Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 25, 2015; Interview with Police, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Deputy Public Prosecutor, Location B-1, Oct. 16, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Police, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Police, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>472</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 13, 2014.
 <sup>473</sup> Interview with NGO, Location B-1, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>474</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>475</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014. Detention can also have a stronger effect than sanctions, which are typically suspended sentences. Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014. In addition, detention can speed up criminal proceedings, prevent evasion of service, and prevent the defendant from influencing the victim and other witnesses. Criminal Procedure Code, Art. 195; Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location B-1, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015. Detention can also provide a window to forensically examine a victim's injuries. Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>476</sup> Interview with CSW, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>477</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>478</sup> Id.

months, and the woman felt unsafe at home.<sup>479</sup> She ended up staying in a shelter because she was so afraid while he remained free.<sup>480</sup>

Article 211 of the Criminal Procedure Code provides a number of reasons to impose detention, including recidivism or interference with witnesses.<sup>481</sup> In addition, prosecutors rely on other criteria to reach this decision.<sup>482</sup> When the suspect is dangerous, a repeat offender, or addicted to alcohol, prosecutors are more likely to order detention.<sup>483</sup> Other prosecutors appropriately assess a victim's fear in determining next steps. When deciding when to seek detention, a prosecutor explained, "We call her and ask her, because she knows the best whether her life is in danger and her health is in danger, and she is afraid. . . that's how we most frequently assess how dangerous it is for her."<sup>484</sup>

At times, however, prosecutors follow victims' wishes without due regard for the victims' safety or the dynamics of power and control. A woman reported her ex-husband for violence on two occasions.<sup>485</sup> The second time, he followed her and her friend home and asked to talk over Easter. When she refused, he deliberately crashed his car into her friend's vehicle. He texted her, "This is how this Easter has passed, but you will see what the next Easter will be like."<sup>486</sup> The prosecutor proposed a 30-day detention for him, but the woman asked the prosecutor to cancel the measure. Although the prosecutor thought there was a serious risk the defendant would hurt her, he was released.<sup>487</sup>

In another case, a husband prevented his wife from eating and sleeping for two to three months. The prosecutor declined to seek detention, as he surmised there was no risk of physical danger. He concluded, "[t]he victim has free will to leave the house, as there is no physical violence."<sup>488</sup> Later, the husband came home drunk, beat her, pushed her to the ground, and broke her arm. After the woman reported the new violence, the prosecutor finally ordered detention.<sup>489</sup>

# **COURTROOM SECURITY**

As described in the Criminal Judges Section on Courtroom Security, there are measures to protect victim witnesses. Prosecutors described a new procedure in place since October 2013 by which they and judges can grant the status of especially vulnerable or fragile witnesses.<sup>490</sup> With vulnerable status, the witness can use a proxy and testify via technology; confrontation is allowed, however, if the defendant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>479</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>480</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>481</sup> Criminal Procedure Code, Art. 211.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>482</sup> Criminal Procedure Code, Art. 211. Prosecutors may choose to detain a perpetrator if he is hiding, avoids the summons, is a flight risk, may destroy, hide or falsify evidence, influence witnesses, or repeat or complete the criminal act or execute a threat.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>483</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>484</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>485</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>486</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>487</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>488</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>489</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>490</sup> Interview with Deputy Public Prosecutor, Location B-1, Oct. 16, 2014.

requests it.<sup>491</sup> While this protection is often provided for minor victims, prosecutors also apply it to adult victims of long-term violence who are in a "constant" state of fear.<sup>492</sup>

Interviews revealed these measures are either limited to certain times during proceedings, minimizing their effectiveness, or are unused.<sup>493</sup> The benefit of especially vulnerable witness classification is it prevents victims from seeing or having physical contact with perpetrators.<sup>494</sup> Nevertheless, a prosecutor admitted that these courtroom protections do not protect women and girls from violence outside the courtroom, such as stalking.<sup>495</sup>

At the time of interviews, efforts were underway to reform security for victims and witnesses, and the country was in the process of drafting an action plan to improve their status and establish standards on the protection of victims during criminal proceedings.<sup>496</sup> In April 2014, the High Prosecutor's Office in Belgrade created a service to provide information to victims and witnesses during criminal proceedings, and plans were underway to expand this service to four High Prosecutor's Offices in other cities.<sup>497</sup>

# **SENTENCES**

Prosecutors propose the type and duration of criminal sanctions, which may include prison, a fine, suspended sentence, or judicial admonition.<sup>498</sup> Their recommendation shapes the outcome, as judges follow prosecutors' suggestions in "most cases."<sup>499</sup> But interviews overwhelmingly show lenient sentencing with few prison sentences due to both Serbia's laws and practices of state actors.<sup>500</sup> Interviews suggest that prosecutors favor suspended sentences in practice, especially for first-time offenders.<sup>501</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>491</sup> Criminal Procedure Code, Arts. 103, 104; Interview with Deputy Public Prosecutor, Location B-1, Oct. 16, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>492</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>493</sup> See, e.g., Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>494</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>495</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>496</sup> Interview with Deputy Public Prosecutor, Location B-1, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>497</sup> *Id.* The service seeks to help the victim understand his or her role in the proceedings and provides a leaflet on basic witness rights, as well as contact information for the victim or witness to speak with a prosecutor about the case. As of January 2017, these services existed in Novi Sad, Niš, and Kragujevac. Personal communication from NGO to The Advocates for Human Rights, via email, Jan. 11, 2017 (on file with authors).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>498</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 13, 2014. Some prosecutors avoid proposing fines because they penalize the entire family. Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014. Prosecutors can also request protective measures for certain domestic violence crimes; however, as described in more detail in the Criminal Judges Section on Sanctions: Protective supervision, these measures are rarely requested or imposed. Criminal Procedure Code, Art. 512(2) allows proposals for protective supervision or judicial admonition for crimes punishable by less than three years imprisonment or a fine.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>499</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>500</sup> See, e.g., Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>501</sup> See, e.g., Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

An interviewee attributed lenient sentencing practices to the law itself.<sup>502</sup> The prosecutor pointed to a legislative gap to address low-level, long-term violence and described prosecuting a son who repeatedly committed low-level violence against his mother.<sup>503</sup> The prosecutor charged him three times and secured prison terms lasting several months.<sup>504</sup> The prison sentences were too short, however, and he continued to abuse her each time he was released.<sup>505</sup> The prosecutor explained, "The violence isn't at such a level that he could get ten years and then be put away permanently." The prosecutor later added that in cases with short sentences, "We don't really achieve anything."<sup>506</sup>

Interviews also show that prosecutorial practices contribute to light sentencing. One NGO cited prosecution as the largest "gap" in sentencing because prosecutors do not recognize high-risk cases or have access to all of the information to qualify an offense as a crime.<sup>507</sup> The NGO described a perpetrator who had 10 or 15 cases involving minor incidents. Because the prosecutor did not have a database of all prior incidents displayed together, the justice system focused on the current incident instead of viewing the perpetrator's actions cumulatively.<sup>508</sup> As a result, he avoided criminal proceedings.<sup>509</sup>

Prosecutor misperceptions about domestic violence may also influence the sanctions they seek. A prosecutor explained that sending a defendant to prison may make him angrier upon his release.<sup>510</sup> But if he is repentant, the interviewee reasoned, a suspended sentence should have an adequate effect on him.<sup>511</sup> A prosecutor explained, "When I can see that he is a *real* abuser, I will propose jail . . . . "<sup>512</sup>

In addition, prosecutors may view a dangerous situation as meriting a lighter punishment, such as reconciliation.<sup>513</sup> In one case, a victim would not testify but the prosecutor used medical evidence to continue prosecution.<sup>514</sup> The victim later had a baby with her abuser during the appeals process.<sup>515</sup> The prosecutor interpreted the birth of their child as reconciliation and did not seek a prison sentence

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>502</sup> Prosecutors also complained about judicial practices, reporting that courts hand down punishments lower than what the law allows. Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>503</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>504</sup> *Id.* The son was sentenced to six months' imprisonment the first time and to nine months' imprisonment plus alcohol addiction treatment the second time. Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>505</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>506</sup> *Id.* When asked if the prosecutor requested a restraining order, the interviewee could not recall. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>507</sup> Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>508</sup> *Id.* The NGO described that the entire community was afraid of the perpetrator. He stalked the victim, would go into her house when she was not there and take her laptop, and he damaged her car.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>509</sup> Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>510</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014. See also Interview with Prosecutor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>511</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>512</sup> *Id.* (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>513</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>514</sup> Id. (explaining that when a victim has reconciled with her abuser and relations have "normalized," the prosecutor may seek a suspended sentence). <sup>515</sup> *Id.* 

because "relations normalized."<sup>516</sup> Such interpretation does not, however, hold an offender accountable, nor does it take into account spousal rape and other relevant factors.

#### **Security measures**

As described in the Criminal Judges Section on Sanctions: Security measures, courts may impose security measures at sentencing to reduce the risk of recidivism.<sup>517</sup> Security measures, particularly restraining orders and confiscation of harmful objects, can serve an important purpose in protecting victims against continued violence.<sup>518</sup> For example, many of Serbia's prisons are at capacity, allowing offenders to remain free up to three years before incarceration.<sup>519</sup> In these cases, a restraining order can provide protection to victims, especially because any measures to secure the defendant cease at the end of the proceedings.<sup>520</sup>

Prosecutors have authority to propose security measures to the court,<sup>521</sup> and courts generally defer to them and grant their recommendations.<sup>522</sup> Not all prosecutors, however, demonstrated sufficient knowledge of these measures to even make such a proposal. For example, a prosecutor stated that although Article 194 works well, prosecutors need a mechanism to prevent the abuser from approaching the victim.<sup>523</sup> Furthermore, prosecutors may not see a need for criminal security measures if a victim has already applied for protective measures.<sup>524</sup>

# **ROLE IN FAMILY LAW PROTECTIVE MEASURES**

Prosecutors play two roles with respect to protective measures under the Family Law. First, they can apply for measures on behalf of the victim and second, they prosecute violations of protective measures.

A violation of a protective measure is a crime punishable by a fine and a prison term of three months to three years.<sup>525</sup> As with other charging decisions, prosecutors decide whether to pursue a violation of protective measures.<sup>526</sup> Reports vary as to how consistently prosecutors pursue charges under Article 194(5). At least two prosecutors reported pursuing charges for violations of protective measures under

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>516</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>517</sup> Criminal Code, Art. 78.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>518</sup> *Id.*, Art. 79(7), (10).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>519</sup> Interview with NGO, Location B-1, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>520</sup> See Section on Measures to Secure the Defendant, supra (measures provide protection throughout proceedings).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>521</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B, Oct. 16, 2014. These measures are sometimes based upon the recommendation of an expert. Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>522</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014 (explaining that courts grant security measures in "almost 100 percent of cases" involving alcohol or substance abuse when requested).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>523</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>524</sup> See Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>525</sup> Criminal Code, Art. 194(5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>526</sup> Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

the Family Law.<sup>527</sup> As with protective measure applications, the Republic Prosecutor's Office has not tracked the number of criminal prosecutions for violations of protective measures.<sup>528</sup>

Interviews indicated prosecutors do not require additional violence to file charges under Article 194(5).<sup>529</sup> One prosecutor explained she will proceed under Article 194(5) even in cases where the victim has invited the perpetrator to approach her.<sup>530</sup> One woman had a restraining order against her abusive husband, but asked him to meet to discuss joint possessions.<sup>531</sup> When they argued, she called the police.<sup>532</sup> Although she invited him and he did not use physical violence during their meeting, the prosecutor charged him for violating the protective measure.<sup>533</sup>

Both criminal judges and prosecutors acknowledged some prosecutors do not pursue violations.<sup>534</sup> A few criminal judges stated they "never" see cases prosecuting violations of protective measures. 535 Another prosecutor admitted never prosecuting a perpetrator for such a violation. <sup>536</sup> She shared an example of a Roma woman, who obtained a protective measure ordering her ex-husband and his new wife to stay away from her in the house they shared.<sup>537</sup> According to the terms, she was expected to remain in one room of the house, because she had nowhere else to live.<sup>538</sup> While she felt safer during the daytime in her room, she was frightened to stay there at night.<sup>539</sup> Her ex-husband eventually violated the order, beat her severely, slammed her head into the wall, and kicked her.<sup>540</sup> Instead of charging the husband for violating the protective measure, the prosecutor told the victim to ask the police to escort her back to her bedroom.<sup>541</sup>

Although some prosecutors appropriately charge offenders for the violation plus any additional violence, <sup>542</sup> at times, prosecutors only bring charges for the violation or the violence, but not both. A prosecutor described charging an offender under Article 194(5) for breach of the protective measure only. A man violated a protective measure by pushing his ex-wife and threatening her, "I will beat you

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>527</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>528</sup> Interview with Deputy Public Prosecutor, Location B-1, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>529</sup> Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>530</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>531</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>532</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>533</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>534</sup> Another CSW interviewee described how the prosecution failed to respond at all to notifications about violations of an interim protective measure, even though the victim was being subjected to ongoing psychological violence. Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>535</sup> Interview with Criminal Judges, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>536</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>537</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>538</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>539</sup> Id. <sup>540</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>541</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>542</sup> Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014. Interviews also revealed that prosecutors pursue violations that do not involve physical violence. Interview with Prosecutor, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

and break your arms and legs."<sup>543</sup> The man already had domestic violence criminal charges pending against him. But although he committed new violence as well as the violation, the prosecutor only charged the violation under Article 194(5).<sup>544</sup> Conversely, prosecutors may only prosecute the act of domestic violence and not the violation of protective measures. One NGO explained, "In some cases they are reporting violations of the protective measures to the prosecutors...for paragraph 5, they do not file so many charges. It's more often from Article 194(1-3)."<sup>545</sup> For example, one defendant continued to violate the restraining order protecting his ex-wife and child.<sup>546</sup> He was so dangerous that the CSW moved the mother and child to a shelter in another city. Although he had received jail sentences for his violence – the longest sanction being five months – there was no mention of prosecution for his violations of the protective measures.<sup>547</sup>

In addition to prosecuting violations, prosecutors are authorized to apply for civil protective measures on behalf of a victim.<sup>548</sup> Interviews generally revealed, however, that prosecutors rarely use their authority to apply for protective measures, or they use it in limited circumstances.<sup>549</sup> The Republic Prosecutor's Office does not track the number of applications prosecutors make for these measures.<sup>550</sup>

Prosecutors are not required to seek victim consent before applying for such measures.<sup>551</sup> A prosecutor admitted "we can involuntarily violate some of her rights" when they do not consider the victim's wishes.<sup>552</sup> In fact, some prosecutors perceive it is in the public interest to apply regardless of her wishes.<sup>553</sup> In one case, a man punched his ex-wife and gave her a black eye.<sup>554</sup> Because the prosecutor perceived the violence as severe, she applied for a restraining order for the victim *ex officio*.<sup>555</sup>

<sup>550</sup> Interview with Deputy Public Prosecutor, Location B-1, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>543</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>544</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>545</sup> Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>546</sup> Interview with CSW, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>547</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>548</sup> Family Law Act, Art. 284(2). *See also* Family Law Judges Section on Protective Measures: Generally.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>549</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014 (explaining that prosecutors handle criminal proceedings and refer the criminal judge to family proceedings to check for protection measures); *see also* Interview with Gender Equality Ombudswoman, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014 (stating the public prosecutor does not always inform victims they can apply for protective measures); Interview with Prosecutor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014 (stating that she handled only two applications for protective measures by a prosecutor); Interview with Police, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014 (stating they had seen one prosecutor apply for protective measures); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 25, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>551</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>552</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>553</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014; *see also* Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014. But other prosecutors do speak with the victim beforehand and provide her with referrals. Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>554</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>555</sup> Id.

Under the new LPDV, which entered into force in June 2017, prosecutors are designated to play a role with respect to its emergency measures. If police issue temporary, emergency restraining orders or orders for the perpetrator to distance himself from the family home or apartment, prosecutors are the designated party to request 30-day extensions of these measures within 24 hours after their issuance.<sup>556</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>556</sup> LPDV Art. 18.

# **CRIMINAL JUDGES**

[The criminal suits] usually last the longest. . . I don't see the benefit from it...[they are] exhausted from it. There's no benefit because they [the perpetrators] got a suspended sentence. Some [women] even say, 'If I knew that, I wouldn't have been involved.'

- NGO worker<sup>557</sup>

Domestic violence constitutes a large proportion of the criminal caseload. Judges estimated that up to one-third of their criminal cases relate to domestic violence. <sup>558</sup> Another court oversaw criminal prosecutions for approximately 600 domestic violence offenders from 2010 to 2014. <sup>559</sup> After amendments to the misdemeanor Law on Public Peace and Order, anecdotal reports indicate an increase in the number of criminal proceedings and detentions for domestic violence. <sup>560</sup>

Criminal laws impose higher sanctions than misdemeanors. New changes to the Criminal Code also broaden the means by which the criminal justice system can hold offenders accountable. The Criminal Code was amended in November 2016, and articles addressing stalking (Article 138a) and sexual harassment (Article 182a) entered into force on June 1, 2017. In addition, both the Criminal Code and Criminal Procedure Code include protections that can be ordered to protect a victim during and after criminal proceedings. Thus, criminal judges have a unique opportunity to employ these legal provisions to promote victim protection.

Interviews revealed, however, that judges are not ordering these measures. Criminal cases are lengthy, and without these protections, victims are exposed to further violence for an extended period of time. Moreover, judges typically suspend sentences or order short prison terms for those convicted of domestic violence, which fails to hold offenders accountable.

## **ATTITUDES**

Judicial attitudes varied across interviewees, with some judges demonstrating concern for victim safety and others exhibiting harmful misperceptions about domestic violence. At least one NGO found criminal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>557</sup> Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>558</sup> Before the new Law on Public Peace and Order, the number of charges for domestic violence under the Criminal Code and Misdemeanor Law were nearly the same in one town. Interview with Gender Equality Ombudswoman, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014. There were more than 800 criminal charges and 773 motions for a misdemeanor action. *Id.* One criminal judge estimated that five to ten percent of his cases related to domestic violence. Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014. Another criminal judge estimated 20 to 30 percent related to domestic violence cases. Interview with Criminal Judges, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014. Domestic violence criminal cases have increased from 2009 to 2013, and a criminal judge estimated that 20 percent of criminal cases involve domestic violence. Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B, Oct. 16, 2014. *See also* Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location B-1, Oct. 14, 2014 (stating that domestic violence is more often prosecuted as a crime than a misdemeanor).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>559</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>560</sup> Communication between NGO and The Advocates for Human Rights, via internet, May 10, 2017 (notes on file with authors).

judges reluctant to change their practices.<sup>561</sup> For example, some judges resisted the Judicial Protocol, questioning why they need a protocol when a law already exists.<sup>562</sup>

Judges' misperceptions can influence decisions that impact victim safety. For example, some criminal judges cited drinking as the cause of domestic violence.<sup>563</sup> Whether the offender has consumed alcohol can influence judicial decisions, such as whether to detain a suspect or issue post-conviction security measures.<sup>564</sup> It can also impact sentences. One criminal judge explained the reason they order suspended sentences with alcohol addiction treatment is because offenders act under the influence of alcohol in "90 percent of those cases."<sup>565</sup>

Interviews revealed that domestic violence remained a low priority for some criminal judges. For example, judges may prioritize the preservation of the family over victim safety. A criminal judge hearing a domestic violence case told the victim and defendant together, "That's one of the most stupid criminal offenses that breaks families."<sup>566</sup> Such attitudes fail to send a message of zero tolerance for violence, and do not encourage victims to report violence again. Other cases are viewed as more important than domestic violence against women. When asked about the Judicial Protocol for domestic violence, a criminal judge dismissively responded there were "other urgent cases" like offenses against minors.<sup>567</sup>

Poor attitudes also lead judges to focus on victims' behavior, and interviews revealed that judges blame victims for not reporting violence sooner. Judges view the law as strong, but expect more from victims:

Article 194 encompasses everything necessary. We are facing a different problem: that the violence is being reported quite late. It might be that the victims are not aware of the law, or they are not educated enough to gather the evidence necessary to report an instance of domestic violence... We are facing the problem that the woman will report the violence and then withdraw her position with the police. If victims would report every situation of violence, then we would not have femicide[s].<sup>568</sup>

Other judges believed that victims might be lying. One criminal judge stated, "In 90 percent of cases, we are really on the side of the victim, but sometimes you cannot exclude the possibility that the victim is trying to harm the perpetrator and wants him to go to prison."<sup>569</sup> Another judge questioned the credibility of one victim who sustained bruising and implied she falsified her evidence. Because the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>561</sup> Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 25, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>562</sup> Interview with Police, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>563</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>564</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014 (stating that judges prefer to detain suspects when they are addicts or alcoholics who should not be released).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>565</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>566</sup> Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>567</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>568</sup> Interview with Criminal Judges, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>569</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

woman worked in an emergency room, the judge commented she could secure any kind of report she wanted from doctors.<sup>570</sup>

Effective trainings can change attitudes and harmful misperceptions. Trainings organized by the judicial academy, however, are not always mandatory and may be limited to lectures.<sup>571</sup> Moreover, any trainings that provide formal certification focus on cases involving juvenile victims, rather than domestic violence overall.<sup>572</sup> Those trainings that do occur for judges are primarily driven and led by women's NGOs.<sup>573</sup>

# **COURTROOM SECURITY**

Courts do not always have adequate security to keep victims safe. In addition, there is a lack of courtroom measures to fully support witnesses who are afraid to testify,<sup>574</sup> and those that exist are not being implemented.<sup>575</sup> As described in the Prosecutors Section on Courtroom Security, status as a vulnerable victim will trigger certain witness measures, but those measures remain in place only during her testimony.<sup>576</sup> Criminal system actors recognize that while a defendant can be removed from the courtroom during victim testimony,<sup>577</sup> additional measures are needed to ensure witnesses feel safe afterward.<sup>578</sup> Furthermore, courtrooms in Serbia can be very small, aggravating an already intimidating situation for a victim.<sup>579</sup>

This lack of security can intimidate victims from testifying freely and consequently impact the case's outcome. In one case, a husband beat his wife and threatened her. During the trial, the defendant aggressively challenged the allegations of violence in front of the victim. The judge described how the case resulted in only a fine:

The woman said, "He didn't beat me. He never abused me." And she started to cry. The defendant was so insolent and rude during the trial. And in the end, I saw that the woman simply didn't dare to say anything, and in the end, he got a fine...I think 50,000 dinars. . . . I think that woman is suffering still, if she is still with him. I don't think she will dare to leave. . . . He was so insolent. He said, "Just ask me if I ever touched her."<sup>580</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>570</sup> Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>571</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B, Oct. 16, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judges, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>572</sup> Interview with Criminal Judges, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>573</sup> See, e.g., Interview with Family Law Judges, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>574</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014. Audiovisual testimony was not yet available in at least one of the cities visited during this monitoring. Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>575</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014 (stating "in criminal proceedings, we do not have special measures for the protection of victims").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>576</sup> Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>577</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 16, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>578</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>579</sup> Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>580</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

Serbia's legislation allows for harmful practices that can further intimidate or traumatize a victim. Under the Criminal Procedure Code, a judge may use confrontation to assess parties' credibility when their testimonies conflict.<sup>581</sup> Multiple criminal judges, however, recognized the harm in confrontation and refused to use it.<sup>582</sup> One judge explained, "I would rather believe the story of the victim without confrontation rather than confront them, as this is counterproductive."<sup>583</sup>

## TIMELINES

Criminal proceedings in domestic violence cases are often protracted and typically last two years.<sup>584</sup> One judge illustrated the delays over the past few years.<sup>585</sup> Since the first half of 2011, there were 650 domestic violence cases; by the start of 2014, 260 of those cases remained unfinished.<sup>586</sup> One interviewee described how she filed a constitutional complaint because criminal proceedings lasted beyond the six-year statute of limitations for domestic violence against a mother and child.<sup>587</sup> Because the case lasted seven or eight years, the child victim was an adult at the trial.<sup>588</sup> By that time, the child (now adult) changed his statement and testified the violence did not happen.<sup>589</sup>

Even high-risk cases can take years in the criminal justice system.<sup>590</sup> One perpetrator, a former boxer, abused his wife and three children for ten years.<sup>591</sup> He inflicted serious injuries, including concussions and a broken arm, and he threatened to kill his wife.<sup>592</sup> Although the CSW submitted its opinion three

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>581</sup> Criminal Procedure Code, Art. 99, 89. *See* the Misdemeanor Judges Section on Confrontation for more information regarding the use of confrontation and its harms.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>582</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judges, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>583</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>584</sup> Interview with CSW, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B, Oct. 16, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location B-1, Oct. 14, 2014 (explaining that it could take from four months up to three years to reach a sentence); Interview with Prosecutor, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014 (explaining that some cases can last for several years); Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014 (stating that criminal trials last too long); Interview with CSW, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014 (stating that proceedings could easily last longer than one year and more typically last two years); Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014 (explaining that domestic violence proceedings range from six months to two years). Other interviewees estimated criminal cases last an average of six months, but can be as short as one month or as long as one year. Interview with Criminal Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014. Another interviewee estimated criminal proceedings last from one month to one-and-a-half years. Interview with Gender Equality Ombudswoman, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>585</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>586</sup> *Id.* These were cases with Article 194 charges.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>587</sup> Interview with NGO, Location B-1, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>588</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>589</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>590</sup> For example, cases involving a weapon are more complex and can last one to two years. Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>591</sup> Interview with CSW, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>592</sup> Id.
times and stressed urgency, the criminal case continued for five years.<sup>593</sup> Ultimately, the woman was forced to move out of the home with her children to try to stay safe.<sup>594</sup>

Interviews revealed several reasons for the long delays in criminal proceedings. As discussed earlier, some judges blame victims for not informing authorities about the violence. One judge explained, "Usually the court is being accused of lack of efficiency, but it is not our problem because the victims are not reporting sufficiently."<sup>595</sup>

Existing court infrastructure and procedures also pose barriers to faster proceedings. For example, judicial rotations can exacerbate the length of procedures as a new judge takes over cases.<sup>596</sup> When witnesses fail to appear, prosecutors must postpone hearings until the judge's schedule can accommodate them again.<sup>597</sup> Service of process also causes delays.<sup>598</sup>A judge explained that court summoners only deliver to certain areas, forcing them to rely on postal mail to serve defendants in other areas.<sup>599</sup> Internal postal procedures do not always align with litigation needs, creating additional problems for service by post.<sup>600</sup> There is, however, a public board where the summons can be posted.<sup>601</sup> It was unknown whether criminal judges are systematically using this procedure.

In addition, defendants may try to evade a summons,<sup>602</sup> especially when they believe they can avoid service by not signing the summons.<sup>603</sup> Some judges still view service of process as complete with or without a signature.<sup>604</sup> Newer judges, however, are reluctant to regard defendants as served without their signature because the law does not explicitly address it.<sup>605</sup> Nevertheless, defendants' evasion means that a criminal court's timeframe for successfully summoning a defendant typically requires one month.<sup>606</sup> In one case, criminal proceedings began in January 2011 for a defendant, but three years later, he continued to change residences to hinder the case.<sup>607</sup> In another example, a violent husband

<sup>599</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>603</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>593</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>594</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>595</sup> Interview with Criminal Judges, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>596</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>597</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.
<sup>598</sup> See also the Family Law Judges Section on Court Delays: Delays Arising from Service of Summons for additional description of service problems that arise with respect to civil cases. Although the Criminal Procedure Code provides that participants in proceedings avoiding receipt of a summons may be fined up to 150,000 dinars, (Criminal Procedure Code, Art. 193) interviewees did not indicate that criminal judges had used this article.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>600</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>601</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>602</sup> Interview with CSW, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B, Oct. 16, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location B-1, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>604</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>605</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>606</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>607</sup> Interview with CSW, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014.

repeatedly evaded the summons for his offense.<sup>608</sup> After complaining to the ministry for help, an NGO finally located his whereabouts after four attempts.<sup>609</sup>

These delays put victims at risk and allow offenders to escape accountability. The length of criminal proceedings can discourage victims from reporting violence in the first place.<sup>610</sup> And when victims do come forward, the delays can jeopardize a woman's safety and even compel her to return to the violent situation. An NGO stated:

The major problem now is the length of the proceedings. Women lose trust. When coming here, they are full of enthusiasm. They think we are going to solve their problems. But as the time passes, they lose faith, they see there's no solution and they go back [to their abusers].<sup>611</sup>

Detention, as described below and in the Prosecutors Section on Measures to Secure the Defendant: Detention, can speed up proceedings.<sup>612</sup> One NGO requested the criminal court schedule a hearing multiple times, but the abuser delayed the proceedings by avoiding the summons.<sup>613</sup> Once the police finally detained him, however, the criminal case proceeded quickly.<sup>614</sup> While criminal judges have authority to detain a defendant, judges must first meet certain conditions before they can exercise this authority. As with other measures to secure the defendant's presence, judges must receive a prosecutor's motion or confirmation of the indictment before they can order detention.<sup>615</sup>

### **CRIMINAL PROCEEDINGS**

#### **Evidence: victim testimony**

Like prosecutors, criminal judges attach a great deal of weight to victim testimony in court proceedings.<sup>616</sup> One judge referred to the victim's statement as the "key evidence."<sup>617</sup> Thus, whether a victim chooses to testify can greatly impact the case's outcome. When a victim refuses to testify, the case is often closed.<sup>618</sup>

<sup>618</sup> A judge explained, "I end the case after the wife's refusal to testify." Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>608</sup> Interview with NGO, Location B-1, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>609</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>610</sup> Interview with Police, Location D, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>611</sup> Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>612</sup> Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014 (explaining that detention can speed up proceedings to even up to one month); Interview with NGO, Location B-1, Oct. 14, 2014. In addition, a woman's residence in a shelter can influence a judge to work more quickly to process cases. Interview with CSW, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>613</sup> Interview with NGO, Location B-1, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>614</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>615</sup> Criminal Procedure Code, Article 212.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>616</sup> See, e.g., Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-1, Oct.
13, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>617</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

Victim recantation or refusal to testify is common in criminal proceedings.<sup>619</sup> Victims may not want to testify for various reasons, including fear of ongoing threats, economic dependence, or their safety and children's welfare.<sup>620</sup> An interviewee stated, "The problem is if the husband gets sent to prison, then she will be left without any financial support for the kids."<sup>621</sup> In other cases, victims have misunderstood that someone else will testify for them if they choose not to testify.<sup>622</sup>

When a victim refuses to testify, it often limits the evidence judges will admit. For example, one judge reported that using the testimonies of others would run contrary to the victim's will.<sup>623</sup> When this happens, judges typically release the defendant.<sup>624</sup> Judges may also exclude the victim's prior statements to police and other actors from the proceedings.<sup>625</sup> In one example, a woman visited a doctor and obtained documentation of her physical injuries.<sup>626</sup> The wife decided not to testify, and her statement to the doctor was inadmissible as it was not made under oath.<sup>627</sup> After her husband claimed her bruises came from falling down the stairs, the judge released her husband.<sup>628</sup>

Even if the case proceeds without victim testimony, her decision not to testify can reduce the likelihood of a conviction. A prosecutor explained that the court decides whether a victim's refusal to testify will be considered a mitigating factor or not.<sup>629</sup> Even with other evidence, refusals to testify have resulted in acquittals.<sup>630</sup> Despite a medical certificate, one judge focused on the victim's non-cooperation in his decision to acquit the defendant.<sup>631</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>619</sup> See, e.g., Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014 (estimating that the victim reconciles and wants to drop charges in every third case); Interview with Prosecutor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015 (stating it is a "significant" amount). Police reasoned that prosecutors should assume the role of taking the victim's statement at the scene to reduce the risks of secondary victimization and victim recantation. Interview with Police, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014. But others stated that victim recantation prevents the prosecutor from using her statement provided in earlier proceedings. Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judges, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015. Serbian law allows victims the right to not testify against their spouses. Criminal Procedure Code, Art. 94(1); Interview with Prosecutor, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014. Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014; (even a woman who has separated from her abuser but has not finalized her divorce can invoke her right not to testify).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>620</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014 (attributing victim's refusal to cooperate to her fear); Interview with Prosecutor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015; Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015. *See also* Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>621</sup> Interview with Doctor, Location B-1, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>622</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>623</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>624</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>625</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>626</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>627</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>628</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>629</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location B-1, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>630</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>631</sup> *Id.* On appeal, the court overturned this acquittal, and this led to a conviction.

Despite many examples revealing a different outcome, the authors learned of at least one case where the court convicted and sentenced a violent offender to prison despite the victim's recantation.<sup>632</sup> The victim withdrew her prior statement and called the abuser a "wonderful father and husband" who was occasionally "irritable, because he worked a lot."<sup>633</sup> Nevertheless, the court still sentenced him to 18 months in prison plus imposed a security measure of alcohol treatment.<sup>634</sup>

#### **Evidence: forensic**

Although judicial practices suggest otherwise, interviewees emphasized that other evidence can support a case in the absence of victim testimony. A forensic doctor explained:

The problem is domestic violence is a crime, which is under the obligation of the professional litigators. It is *ex officio*. It is usually said, "I cannot continue with this procedure if the person does not want to provide testimony anymore." This is not right. If the judge has these photos of tramline bruises,<sup>635</sup> and it was obvious that it was a domestic violence attack, her testimony is not necessary. The problem is, in many cases, she does not want to proceed with the charges, because she decided to go home and reconcile with the husband.<sup>636</sup>

Historically, courts have not regarded medical records produced by non-forensically trained doctors as sufficient evidence, <sup>637</sup> and other evidence, such as witnesses or forensic documentation, is needed. <sup>638</sup> Forensic experts can support doctors' reports and provide critical testimony about injuries, especially when there is no victim or witness testimony. <sup>639</sup> Increasingly, the testimony or certificate must be provided by a forensic specialist to carry weight with a court. If a woman can produce forensic documentation, it can serve as firm evidence for the court and is a "big help" for victims. <sup>640</sup>

#### **Evidence: other**

Other witness testimony or forensic evidence may also be "sufficient for conviction."<sup>641</sup> A judge described a case where a wife suffered light bodily injuries from her husband.<sup>642</sup> The victim's mother

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>632</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>633</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>634</sup> Id.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>635</sup> Tramline bruises are caused by using a cylindrical object, such as a baseball bat, to strike and results in a "pale linear central area lined on either side by linear bruising." Forensic Medicine for Medical Students, at http://www.forensicmed.co.uk/wounds/blunt-force-trauma/bruises/, last visited Aug. 21, 2017.
 <sup>636</sup> Interview with Doctor, Location B-1, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>637</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>638</sup> Interview with Criminal Judges, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>639</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>640</sup> Interview with Doctor, Location B-1, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>641</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014. *See also* Interview with Prosecutor, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014 (stating the "destiny of the case depends on the statement provided by the witnesses"); Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014 (explaining that prosecutors can use other evidence in the absence of medical reports); Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014 (explaining that without forensic reports, witness statements or photographic evidence can also suffice).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>642</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

filed charges against her son-in-law.<sup>643</sup> At the trial, both of the victim's parents testified about the abuse, and there was medical documentation of the injuries. The victim refused to testify and stated her parents were lying.<sup>644</sup> The judge still convicted the perpetrator, but ordered a suspended sentence instead of imprisonment.<sup>645</sup>

Criminal judges were inconsistent in whether they use reports from the CSW as evidence in proceedings.<sup>646</sup> A judge explained that the Supreme Court has stated the CSW report is a non-binding opinion, but that has not prevented her from accepting those reports as evidence.<sup>647</sup> This practice is not without risk, as appellate courts may reject such admissions. One interviewee reported that a judge's decision was overturned because the court accepted a CSW report into evidence.<sup>648</sup>

### Measures to secure the defendant and for unobstructed criminal proceedings

The Criminal Procedure Code provides for several measures to secure the defendant's presence at trial and facilitate proceedings. The measures most relevant to domestic violence include detention and a prohibition against approaching, meeting, or communicating with specific persons, i.e. a criminal restraining order.<sup>649</sup> These measures can provide important protection to victims who lack safe shelter or protective measures, and judges conceded that criminal restraining orders can be effective in stopping further violence.<sup>650</sup>

Yet interviews revealed concerns that failure to implement these measures puts victims at risk. Overall, interviewees reported these measures were underused in domestic violence cases.<sup>651</sup> One judge stated that fewer than 20 percent of defendants are detained in cases before municipal courts.<sup>652</sup> An NGO worker in a large city could recall only one judge who issued a measure to protect her client throughout the criminal proceedings.<sup>653</sup> When these measures are used, they are not implemented quickly.<sup>654</sup> Other interviewees suggested the provisions are not specific to domestic violence victims, weakening their effectiveness.<sup>655</sup>

<sup>648</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>643</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>644</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>645</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>646</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>647</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>649</sup> Criminal Procedure Code, Art. 188(3), (7). As indicated above under the Prosecutors Section on Measures to Secure the Defendant, criminal judges cannot *ex officio* issue these measures until after the indictment is confirmed, but before then, judges can approve prosecutor requests for these measures. Criminal Procedure Code, Art. 198.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>650</sup> Interview with Criminal Judges, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>651</sup> See e.g., Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014 (explaining that although police arrest offenders for 48 hours, judges have released them); Interview with NGO, Location B-1, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>652</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>653</sup> Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 25, 2015. Courts have detained dangerous perpetrators throughout criminal proceedings. Interview with Prosecutor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>654</sup> Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>655</sup> Interview with NGO, Location B-1, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

### **Predominant Aggressor Determinations**

Reports of dual charges in criminal cases were rare.<sup>656</sup> Those few cases where both parties are charged with domestic violence suggest that judges do not always identify self-defense and preemptive violence. One judge recalled a case where both parties inflicted physical injuries on each other.<sup>657</sup> Medical documentation showed they each sustained the same level of injury.<sup>658</sup> Although it is unclear whether the report identified injuries as defensive, the judge decided to impose suspended sentences on both parties.<sup>659</sup>

The authors heard at least one case where a judge handed down a conviction for preemptive violence.<sup>660</sup> In a case where a daughter attempted to kill her violent father, the judge recounted:

Three times a week, he got drunk because he was criticized for not being able to produce a son and only had daughters. When he would get drunk, he would get violent. For no special reason or trigger, he would inflict injuries, grievous injuries.

One day, he beat his wife and threw her off the balcony onto concrete. He continued to punch her until the daughter took a kitchen knife and stabbed him in the back.<sup>661</sup> Details of his long-time abuse emerged during the case, and the father asked the court to acquit his daughter.<sup>662</sup> Nevertheless, the judge convicted and sentenced the daughter to protective supervision.<sup>663</sup>

### **Violations of Family Law Protective Measures**

Violations of civil protective measures are criminal offenses under Article 194(5) of the Criminal Code, which states that violations can be punished by imprisonment of three months to three years, as well as a fine.<sup>664</sup> Not all criminal judges demonstrated knowledge or experience in applying this article to violations of protective measures. One criminal judge had never handled any violations under Article 194(5) and did not view such violations to be within her jurisdiction.<sup>665</sup> The judge erroneously explained that the family court handles those measures and their violations, while the criminal court handles security measures under the Criminal Code.<sup>666</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>656</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014 (stating she had never had a dual charge case); Interview with Police, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014 (explaining the woman would be charged with a misdemeanor offense for calling him a name, while the man would be charged with either a misdemeanor or crime for physical violence). Those dual charges that do proceed typically end in reconciliation. Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>657</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>658</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>659</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>660</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>661</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>662</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>663</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>664</sup> Criminal Code, Art. 194(5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>665</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>666</sup> Id.

When judges do apply Article 194(5), interviews revealed they are properly holding offenders accountable for violations of protective measures independent of any additional acts of violence.<sup>667</sup> At least one judge explained that when a perpetrator commits violence, he is held accountable for two offenses under Article 194. The justice system can hold him responsible first for the violent act itself and second for the violation of the protective measure under Article 194(5).<sup>668</sup> One interviewee described how a judge responded to a violation that did not involve physical violence.<sup>669</sup> The perpetrator violated his protective measure by going near the front of the victim's building.<sup>670</sup> Although there was no violence, the judge issued a six-month prison sentence.<sup>671</sup> In another case, a judge issued a prison sentence after a perpetrator stalked his partner near the shelter where she was staying, even though he did not commit physical violence.<sup>672</sup>

Other interviewees, however, expressed frustration over criminal judges' sentencing for violations. An NGO worker reported that some judges only issue suspended sentences unless the violation includes severe physical violence or violence against children.<sup>673</sup> In another case where the perpetrator had a restraining order, he approached the victim's home and broke her window.<sup>674</sup> The court handed down a suspended sentence for the violation.<sup>675</sup> According to the NGO, their client continues to experience violence.<sup>676</sup> Fines are also a typical sentence for violations of protective measures.<sup>677</sup>

At worst, courts may not convict an offender at all under Article 194(5). A prosecutor recounted how a dangerous abuser committed three incidents of violence against his victim, despite having a restraining order prohibiting him from coming within 50 meters of her.<sup>678</sup> He was so violent that their child trembled with fright whenever encountering him.<sup>679</sup> In the final encounter, he made a threat, but committed no physical violence.<sup>680</sup> The judge examined only the last incident involving no physical violence and decided to acquit him.<sup>681</sup>

# SANCTIONS

Under the Criminal Code, courts can issue four types of sanctions upon conviction: 1) punishment; 2) security measures; 3) corrective measures;<sup>682</sup> and 4) cautionary measures.<sup>683</sup>

- <sup>670</sup> Id.
- <sup>671</sup> Id.
- <sup>672</sup> Id.
- <sup>673</sup> Id.

<sup>676</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>667</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>668</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>669</sup> Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>674</sup> Interview with NGO, Location B-1, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>675</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>677</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>678</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>679</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>680</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>681</sup> *Id.* On appeal, the court overturned the acquittal and returned the case for retrial. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>682</sup> Corrective measures are those imposed on minors. Criminal Code, Art. 4(3).

#### **Punishments**

Authorities can impose three types of criminal punishments for domestic violence: 1) imprisonment; 2) fines; and 3) community service.<sup>684</sup> Criminal judges do not typically order fines as they perceive them to be ineffective as punishments.<sup>685</sup> Similarly, judges do not usually impose community service for domestic violence, since it requires the defendant's agreement and is perceived to be ineffective in protecting victims.<sup>686</sup> The most commonly issued punishment is a prison term, but that is often curtailed to a suspended sentence.<sup>687</sup>

Prison sentences for domestic violence vary according to the level of violence.<sup>688</sup> Article 194(1), the endangerment of the "tranquility, physical integrity, or mental condition" of a family member, carries the lowest prison term, with a range of three months to three years.<sup>689</sup> Under Article 194(2), the use of weapons or objects to inflict serious injury or seriously impair health increases the prison sentence to a range of six months to five years.<sup>690</sup> Under Article 194(3), infliction of serious bodily harm or health impairment increases the punishment to a prison term of two to ten years.<sup>691</sup> In practice, most domestic violence is prosecuted under Article 194(1).<sup>692</sup> Convictions under Article 194(1) typically result in a short prison term or suspended sentence.<sup>693</sup>

Various systems actors, including criminal judges and prosecutors, acknowledged that sentences are lenient and generally lower than the maximum prescribed by law.<sup>694</sup> Interviews revealed that judges issue light sentences even in cases involving weapons, serious injuries, and repeat violence. One criminal judge recounted how a perpetrator beat his wife and used the phone cable to strangle her.<sup>695</sup> He owned a gun, with which he threatened police when they arrived.<sup>696</sup> The prosecutor filed several charges for

<sup>688</sup> See Criminal Code, Article 194.

<sup>689</sup> *Id.*, Article 194(1). The offender must have used violence, the threat of attack against a person's life or body, or "insolent or ruthless behavior."

<sup>690</sup> *Id.*, Article 194(2). *See also* Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>691</sup> Criminal Code, Article 194(3). Article 194(3) also punishes domestic violence committed against a juvenile. In addition, domestic violence resulting in death leads to a prison term of three to fifteen years. Criminal Code, Article 194(4).

<sup>693</sup> *Id.*; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>696</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>683</sup> *Id.,* Art. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>684</sup> *Id.*, Art. 43(1)-(3). Admonitions are not possible in domestic violence cases. Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014. At least one criminal judge, however, stated that admonition is allowed under Article 194(1) for first-time offenders. Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>685</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 16, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>686</sup> Interview with Criminal Judges, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>687</sup> Interviewees recognize the deterrent effect of prison. At least one criminal judge opined that imprisonment is the most effective sanction, because the experience changes the way offenders think. Interview with Criminal Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>692</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>694</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014 (explaining that punishments sometimes fall below even the minimum sanction prescribed by law); Interview with Criminal Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>695</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

offenses against his wife, the police, their children, and for possession of illegal weapons.<sup>697</sup> For all these charges, including the strangulation, the judge imposed just three months' imprisonment.<sup>698</sup>

In another case involving repeat violence, a husband bruised his wife's face, injured her eye, and fractured her nasal bone.<sup>699</sup> This was repeat violence, as her husband had been detained for violence one year prior.<sup>700</sup> This time, her injuries were regarded as low-level injuries—including the broken bone—for which her husband received just six months' imprisonment.<sup>701</sup>

Lenient sentences fail to hold offenders accountable, which can, in turn, deter victims from reporting violence. In one case, a man beat his wife on three separate occasions, including publicly in the prosecutor's building where he head-butted her and caused her to bleed.<sup>702</sup> The court ordered a five-month suspended sentence for his violent behavior.<sup>703</sup> CSW staff explained that mild sanctions such as these are one of the reasons victims reconcile with their perpetrator.<sup>704</sup> After multiple suspended sentences and repeated violations of her protective measure, the victim eventually returned to him and never reported violence again.<sup>705</sup>

## **Influential Factors**

The victim's profile can also influence the type of sanction courts issue.<sup>706</sup> When the victim is a child, an offender is more likely to receive a jail sentence.<sup>707</sup> After one abuser held a knife to his wife's throat, set her parents' house on fire, and slammed his daughter's head into a wardrobe, he was sentenced to seven months in prison.<sup>708</sup> An NGO worker opined the judge issued a prison sentence because the defendant directed his violence against a minor.<sup>709</sup> Had he only been violent toward his wife, the interviewee would have expected a lighter sentence.<sup>710</sup>

In addition, victims' opinions can influence the type and severity of sanctions.<sup>711</sup> During sentencing, judges may take into account a victim's request for a reduced sentence or the possibility for reconciliation.<sup>712</sup> At times, judges may even ask the victim whether her abuser should serve prison time

<sup>697</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>698</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>699</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>700</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>701</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>702</sup> Interview with CSW, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>703</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>704</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>705</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>706</sup> Domestic violence against a juvenile family member is punished under Article 194(3) of the Criminal Code and therefore carries a higher sanction.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>707</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>708</sup> Interview with NGO, Location B-1, Oct. 14, 2014. The victim also sought protective measures under the Family Law for these actions, as described in the Family Law Judges Section on Attitudes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>709</sup> Interview with NGO, Location B-1, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>710</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>711</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 16, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>712</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

for the violence.<sup>713</sup> This places victims in the difficult position of balancing their own needs against holding offenders accountable, particularly in a climate where economic support is minimal. One abuser was sentenced to prison for one year, but after four months, his wife asked the judge to release him since there was no one to work the land and their children were hungry.<sup>714</sup>

A history of violence also plays a role in sentencing. Without a criminal history, Article 194(1) will generally result in a suspended sentence.<sup>715</sup> Although repeat violence may increase the punishment, the sentences may still be disproportionately low for the violence. A court sentenced one husband to 30 days' imprisonment under Article 194(1).<sup>716</sup> One year later, he committed violence again and was sentenced to just five months' imprisonment under Articles 194 and 138.<sup>717</sup> Low sentences for repeat offenders do not effectively hold them accountable, nor do they deter future violence. In fact, the defendant remained extremely dangerous and continued to violate the protective measures.<sup>718</sup>

Authorities often justify their lenient sentencing for repeat violence by saying the requirements for criminal or misdemeanor offenses have not been met.<sup>719</sup> Others point to the lack of information sharing on cases. With 40 criminal judges in the court, a judge may not know if he or she is a seeing a repeat perpetrator with each new case.<sup>720</sup>

#### **Cautionary measures: suspended sentence**

For less serious offenses, a court may impose two types of cautionary measures if they will deter future criminal behavior: 1) judicial admonitions, which are rarely used,<sup>721</sup> and 2) suspended sentences.<sup>722</sup>

Suspended sentences are common sanctions for domestic violence in Serbia.<sup>723</sup> In one province, 82 percent of criminal domestic violence cases resulted in punishments, most of which were converted to suspended sentences.<sup>724</sup> A criminal judge also perceived the number of suspended sentences in Serbia

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>713</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>714</sup> Interview with Republic Institute for Social Protection, Belgrade, Feb. 24, 2015. *See* Centers for Social Work Section on Victim Services: Financial assistance for information regarding financial support limits.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>715</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>716</sup> Interview with CSW, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>717</sup> Interview with CSW, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014. Article 138 is Endangerment of Safety.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>718</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>719</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>720</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>721</sup> Several criminal judges reported they do not issue admonitions for domestic violence. Interview with Criminal Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 16, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014 (explaining that admonitions may only be issued for offenses carrying a maximum of one year imprisonment and thus do not apply to domestic violence offenses).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>722</sup> Criminal Code, Art. 64.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>723</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Gender Equality Ombudswoman, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location B-1, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>724</sup> Interview with Gender Equality Ombudswoman, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014. *See also* Interview with Prosecutor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015 (reporting that of five convictions for domestic violence in 2014, three resulted in prison sentences and two resulted in suspended sentences).

to be unjustifiably high.<sup>725</sup> Indeed, there were reports of courts issuing suspended sentences even in cases involving objects as weapons.<sup>726</sup> In one case, police described a man who repeatedly whipped a woman with sticks.<sup>727</sup> Despite his use of objects, he received only a suspended sentence.<sup>728</sup>

For offenses under Article 194(3), judges are required to impose prison sentences.<sup>729</sup> For serious cases under Article 194(1),<sup>730</sup> however, judges retain discretion to impose a suspended sentence.<sup>731</sup> When imposing a prison sentence of less than two years, a judge may consider several factors that allow a suspended sentence instead of imprisonment.<sup>732</sup> Where the judge finds a suspended sentence is an adequate deterrent of future crime and has weighed the other factors,<sup>733</sup> the court may place the defendant on probation for one to five years.<sup>734</sup>

Interviews revealed several reasons why judges order suspended sentences. Some judges view them as the most effective sentences to protect victims against domestic violence.<sup>735</sup> Judges particularly appreciated their deterrent effect because of the threat of imprisonment.<sup>736</sup> Courts are also more likely to impose suspended sentences for offenses perceived as less serious or for first-time offenders.<sup>737</sup> Violence with no physical injuries, including psychological or economic violence, typically results in a suspended sentence.<sup>738</sup> This practice, however, creates the risk that judges will downplay threats made

<sup>731</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>725</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>726</sup> Under Article 194(2) of the Criminal Code, offenders using weapons, dangerous implements or other means capable of inflicting serious bodily harm shall be punished with imprisonment from six months to five years.
 <sup>727</sup> Interview with Police, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>728</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>729</sup> Article 194(3) of the Criminal Code imposes a prison sentence of two to ten years. Grievous bodily injury would result in a prison sentence, such as a two-year sentence for a first-time offender or up to ten years for a repeat offender. Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>730</sup> Such serious violence might include long-term violence or grievous bodily harm. Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>732</sup> Criminal Code, Art. 66(1), (4). The court may consider the defendant's personality, previous conduct, conduct after the crime, his level of culpability, and other factors related to the commission of the crime. Criminal Code, Art. 66(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>733</sup> *Id.*, Art. 64(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>734</sup> *Id.,* Art. 65.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>735</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 16, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judges, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>736</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>737</sup> *Id.*; Interview with Republic Institute for Social Protection, Belgrade, Feb. 24, 2015; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>738</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014 (stating that serious bodily injuries will trigger a prison sentence); Interview with Police, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014.

by dangerous offenders and impose suspended sentences.<sup>739</sup> Other judges view suspended sentences as appropriate when other factors, such as chemical addiction or financial problems, are present.<sup>740</sup>

At times, judges assess victims' situations. When a victim has reconciled with her abuser, judges will generally impose a suspended sentence.<sup>741</sup> In these cases, the suspended sentence is "supportive" of what the parties have decided.<sup>742</sup> Some judges are also influenced by a victim's economic situation and see prison as a greater burden on unemployed mothers whose breadwinner is now incarcerated.<sup>743</sup> One judge recognized this dilemma and suggested that Article 194's provisions be broadened beyond sanctions to also provide financial support for the victim.<sup>744</sup> Other judges look at the victim's security when perpetrators are forced to complete a prison term. According to one judge, a suspended sentence is a better option for a victim who fears for her safety because the perpetrator may be angry after he is released.<sup>745</sup> Other times, judges do not recognize the role they play in holding offenders accountable and instead place responsibility on the victim to take steps. One judge explained that when the offender is "violent by nature," a suspended sentence would be ineffective. In these cases, "there is not much we can do."<sup>746</sup> In this case, she simply advises the woman to find a job so she can become independent and get a divorce.<sup>747</sup>

Although judges generally reserve suspended sentences for first-time offenders, interviews revealed that even repeat offenders may receive multiple suspended sentences.<sup>748</sup> A repeat offender could potentially evade prison and instead receive a series of suspended sentences carrying longer probation periods. Under her practice, a judge explained that if a perpetrator reoffends while under a suspended

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>739</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014 (even repeat offenders who make threats receive multiple suspended sentences). It can take two to three repeat offenses involving psychological violence before an offender will be ordered to prison.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>740</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014. Appellate courts' decisions reveal an inclination toward suspended sentences and alcohol addiction treatment, as well.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>741</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014. <sup>742</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>743</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; Interview with Police, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014. Judges may also be inclined to impose a suspended sentence when the victim is the offender's wife. Interview with Republic Institute for Social Protection, Belgrade, Feb. 24, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>744</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>745</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>746</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>747</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>748</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014. The additional suspended sentence would carry a higher prison term of one to five years. *Id.* 

sentence, he could receive a second suspended sentence and modified protective measures.<sup>749</sup> It might not be until the abuser's third offense that he is finally imprisoned.<sup>750</sup>

Interviewees also reported they did not consider suspended sentences adequate sanctions for domestic violence.<sup>751</sup> Offenders have committed violence while on probation, and some judges estimated that perpetrators reoffend under a suspended sentence in 30 to 40 percent of cases.<sup>752</sup> One interviewee explained, "Unfortunately, this is how it is, and this happens many times."<sup>753</sup> One offender had ten criminal complaints against him. At least three of the complaints were for violence against his wife, for which he received suspended sentences. When his wife sought refuge at her parents' home, he set his parent-in-laws' barn on fire.<sup>754</sup> He beat her in public and continued to perpetrate violence.<sup>755</sup> After the police filed another criminal complaint, he again received a suspended sentence of five months.<sup>756</sup> In the case where the offender whipped the victim with sticks, he committed additional violence while under the suspended sentence.<sup>757</sup> During the second criminal trial, the victim ended up withdrawing her statement.<sup>758</sup> As described in this report, victim recantation can result in closure of the case.

## **Protective supervision**

In addition to a suspended sentence, a judge may order protective supervision.<sup>759</sup> Protective supervision can provide additional measures for victim safety while an offender is on probation, including: prohibition against visiting specific places; prohibition against substance abuse; visits to professional and other counseling centers; and mitigation of the damage, including reconciliation with the victim.<sup>760</sup> Although protective supervision includes important measures that can support and protect victims, judges tend to prioritize those that focus on substance abuse.<sup>761</sup> Addiction treatment is often ordered as, according to one judge, "we are trying to remove the cause of the violence."<sup>762</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>749</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 16, 2014. If the offender re-offends under a suspended sentence, the sentence is revoked. In the case where the offender re-offends after completing his suspended sentence, that new offense can serve as an aggravating circumstance in any future proceedings and could increase the chance of prison as a sanction. Interview with Criminal Judges, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014. Recommission of an offense during the suspended sentence results in a cumulative sentence of the previous suspended sentence and the new offense's sentence. Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>750</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>751</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>752</sup> Interview with Criminal Judges, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>753</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>754</sup> Interview with CSW, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>755</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>756</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>757</sup> Interview with Police, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>758</sup> Id.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>759</sup> Criminal Code, Art. 71-73. The court may examine factors including the defendant's personality, history, attitude after the crime and toward the victim, and the circumstances surrounding the crime. Criminal Code, Art. 72.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>760</sup> *Id.,* Art. 73.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>761</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 16, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23,
 2014 (explaining that of 600 prosecutions, 18 cases ended with a protective supervision measure of inpatient

Interviews reveal, however, that judges infrequently use protective supervision. One interviewee, who had been working as a criminal judge since 2007, admitted never ordering protective supervision in domestic violence cases.<sup>763</sup> Another judge, who had been in the position for 9.5 years, only ordered protective supervision twice.<sup>764</sup>

Despite the array of measures, a criminal judge stated doubtfully, "Protective supervision sounds better than it is in practice."<sup>765</sup> It does not "function well in practice" because Serbia lacks the institutional infrastructure and agreements with existing institutions to execute protective supervision.<sup>766</sup> Without infrastructure, "defendants are left on their own, and there is no way to check if there is compliance or not."<sup>767</sup> Consequently, the responsibility to monitor compliance often falls to the victim, who is informed that she must report violations of a suspended sentence.<sup>768</sup>

Failure to comply with protective supervision can result in judicial admonition, an alternative or extended protective supervision, or revocation of the suspended sentence.<sup>769</sup> Although judges may revoke a suspended sentence and incarcerate a defendant for non-compliance, a criminal judge admitted they typically extend the duration of the protective supervision instead.<sup>770</sup>

#### **Security measures**

At the time of sentencing, security measures may be imposed to eliminate factors that could induce an offender to reoffend.<sup>771</sup> A court may impose various measures, such as chemical addiction treatment, psychiatric treatment, and confiscation of objects.<sup>772</sup> Importantly, when the offender's further conduct poses a threat to victims, the court may issue a restraining order as a security measure for the victim.<sup>773</sup> Article 89a of the Criminal Code allows the court to prohibit offender communication and contact with the victim.<sup>774</sup>

Overall, interviews indicate judges are not imposing restraining orders as often as they should. One judge admitted Article 89a is new and used infrequently.<sup>775</sup> But the judge also insisted that when the

psychiatric treatment, 6 for out-patient psychiatric treatment, 3 for drug treatment, and 35 for alcohol treatment; 90 resulted in acquittals). Article 73 of the Criminal Code addresses protective supervision measures of treatment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>762</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>763</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>764</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>765</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>766</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>767</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>768</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>769</sup> Criminal Code, Art. 71(4). Criminal Procedure Code, Art. 545. Prosecutors may revoke probation if the individual does not fulfill the obligations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>770</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>771</sup> Criminal Code, Art. 78.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>772</sup> *Id.,* Art. 79.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>773</sup> *Id.*, Art. 80(6), 89a.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>774</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>775</sup> Id.

prosecutor requests security measures, the court usually grants them.<sup>776</sup> One NGO worker described a positive practice where the judge handed down a conviction along with a three-year restraining order as a security measure.<sup>777</sup> It was the first time she had seen a judge grant a restraining order for a domestic violence client.<sup>778</sup> Nevertheless, another interview illustrated judges' disregard of the restraining order where it would be needed. In the case where a perpetrator was sentenced to prison for holding a knife to his wife's throat, his entry into prison was postponed because the prisons were full.<sup>779</sup> Yet the prosecutor neither requested nor did the court impose any security measures while he remained free.<sup>780</sup>

One reason for its underuse may be due to the novelty of Article 89a and judges' unfamiliarity with it.<sup>781</sup> When asked if he ever issues restraining orders, a criminal judge erroneously responded that restraining orders were issued under the Family Law.<sup>782</sup> Another criminal judge expressed skepticism about how well they protect victims, given that no one is systematically monitoring compliance, as described below.<sup>783</sup>

Security measures can play an important role in protection, particularly where limited prison capacity can delay defendants' entry into prison for years.<sup>784</sup> Some judges recognized the value of security measures in domestic violence.<sup>785</sup> But others did not, even in cases involving high lethality risk. In one case, a husband beat his wife, injuring her face and body with a chair and other objects.<sup>786</sup> As authorities prepared to indict him, the man beat his wife again. Nevertheless, "since he was an alcoholic," the judge imposed a suspended sentence and the security measure of addiction treatment.<sup>787</sup> The judge did not, however, impose a restraining order.<sup>788</sup>

One husband who served prison time for marital rape continued to harass his wife after his release and their divorce.<sup>789</sup> He stalked her by telephoning her 200 times per day, calling her while she was on holiday and telling her, "I see you," and contacting her bosses at work.<sup>790</sup> Eventually, he was resentenced to prison.<sup>791</sup> Security measures, however, would have provided another layer of protection for the victim and held the offender accountable.

<sup>790</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>776</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014. *See* Prosecutors Section on Sentences: Security measures.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>777</sup> Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 25, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>778</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>779</sup> Interview with NGO, Location B-1, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>780</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>781</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>782</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>783</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>784</sup> Interview with NGO, Location B-1, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>785</sup> Interview with Criminal Judges, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>786</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>787</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>788</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>789</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>791</sup> Id.

Compliance with security measures is not monitored or enforced by a central body, such as probation. Instead, interviews revealed that monitoring remains *ad hoc* for most measures,<sup>792</sup> and it is commonly up to the defendants or victims to report compliance.<sup>793</sup> For example, one prosecutor ordered alcohol treatment for an offender sentenced to prison.<sup>794</sup> It was the victim who later informed the prosecutor the measure was never enforced because the prison did not have a treatment program.<sup>795</sup>

The security measure of chemical addiction treatment has some degree of monitoring. In these cases, the court must check with treatment providers about offender compliance.<sup>796</sup> This is an important enforcement step, as many defendants reportedly do not attend treatment until threatened by the court.<sup>797</sup> It is unknown, however, how often or regularly courts check offender compliance.

When offenders do not comply with security measures, sanctions are weak. Judges might modify the measure or force defendants to undergo treatment.<sup>798</sup>

## **REHABILITATION**

These previous records should be available. The court should know a defendant's past.

– High Criminal Court Judge<sup>799</sup>

Serbia's Criminal Code allows for legal and judicial rehabilitation of an offender.<sup>800</sup> Rehabilitation eliminates all legal consequences of a person's crime and expunges his criminal record.<sup>801</sup> First-time offenders may benefit from *legal rehabilitation* if they have not committed a new criminal offense during a specified time period.<sup>802</sup> An offender sentenced to three to five years' imprisonment may benefit from *judicial rehabilitation* if he has not committed a new crime, merits rehabilitation based on

<sup>801</sup> *Id.*, Art. 97(1).

<sup>802</sup> *Id.*, Art. 98.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>792</sup> One NGO explained that offenders are required to report to judges regularly about their compliance with security measures. Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>793</sup> See Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014. *But see* Interview with Criminal Judges, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014 (insisting that judges are in constant communication with doctors who report to them on compliance). Police also noted that criminal courts do not communicate information about security measures, resulting in a lack of police knowledge of these measures. Interview with Police, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>794</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>795</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>796</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014. There were reports of a draft agreement to charge an official with monitoring to ensure compliance, but the agreement was not yet formally completed at the time of monitoring. Interview with CSW, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014. The court is to request a report from the medical institution administering treatments. Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>797</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>798</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>799</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>800</sup> "Rehabilitation occurs either by virtue of law itself (legal rehabilitation) or by a petition of the convicted person pursuant to decision of the court (judicial rehabilitation)." Criminal Code, Art. 97(2).

his conduct, and has financially indemnified the damage.<sup>803</sup> Rehabilitation is allowed whether the court has imposed a suspended sentence or prison sentence.<sup>804</sup>

There are grave consequences when rehabilitation is granted in domestic violence cases. Rehabilitation creates the serious risk that the criminal history of a domestic violence offender will become unknown. A criminal judge explained they are unaware of prior convictions if a defendant re-offends after rehabilitation.<sup>805</sup> The judge stated they will not know, "as the sentence gets expunged. The court does not [receive] notice of the prior sentence. In the past, reports stated the sentence that was expunged, but now we cannot see it at all."<sup>806</sup> Under the new Criminal Code, this gap remains and all of the offender's prior criminal records are no longer available to the court.<sup>807</sup>

A criminal judge explained she could learn of prior convictions from police reports, which retain information about expunged sentences.<sup>808</sup> Police confirmed they maintain files of past penal records, even in cases of expungement, which they must deliver to the judge as part of the charging report.<sup>809</sup> Whether this is happening consistently in practice, however, is unclear.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>803</sup> *Id.*, Art. 99. The court must also take into account other factors in granting rehabilitation, including the "nature and significance" of the crime. *Id.*, Art. 99(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>804</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>805</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>806</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>807</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>808</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>809</sup> Interview with Police, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

# **MISDEMEANOR JUDGES**

Prior to amendments in January 2016, the police typically initiated misdemeanor proceedings related to domestic violence<sup>810</sup> as violations of Articles 6 and 12 of the Law on Public Peace and Order.<sup>811</sup> The 2016 amendments had a significant impact on misdemeanor domestic violence cases.<sup>812</sup> The law now defines public space as the space available to an unspecified number of persons. This restricts the domestic violence actions that can be adjudicated as misdemeanors when the violence does not occur in a public space, but in a private residence. Although the amendments include an exception to this definition if the actions are audible to the public, anecdotal reports noted a significant decrease in the number of misdemeanor domestic violence cases.<sup>813</sup> Nevertheless, Articles 7, 8, and 9 of the new Law on Public Peace and Order may still be used with respect to domestic violence cases that occur in public or that fall within the noted exception, albeit to a lesser extent.<sup>814</sup>

Articles 7, 8, and 9, like Articles 6 and 12 of the previous Law on Public Peace and Order, are not specific to domestic violence and are general articles addressing violence.<sup>815</sup> By way of example, insolent or ruthless behavior<sup>816</sup> covers a broad range of acts in the domestic violence context, like "when a perpetrator breaks things around the house, if he takes off his pants, shows his butt or pees – that's all a reality . . . or calls her names, humiliates her in this manner."<sup>817</sup> Misdemeanor proceedings are intended

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>810</sup> Interview with Police, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Police, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Police, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Police, Location B-1, Oct. 17, 2014; Interview with Police, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview with Police, Location D, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014; Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014; Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015. Misdemeanor Law, Arts. 126 and 179 provide that an injured party (or competent authority under Article 179) can request to initiate misdemeanor proceedings. Article 127 states that the public prosecutor is a party to the proceedings. If the public prosecutors abandon the request for the proceedings, they are supposed to notify the injured party within eight days pursuant to Article 127. Article 128 provides that other authorities are supposed to inform the injured party if they initiate misdemeanor proceedings. Under Article 180, injured parties can continue with or change the proceedings if the public prosecutor drops them.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>811</sup> Interview with Police, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014; Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014; Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>812</sup> Communication between NGO and The Advocates for Human Rights, via internet, May 10, 2017 (notes on file with authors). Misdemeanor judges also have jurisdiction over violations of the LPDV's emergency measures.
 <sup>813</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>814</sup> The interviews on which this Section is based were conducted before the 2016 amendments; however, articles 7, 8, and 9 in the new Law on Public Peace and Order parallel Articles 6 and 12 of the previous Law on Public Peace and Order, which were in effect at the time of the interviews.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>815</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>816</sup> Previous Law on Public Peace and Order (Official Gazette of RS, no. 51/92, 53/93, 67/93, 48/94, and 101/2005), Article 12, Law on Public Peace and Order (Off. Gazette of RS, no. 6/16), Art. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>817</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014 (explaining that Article 6, paragraph 2 for serious threats was used less frequently). *See also* Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014 (noting that ruthless behavior was widely defined). "Rude, impertinent, reckless behavior" is now defined as behavior or

to cover the "lighter offenses,"<sup>818</sup> but one interviewee recalled a case where the defendant physically beat his wife but was prosecuted under the misdemeanor law.<sup>819</sup>

Domestic violence proceedings were among those identified as a priority for misdemeanor judges.<sup>820</sup> How and when misdemeanor proceedings are used in domestic violence cases is not accurately known.<sup>821</sup> Statistics on the number of domestic violence misdemeanor cases were unavailable at the time of fact-finding, as there were no official records or electronic databases.<sup>822</sup> In addition, institutions were not required to collect this information.<sup>823</sup> Some ombudspersons have assumed responsibility to request this information in their jurisdiction; however, at least one institution has failed to report each year.<sup>824</sup>

### **NO SPECIALIZATION**

Misdemeanor judges manage a large number of cases that cover an extensive range of legal issues. One court had 5,000 misdemeanor cases pending.<sup>825</sup> Other interviewees reported having up to 1,500 cases per year per judge,<sup>826</sup>covering numerous bylaws.<sup>827</sup>

Despite the array of legal issues, there are no specialized misdemeanor judges,<sup>828</sup> and "all judges do all kinds of work whether they are the president of the court or just a judge."<sup>829</sup> In fact, one interviewee

actions in public, endangering the safety of citizens or disturbing the public order, offending public morals, or destroying or damaging property. Law on Public Peace and Order (Official Gazette of RS, no. 6/16), Art. 3(12). <sup>818</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>819</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>820</sup> *Id.* According to the same interviewee, misdemeanor judges also gave priority to other cases of violence, including violence at sporting events or participating in a fight.

<sup>821</sup> Individual judges reported that their rough estimates from years ago indicated that approximately 10 to 15 percent of their misdemeanor cases related to violence, but this number was not specific to domestic violence. Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014. Other available statistics indicated that approximately 18.8 percent of domestic violence reports to the police resulted in motions for misdemeanor actions (773 out of 4,114 reports) and 87.3 percent of those motions resulted in misdemeanor proceedings (675 initiated proceedings out of 773 motions for misdemeanor actions). Interview with Gender Equality Ombudswoman, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>822</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014. One interviewee noted that there were electronic and handwritten entries, and cases relating to violence and violations of public peace and order were placed in physical folders with a particular color so they were easily recognized by court staff. Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015.

<sup>823</sup> Interview with Gender Equality Ombudswoman, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>824</sup> Id.

<sup>825</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015.

<sup>826</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>827</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014. These bylaws cover everything from traffic cases, to taxes and customs issues, commercial laws, veterinary laws, municipal decisions, tourism, and public peace and order, which could include domestic violence. Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015; Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014. Laws that govern Misdemeanor Judges that are used in domestic violence situations include the Law on Offenses (Misdemeanor Law), which amendments took effect on March 1, 2014, and the Law on Public Peace and Order.

<sup>828</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015; Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>829</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015.

explained that judges are assigned an equal distribution of case topics.<sup>830</sup> Therefore, all judges preside over domestic violence cases. This lack of specialization without additional training is of particular concern because the dynamics of domestic violence are different than those of violence between strangers.

Interviewees acknowledged that specialization provides judges with "a lot of education and [] a lot of experience."<sup>831</sup> In addition, interviewees indicated that specialization would increase efficiencies and expedite cases.<sup>832</sup> There have been some initiatives to foster specialization. Between 2008 and 2011, a team of ten misdemeanor judges in Belgrade focused exclusively on domestic violence cases.<sup>833</sup> These judges heard approximately 20 domestic violence cases per month, in contrast to the typical situation of three such cases per month.<sup>834</sup> Following structural changes to the judicial system, requests to re-institute this specialization in domestic violence cases did not pass.<sup>835</sup>

# **TRAINING AND ATTITUDES**

Misdemeanor judges have completed some training on domestic violence, especially from NGOs,<sup>836</sup> but judges did not report recent trainings on domestic violence involving adults.<sup>837</sup> Of particular concern were the judges who demonstrated no knowledge of the Judicial Protocol on domestic violence.<sup>838</sup> With the 2017 LPDV, however, NGOs have increased efforts to ensure judges understand the new law and have seen immediate results. On June 1, 2017 – the same day the LPDV entered into force – a misdemeanor judge issued a 30-day prison sentence for a violation of an LPDV emergency measure.<sup>839</sup>

Without adequate training, judges may hold harmful attitudes toward victims. Many judges shifted blame from the perpetrator to other causes. One judge suggested that victims brought physical violence on themselves because they "provoked or verbally abused" their husbands for years until the husbands finally snapped.<sup>840</sup> That same judge implied that victims may make false reports, referencing a victim who reported physical violence at the advice of her divorce attorneys to gain advantage.<sup>841</sup> Another judge noted that testimony from bystanders who witnessed the event is more reliable than testimony from the injured party herself.<sup>842</sup> Other interviewees blamed causes other than the perpetrator. For

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>830</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>831</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>832</sup> See Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>833</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>834</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>835</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>836</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>837</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>838</sup> *Id.*; Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015. One positive development, however, was the creation of a Misdemeanor Judge Bench Book.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>839</sup> Personal communication from NGO to The Advocates for Human Rights, via email, June 5, 2017 (on file with authors).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>840</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>841</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>842</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

example, one judge noted that most offenses occurred because of alcohol abuse.<sup>843</sup> There are also attitudes that prioritize preservation of the family over victim safety. In an example in which a husband abused his wife and three children, the court attempted to help the family over a 10-year period of time. Ultimately the court deemed its efforts "unsuccessful" because the wife divorced her abusive husband, and the court was unable to "preserve their marriage."<sup>844</sup>

On the other hand, some interviewees recognized the barriers that victims of domestic violence may face, including economic dependence, that compel the victim to "reconcile" with him.<sup>845</sup> Interviewees referenced the impact that misdemeanor fines or sentences have on the victim. For example, if the perpetrator is ordered to pay a fine, this fine may draw from resources the victim and family needs.<sup>846</sup>

# SUMMARY VS. REGULAR MISDEMEANOR PROCEEDINGS

Interviewees indicated that the speed of misdemeanor proceedings was a key consideration in determining whether to proceed as a misdemeanor or criminal offense.<sup>847</sup> As indicated in the Criminal Judges Section on Timelines, criminal proceedings can drag on from months to years, negating the purpose of punishment if perpetrators go unsanctioned for so long. In contrast, lighter misdemeanor sanctions can be immediately imposed and enforced, including the precautionary measure of removing the perpetrator, to limit consequences to victims.<sup>848</sup> Minimizing court delays is important as long proceedings deter victims from reporting violence and increase the likelihood she may not testify.<sup>849</sup>

Misdemeanor courts conduct expedited proceedings, also described as summary or urgent summary proceedings. Summary proceedings allow the courts to provide a swift response and immediately hold offenders accountable. Judges are on duty to hear these proceedings seven days a week and can conduct summary proceedings immediately after the incident and in as little as one day.<sup>850</sup>

Police and misdemeanor judges collectively make a determination on whether to bring the defendant for summary proceedings<sup>851</sup> based in part on an assessment of the danger of recidivism and the severity of the offense.<sup>852</sup> As a result, summary proceedings are applied to more extreme cases, such as where the victim sustained injury or the perpetrator was under the influence of alcohol.<sup>853</sup> Interviewees

Misdemeanor Judges, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>843</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014. Alcohol may be a contributing factor to abuse, but it is not the cause thereof. *See* "Myths About Alcohol and Domestic Violence," last updated Apr. 2015, at <a href="http://www.stopvaw.org/myths\_about\_alcohol\_and\_domestic\_violence">http://www.stopvaw.org/myths\_about\_alcohol\_and\_domestic\_violence</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>844</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>845</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>846</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>847</sup> Interview with Police, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014; Interview with Police, Location B-1, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>848</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; Interview with Police, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>849</sup> Interview with Police, Location D, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.
<sup>850</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; Interview with Police, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014 (explaining that summary procedures sometimes are conducted in as little as two to three hours); Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015; Interview with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>851</sup> Interview with Police, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>852</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>853</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015; Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

reported that summary proceedings are used in as many as 80 or 90 percent of domestic violence cases.<sup>854</sup>

One problem noted with respect to summary proceedings was the availability of evidence, in particular the expert assessment on measures for drug or alcohol addiction. The court is usually not able to obtain these assessments in the same day. Yet detention cannot last longer than 24 hours, even if the court believes that the perpetrator will re-offend.<sup>855</sup> Thus, if the perpetrator is detained on a Friday evening and the assessment cannot be obtained until Monday, he will be released over the weekend.<sup>856</sup> One interviewee noted that defendants will return when summoned on the first working day;<sup>857</sup> however, this ignores the dangerous situation in which victims are placed, especially over the weekends when perpetrators are released pending the assessment.

Although misdemeanor courts generally complete regular misdemeanor proceedings faster than criminal proceedings,<sup>858</sup> regular proceedings are still prone to delays. The most-cited cause for delays was service of process on the defendant.<sup>859</sup> Under the Misdemeanor Law, service is accomplished by mail or other authorized services,<sup>860</sup> although some judges reported that personal service is mandatory in misdemeanor proceedings.<sup>861</sup> If attempted by postal mail, defendants can delay proceedings by not responding to post office delivery notifications.<sup>862</sup> Defendants may also change addresses without notifying authorities, further hindering service.<sup>863</sup>

## **EVIDENCE**

Police provide information for misdemeanor proceedings, including the defendant's criminal records<sup>864</sup> and prior misdemeanor reports or convictions.<sup>865</sup> This information allows judges to see the defendant's complete history, such as prior convictions that can serve as aggravating factors.<sup>866</sup> Some judges,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>854</sup> Interview with Police, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014; Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>855</sup> Misdemeanor Law, Art. 192; Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>856</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>857</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>858</sup> Some interviewees noted that regular proceedings could be completed in a few months, with charges presented to the court within a month and an additional month before reaching the judge. Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014; Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014. Misdemeanor proceedings must be completed within the two-year statute of limitations. Interview with Police, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014; Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015; Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>859</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>860</sup> Misdemeanor Law, Art. 156. For example, Article 156 also provides that service can be carried out electronically in certain conditions, and if service by mail is ineffective, Article 160 provides for ways to post service in the court or on its website.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>861</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>862</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>863</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>864</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>865</sup> Interview with, Police, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015; Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014. The Misdemeanor Law also requires the court to maintain a register of convictions for a four-year period. Misdemeanor Law, Art. 324-31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>866</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

however, reported having no knowledge of prior offenses at all, which can result in lower sentences than warranted.<sup>867</sup> Judges may also fail to recognize repeat offenders or escalating offenses when they do not receive complete information. One judge shared an example to highlight the importance of prior history:

It was about the case of two persons who have been in a relationship for several years, a partner relationship. He wanted to marry her, but she wanted to end the relationship. And then he started committing violence against her in various manners, texting her with threatening or disturbing messages. He keeps popping up in town, seeing her, visiting her at her job, and even commits physical violence . . . . He has several ongoing misdemeanor procedures, so he has several files, charges filed for the initiation of misdemeanor proceedings. In one of them, he was even issued a protective measure of a restraining order...and of course he violated this measure.<sup>868</sup>

The perpetrator, against whom "tens of procedures" had been initiated, received a prison sentence of 30 days.<sup>869</sup>

# **CONFRONTATION**

The use of confrontation by misdemeanor judges to evaluate credibility presents a safety issue for victims called to testify.<sup>870</sup> In confrontation, the witness and defendant face each other and repeat statements about disputed facts so judges can determine their "veracity."<sup>871</sup> As described by one judge, "One meter is the usual distance. They are standing and looking at each other in the eyes."<sup>872</sup> Even if judges did not use the same distance, victims would still be near the defendants because the misdemeanor courtrooms observed were small and lacked adequate security. At least one judge also reported fights in these courtrooms.<sup>873</sup>

In addition to the danger posed by confrontation, misdemeanor judges' assessments do not reflect an understanding of the dynamics of domestic violence. If the purpose of confrontation is to uncover the truth between conflicting statements, its use in domestic violence cases may not achieve that goal. Victims of domestic violence may be frightened, and the perpetrator's controlling and coercive behavior may influence her testimony and demeanor.

Nevertheless, judges still use behavior to assess credibility in confrontation.<sup>874</sup> A judge explained they observe if the person "looks [them] in the eyes or at the floor, if that person has nervous hands or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>867</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>868</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>869</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>870</sup> Misdemeanor Law, Art. 207. Spouses and blood relatives are relieved from a duty to testify against a defendant, but victims who choose to testify or are otherwise compelled cannot receive a protective witness status in misdemeanor courts. Misdemeanor Law, Art. 211; Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>871</sup> Misdemeanor Law, Art. 215; Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>872</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>873</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>874</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014; Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

legs...those are some signs. But it's all individual."<sup>875</sup> Again, these actions may not be related to the information they are stating, but the fact that victims are in close range of their violent offenders.

In addition, the use of confrontation may have serious consequences on the integrity of the judicial system. The possibility of being faced with one's perpetrator in close quarters may be enough to compel victims to not appear for misdemeanor proceedings.<sup>876</sup> In one example, a woman who had been subjected to constant violence refused to appear for confrontation when the higher misdemeanor court ordered a retrial in the first instance court. When she did not appear, he was acquitted.<sup>877</sup>

A Gender Equality Deputy Ombudswoman summarized the impact of confrontation:

It reveals how much the system failed to recognize how to protect the victim. When you have no other evidence, especially in these kinds of cases, it is really an extreme situation. To ask for confrontation, even with all other evidence, I find that devastating. Those who make judgments do not have an accurate perception of what it is like for the victim. I think that the prosecution and the justice system, in addition to the social work centers, need to be trained and sensitized for these proceedings.<sup>878</sup>

#### **RESTRAINING ORDERS**

The Misdemeanor Law allows restraining orders to protect victims during the course of regular misdemeanor proceedings. Similar to Family Law protective measures or Criminal Code measures, a judge can prohibit a defendant from approaching a victim or location during the course of misdemeanor proceedings.<sup>879</sup> This measure is issued based on information from the injured party and police, and it can remain in effect through the misdemeanor proceedings.<sup>880</sup> Even though these measures have the potential to protect victims, no judges reported granting them for domestic violence cases. This underuse may be due to the large number of domestic violence acts that proceed as summary proceedings or because of a lack of judicial awareness.

#### SENTENCING

Amendments to the Law on Public Peace and Order only slightly reduced prison sanctions from the former law's sanctions for Articles 6 and 12. Under the prior law, misdemeanor sanctions included fines from 5,000 to 150,000 dinars (45 euros to 1,400 euros) for a natural person,<sup>881</sup> warnings,<sup>882</sup> prison

<sup>881</sup> Misdemeanor Law, Arts. 32-33, 39.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>875</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>876</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>877</sup> Interview with Gender Equality Deputy Ombudsman, Belgrade, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>878</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>879</sup> Misdemeanor Law, Art. 126. *See also* Family Law Judges Section on Protective Measures: Generally and Criminal Judges Section on Criminal Proceedings: Measures to secure the defendant and for unobstructed proceedings.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>880</sup> *Id.*, Art. 126; Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014. Appeals against such measures do not stay the restraining order's execution (Misdemeanor Law, Art. 126), and Article 308 of the Misdemeanor Law states that appeals of interim measures must be made within 24 hours and decided by the higher court within 48 hours to limit any damage to the defendant if the court erroneously issued the measures.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>882</sup> *Id.*, Arts. 32, 50.

sentences for up to 60 days,<sup>883</sup> and community service.<sup>884</sup> Sentences could include both fines and imprisonment,<sup>885</sup> or they could be combined with addiction treatment.<sup>886</sup> Unlike criminal courts, the misdemeanor court cannot issue suspended sentences,<sup>887</sup> but can issue admonitions.<sup>888</sup>

The lack of comprehensive data collection hampers a full understanding of the types of misdemeanor sentences judges are imposing. Some judges noted they were more likely to impose prison sentences,<sup>889</sup> especially combined with precautionary measures for treatment in a confined institution.<sup>890</sup> Other judges and interviewees reported that prison sentences were rare,<sup>891</sup> and most misdemeanor sentences were instead mild, such as fines with protective measures.<sup>892</sup>

Monetary amounts of fines are reportedly low. One misdemeanor judge noted that the maximum fine judges usually issue is 10,000 dinars (approximately 80 euros).<sup>893</sup> Verbal violence carries even lower fines, as low as 5,000 dinars (approximately 40 euros),<sup>894</sup> while physical assault carries between 10,000 and 12,000 dinars (approximately 80 to 100 euros).<sup>895</sup> The highest fine reported was up to 30,000 dinars (approximately 250 euros).<sup>896</sup> One explanation for low fines is that issuing a fine so large that a defendant cannot pay is inefficient.<sup>897</sup> If defendants do not pay, their fines can be converted into prison sentences, with 1,000 dinars (approximately 8 euros) translating into one day in prison.<sup>898</sup> Some judges recognized the balance between a fine's economic impact on the family and the perpetrator's actions.<sup>899</sup> The new Law on Public Peace and Order establishes a minimum fine of 5,000 dinars, but the misdemeanor court can only order imprisonment in certain circumstances.<sup>900</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>883</sup> *Id.*, Arts. 33, 37; Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014. Article 9 of the new Law on Public Peace and Order allows imprisonment for 10 to 30 days.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>884</sup> Misdemeanor Law, Arts. 33, 38.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>885</sup> *Id.,* Art. 34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>886</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>887</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>888</sup> Admonitions are warnings and do not require the defendant to pay fines or serve any time in prison. Criminal Code, Art. 64(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>889</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014; Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015 (explaining that prison sentences are most frequently issued for up to 30 days).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>890</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>891</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014; Interview with Police, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>892</sup> Interview with NGO, Location B-1, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Police, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview with Police, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>893</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>894</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>895</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>896</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>897</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>898</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>899</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>900</sup> Described circumstances include insulting others, committing violence against others, threatening public order and peace, or rude, insolent or arrogant behavior in groups of three or more people. Law on Public Peace and Order (Off. Gazette of RS, no. 6/2016), Arts. 7 – 9.

Judges consider many factors when determining sentences,<sup>901</sup> including the degree of responsibility, whether it involves verbal or physical violence,<sup>902</sup> as well as the defendant's remorse,<sup>903</sup> history, financial condition,<sup>904</sup> and deterrent effect.<sup>905</sup> Interviewees indicated that prison sentences were more typically imposed on repeat or non-repentant offenders<sup>906</sup> where the act resulted in more serious consequences or the victim requested it.<sup>907</sup> In a case where a husband beat his pregnant wife until she escaped to a safe house, the judge sentenced the defendant to prison based on his lack of remorse and the victim's wishes. The perpetrator said, "She is my wife. I can do what I want" and did not deny beating her when she was pregnant. His wife wanted the court to "make him go to prison. I want to have a break."<sup>908</sup> In another example, a misdemeanor judge reduced a perpetrator's fine to 5,000 dinars (approximately 40 euros). The perpetrator slapped his wife twice, but the judge decided to limit the fine because it was his first offense, their household income was low, and the victim stated there were no long-term consequences.<sup>909</sup>

Often, judges must assess the case based on limited information. One interviewee explained how many victims do not report violence until it has occurred for some time. Without prior reports, the court may use his "clean" history as a mitigating circumstance, even if violence had been occurring for years. But when the court sentences the defendant, it creates a record. If he repeats the offense, the court can use the prior conviction as an aggravating factor.<sup>910</sup>

Another misdemeanor judge summarized the complex family issues they face:

Very often, victims of domestic violence practically beg us not to issue prison sentences to the perpetrator, because the perpetrator is usually the only one who financially supports the family. So the execution of the prison sentences will make him unable to work and detrimentally affect the family. There are many cases where they say that, after serving prison time, he will commit worse violence because of the frustration of serving prison time, and they also say they are going to go on living with the perpetrator.... When it comes to prison sentences, it largely depends on the statement of the victim and if she's afraid to go back home.<sup>911</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>901</sup> Decisions to order addiction treatment are made based on the opinions of medical experts. Misdemeanor Law, Art. 59.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>902</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>903</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>904</sup> Misdemeanor Law, Art. 42; Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014; Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>905</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>906</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014; Interview with Police, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>907</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>908</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>909</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>910</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>911</sup> Id.

# **DUAL CHARGES AND CONVICTIONS**

Police interviewees reported charging both parties in a domestic violence situation with violations of the Law on Public Peace and Order, including in situations where one party used verbal violence and the other physical violence.<sup>912</sup> Interviewees disagreed on the frequency with which they saw dual charges. For some judges, it was a rare occurrence,<sup>913</sup> while others reported seeing it frequently.<sup>914</sup> One NGO interviewee reported misdemeanor dual sentences were rare, but in the absence of adequate data, they relied on individual reports to draw this conclusion.<sup>915</sup>

When both parties are charged, misdemeanor judges must decide how to assess each party's culpability. One judge reported looking for use of self-defense,<sup>916</sup> as self-defense within the legal limits can acquit the party.<sup>917</sup> The wife whose husband received a 5,000 dinar fine, discussed above, was charged with a misdemeanor herself. She threatened her husband with a kitchen knife, but the judge recognized her use of self-defense and mitigated the charges against her. The judge also explained he did not see sense in fining the family twice.<sup>918</sup>

Not all judges consider that a party may act in self-defense. As explained by one judge, when both parties use physical violence, it is difficult to sentence one person and release the other.<sup>919</sup> Interviewees reported that the typical outcomes in these circumstances are convictions<sup>920</sup> and fines for both parties.<sup>921</sup> At least one judge explained she considered the broader context beyond the single incident, but still saw victim responsibility. If she determined that the victim had been subject to many years of violence – whether economic, physical, or psychological – that was unreported or resulted in police warnings, the judge would consider the long-term violence as a mitigating factor when sentencing the victim in cases of mutual violence. She would issue an admonition, not a sentence, to the victim.<sup>922</sup>

# **PROTECTING THE VICTIM – PRECAUTIONARY MEASURES**

The Misdemeanor Law provides for precautionary measures that can be imposed as part of misdemeanor sentences to eliminate conditions that encourage recidivism.<sup>923</sup> Precautionary measures include restraining orders and treatment programs.<sup>924</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>912</sup> Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Police, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>913</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014; Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>914</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>915</sup> Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 25, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>916</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014. Article 13 of the Misdemeanor Law addresses self-defense.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>917</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014; Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>918</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>919</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>920</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>921</sup> Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>922</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>923</sup> Misdemeanor Law, Art. 51, 53.

Misdemeanor judges can order mandatory alcohol and drug treatment as a precautionary measure, but only with a doctor's expert opinion.<sup>925</sup> Misdemeanor judges appear to view addiction treatment as the solution to violence, rather than recognizing that alcohol and drug use contributes to, but is not the cause of violence.<sup>926</sup> One misdemeanor judge opined that "violence against women is mostly related to alcohol abuse" and that most perpetrators are alcoholics.<sup>927</sup> Reflecting a preference for offender welfare over victim safety, one judge touted the success that perpetrators can have in "healing" with alcohol treatment.<sup>928</sup> Some misdemeanor judges reported they monitor whether perpetrators re-offend after completing treatment, but it was unknown whether all misdemeanor courts do so.<sup>929</sup>

Misdemeanor courts can also order a new precautionary measure of psychiatric treatment for mentally incompetent offenders.<sup>930</sup> One judge lauded this measure as a way to prevent future offenses and as the first opportunity to treat perpetrators pleading insanity.<sup>931</sup> The misdemeanor courts rely on reports of the treatment institutions to inform them of offender compliance.<sup>932</sup> At the time of fact-finding, this precautionary measure was still new and its effectiveness in protecting victims and preventing future violence still unknown.

Despite this potential, interviewees reported that judges rarely order precautionary measures. For example, one police officer was not aware of any misdemeanor cases in which the judge imposed these measures.<sup>933</sup> A misdemeanor judge admitted she had not issued a precautionary measure during her 10 years on the bench.<sup>934</sup>

One reason these measures are infrequently issued is because of uncertainty in the procedure for requesting or imposing them. The Misdemeanor Law does not specify who is required or able to request precautionary measures at or as part of sentencing. During interviews, police and misdemeanor judges

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>924</sup> Misdemeanor judges can issue orders restraining an individual from approaching the injured person or a particular location for up to a year. Misdemeanor Law, Art. 61.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>925</sup> Misdemeanor Law, Art. 59. The expert's opinion needs to describe whether such treatment is necessary, how long the treatment should last, and whether the perpetrator should be confined in an institution or do the treatment on an outpatient basis. Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014. As medical treatment, these precautionary measures are covered by health insurance and the perpetrator does not have to pay for them. *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>926</sup> See "Myths About Alcohol and Domestic Violence," last updated Apr. 2015, at

http://www.stopvaw.org/myths about alcohol and domestic violence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>927</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>928</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>929</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>930</sup> This precautionary measure was available beginning on March 1, 2014. Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014; Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015; Misdemeanor Law, Art. 60; Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014. As stated in Article 19 of the Misdemeanor Law, alcohol cannot be the basis for mental incompetence. As with other misdemeanor sentences, the treatment needs to occur within a year of judgment, in either a closed facility, such as a psychiatric hospital or prison, or in an out-patient facility. Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014; Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>931</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>932</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>933</sup> Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>934</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

disagreed widely on who has authority to request precautionary measures. Some police officers indicated they were unable to make this request, and the judge imposed them at his own initiative.<sup>935</sup> Misdemeanor judges, however, stated they could not grant precautionary measures unless requested by the petitioner, i.e., the police in most cases or the victim.<sup>936</sup> Yet other police officers stated they could request the measures and the misdemeanor judge could impose them without a request.<sup>937</sup> And still other misdemeanor judges stated that certain precautionary measures (restraining orders) could be requested by the petitioner or victim<sup>938</sup> while others (mandatory alcohol or psychiatric treatment) could only be granted through expert testimony of health professionals.<sup>939</sup>

Another reason for the reported rarity may be due to a lack of confidence in their impact. Police, judges, and CSWs criticized the effectiveness of precautionary measures because of the lack of execution and monitoring.<sup>940</sup> The Misdemeanor Law does not specify which authority is responsible for monitoring their compliance.<sup>941</sup> Police also suggested that precautionary measures are issued infrequently because the danger associated with misdemeanors is perceived to be lower.<sup>942</sup>

Violations of precautionary measures are subject to sanctions.<sup>943</sup> Reports of violations, however, are rare.<sup>944</sup> Violations would likely be reported to the police and not directly to the misdemeanor courts. The misdemeanor courts are required to provide copies of their judgments to the police,<sup>945</sup> informing police of the order and enabling them to communicate violations to the prosecution. It is unclear whether perpetrators are not violating these orders, victims are not reporting violations, or if a lack of communication between misdemeanor courts and police precludes effective identification of violations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>935</sup> Interview with Police, Location B-1, Oct. 17, 2014; Interview with Police, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>936</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014 (indicating they could *sua sponte* issue the measure of compulsory treatment of alcohol abuse).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>937</sup> Interview with Police, Location B-1, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>938</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>939</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014; Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014; Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014; Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>940</sup> Interview with Police, Location B-1, Oct. 17, 2014; Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014; Interview with Police, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>941</sup> The Misdemeanor Courts receive more information on compliance with precautionary measures of addiction treatment administered in a confined institution. Institutions where the offender receives treatment report to an execution judge, and if the institution determines that the offender no longer needs treatment, they submit a proposal to terminate the treatment measure. Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>943</sup> Misdemeanor Law, Art. 62. Defendants who violate the restraining order are subject to sanctions under the regulation that provides for the offense for which he received the measure. Violations used to be subject to sanctions of up to 30,000 dinars or 30 days in prison, and some judges continued to cite these as the sanctions. Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014; Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014; Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>944</sup> Interview with Police, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>945</sup> Id.

## **APPEALS**

Victims of misdemeanors are generally not allowed to appeal decisions because appeals can only be filed by the petitioner or the defendant.<sup>946</sup> If, as in most cases, the police filed the petition, there are limited circumstances in which an injured party can file an appeal.<sup>947</sup> Adding to this limitation, if the police filed the petition, the misdemeanor courts are not required to inform the injured party on whether the defendant has been acquitted or convicted.<sup>948</sup> The court provides a copy of the judgment to the petitioner, defendant, and the prison, if applicable.<sup>949</sup> Victims are left without knowledge of the outcome, unless they are informed by the police or the defendant himself.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>946</sup> Misdemeanor Law, Art. 259.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>947</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014; Misdemeanor Law, Art. 259.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>948</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015; Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014. According Article 252 of the Misdemeanor Law, publication of the judgment does not require a copy of the judgment to be provided to the injured party; rather, only the applicant receives a copy of the judgment if required. Furthermore, Misdemeanor Law, Art. 256 provides for delivery of the judgement for those who are not the applicant in situations where there was a decision on a property claim or against a person whose item was forfeited under the verdict or who had confiscation orders.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>949</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015.

# **CENTERS FOR SOCIAL WORK**

Everyone has the right to protection from domestic violence in accordance with the law.

-Family Law, Article 10(2).

Centers for Social Work (CSWs) in Serbia provide a wide variety of services and assistance to individuals and families, including processing social welfare payments, counseling, and serving as the guardianship and custody authority for children and vulnerable adults in cases of abuse.<sup>950</sup> As the primary authority over social support and services, CSWs play a crucial role in ensuring victim safety and accountability for perpetrators. These multiple roles, however, can lead to confusion for social workers. On the one hand, this allows for a single entity to coordinate both the social support and legal response necessary to protect the victim. On the other hand, it can lead to a conflict of interest between counseling the victim and serving as an impartial expert in their reports and testimony to the courts.<sup>951</sup>

Adding further to these demands, at the time of fact-finding, CSWs reported a hiring freeze, with no new hires made to replace departing staff.<sup>952</sup> As a result, each social worker addressed domestic violence cases among 300-500 families per year. As expressed by one social worker, "We don't even have time to think," and they were severely overburdened.<sup>953</sup> Given the key role that CSWs play in providing services and referring victims to other services, this case burden and shortage of resources leaves social workers unable to dedicate the time necessary to provide victims with the support, detailed analysis, and monitoring as directed by the CSW Protocol.

# **TRAINING**

Many CSW staff appear to be well-trained to handle domestic violence cases and reported receiving trainings on domestic violence from the government or NGOs.<sup>954</sup> At least one outside observer noted improvements in the CSW response to domestic violence cases.<sup>955</sup> Unfortunately, not all interviewees at the CSWs reported completing domestic violence-specific training.<sup>956</sup> Without appropriate training, CSW workers may deny victims necessary services or even place victims in further danger through unsafe practices, like reconciliation or mediation.<sup>957</sup> In one example, social workers not only failed to recognize

<sup>953</sup> Interview with CSW, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>950</sup> CSW Protocol, p. 40-1. Laws applicable to the CSWs include the Law on Social Protection and the Family Law.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>951</sup> Interview with CSW, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>952</sup> Interview with CSW, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Minister of Social Policy, Belgrade, Oct. 18, 2014 (describing a hiring freeze for one year that was still in place at the time of the interview).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>954</sup> Interview with CSW, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014 (noting a discrepancy in training levels); Interview with CSW, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>955</sup> Interview with Police, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>956</sup> Interview with CSW, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>957</sup> Interview with Gender Equality Ombudswoman, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014 (stating "abusers use all the mechanisms to make it impossible for the victim of domestic violence to get protection. It is very dangerous because institutions like the CSW and police do not recognise hidden indicators of violence and often believe the

factors indicating violence, but insulted the victim's lifestyle and told her they distrusted her.<sup>958</sup> Such reactions deter victims from reporting violence and indicate a need for mandatory training for all social workers. Although the CSW Protocol has been widely disseminated, not all staff have received training on its implementation.<sup>959</sup>

Some interviewees reported that social workers were afraid to provide assistance in domestic violence cases.<sup>960</sup> One solution offered to this problem was specialization, as social workers responded to all issues facing their clients.<sup>961</sup>

# **ATTITUDES**

Interviews revealed harmful attitudes to be deeply ingrained in some social workers. Outside observers perceived that some CSW workers are influenced by misperceptions and beliefs that "family should be preserved at any cost."<sup>962</sup> For example, a social worker focused only on the children and failed to secure protection for the non-violent parent. The mother had physical injuries, but instead of seeking protective measures, the center merely placed her in another apartment. She was later killed by her abuser.<sup>963</sup>

Some social worker attitudes reflect notions of patriarchy and victim-blaming. One CSW refused to assist a victim in enforcing an eviction order because "that's his house."<sup>964</sup> A Deputy Ombudswoman for Gender Equality described a generally held belief that the traditional role of women in Serbia is "to be the pillar of the family and to take care of children;" thus, if she stays in a violent relationship, she is guilty of exposing her children to violence.<sup>965</sup> As a result, the ombudswoman reported receiving many complaints against social workers threatening to remove children from their mother because she was a victim of violence.<sup>966</sup> Such threats can discourage victims from coming forward to report violence.

# **SAFETY OF CSW WORKERS**

Social worker concerns in providing assistance may be grounded in the lack of protection against perpetrators.<sup>967</sup> Even if security guards are posted at the centers, they are unable to physically respond

abusers"); Interview with Gender Equality Ombudswoman, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014 (describing examples of CSWs trying to reconcile the victim with her abuser or interrogating the victim at the same time as the abuser). <sup>958</sup> Interview with Gender Equality Ombudswoman, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>964</sup> Id.

<sup>966</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>959</sup> Interview with CSW, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>960</sup> Interview with Police, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>961</sup> Interview with CSW, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015 (stating "no professional can follow everything or have the necessary knowledge for all areas, especially if one considers the complexity of the work").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>962</sup> Interview with Gender Equality Ombudswoman, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>963</sup> Interview with Gender Equality Deputy Ombudsman, Belgrade, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>965</sup> Interview with Gender Equality Ombudswoman, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>967</sup> Interview with CSW, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015; Interview with CSW, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014 (providing an example of a perpetrator waiting for the social worker in front of the institution and sending threatening messages, and reporting that there was no strategy to protect social workers from attacks); Interview with Doctor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015 (reporting at least two violent incidents at the CSW).

to perpetrators.<sup>968</sup> In one case, a domestic violence victim was murdered in front of her social workers.<sup>969</sup>

Furthermore, public prosecutors do not always prosecute violence against CSW staff, and other institutions are similarly unwilling to hold offenders accountable. A CSW staffperson described a dangerous offender they encountered:

He could never control his behavior. Even when talking to a professional, he would come at you physically and get in your face, even with a security guard present. The guard can't stop him physically. So we called the police, the police made an official report, and I don't know if the police filed a criminal complaint. But if they did, the prosecutor's office dismissed it. Whenever protection has been needed for the professionals here, we have never received it.<sup>970</sup>

Perpetrators also attack CSW staff using legal means by filing complaints to the Ombudsperson or criminal complaints against CSW workers for misuse in carrying out their duties.<sup>971</sup> One interviewee had two criminal proceedings filed by perpetrators pending against her.<sup>972</sup> Another was sued by the perpetrator for "abusing [her] official position" after she notified the prosecutor of the violation of an interim protective measure.<sup>973</sup>

Interviewees reported that these tactics dissuade social workers from taking actions to protect victims.<sup>974</sup> In one example, even though the perpetrator threatened the social worker, he was still able to continue visitation with his children by threatening a lawsuit against the CSW.<sup>975</sup>

# **RISK ASSESSMENTS**

Staff at CSWs consistently indicated that they conducted risk assessments during initial interviews with victims to determine whether the situation was urgent.<sup>976</sup> Their assessment is crucial because other

<sup>972</sup> Interview with CSW, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>968</sup> Interview with CSW, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>969</sup> Interview with Doctor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>970</sup> Interview with CSW, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014 (explaining the prosecutor will say that the requirements for a criminal or misdemeanor offense are not met). In this particular example, the interviewee also described how the perpetrator had set fire to the barn of his partner's parents, and his violence towards the CSW staff continued after she and her children were placed in a safe house in another location.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>971</sup> Interview with CSW, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014; Interview with Gender Equality Ombudswoman, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014 (referring to custody issues relating to children); Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014 (describing complaints against social workers that are directed to the Ministry of Social Work and ombudsman); Interview with CSW, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014. Social workers also do not receive vulnerable witness status when testifying in court proceedings in their professional capacity, even if they do not want to reveal their personal information in the perpetrator's presence. Interview with CSW, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>973</sup> Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014. The perpetrator had approached too close to the victim and removed the electricity installation box at the victim's apartment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>974</sup> *Id.* (stating "the center for social work will say, let's not push the buttons, it will calm down"); Interview with Doctor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015(explaining "[CSW staff] are afraid of abusers and abusers manage to exert control over them in many cities.")

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>975</sup> Interview with CSW, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014.

institutions do not do so.<sup>977</sup> Furthermore, at least one family law judge stated that they rely on CSWs' risk assessments in their opinions to the court.<sup>978</sup> Although different CSWs use a similar risk assessment process, there is no standard form, which can lead to inconsistencies or gaps in how they evaluate the risk to the victim.<sup>979</sup>

# **VICTIM SERVICES**

One of the objectives of social welfare is to prevent and remove consequences of abuse.<sup>980</sup> After the initial interview and assessment, CSW staff both provide services to the victim and begin an investigation into the domestic violence.<sup>981</sup> As a result, CSWs can be the gateway for victims to receive many services, such as shelter placement, referrals to doctors, financial assistance, or legal aid.<sup>982</sup>

Victims have the right to participate in the assessment of their needs and decide whether to accept services. Importantly, the law respects victim autonomy and states "[n]o service can be provided without the consent of users, i.e. their legal representative, except in cases specified by the Law."<sup>983</sup> One CSW interviewee, however, noted that victims do not always have options for services, and indicated the need for specialized counselling centers relating to family violence to achieve the requirement set forth in the law.<sup>984</sup>

#### **Financial assistance**

Economic independence is becoming more and more important. Women recognize that it's more important. If they have no chance to gain independence, they go back to their abusers.

CSW worker<sup>985</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>976</sup> CSW Protocol, p. 54-7; Interview with CSW, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015; Interview with CSW, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview with Counseling Center, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>977</sup> See, e.g., Police Section on Risk Assessments and Doctors Section on Additional Measures to Protect Victims.
 <sup>978</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 13, 2014. See also Interview with Family Law Judge,

Location I, Feb. 26, 2015; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>979</sup> Interview with CSW, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015; Interview with CSW, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>980</sup> Law on Social Protection, Art. 3; Interview with CSW, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014 (stating "our priority is to stop violence and support women to leave the immediate threat").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>981</sup> Interview with CSW, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014, Interview with CSW, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview with Counseling Center, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014. Serving as a central referral service to help victims of domestic violence find shelter in a safe house, medical care for any injuries, and free legal advice. Interview with CSW, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>982</sup> Interview with CSW, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015; Interview with CSW, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Counseling Center, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>983</sup> Law on Social Protection, Art. 35, paras. 1 and 2; Interview with CSW, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015 (explaining the victim's opinion is crucial in what the CSW will do and what she considers to be a threat to her security).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>984</sup> Interview with CSW, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015. There are counseling centers affiliated with the CSWs that address, but do not exclusively focus on, domestic violence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>985</sup> Interview with Counseling Center, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014; *see also* Interview with Shelter, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

Economic dependence is a serious barrier to women seeking to leave violent relationships.<sup>986</sup> The Law on Social Protection provides that "[t]he right to different forms of financial support is exercised in order to ensure existential minimum and support to social inclusion of the user."<sup>987</sup> The law provides several forms of financial support with varying eligibility requirements.<sup>988</sup> CSWs can provide victims with a cash stipend, <sup>989</sup> support in seeking employment, and other financial assistance.<sup>990</sup> Interviewees reported, however, that levels of social support are too low to allow women to live independently.<sup>991</sup> One CSW worker even described level of financial assistance as "insulting, because you cannot survive two days off that."<sup>992</sup> Economic conditions and high unemployment further limit the amount of assistance that CSWs can provide, a problem for women who can access shelter but have nowhere to live afterward.<sup>993</sup> Many families rely on a single breadwinner and one-time assistance is likely to be used for rent or children's needs, rather than helping build financial independence.<sup>994</sup>

Governments on the local level have sought to fill this gap by passing regulations specific to victims of domestic violence. These policies seek to provide women with adequate support so they can rent flats, access social housing, or find employment.<sup>995</sup> Financial assistance also fluctuates depending on local

<sup>993</sup> Interview with Child and Social Care, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>986</sup> Interview with Shelter, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014 (women will return to their abusers if they are not able to meet their needs "and think it is better to put up with the violence because their financial needs are met").
<sup>987</sup> Law on Social Protection, Art. 5(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>988</sup> Law on Social Protection Section VII, in particular one-off financial assistance under Article 110. Interview with CSW, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>989</sup> Interview with CSW, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>990</sup> CSW Protocol, p. 40-1 (listing a goal of independent living); Interview with Counseling Center, Location H, Oct.22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>991</sup> One NGO interviewee indicated that her understanding was that social assistance could provide for 20,000 dinars at the most. But by way of demonstration on how limited these funds are, diapers require 3,000 dinars per month. Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014. Another indicated that one-time financial assistance of 5,000 dinars was available, with additional amounts potentially available from a local government commission. Interview with CSW, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014. Yet another stated that one-time aid was at least 15,000 dinars, and up to 40,000 dinars, but it was only available once per year; formerly, it was available twice per year. Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014. Other CSWs indicated that financial assistance for rent could reach up to 30,000 dinars per month. Interview with CSW, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014. And a social worker stated that victims can apply for aid in the form of two payments of 15,000 dinars within a year. Additional support amounts are also available to support families with children. Interview with Shelter, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>994</sup> Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014, Interview with CSW, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014; Interview with Child and Social Care, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014 (also noting problems with perpetrators not complying with court orders for child support or alimony). Interview with Police, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014 (observing that when victims have jobs, places to live, and the support of their families, the violence stops).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>995</sup> Interview with City Council Members, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014; Interview with Counseling Center, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014 (describing eligibility limits on salary and period of time living in the city prior to benefits); Interview with CSW, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015. In addition to financial aid, victims are entitled to a benefit of 30 percent of the victim's average salary for one year by demonstrating a defined need, residency, unemployment and no ownership of real estate. However, some interviewees indicated that the benefit may no longer exist. Interview with City Secretariat, Location B-2, Oct. 16, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014 (but not all centers used it); Interview with NGO, Location B-2, Oct. 14, 2014 (one-year financial aid of 11,000 dinars per month for her and 5,000 dinars

government will. Previous financial aid benefits specific to victims of domestic violence were removed in one location after a change in local government.<sup>996</sup>

Women also face barriers in requesting financial assistance.<sup>997</sup> The onerous process of applying can cause delays of up to a year.<sup>998</sup> One NGO described how it took one mother six weeks just to gather all the paperwork to apply for financial assistance:

She had to get her documents confirming she is unemployed and papers that would prove that she is alone with her grandmother [with whom she was living]. Then, they asked for documents showing what property the grandmother has, what inheritance does she have, what property does she own, and a statement from two witnesses confirming she is a single mother. With all these documents, she realized the right to get 3,500 dinars a month.... Just to obtain all this she had to pay 1,500 dinars in advance she had to invest this money. If it happened that her grandmother owned some land, she wouldn't be granted financial help. And her grandmother has nothing to do with her child.999

# MANDATORY REPORTING

Social workers face a conflict of interest between their obligation to report domestic violence to the authorities and, at the same time, provide services for victims.<sup>1000</sup> On one hand, the CSW Protocol and Law on Social Protection set forth rights to privacy and confidentiality of information.<sup>1001</sup> Mandatorv reporting in all circumstances removes victim autonomy for deciding when to separate from their abusers.<sup>1002</sup> On the other hand, the CSW Protocol requires every authority to report domestic violence crimes to the police or prosecutor upon detection.<sup>1003</sup>

per month per child available to low-income women who stayed at a shelter and registered with the CSW); Interview with Child and Social Care, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014; Interview with Secretariat, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014 (subsidies to private employers to hire victims of domestic violence and pay one-year salary for similar jobs in similar occupations); Interview with City Council Member, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014 (local government pays salaries).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>996</sup> Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>997</sup> Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>998</sup> Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>999</sup> Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1000</sup> Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014 (stating "there is a controversial role in proceedings that you have to both prosecute and then also serve as a rehabilitator. The system deals with it poorly"). <sup>1001</sup> CSW Protocol, at 37; Law on Social Protection, Arts. 37, 38.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1002</sup> General Protocol, at 25-26 (stating "when, based on the interview, it is obvious that children or other vulnerable family members are exposed to domestic violence against women, it is necessary to report the case to the centre for social work;" stating "The officer, who in line of duty learns about grave and immediate danger from violence, shall act in accordance with the law and take and initiate actions to protect the victim against violence. In these cases it is necessary to report, without delay, the knowledge of danger from violence to the policy"). <sup>1003</sup> CSW Protocol, at 67. This reporting is through a criminal complaint.
Inconsistent responses from CSWs on reporting obligations reflect confusion about steps they should take. Some CSWs indicated they did not have an obligation to report.<sup>1004</sup> Others only complied when they perceived a high risk of continued violence or severe consequences for the woman.<sup>1005</sup> Some CSW staff reported they tried to secure victim consent before reporting, but others stated they would still report without it.<sup>1006</sup>

The CSW Protocol also charges CSWs with assisting a victim to participate in criminal proceedings and to initiate criminal proceedings when the victim is unable to do so.<sup>1007</sup> Interviews revealed that CSWs do not always follow this mandate. In one example, the CSW did not report to the authorities because they were instructed to protect the abuser's military job. A judge explained:

The husband abused the wife so much that she lost the ability to speak. She can barely say a word. He is a member of the army. He abused her so much, sexually, too. Whenever he wanted, she would have to [have sex with him]. She ended up in the military medical academy and the doctors informed the CSW, warning that the center has to take certain measures to stop that violence. In my opinion – and the CSW admits - there was even an order from the army because he would lose his job...

The medical academy first sent the memo to the CSW to do something because of his violence, but then his work – the military – sent a memo to the CSW not to do anything because he would lose his job. He abused her for multiple years—physically, sexually, in all ways. . . . The CSW and the police did nothing to inform the prosecutor about the previous offenses.<sup>1008</sup>

Because the authorities did not intervene, it was left to the victim to initiate the criminal complaint.<sup>1009</sup>

## **REQUESTS FOR PROTECTIVE MEASURES**

Various bodies, including a victim or CSW as guardianship authority can initiate actions for protective measures.<sup>1010</sup> The CSW Protocol states that CSW obligations include filing or helping file domestic violence complaints in the family and criminal courts.<sup>1011</sup> One judge highlighted the benefits of this CSW

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1004</sup> Interview with CSW, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015 (noting no legal requirement to report to the police but an informal understanding to keep the police informed when there are elements of a criminal offense); Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014 (noting no agreement to report to the police, although usually the victims are already in contact with the police, and noting the lack of official channels through which the CSW could notify prosecutors when they identify domestic violence that could be a criminal offense).  $^{1005}$  Interview with CSW, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1006</sup> Interview with CSW, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014 (noting they report with the victim's consent, unless there has been a history of violence).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1007</sup> CSW Protocol, at 68.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1008</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; *see also* Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct.

<sup>20, 2014.</sup> This example was also referenced in the Family Law Judges Section on Protective Measures: Eviction. <sup>1009</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1010</sup> Family Law, Art. 284(2); Interview with CSW, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014. The victim's legal representatives and public prosecutors are also authorized to initiate actions for protective measures.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1011</sup> CSW Protocol, at 50.

role because, with their experience, CSWs provide well-written petitions with appropriate evidence and propose the best solutions.<sup>1012</sup>

Whether the CSW files petitions for victims varies across cities. In some locations, interviewees reported that CSWs rarely file petitions for protective measures.<sup>1013</sup> According to the Ombudsperson, the number of protective measures initiated by social workers is small – 274 over an 18-month period of time - compared to 534 criminal charges.<sup>1014</sup> In other locations, CSWs usually request protective measures.<sup>1015</sup> Although the Ombudsperson indicated that victims initiate most procedures for protective measures,<sup>1016</sup> one judge reported that 90 percent of petitions came from women in shelters or safe houses.<sup>1017</sup> This data indicates that CSW staff in shelters and safe houses can provide a great deal of support to women seeking this remedy, even if they are not providing direct legal aid. One family law judge reported that there were no victim-initiated actions in his or her court; instead, CSWs most frequently initiate the actions and provided evidence to support the request.<sup>1018</sup>

## **OPINIONS AND REPORTS TO THE FAMILY LAW COURTS**<sup>1019</sup>

When a non-CSW party applies for protective measures, the court may request the CSW investigate and provide an opinion on the appropriateness of the protective measure.<sup>1020</sup> Family law judges consistently make this request, even though CSW opinions are not mandatory.<sup>1021</sup> In addition, judges typically follow the CSW's opinion on the severity of the situation and what measures to impose.<sup>1022</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1012</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1013</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014 (describing how they encourage the victim to file because she may be less likely to drop the case).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1014</sup> 2014 Special Report of the Ombudsperson, Annex 1, Table 6, at 54.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1015</sup> Interview with CSW, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015 (victims rarely file); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015. <sup>1016</sup> 2014 Special Report of the Ombudsperson, p. 35, n.130.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1017</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1018</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1019</sup> CSW opinions and reports are used significantly less in criminal cases. Interview with CSW, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014 (stating they provide reports to prosecution, while criminal judges sometimes ask for a report and experts sometimes testify). Prosecutors may request CSW opinions and reports, but criminal judges do not have CSW reports in most cases. Interview with Prosecutor, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location A, Oct. 13, 2014 (stating "sometimes misdemeanor charges are not recorded but CSW has known about the situation for 20 years"); Interview with Prosecutor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015; Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014 (noting that CSW reports may be used to determine whether to proceed with criminal proceedings and used as evidence if victim decides not to testify, in lieu of dropping the case); Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014. One judge reported requesting CSW reports if there was insufficient evidence and believed that the violence was not a one-time incident. The judge would use the CSW report as evidence for certain facts. Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1020</sup> Family Law, Art. 286; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014 (explaining the court could ask for the opinion if the CSW did not initiate the request for protective measures).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1021</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014 (stating the opinion is requested for every domestic violence case, including interim protective measures, even though not required); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014 (explaining interim protective measures can be granted at he first hearing if the CSW report justifies the measures and opinion needed for

Under the Family Law, the court should schedule an initial hearing within eight days of receiving the application for protective measures, <sup>1023</sup> but in reality most CSWs do not submit their reports to the court within this timeframe.<sup>1024</sup> The reports require several steps, as illustrated by a social worker:

...a special interview with the victim, then with the children, then with the perpetrator. Then we need to go out into the field. After that, we need one day to prepare the report. In complicated cases where there are psychological disorders or any type of addiction, we need to collect the data from relevant institutions. We need more time. Our principle is that those cases are subject to urgent procedures. So the very day that we receive the summons of the request, we send the summons for interviews, and it takes approximately two weeks to finish all that. In high-risk, urgent cases, the court issues an interim protective measure. So we don't want to be too fast, in order not to endanger the entire procedure.<sup>1025</sup>

One CSW interviewee explained that, because of court delays in notifying them, they only had 24 to 48 hours to prepare their opinion within the court's deadline to schedule the first hearing.<sup>1026</sup> Some centers have sought to overcome these delays through agreements with institutions, such as the police and health institutions, that send them information.<sup>1027</sup> This practice not only facilitates compliance with the statutory deadlines but demonstrates coordination within the system.

interim measures); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 13, 2014 (observing that it is rare to issue *ex parte* emergency orders, unless they have medical documentation and a police report); Interview with Family Law Judges, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014 (observing they primarily need the opinion for interim measures); Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014 (stating they always ask for an opinion in protective measure cases); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>1022</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014 (noting agreement in 99 percent of cases); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014 (noting no case in which he disagreed with CSW opinion). *But see* Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014 (stating they do not accept CSW opinions in unresolved property disputes requiring a protective measure); Interview with Family Law Judges, Location B-2, Oct. 17, 2014 (stating that CSW opinions are not mandatory for court).

<sup>1023</sup> Proceedings for protection from domestic violence have been identified as particularly urgent, and the first hearing is to be scheduled to occur within eight days after the action was filed with the court. Family Law, Art. 285 (1)-(2); Interview with CSW, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014 (try to respond as soon as possible); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014 (CSWs provide reports for interim protective measure request within 8 days). <sup>1024</sup> Report timing also depends on the availability of the parties for the CSW to interview them. Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014 (describing the report is made within two weeks if the family is known to the CSW, but otherwise up to one month); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 13, 2014 (calling the eight day requirement "impossible"); Interview with CSW, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014 (estimating a period of two weeks to issue summons and conduct interviews). In many locations, judges and centers reported that CSW reports were prepared within the time frames set by the court. One judge, however, implied that social workers did not comply with these deadlines and would schedule a hearing to incentivize a timely submission. Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>1025</sup> Interview with CSW, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1026</sup> Interview with CSW, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1027</sup> Id.

In practice, courts generally extend the deadline and ask that reports be provided within 15 to 30 days of initiating proceedings, which CSWs can meet,<sup>1028</sup> instead of the eight days required by the Family Law.<sup>1029</sup> Judicial reliance on and the extended period of time for CSW reports, however, delay the issuance of protective measures, leaving victims unprotected and failing to fulfill the goal of providing swift protection.

### **BATTERER INTERVENTION PROGRAMS**

Some CSWs have initiated batterer intervention programs and received specialized training.<sup>1030</sup> At the time of fact-finding, these programs were still new and not available in all parts of Serbia. Some centers had not had any perpetrators go through the program.<sup>1031</sup>

Where programs do exist, CSWs operate them, decide perpetrator eligibility, and determine successful completion.<sup>1032</sup> Procedures relating to these programs, however, are still underdeveloped and inconsistent across interview locations. In some cities, prosecutors can defer criminal proceedings and order perpetrators into treatment;<sup>1033</sup> in others, the programs are voluntary so the court cannot force perpetrators to complete the program.<sup>1034</sup> Responsibility for monitoring is unclear, and in the absence of direction, the party who should be monitored for attending batterer intervention programs – the perpetrator – is unlikely to report his own compliance.<sup>1035</sup>Without formal protocols that incorporate best practice standards, CSWs lack direction on steps that they should take if participants do not complete the program.<sup>1036</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1028</sup> Interview with CSW, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014 (estimating the submission of the report within 15 days); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014 (noting they accept the report within 10 days for interim protective measures and one month for a final report; CSWs usually meet these deadlines); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014 (noting courts allow 15 days; CSWs usually meet that deadline); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014 (noting two to three weeks are allowed for the report on final protective measures); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 13, 2014 (noting 15 days to one month and the threat of a fine if CSWs do not issue the opinion within that time).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1029</sup> Family Law, Art. 285(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1030</sup> Interview with CSW, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014; Interview with Counseling Center, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1031</sup> Interview with CSW, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1032</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1033</sup> Interview with CSW, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014 (noting that prosecutors can order the program but have not done so); Interview with Prosecutor, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1034</sup> Interview with CSW, Location D, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1035</sup> Interview with CSW, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1036</sup> See The Advocates for Human Rights, *Recommendations for Effective Batterer Intervention Programs in Central* and Eastern Europe and the Former Soviet Union, 2016, available at

http://www.theadvocatesforhumanrights.org/uploads/bip\_report\_january\_2016.pdf.

## **Recommended Best Practice Standards for Batterer Intervention Programs**

The Advocates for Human Rights report on *Recommendations for Effective Batterer Intervention Programs in Central & Eastern Europe and the Former Soviet Union* describes essential elements of an effective government intervention program for batterers and makes recommendations for developing and reviewing batterer intervention program in countries around the world.<sup>1</sup>

Increasingly, laws are calling for programs into which to direct aggressors or the perpetrators of domestic violence in addition to or in place of jail. The direction of these programs has begun to take various forms and follow different models. Some of these efforts have evolved into formal programs, called Batterer Intervention Programs (BIPs) or perpetrator programs<sup>2</sup> that are designed to end batterers' use of violence by changing their underlying beliefs. Other responses have focused primarily or solely on treating batterers or psychological problems or working with both the batterer and the victim to address relationship dynamics.

Both research and recognized best practices support formal programs that prioritize two goals: victim safety and offender accountability. Offender programs, the Duluth Model of batterer programs being a well-known example, are usually victim-centered, court-mandated programs. They are typically grounded in the understanding that domestic violence is a form of violence against women that stems from the historically unequal power relations between women and men. Maintaining victim safety is the program's first priority. The goal of the offender program is to end the violence by holding offenders accountable to accept responsibility and modify their underlying beliefs of entitlement. Stand-alone counseling approaches, on the other hand, typically focus on addressing a batterer's mental health, substance abuse, or relationship dynamics. Under the counseling approaches, ending the violence is a by-product of solving the underlying psychological or relationship problem.

The Advocates has identified five essential elements of an effective program based on this human rights framework.

1) Be part of an overall human rights-based system response. First and foremost, batterer programs should not exist in isolation. Instead, they should be part of an existing system's overall response to domestic violence. At a minimum, that system should include criminal sanctions for batterers, civil remedies for victims, prevention strategies, and protective measures including shelters and other services for victims. The various organizations that are part of the domestic violence response should coordinate their efforts to ensure the overall system is working effectively.<sup>3</sup> Furthermore, the various parts of the system should share a common theory of domestic violence grounded in a human rights analysis with mechanisms to create systems change when necessary. A shared philosophy across system actors as well as perpetrator programs is necessary to create consistent program responses.<sup>4</sup> The reality is that not every country has a functioning, coordinated system within which a batterer

http://www.theadvocatesforhumanrights.org/uploads/bip\_report\_january\_2016.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Advocates for Human Rights, *Recommendations for Effective Batterer Intervention Programs in Central & Eastern Europe & Former Soviet Union*, January 2016. Available at:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In the United States, programs for batterers are often referred to as Batterer Intervention Programs (BIPs). However, that same term is not as prevalent in other parts of the world. In our research, The Advocates also uses the term "Batterer Interventions", "programs for batterers/perpetrators", or "batterer/perpetrator programs."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> These efforts are often called a coordinated community response (CCR).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This shared philosophy includes a victim-centered, gendered approach that recognizes the dynamics of power and control in relationships and encourages perpetrators to change behavior by taking responsibility and forgoing beliefs of entitlement to use violence.

program can effectively operate. In such situations, priority should be focused on improving the systems' overall response before expecting batterer programs to function.

- 2) Maintain formal links to the criminal justice system and victim advocacy. An effective batterer program, as any intervention based on best practices, will emphasize accountability while prioritizing victim safety. To meet these goals, an effective batterer program will maintain formal links to the criminal justice system and victim services through the coordinated system response. The link to the criminal justice system promotes accountability and compliance with a program by ensuring consequences for offenders' use of violence and failure to comply with the terms of the program. The batterer program's links to victim advocacy groups facilitates focusing on the victim's needs and providing her with necessary information to allow her to make decisions that improve her safety and the safety of her children. Systems must hold offenders accountable for their use of violence, and the system itself must be accountable to victims.<sup>5</sup>
- 3) Avoid dangerous practices. While counseling approaches can provide important services, they should not be a substitute for an offender program that is based on a gendered understanding of power and control dynamics in a relationship and adequately tied to the criminal justice system. Counseling approaches, used alone, do not hold batterers accountable and do not focus on changing their underlying beliefs that validate the use of violence in the first place. While some counseling approach techniques could serve as a supplement to an offender program, focusing solely on these techniques can be dangerous because they avoid addressing the real causes of battering and become another means for the batterer to control his partner.<sup>6</sup> In addition, batterers may in fact retaliate with more violence in response to the counseling.<sup>7</sup>
- 4) Make referrals. The truth is that many batterers need other services, including treatment for substance abuse or past trauma. It is harmful to victims, however, to assume abusers must be healthy before they can be expected to stop battering their partners. Domestic violence is not caused by substance abuse or mental illness. As such, substance abuse or mental health treatment does not "cure" domestic violence. In cases where batterers need mental health services or substance abuse treatment, they should receive referrals as a supplement—never a substitute—to an offender program.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> To this end, effective programs make perpetrators waive their right to confidentiality, so program facilitators can share threats to victim's safety or other non-compliance with the criminal justice center and victim advocates. This prioritization of a victim's right to safety over a perpetrator's right to confidentiality, is a hallmark difference from a counseling approach based on traditional patient/counselor relationship.
<sup>6</sup> Anger management training is a popular response to domestic violence but is not a substitute for a perpetrator program. Perpetrators may feel angry if they are unable to control their partners, but anger is not the cause of domestic violence. Perpetrators, many of whom are able to control anger outside the home, also show patterns of coercive and abusive behavior when they are not angry. Furthermore, while batterers may "appear" out of control, they, in fact, strategically use a showing of anger as a means of control.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Couples counseling, for example, is often ineffective in domestic violence cases, and it can be extremely harmful. Power cannot be redistributed in the relationship if the batterer is unwilling to give up control and the victim is afraid of retaliation if she speaks freely about relationship issues and the violence. The reality is that some couples stay together after domestic violence has occurred. For these couples, counseling may be appropriate only if certain limited criteria can be met, including: that a counselor trained to understand the dynamics of domestic violence is convinced that the violence has ended; the offender has successfully completed a reputable offender program; the victim has worked with an advocate and developed a safety plan; the victim feels safe and enters counseling voluntarily; the counselor has discussed the risks of counseling and is convinced that violence will not resume as a result of the counseling sessions.

5) Conduct ongoing risk assessment and risk management by well-trained practitioners. Accurate risk assessment may help protect victims by identifying which batterers are most likely to reoffend and risk management techniques can apply increased accountability and supervision to dangerous offenders. However, accurate risk assessment or categorization of types of domestic violence can be very difficult, and incorrectly assessing risk can prove fatal for victims. Moreover, if risk management is not reliable and ongoing, victims may be lulled into a false sense of security, exposing them to greater risk. Facilitators of batterer programs and system stakeholders at all levels should be well-trained in conducting ongoing risk assessment and risk management.

## **CHILDREN**

Child custody arrangements are another instance where CSWs interact with domestic violence victims and abusers.<sup>1037</sup> The Family Law requires the court to request findings and expert opinions from institutions, including the CSWs, before deciding on a child's rights or the deprivation of parental rights.<sup>1038</sup> Opinions from the CSW can heavily influence the court,<sup>1039</sup> and thus, which parent is awarded custody.

Some interviews revealed that CSWs follow practices that grant mutual custody. Only one CSW interviewee stated they would never suggest mutual custody of children in domestic violence cases.<sup>1040</sup> Overall, interviews suggested that CSWs preferred children to have contact with both parents regardless of violence against the mother.<sup>1041</sup> One CSW employee did not want to "punish the child" because the perpetrator's abuse was almost exclusively directed against his wife and usually not in the children's presence.<sup>1042</sup> Such attitudes place victims "in a vulnerable position because the system supports the abuser"<sup>1043</sup> and contradict best practices to consider the perpetrator's violent history when determining custody arrangements.<sup>1044</sup>

CSWs also have primary responsibility for preventing child abuse and removing children from negligent or abusive families.<sup>1045</sup> This sometimes conflicts with their role in assisting women victims of violence. At

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1037</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014 (CSWs recommend visitation in controlled circumstances on their premises); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location D, Oct. 14, 2014 (suggesting supervised visitation at the CSW when risk of endangerment is high); Interview with CSW, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015 (describing how they may ask the court to limit contact and for the CSW to be present for visitation); Interview with CSW, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014 (noting that supervised visits may be recommended on a case-by-case basis).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1038</sup> Family Law, Art. 270. See also CSW Protocol, p. 50 (addressing the provision of expert testimony in family and criminal court proceedings on domestic violence).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1039</sup> Interview with Gender Equality Ombudswoman, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015; Interview with CSW, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014. <sup>1040</sup> Interview with CSW, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1041</sup> Interview with Gender Equality Ombudswoman, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014. This attitude is reflected in Family Law, Art. 7(1), stating "The mother and father have joint parental rights."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1042</sup> Interview with CSW, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1043</sup> Interview with Gender Equality Ombudswoman, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1044</sup> Istanbul Convention, Art. 31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1045</sup> Interview with CSW, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014.

least one CSW did not view a woman's status as a victim of violence as a reason for her to lose parental rights.<sup>1046</sup> Other CSWs, however, indicated that being a victim "does not improve parental competencies."<sup>1047</sup> Those CSWs temporarily remove children from families when a woman is unable to ensure her own physical safety.<sup>1048</sup> One CSW explained that, in a significant number of cases, they concluded that the victim neglected her children.<sup>1049</sup> The fear of losing their children can deter victims from reporting violence and seeking help.<sup>1050</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1046</sup> Interview with CSW, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015 (recalling never initiating an action to remove parental rights from a victim of violence).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1047</sup> Interview with CSW, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1048</sup> Interview with CSW, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1049</sup> Interview with CSW, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1050</sup> Tanja Ignatović, Consequences of violence against women in an intimate relationship on children and the answer of public services on this issue, Autonomous Women's Center, Belgrade, 2013, p. 37, ¶ 6 ("As a result [of inappropriate CSW interventions], women feel fear of losing custody over their children and show less willingness to seek help from public services.").

## **VICTIM SERVICES**

## **SHELTERS AND SAFE HOUSES**

The CSW Protocol provides that the security of a victim may be ensured by removing her from her home and placing her into a secure environment, i.e., a shelter or safe house.<sup>1051</sup> Shelters and safe houses provide a refuge for women and their children to immediately escape violence. These locations provide basic necessities, such as food and clothing, as well as counseling and legal services.<sup>1052</sup> But some perceive the focus on removing the victim to a shelter rather than eviction of the violent perpetrator as punishing the victim.<sup>1053</sup>

In Serbia, there are 13 or 14 shelters, most of which are operated by local social services<sup>1054</sup> and supported with funding from the local government.<sup>1055</sup> Although the Council of Europe recommends 719 shelter spaces for Serbia's population, estimates and reports of the number of places are almost 65 percent lower than the recommended number.<sup>1056</sup> Despite this reported shortfall, most CSWs did not have problems placing victims in shelters.<sup>1057</sup>

<sup>1052</sup> Interview with NGO, Location B-2, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Shelter, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014 (providing a psychologist and pedagogue); Interview with Shelter, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014 (providing psychological services). <sup>1053</sup> Interview with Gender Equality Deputy Ombudsman, Belgrade, Oct. 16, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location E,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1051</sup> CSW Protocol, p. 56; *see also* Law on Social Protection, Art. 55 (stating "shelter service shall be ensured by the local self-government unit, except in cases foreseen by this Law"); Interview with CSW, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014 (commenting that if the victim is in immediate danger, does not have support from family or friends, and cannot meet her basic needs, the CSW will find her a place in a safe house); Interview with City Secretariat, Location B-2, Oct. 16, 2014. The Istanbul Convention states: "Parties shall take the necessary legislative or other measures to provide for the setting-up of appropriate, easily accessible shelters in sufficient numbers to provide safe accommodation for and to reach out pro-actively to victims, especially women and their children." Council of Europe Convention on preventing and combating violence against women and domestic violence, Art. 23.

Oct. 15, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1054</sup> There are one or two shelters that are operated by NGOs. Shadow Report of the Autonomous Women's Center (AWC) on the Follow-up state's report to the Concluding observations of the Committee, April 2016, ¶57 (citing data gathered by the Network "Women against violence"). Two additional shelters for elderly and homeless persons can provide emergency shelter for women and children victims of domestic violence. *Id. See also* Interview with City Council Member, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014; Interview with Child and Social Care, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014; Interview with Shelter, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1055</sup> Law on Social Protection, Art. 55 (stating, "Shelter service shall be ensured by the local self-government unit, except in cases foreseen by this Law"); Interview with CSW, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014 (describing how funding transitioned from donations to the local municipality in 2001). Since 2011, local governments are obliged to pay for shelters. Interview with Republic Institute for Social Protection, Belgrade Feb. 25, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1056</sup> Women Against Violence Europe, *WAVE Report 2015: On the Role of Specialist Women's Support Services in Europe*, p. 92, Table 13, 2016 (noting 257 spaces in 12 shelters); Shadow Report of the Autonomous Women's Center (AWC) on the follow-up state's report to the Concluding observations of the Committee, April 2016, ¶ 58 (noting 151 places without counting one shelter).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1057</sup> Interview with CSW, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015. At least one CSW, however, suggested that shelters had insufficient capacity. Interview with CSW, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014.

Regulations under the Law on Social Protection state that women can stay at a shelter for up to six months, but interviews revealed that not all municipalities comply with these regulations.<sup>1058</sup> For example, the average stay reported by one NGO was three months.<sup>1059</sup> Service providers noted three months' stay is too short for women to obtain protection or get a divorce.<sup>1060</sup>

Insufficient funds limit the services that shelters can provide. One safe house reported that it costs 1,100 dinars (9 euros) per day to shelter a victim.<sup>1061</sup> As a result, shelters strive to offer services that are needed and should be provided by the government, but lack funding to do so.<sup>1062</sup> Interviewees echoed concerns that shelters do not provide comprehensive services to women and only address their physical needs.<sup>1063</sup>At the time of research, staff also explained that new regulations created a hiring freeze,<sup>1064</sup> further limiting the services that could be provided to shelter residents.

Interviewees expressed concern about particular requirements or gaps in existing shelter practices.<sup>1065</sup> Onerous shelter requirements may deter victims, leaving them without safe refuge or forcing them to return to the perpetrator. Some CSWs reported that the only condition to enter a shelter was their assessment of the need for placement there.<sup>1066</sup> Others, however, required the victim to initiate all necessary court proceedings to qualify for entry.<sup>1067</sup> Women are not able to remain anonymous in CSWrun shelters.<sup>1068</sup> In addition, shelter is not always free. Only three of the state-run shelters are free-ofcharge.<sup>1069</sup> Others charge women, which prevents many victims, especially those without economic means, from obtaining this protection.<sup>1070</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1058</sup> Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014 (6 months); Interview with Shelter, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014 (up to 6 months); Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015 (three months); Interview with Shelter, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014 (three months, plus another month, if needed); Interview with Shelter, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014 (six months but can stay longer).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1059</sup> Interview with NGO, Location B-2, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1060</sup> *Id.*; Interview with Shelter, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014 (the justice system is too slow).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1061</sup> Interview with NGO, Location B-2, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 25, 2015 (others cost 1,000 euros per month); Interview with Shelter, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014 (43,000 dinars per month).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1062</sup> Interview with Shelter, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1063</sup> Interview with Gender Equality Deputy Ombudsman, Belgrade, Oct. 16, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1064</sup> Interview with Shelter, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1065</sup> Interview with Gender Equality Deputy Ombudsman, Belgrade, Oct. 16, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015 (mostly the women have to leave).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1066</sup> Interview with CSW, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1067</sup> Interview with CSW, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1068</sup> Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 25, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1069</sup> Women Against Violence in Europe, Supporting the Sustainability and Autonomy of Women's Organizations Providing Services in Eastern Europe for Women and Children Survivors of Domestic Violence, 2015, at 132.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1070</sup> Interview with CSW, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014; Interview with Shelter, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014. *See also* Women Against Violence Europe, *Country Report 2013: Reality Check on European Services for Women and Children Survivors of Violence: A Right for Protection and Support?* at 175. The two NGO-run shelters offer services free of charge. *Id.* 

Interviews revealed discriminatory practices and caps in accepting all women into shelters. In particular, interviewees reported difficulty in placing Roma women, women with disabilities,<sup>1071</sup> and women with psychiatric diagnoses in shelters.<sup>1072</sup> In one example, a woman with a psychiatric diagnosis was denied access to a women's shelter without any assessment of how her diagnosis could impact other residents. Over the course of three months, during which NGOs sought shelter for her, she was able to obtain an order of eviction of the perpetrator. Within days, he and other family members pressured her to withdraw these measures. In the opinion of the NGO, the woman would have had better protection had she been admitted to the shelter at the beginning.<sup>1073</sup>

Local shelter regulations also impact shelter funding schemes. For example, regulations on licensing of services have not been reconciled between the national and local levels. One shelter does not meet the licensing requirements for the number of employees, yet does not receive enough financial support that would enable them to meet the requirements.<sup>1074</sup> Shelters also must provide protection without discrimination as to the victim's residency or ethnic origin.<sup>1075</sup> One difficulty arises from shelter financing by local governments. When women seek shelter in another territory, that municipality must seek reimbursement from the woman's territory of origin to cover her shelter costs.<sup>1076</sup>

Because shelters provide refuge for those fleeing domestic violence, support from other institutions is necessary to protect victims and shelter staff from perpetrators. The locations of the shelters and safe houses are intended to be confidential, but this is not always the case.<sup>1077</sup> Confidentiality is especially important if the shelter lacks adequate security to protect residents and workers from violent abusers.<sup>1078</sup> In one example, a perpetrator discovered the address of a safe house and waited outside for the victim.<sup>1079</sup> The CSW identified this as high risk because the perpetrator had brutally beaten the victim and her children and sexually assaulted the victim. They notified the police, only to learn the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1071</sup> Interview with Shelter, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014 (noting that construction did not take disabilities into account); Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014 (noting physical barriers to the shelter and services are not available for hearing impaired victims); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location I, Feb. 26, 2015 (noting shelters are not accessible for persons with disabilities).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1072</sup> Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015; Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 25, 2015 (noting barriers in psychiatric diagnosis cases); Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014 (noting barriers for Roma women); Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014 (noting barriers in psychiatric diagnosis cases).

psychiatric diagnosis cases). <sup>1073</sup> Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 25, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1074</sup> Interview with Shelter, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1075</sup> Istanbul Convention, Art. 4, para. 3, and Art. 23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1076</sup> Interview with CSW, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014; Interview with Child and Social Care, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014. <sup>1077</sup> Interview with NGO, Location B-2, Oct. 14, 2014 (describing how women are driven to the safe house to keep the location secret, but confidentiality is difficult in smaller communities); Interview with NGO, Location B-2, Oct. 16, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 25, 2015; Interview with Child and Social Care, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014 (describing a perpetrator who found the secret location); Interview with Shelter, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014 (describing perpetrators who found the secret location); Interview with City Council Member, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014 (describing local media that covered the construction of one shelter).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1078</sup> Interview with Shelter, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014 (describing their private, temporary security).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1079</sup> Interview with Shelter, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

police would not intervene unless he physically harmed her.<sup>1080</sup> In another case, a perpetrator kidnapped his stepchild from school and brought her to the shelter to upset the victim. He then attacked one of the shelter workers.<sup>1081</sup> Despite his actions and pending criminal charges, he retained visitation rights with his children.<sup>1082</sup>

In the absence of adequate security, some shelters resort to imposing their own measures on residents. In one shelter, the doors are locked at 3:00 p.m., and residents are not able to leave the building. This can result in residents being locked in for up to four days over holiday weekends.<sup>1083</sup>

### **LEGAL AID**

Domestic violence victims often need legal assistance, including help in preparing applications for protective measures, filing criminal complaints, seeking a divorce, or requesting child custody.<sup>1084</sup> Legal representation ensures that women are less likely to become discouraged with and abandon court proceedings.<sup>1085</sup> The 2017 LPDV states that victims of domestic violence have the right to free legal aid under a special law.<sup>1086</sup> As of September 2017, the Law on Free Legal Aid had not been adopted, however, and the current draft excludes NGOs as providers of free legal aid for domestic violence victims.<sup>1087</sup>

Legal aid is available through NGOs,<sup>1088</sup> CSWs,<sup>1089</sup> or municipalities.<sup>1090</sup> There are strict requirements to qualify for free legal aid.<sup>1091</sup> The qualification requirements, however, do not comport with the reality.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1080</sup> *Id.* Ultimately, after the victim temporarily left the safe house to go to work, the perpetrator attacked the victim with a hammer outside of her work and hanged himself. *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1081</sup> Interview with Shelter, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1082</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1083</sup> Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 25, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1084</sup> The Istanbul Convention requires States parties to "provide for the right to legal assistance and to free legal aid for victims under the conditions provided by their internal law." Council of Europe Convention on preventing and combating violence against women and domestic violence, Art. 57. At the time of the fact-finding missions, the Serbian government was in the process of drafting a law on Legal Aid that would increase the scope of covered individuals. Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014; Interview with Consultant, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015. <sup>1085</sup> As noted by one NGO: "It will be in vain if she gets the attention of the police and the prosecutor, but then she freezes the moment she faces the perpetrator in court. . . . . The little things that he will say in the court will

disturb her will cause her to start shaking and be unable to read. [The victims] need attorneys to represent them." Interview with NGO, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014. <sup>1086</sup> LPDV, Art. 30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1087</sup> Personal communications from NGO to The Advocates for Human Rights, via email, dated Nov. 3, 2016 and Sept. 8, 2017 (on file with authors).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1088</sup> Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014 (describing provision of legal advice, but not direction representation); Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014 (describing their obligation to provide legal aid to safe house residents as part of an intersectional agreement); Interview with NGO, Location B-2, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014 (describing role to provide information on civil and criminal cases and write complaints and charges for the court); Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014 (explaining that NGOs provide legal assistance, while CSW attorneys provide advice and recommendations); Interview with CSW, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014 (describing providing information about rights but referral to NGOs because CSWs do not provide legal aid); Interview with NGO, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014 (describing hiring attorneys to represent victims but does not have consistent funding for these services); Interview with NGO, Location B-2, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location B-1, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Shelter, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014.

As reported by one CSW, a monthly income of only 36,025 dinars (300 euros) disgualified one from free legal aid, <sup>1092</sup> even though legal fees for just one hearing could cost 150 euros. <sup>1093</sup>

Interviewees also reported several variations of "free" legal aid. Unfortunately, not all municipalities provide free legal aid.<sup>1094</sup> One municipality uses a sliding income scale; those on welfare do not pay, but others pay reduced fees.<sup>1095</sup> Full representation is not available for victims in all proceedings.<sup>1096</sup> In one location, the municipality provides assistance in writing petitions, but not in representing victims in court.<sup>1097</sup> When victims do qualify, the quality of legal representation may be insufficient for the services needed.<sup>1098</sup>

Because of these gaps, one judge observed that women who are economically dependent on their violent partners are most often unrepresented by attorneys in family court. In contrast, perpetrators almost always have legal representation.<sup>1099</sup>

This need has been filled, in part, by NGOs that provide free legal counseling to victims of violence.<sup>1100</sup> NGOs provide both civil and criminal representation to victims. One CSW interviewee praised the quality of services provided by NGO attorneys, noting they request better and broader legal protections for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1089</sup> Interview with CSW, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014 (explaining the CSW lawyer will write the petition for protective measures or file a criminal complaint if the victim is not able to initiate proceedings herself); Interview with City Council Member, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014 (stating the "CSW has a huge number if lawyers and they extend free legal aid to their users"); Interview with CSW, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014 (noting each CSW has legal aid); Interview with Shelter, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014 (explaining that lawyers at the CSW-run shelter were paid by the client's municipality of origin, but clients pay if employed).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1090</sup> Interview with CSW, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014 (explaining that, since 2010, the local chamber represents victims of domestic violence free of charge; 26 lawyers signed up to represent women in protective measures from violence, divorce proceedings, parental rights, and criminal proceedings); Interview with CSW, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014 (describing free legal aid for writing motions for protective measures, but no representation at court); Interview with City Council Member, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014 (describing a free legal aid office with two attorneys); Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B-1, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1091</sup> Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014 (noting how it rarely determines that it can provide free legal assistance). For example, a monthly salary of 300 euros would not qualify for free legal aid, but it is insufficient to be able to hire attorneys to assist with the process. Id. <sup>1092</sup> Interview with CSW, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1093</sup> Personal communication from NGO to The Advocates for Human Rights, via email, Nov. 19, 2017 (on file with authors). <sup>1094</sup> Interview with Consultant, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1095</sup> Interview with City Council Member, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014; Interview with Shelter, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014 (if employed, have to pay for services of CSW shelter lawyer).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1096</sup> Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014 (noting that legal aid at NGO is free, but costs a reduced fee at the ombudsman's office).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1097</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014. <sup>1098</sup> Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1099</sup> Interview with Family Law Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014 (noting that courts can present evidence even if not proposed by the prosecuting party, but this presumably only assists unrepresented parties if the judge is willing to take these steps).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1100</sup> Id. See also Women Against Violence Europe, Country Report 2013: Reality Check on European Services for Women and Children Survivors of Violence: A Right for Protection and Support? 2014, at 175.

victims than municipal legal aid attorneys.<sup>1101</sup> They have increased the number of volunteer attorneys by working with the local legal chamber.<sup>1102</sup> Reliance on the chamber can be uncertain, however, as one interviewee noted their local chamber had stopped supporting these measures.<sup>1103</sup>

At times, NGOs must curtail the breadth of services they can offer. One NGO does not always have financing to cover legal services and at times must turn victims away.<sup>1104</sup> Some NGOs collect funds from clients or attempt to recover fees from the perpetrator, which can be difficult.<sup>1105</sup> Others limit their services. One NGO provides free legal representation to victims in a particular municipality, but only legal advice and assistance with applications for protective measures to those outside that area.<sup>1106</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1101</sup> Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1102</sup> Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; Interview with Shelter, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 1103}$  Interview with City Council Members, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1104</sup> Interview with NGO, Location B-1, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1105</sup> Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1106</sup> Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

## **OTHER NGO VICTIM SERVICES**

The NGO sector is very important because you also have institutional violence against victims of domestic violence due to the lack of education of people working in the institutions. That's why I think the role of the NGO sector is bigger than the people from NGOs perceive. . . . That's why NGO people are here: to assist her, to mediate, and to [support her], to serve as people they can lean on, rely on, to fill in the holes and gaps in the system.

-NGO worker<sup>1107</sup>

NGOs fill important gaps where the government response is lacking, including counseling, hotlines, and tracking of domestic homicides. NGOs also educate the community and systems actors on women's rights<sup>1108</sup> and create informational materials, such as pamphlets for schools and libraries.<sup>1109</sup> In addition, NGOs conduct targeted workshops for vulnerable communities such as Roma women and rural women.<sup>1110</sup>

First, NGOs provide comprehensive counseling services to victims of domestic violence.<sup>1111</sup> NGO counseling covers not only the crisis situation that victims are in and safety plans, but also provides support in other areas of life, including access to benefits and social welfare, referrals to legal aid, and assistance in finding a job or a flat.<sup>1112</sup> NGOs that provide these services, however, have limited resources. Some are only able to provide these essential services because of volunteers and in-kind contributions from local governments.<sup>1113</sup> Despite these challenges, NGOs continue to provide needed support services to women.<sup>1114</sup>

Second, NGOs operate several SOS hotlines around the country and meet a large need.<sup>1115</sup> For example, one hotline received approximately 250 calls per month.<sup>1116</sup> These services are especially important in the absence of a national, free, state-funded hotline, but funding for these helplines was uncertain and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1107</sup> Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1108</sup> Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location B-2, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1109</sup> Interview with NGO, Location B-2, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1110</sup> Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1111</sup> Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015; Interview with NGO, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1112</sup> Interview with Shelter, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1113</sup> Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1114</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1115</sup> Interview with NGO, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015; Interview with NGO, Location B-2, Oct. 16, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014; Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014. The Istanbul Convention requires parties to "take the necessary legislative or other measures to set up state-wide round-the-clock (24/7) telephone helplines free of charge to provide advice to callers, confidentially or with due regard for their anonymity, in relation to all forms of violence covered by the scope of this Convention." Art. 24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1116</sup> Interview with NGO, Belgrade, Oct. 14, 2014.

piecemeal.<sup>1117</sup> Some hotlines receive partial financing from local municipalities.<sup>1118</sup> Others are funded exclusively by foreign donations and struggle to be included in local budgets.<sup>1119</sup> Volunteers staff other hotlines in the absence of reliable funding.<sup>1120</sup>

Changes to local laws on privacy have added a burdensome step for victims seeking helpline service. Previous laws permitted oral consent, but SOS hotlines must now ask victims to appear in person and give written consent. NGOs that do not obtain this written approval are subject to reports by local municipalities for violating the laws.<sup>1121</sup>

## **TRACKING FEMICIDES**

Between 26 and 32 women are killed each year by their partners, yet the government does not track, disaggregate, or report these statistics. To fill this gap, one NGO collects information through the media on femicides. Even these numbers do not reveal the full extent of femicides because they do not include victims whose deaths were not covered by the news.<sup>1122</sup>

NGOs also bring complaints on femicides to ombudspersons.<sup>1123</sup> These complaints seek to identify problems in the system's response to the victims and ask for accountability.<sup>1124</sup> In one example, the perpetrator killed his ex-girlfriend and committed suicide.<sup>1125</sup> The complaint noted prior reports to the police. One month before her murder, the perpetrator grabbed her from a restaurant, put her in his car, and drove her to the forest. A bystander followed them and saved the woman from being lit on fire by the perpetrator. After another violent incident, he was placed in a psychiatric hospital for one month. Upon his release, he stole his son's gun and killed his ex-girlfriend. The complaint identified police failures in this case and sought disciplinary measures against responsible persons.<sup>1126</sup> Unfortunately, the NGO did not have sufficient resources to write appeals to the ombudsperson for all femicides that occur in the country.<sup>1127</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1117</sup> A working group was established for a national hotline that was planned to start in May 2015. Interview with Republic Institute for Social Protection, Belgrade, Feb. 25, 2015. Discussions were ongoing on funding and who would manage the hotline. *Id.* As of July 2017, the National SOS Helpline had not been established. Personal communication from NGO to The Advocates for Human Rights, via email, July 14, 2017 (on file with authors). <sup>1118</sup> Interview with City Council Member, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014; Interview with Secretariat, Location F, Oct. 22,

<sup>2014.</sup> 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1119</sup> Interview with NGO, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1120</sup> Interview with NGO, Location B-2, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1121</sup> Interview with NGO, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1122</sup> Interview with NGO, Location B-2, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1123</sup> Interview with NGO, Location J, Feb. 23, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1124</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1125</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1126</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1127</sup> Id.

## DOCTORS

If they end up on the autopsy table, all of us lost the battle.

-Health Center<sup>1128</sup>

## **IMPLEMENTATION OF THE HEALTH PROTOCOL**

Health care providers are important first responders as they can link victims of domestic violence via referrals to services or the criminal justice system.<sup>1129</sup> Because victims may seek treatment for injuries, doctors may identify signs of domestic violence before anyone else.<sup>1130</sup>

Serbia's Ministry of Health (MoH) recognized this important role, and in 2010, adopted a special protocol for Serbia's health care sector to protect and treat women victims of violence.<sup>1131</sup> The protocol for health workers identifies prevention and intervention techniques, including identifying and documenting violence, conducting risk assessments, safety planning, making referrals, and undergoing training.<sup>1132</sup> Specifically, it includes a form for documenting domestic violence.<sup>1133</sup>

Interviews revealed inconsistent implementation of the Health Protocol.<sup>1134</sup> Health care professionals had not received sufficient training on the protocol. The protocol itself does not contain clear directives on what to do with the information collected, the MoH has not monitored its use, and there are no sanctions for failing to follow the protocol.

Interviewees reported varying levels of knowledge of the Health Protocol. Some had completed training on it, <sup>1135</sup> while others knew little to nothing about it. <sup>1136</sup> NGOs have stepped in to fill this gap. One

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1128</sup> Interview with Doctor, Location B-1, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1129</sup> Health care providers also play a role in the assessment and treatment of drug and alcohol addictions and mental health treatments.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1130</sup> Interview with Health Center, Location D, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1131</sup> Health Protocol, at 93 (cover letter); Interview with Ministry of Health, Belgrade, Feb. 23, 2015 (stating "Our special protocol was in place before the general protocol. Minister recognized the problem and that the idea caught on and each new minister recognized this was an important area").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1132</sup> Health Protocol, at 104-15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1133</sup> *Id.*, Annex 1, at 117.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1134</sup> Interview with Gender Equality Deputy Ombudsman, Belgrade, Oct. 16, 2014 (stating "even though [doctors] are the only ones that had the special protocols already, in practice they do not apply them"); Interview with Doctor, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014 (stating "it is not because they don't want to [implement the protocol] but in some situations, they may be worried about their own safety").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1135</sup> Interview with Health Care Center, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014. Urgent care physicians (i.e., emergency responders) also reported that they do not use the special protocol. Interview with Urgent Care Providers, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1136</sup> Interview with Emergency Doctor, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview with Doctor, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014; Interview with Health Center, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014. Interview with Health Center, Location D, Oct. 14, 2014 (explaining doctors use a form they developed on their own for reports); 2014 Special Report of the Ombudsperson, page 37; Interview with Urgent Care Doctor, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014 (stating "we don't know [about the protocol]. No one has told us"); Interview with Health Center, Location D, Oct. 15, 2014. *But see* Health Center, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014 (praising the Health Protocol). One institution reported a thorough training and

interviewee reported they learned of the protocol from an NGO training, not from the MoH.<sup>1137</sup> The lack of training on the Health Protocol indicates that doctors are not consistently following procedures to identify violence among their patients and make referrals.

The Health Protocol itself contains gaps and lacks clear directives. The Health Protocol and form do not instruct health care institutions on how to handle the completed forms.<sup>1138</sup> As a result, there is no protocol to provide the forms to those who collect data or for use in court proceedings, and responses are *ad hoc*. Some doctors send the form to an NGO that had not received direction to collect such information.<sup>1139</sup> Other doctors complete the forms, but only provide them to the court on request.<sup>1140</sup> Police reported they rarely receive this form.<sup>1141</sup> In one case, the police only received the form because the victim herself provided it to them.<sup>1142</sup> A doctor completed training on how to report domestic violence and who to notify, but admitted that "in reality, we write reports, and that is it."<sup>1143</sup>

Of particular concern is the fact that the Health Protocol does not direct doctors to provide a copy of the form to the victim. Without specific directions, health care providers' responses vary. Some health care providers claimed they automatically provide the victim with a report copy if she decides to report to the police,<sup>1144</sup> but this did not appear to be standard procedure.<sup>1145</sup> One health center reported they only provide a free copy when the victim requested it.<sup>1146</sup> Others provide the form to the victim but do not offer information on what to do with it.<sup>1147</sup>

The MoH has also not closely monitored implementation of the Health Protocol. One practitioner noted, "the Ministry did issue the protocol but isn't very interested in following the effects."<sup>1148</sup> The MoH explained that its officials change frequently, making it difficult to follow projects through to completion.<sup>1149</sup> Recording and tracking cases of domestic violence by the institutions themselves occurs

<sup>1139</sup> Interview with Health Center, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014.

implementation plan, with yearly education seminars, a prevention card published by the Ministry of Health to guide questioning, and an expert team for staff to approach with questions, but they were an outlier. Interview with Health Care Center, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1137</sup> Interview with Health Center, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1138</sup> Interview with Health Center, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014; The Ministry of Health noted its interest in revising the existing protocol to clarify instructions. Interview with Ministry of Health, Belgrade, Feb. 23, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1140</sup> Interview with Doctor, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1141</sup> Interview with Police, Location H, Oct. 24, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1142</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1143</sup> Interview with Emergency Doctor, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1144</sup> Interview with Health Center, Location D, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Doctor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1145</sup> Interview with Ministry of Health, Belgrade, Feb. 23, 2015; Interview with NGO, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; Interview with Urgent Care Doctor, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014 (noting it is provided without a request); Interview with Health Care Center, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014 (noting she does not receive a copy but has a right to all medical documents when authorities start a proceeding); Interview with Health Center, Location D, Oct. 14, 2014 (noting the victim should receive a copy of the form and not pay for a medical record); Interview with Doctor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015 (noting the victim always gets a copy).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1146</sup> Interview with Doctor, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1147</sup> Interview with Doctor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1148</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1149</sup> Interview with Ministry of Health, Belgrade, Feb. 23, 2015.

in limited ways. Some health care centers maintain a physical book of domestic violence cases, unconnected to any other system or the patient's medical file. This method inhibits information sharing when patients change providers and prevents statistical analysis on cases.<sup>1150</sup> One professional noted the only way to keep track of a patient who left was if he knew the new doctor.<sup>1151</sup>

Interviews with health care practitioners reflected confusion on their responsibility to collect data. Some centers acknowledged they are required to keep statistics on victims of domestic violence.<sup>1152</sup> Other health centers were unaware of data collection requirements and even surprised when the MoH requested data in September 2014 on the number of domestic violence reports.<sup>1153</sup> As one doctor recalled, "[w]e did not keep those records because nobody told us we should."<sup>1154</sup>

Between 40 to 70 percent of health care institutions submit reports under the protocol.<sup>1155</sup> Health care providers who resist using the protocol explained that it is administrative work or too timeconsuming.<sup>1156</sup> There is no penalty for those who do not follow the protocol. Furthermore, the MoH's oversight only extends to public institutions, excluding private health care providers from any direction it could provide.<sup>1157</sup>

Institutions have not prioritized technical collaboration on domestic violence. The Health Protocol form is not electronic and must be physically forwarded to the police, CSWs, prosecutors, and the MoH.<sup>1158</sup> Some health centers have electronic records, <sup>1159</sup> but they do not appear to be nationally centralized. Child abuse is recorded electronically in a central database, so it is theoretically possible to do so for adult domestic violence, as well.<sup>1160</sup>

## BARRIERS TO EFFECTIVE RESPONSES TO DOMESTIC VIOLENCE

#### Attitudes

[T]he entire environment and society puts pressure on the victim not to report the violence, and women often drop the cases even if they report the domestic violence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1150</sup> Interview with Doctor, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Health Center, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014 (noting they lack resources to have people convert the information to statistics). <sup>1151</sup> Interview with Health Center, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1152</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1153</sup> Interview with Doctor, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014. Others collect data. Interview with Health Care Center, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1154</sup> Interview with Doctor, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1155</sup> Interview with Ministry of Health, Belgrade, Feb. 23, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1156</sup> Interview with Gender Equality Ombudswoman, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014 (stating "we had a recent case where the doctors who was on duty during the night said that she did not have time to deal with the victim as she had been working all night"); Interview with Gender Equality Deputy Ombudsman, Belgrade, Oct. 16, 2014; Interview with Health Center, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1157</sup> Interview with Ministry of Health, Belgrade, Feb. 23, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1158</sup> Interview with Health Care Center, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1159</sup> Interview with Urgent Care Doctor, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1160</sup> Interview with Health Care Center, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014.

– Interview with Doctor<sup>1161</sup>

At times, doctors are simply unwilling to address domestic violence. A health practitioner explained, "A lot of people don't want to deal with this type of issue, especially when related to court and prosecutors. So they don't want to have additional burden in their work."<sup>1162</sup> One provider reported that doctors defer to patients' primary physician and advise them to "wait for your doctor to come back from vacation.' They will avoid this discomfort because it's not comfortable to work with."<sup>1163</sup> Another agreed, "They do not want to accept that [domestic violence] exists."<sup>1164</sup>

Other doctors described their fear of documenting domestic violence because of potential consequences. One doctor was afraid of reporting the incorrect person.<sup>1165</sup> Another interviewee reiterated this reluctance, stating that doctors are "afraid of doing something wrong" because they saw it as a sensitive and delicate issue.<sup>1166</sup> NGOs have helped fill this gap by providing basic training on domestic violence to some health care professionals,<sup>1167</sup> but NGOs lack the resources, capacity, and mandate to train all doctors.

These harmful attitudes prevent victims of domestic violence from receiving necessary care and assistance. In one example, a woman was physically abused in a public place. Her partner strangled her, twisted her arm, then dragged her toward their car. The police referred her to the health center, but she did not receive medical attention after waiting some time. When asked, the health center blamed the victim because she did not introduce herself to the doctor on duty and left the center. The head of the health center also suggested the victim should have gone to her family doctor instead.<sup>1168</sup>

#### **Domestic violence screenings**

The MoH has not made domestic violence trainings a priority.<sup>1169</sup> Training on screening and documenting domestic violence has been sporadic at best.<sup>1170</sup> Doctors are required to complete educational credits each year to maintain their licenses, but trainings on domestic violence are elective, not mandatory.<sup>1171</sup> All doctors are authorized to classify injuries,<sup>1172</sup> and there have been efforts to train

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1161</sup> Interview with Doctor, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1162</sup> Interview with Health Center, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1163</sup> Interview with Health Care Worker, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1164</sup> Interview with Doctor, Location B-1, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1165</sup> Interview with Doctor, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014; *see also* Interview with Health Center, Location D, Oct. 14, 2014 (stating "when we are part of a wider system and cooperate with courts and prosecutors, colleagues are afraid and they would go over the fact of domestic violence").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1166</sup> Interview with Doctor, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1167</sup> Interview with Health Center, Location D, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Health Center, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014; Interview with Health Center, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1168</sup> Interview with Gender Equality Ombudswoman, Novi Sad, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1169</sup> Interview with Ministry of Health, Belgrade, Feb. 23, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1170</sup> Interview with Doctor, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014; Interview with Emergency Doctor, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014 (stating "there was training during some conferences on emergency and internal medicine"); Interview with Urgent Care Providers, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014; Interview with Urgent Care Doctor, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014; Others indicated that only select doctors receive training, as those who attend trainings are expected to share information with their colleagues. Interview with Health Center, Location D, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1171</sup> Interview with Ministry of Health, Belgrade, Feb. 23, 2015; Interview with Doctor, Location B-1, Oct. 15, 2014.

medical students on clinical forensic examinations, which can be used to document domestic violence.<sup>1173</sup> Practicing doctors are not required, however, to complete this training,<sup>1174</sup>

#### **Heavy patient loads**

According to the Ombudsperson, health care providers specifically referenced workload as a barrier to fully serving victims of domestic violence under the Health Protocol.<sup>1175</sup> For example, doctors in an emergency center may perform 50 examinations in a single evening.<sup>1176</sup> In other hospitals, salary quotas compel doctors to see more patients. One doctor reported minimum quotas of 35 patients per day to qualify for an appropriate salary.<sup>1177</sup> In one treatment center, doctors have only fifteen minutes to both treat each patient and ask about domestic violence.<sup>1178</sup> Thus, even doctors who are willing to assist victims of domestic violence may be limited by the short amount of time they have.

### ADDITIONAL MEASURES TO PROTECT VICTIMS

Medical professionals do not always take adequate measures to safeguard the safety of victims. As directed by the Health Protocol, doctors should meet with patients without third parties present.<sup>1179</sup> Such separation allows victims the opportunity to speak freely with their doctor, if they choose, and doctors to provide them with additional information.

Medical professionals were inconsistent about whether they separate couples. Some invoke confidentiality to isolate patients<sup>1180</sup> but others insist there is "no way I can prevent the husband from coming with us."<sup>1181</sup> A doctor explained:

I had one case where a patient came with her abuser, but she did not say that she was a victim of domestic violence. It was our suspicion that she was a victim of domestic violence because she was scared, looked at her husband all the time and was reluctant to talk. She had visible injuries and came here because she had a headache and could not explain how she has sustained her injuries. Her husband would not leave her alone at any moment, even when we insisted that we wanted to speak to her alone. He refused to leave. I don't know what happened later, as the patient became the responsibility of the person responsible for dealing with her head injuries.<sup>1182</sup>

One professional, however, described his clinic's practice, which included steps to protect the woman:

<sup>1174</sup> Id.

<sup>1178</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1172</sup> Interview with Ministry of Health, Belgrade, Feb. 23, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1173</sup> Interview with Doctor, Location B-1, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1175</sup> 2014 Special Report of the Ombudsperson, §4.8.5, at 37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1176</sup> Interview with Health Center, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1177</sup> Interview with Health Care Worker, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1179</sup> Health Protocol, at 108.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1180</sup> Interview with Health Center, Location D, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1181</sup> Interview with Urgent Care Doctor, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1182</sup> Interview with Emergency Doctor, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014.

The moment we report grievous [bodily harm] . . .we will have the team here from the CSW and police. They will accompany her to exams, and the perpetrator will be put in detention right away. We will not let her go out of the center alone if [her safety] is not taken care of.<sup>1183</sup>

Also, medical professionals do not typically perform risk assessments or create safety plans with victims.<sup>1184</sup> Although the Health Protocol includes a risk assessment,<sup>1185</sup> only one interviewee mentioned using one to determine whether to send a victim to a safe house.<sup>1186</sup>

#### **Referrals to resources**

Referrals can help victims find needed support and assistance. Yet CSWs noted that fewer than ten percent of the referrals they received were from health care centers.<sup>1187</sup> The police also expressed concern about the low number of referrals they received from health institutions. One police interviewee reported receiving only two referrals related to domestic violence over several years.<sup>1188</sup>

A number of health care providers insisted they refer women to safe houses, the CSW, or police.<sup>1189</sup> However, medical providers often place the burden of requesting a referral on the woman, with one interviewee stating "it is upon her to tell us."<sup>1190</sup> Such expectations contradict the Health Protocol's directives to inform the patient about safe houses, hotlines, NGOs, and service providers.<sup>1191</sup> Only a few health care personnel mentioned discussing options with women regardless of whether they admitted to being a victim of domestic violence.<sup>1192</sup> Written materials that could facilitate referrals and information to victims are not always available. One medical group used referral brochures from the local NGO until the NGO ran out of funding.<sup>1193</sup>

#### **Mandatory reporting**

In more than ten percent of the cases, health care providers identify violence, but do not report it, and in some cases, they do not even record it, nor do they inform other bodies and institutions to that effect.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1183</sup> Interview with Health Care Center, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1184</sup> Interview with Emergency Doctor, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1185</sup> Health Protocol, at 112.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1186</sup> Interview with Health Care Center, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014; *see also* Interview with Doctor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015 (as a rule, ask questions, but not always directly).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1187</sup> Interview with CSW, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1188</sup> Interview with Police, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1189</sup> Interview with Urgent Care Doctor, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014; Interview with Doctor, Location C, Oct. 12, 2014; Interview with Doctor, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014; Interview with Health Care Center, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014. Other medical professionals reported referring patients to domestic violence hotlines, but offered no other resources or referrals. Interview with Health Care Center, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1190</sup> Interview with Doctor, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014 (provide information on safe houses if the victim says she wants to go to one); Interview with Emergency Doctor, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014 (stating "we only intervene if the victim has nowhere else to go").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1191</sup> Health Protocol, at 113.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1192</sup> Interview with Health Care Center, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1193</sup> Interview with Urgent Care Providers, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014; Interview with Urgent Care Doctor, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014 (noting there are no brochures to provide victims).

-Special Report of the Protector of Citizens<sup>1194</sup>

Serbian law and policy on mandatory reporting of domestic violence is not clear, and this has led to inconsistent practices by health care providers. Article 332 of the Criminal Code provides that officials or authorized persons who do not report certain criminal offenses are subject to imprisonment of six months to five years.<sup>1195</sup> This includes abuse leading to serious injury, serious impairment of health, or death of a family member.<sup>1196</sup> The Criminal Code includes an exception from punishment for physicians with respect to reporting criminal offenses.<sup>1197</sup> The Health Protocol, however, does not reflect this exception.

Interviews revealed that doctors disagree on their obligation to report domestic violence to authorities. Some medical professionals said they are required to report, even without victim consent.<sup>1198</sup> Other interviewees indicated that there is no obligation to report domestic violence to the police,<sup>1199</sup> while others stated they are exempt from reporting light injuries.<sup>1200</sup> Others report domestic violence in all cases.<sup>1201</sup>

Providers rely on victim consent in different ways. Some interviewees report serious injuries without the victim's consent.<sup>1202</sup> Other health care providers stated that they are legally prohibited from reporting without a woman's consent.<sup>1203</sup> One interviewee explained they need "absolute consent of the patient.

<sup>1199</sup> Interview with Emergency Doctor, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1194</sup> 2014 Special Report of the Ombudsperson, page 4, ¶21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1195</sup> Criminal Code, Art. 332, subd. 2 (describing reporting for offenses that are punishable under law by five or more years of imprisonment).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1196</sup> *Id.*, Art. 194 (3)-(4). *See also* Health Protocol, at 112 (stating "doctors shall report the following offenses: abuse in the family if leading to serious bodily injury or serious impairment of health or was inflicted on a minor or has resulted in death of the family member").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1197</sup> Criminal Code, Art. 332, subd. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1198</sup> Interview with Urgent Care Doctor, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014 (stating "we are required by the law to report any case of physical injuries regardless of the cause of the injury. We are not required to do it when someone fell because there was no one else involved in that"). However, there may be many reasons that a victim chooses not to identify the source of her injuries, and if doctors are not properly trained in identifying domestic violence or providing appropriate referrals to potential victims, this is a gap that leaves victims unprotected because they may not receive referrals to the police in situations of grievous injuries or services or safe houses that they may decide to use in the future.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1200</sup> Interview with Health Center, Location B-2, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Emergency Doctor, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014; *see also* Interview with Health Care Center, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1201</sup> Interview with Health Center, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014; Interview with Urgent Care Doctor, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1202</sup> Interview with Health Care Center, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014 (stating "if we identify grievous bodily injuries that threaten her life in a way ... right away and without the consent of the women, we report it to the police"); Interview with Health Center, Location D, Oct. 14, 2014 (stating "in the case of serious bodily harm, then doctors are obliged to inform police"); Interview with Health Care Center, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014 (explaining if the injuries are serious, her consent is not needed); Interview with Doctor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015 (stating "if someone's life is threatened, when there is high risk, when the risk assessment is high [I have a duty to notify the police], but even then, I will inform her [that I am providing the notice]"); Interview with Doctor, Location B-1, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview with Health Center, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1203</sup> Interview with Doctor, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014 ("[a]ccording to the law on patient confidentiality, they have a right to keep their data private."); see also Interview with Health Center, Location B-2, Oct. 14, 2014 (doctor would

So I can't force her, but I can inform her of rights and possibilities, inform, and give advice."<sup>1204</sup> Another provider only reports domestic violence with patient consent, but might "exert some pressure" to get it.1205

Such practices may deter victims from speaking openly with and reporting violence to their doctor for fear doctors will document their words or report to the CSW if treating an injured child.<sup>1206</sup> Uncertainty has also caused doctors fear of being sued if they report without authority. One health center requested direction from the court on how to proceed when there is no consent.<sup>1207</sup> As a result, practitioners are likely to be cautious and not report cases to the police.<sup>1208</sup>

#### **EVIDENCE**

Medical professionals also play an important role in perpetrator accountability through the medical reports they provide to the police, prosecutors, and courts.<sup>1209</sup> A Gender Equality Ombudsperson explained, "If the prosecutor's office does not have enough proof and facts pointing to the victim suffering violence, they will not go before the court. So [the protocol form] is not just administrative work, but it is important work that helps the victim."<sup>1210</sup>

Medical reports are valued as evidence in court proceedings. Without medical certificates, courts are not able to determine whether the injury was grievous or light, <sup>1211</sup> which affects criminal charges and convictions.<sup>1212</sup> Judges and prosecutors place heavy reliance on this evidence when they question victim credibility: "If there are injuries and medical certificates, then it's obvious that there was physical

include information in the patient's file to be later available to the doctor or to the victim, if needed, but not to doctors who may be covering for her on vacation); Interview with Doctor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015 (if no legal obligation, I think that privacy should be respected. Do not provide a copy of the protocol form directly to the police, but they are informed that physical injuries occurred); Interview with Health Care Center, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014 (Doctors identify light or grievous bodily injury based on physical exam, and Article 332 of the Criminal Code requires mandatory reporting of grievous injuries or risk to health); Interview with Doctor, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1204</sup> Interview with Health Center, Location D, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1205</sup> Interview with Doctor, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1206</sup> Interview with NGO, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1207</sup> Interview with Doctor, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014 (also noting that consent not required if there is an official request from the court or public prosecutor); Interview with Doctor, Location C, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1208</sup> Doctors also exhibited hesitation to report because of the impact it may have on their medical practice. One interviewee stated, "If you call the police, victims take their medical records and go to another health center." Interview with Health Center, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1209</sup> Medical reports also help victims with applications for protective measures in Family Law courts. One Family Law Judge indicated that they would grant an ex parte order for protective measures if there were injuries and the victim provided medical documentation and there was a police report. Interview with Family Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; see also Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-1, Oct. 13, 2014 (explaining if the victim submitted a detailed medical record, the court may issue protective measures without witness testimony); Interview with Family Law Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014 (explaining they can use reports from health centers because they do not have forensic reports). <sup>1210</sup> Interview with Gender Equality Deputy Ombudsman, Belgrade, Oct. 16, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1211</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1212</sup> Criminal Code, Art. 194(1), (3).

DOCTORS

violence, and the victim is telling the truth."<sup>1213</sup> According to one judge, "The victim goes to the doctor and gets confirmation of the injuries suffered, and we use the certificate issued by the doctor. This is different than cases where it is 'word against word.'"<sup>1214</sup>

Medical reports can also form the basis for a prosecution when the victim will not testify.<sup>1215</sup> One criminal judge recalled a case where "we had medical documentation and she refused to testify, and he was convicted in the end."<sup>1216</sup> But without this evidence or testimony, charges are dropped.<sup>1217</sup> Even if there are other witnesses, without victim testimony or medical documentation, authorities will end the case. 1218

#### Health protocol form

Reflecting the importance of medical reports in prosecution, the Health Protocol includes a detailed form for health care providers to use when diagnosing and treating a domestic violence victim. The Health Protocol form includes a diagram where doctors can identify the location of injuries, as well as describe injuries.<sup>1219</sup>

Health care providers do not consistently use the form in domestic violence cases, because it is not legally mandated or they do not know it exists.<sup>1220</sup> Instead, some providers use a less-detailed, general medical certificate that applies to a variety of cases.<sup>1221</sup> A forensic doctor explained the impact of providing less detail, "In the other, [non-forensic] medical center, the doctor does not have time to do such a detailed report. Normally the doctor will just say 'a couple of bruises.' In court, this does not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1213</sup> Interview with Misdemeanor Judges, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014; see also Interview with Family Law Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1214</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Misdemeanor Judge, Location [B-2], Oct. 17, 2014 (stating "medical records are the most important evidence we can have").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1215</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014 (stating "an acquittal is certain unless maybe there is a medical finding"); Interview with Prosecutor, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; Interview with Criminal Judge, Location B-2, Oct. 16, 2014 (observing it is common that family members will not testify); Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1216</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1217</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014 (stating "[W]e know that the trial will be unsuccessful if there is no [medical] documentation"). <sup>1218</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-2, Oct. 13, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1219</sup> Health Protocol, Annex 1, at 117-22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1220</sup> Interview with Urgent Care Providers, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014; see also Interview with Emergency Doctor, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview with Urgent Care Doctor, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014; Interview with Health Center, Location D, Oct. 14, 2014 (noting the form has not been adopted in the law on health security); Interview with Doctor, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014 (noting the form is not included in the law on health protection); Interview with Doctor, Location B-1, Oct. 15, 2014 (noting use of the form is not mandatory). One prosecutor noted that they had never seen the Health Protocol medical form. Interview with Prosecutor, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014. Another indicated that they did not receive the form in all cases. Interview with Deputy Public Prosecutor, Location I, Feb. 27.2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1221</sup> Interview with Urgent Care Doctor, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014; Interview with Emergency Doctor, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview with Ministry of Health, Belgrade, Feb. 23, 2015.

work."<sup>1222</sup> Where doctors explain such light bodily injuries, however, the court can use this information as evidence.<sup>1223</sup>

Clear medical evidence can support effective prosecutions, and police cited the need to improve the information that doctors recorded. Police complained, "We lack in our practice good medical reports where all the injuries are described properly...[in our health or emergency centers] only short descriptions of injuries are provided."<sup>1224</sup> The need for detailed reports is underscored by the fact that the examining doctor who wrote the less-detailed, general report may not testify in court. Instead, forensic experts may testify based on their review of the medical report.<sup>1225</sup> If the medical report is not sufficiently detailed, the forensic expert may have no independent knowledge to bolster his or her findings.<sup>1226</sup>

#### Injury classification and qualification

Forensic expert testimony and medical reports help prosecutors qualify the injuries for charging purposes<sup>1227</sup> or to establish the cause of the injuries.<sup>1228</sup> Detail in the medical report and evaluation of injuries affects the qualification of the injury as light or serious. As described by one interviewee:

She said that she was strangled. It was manual strangulation. The boundary between serious and not serious is the loss of consciousness. It can occur from the lack of oxygen and because the blood vessels are pressed. If consciousness was lost, it means that the person was in danger for her life. If she does not lose consciousness, it is a light injury, but if she has very obvious bruising on her neck, it is a very important warning that the next attack could be fatal.<sup>1229</sup>

Interviewees disagreed over whether doctors merely should describe and classify the injury medically or draw conclusions about the legal classification of the injury, which affects the charges.<sup>1230</sup> One practitioner deferred to the courts and stated, "Our job is to say the injury and then after that, it is up to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1222</sup> Interview with Doctor, Location B-1, Oct. 15, 2014. *See also* Interview with Police, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014; 2014 Special Report of the Ombudsperson, at 15, §3 (the protocol form "is important for uniform documenting of violence by health workers, and is of great forensic and medical importance.") and at 28, §4.6 (citing to Protector of Citizens document with recommendations, no. 13-3575/12 of 20.08.2013, ref. no. 23407).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1223</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1224</sup> Interview with Police, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1225</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014; Interview with Emergency Doctor, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview with Urgent Care Doctor, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1226</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location H, Oct. 23, 2014 (stating "we have no problem with the expertise processes. It may be a problem sometimes when injuries are not well described").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1227</sup> Interview with Deputy Prosecutor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1228</sup> Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014 (stating "doctors need to qualify the injury [as

light/grievous]" and involve medical expert witnesses to establish the cause of the injuries).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1229</sup> Interview with Doctor, Location B-1, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1230</sup> Interview with Urgent Care Doctor, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014 (noting they describe the injuries and means by which the injuries were inflicted and may indicate a suspicion of domestic violence if very obvious). Patients may be sent to multiple specialists for up to 3 or 4 days to classify injuries. Interview with Health Center, Location D, Oct. 14, 2014.

DOCTORS

the court to determine whether it is light injury or serious injury."<sup>1231</sup> Police, prosecutors, and judges, meanwhile, claimed that only doctors could classify light or grievous bodily injury.<sup>1232</sup> With health care sectors expecting the justice system to classify injuries and vice versa, this creates a gap in consistent injury classification for charging purposes.

#### **Forensic doctors**

All health professionals, not just forensic specialists, can perform forensic examinations and compose valid medical documents with appropriate training.<sup>1233</sup> A forensic doctor indicated that forensic professionals do not need to be involved in every case and other medical providers should play a role:

In the beginning of domestic violence, the injuries are not so serious, and it is really easy to make this report: three bruises, four abrasions, but it is an important time for prevention. . . . All general practitioners and surgeons should be doing this besides the treatments. It is up to the Minister of Health to make that not an option but their duty.<sup>1234</sup>

With only four forensic institutes in the entire country, these institutes are not easily accessible for all women.<sup>1235</sup> Access to forensic doctors is even more sharply limited, since they only work between 8 a.m. and 2 p.m., and patients are expected to schedule appointments in advance to meet them during that limited time window.<sup>1236</sup>

Moreover, the costs of a forensic examination may be out of reach for many victims. If a woman requests a forensic exam herself, rather than being referred by a prosecutor,<sup>1237</sup> she must pay for the exam.<sup>1238</sup> A forensic doctor reported costs of 3,000 dinars (25 euros) for producing the record and 2,500 dinars (21 euros) for the doctor fee, which could be waived.<sup>1239</sup> Others estimated costs as high as 10,000 dinars (approximately 80 euros) for a forensic exam and report,<sup>1240</sup> which is approximately 30 percent of an average monthly salary in Serbia.<sup>1241</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1231</sup> Interview with Doctor, Location B-1, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1232</sup> Interview with Criminal Judge, Location A-1, Oct. 13, 2014; Interview with Police, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with Prosecutor, Location F, Oct. 20, 2014 (stating "doctors need to qualify the injury and if nobody disagrees with their classification of the injury, we can read the report and we consider it to be true as an established fact"). Some police, however, stated that urgent care doctors never qualify or grade injuries, and only forensic medicine has the authority to provide a detailed report. Interview with Police, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014. <sup>1233</sup> Health Protocol, at 112.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1234</sup> Interview with Doctor, Location B-1, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1235</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1236</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1237</sup> If there are serious injuries, prosecutors require a forensic medical report. Interview with Prosecutor, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1238</sup> Interview with Doctor, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1239</sup> Interview with Doctor, Location B-1, Oct. 15, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1240</sup> Interview with Police, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1241</sup> Serbia Wages, Trading Economics, <u>https://tradingeconomics.com/serbia/wagesm</u>, last visited Sept. 8, 2017.

The simple act of taking photographs demonstrates how doctors can perform many of the tasks of forensic doctors. The Health Protocol indicates that doctors should take photographs where possible.<sup>1242</sup> Systems actors described the importance of photographic medical evidence to hold offenders accountable. For example, a police officer compared the detail between a forensic report and the medical reports from an urgent care doctor and a general practitioner. The general practitioner indicated "she was facing domestic violence and she had problems with swallowing as he choked her." The urgent care report stated she had bruises on her neck but did not include photos. In contrast, the forensic report included five photographs with detailed descriptions, which allowed the prosecutor to corroborate her statements with respect to strangling and sexual assault. As a result, prosecutors prepared criminal charges against the perpetrator.<sup>1243</sup> Despite their important role, health care providers outside of forensic centers uniformly reported they never take photographs of injuries.<sup>1244</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1242</sup> Health Protocol, at 111.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1243</sup> Interview with Police, Location D-1, Oct. 14, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1244</sup> Interview with Doctor, Location F, Oct. 21, 2014 (stating "we don't have cameras to do that"); Interview with Emergency Doctor, Location B-2, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview with Doctor, Location E, Oct. 15, 2014; Interview with Urgent Care Doctor, Location F, Oct. 22, 2014 (deferring to police to take photos); Interview with Health Care Center, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014; Interview with Health Center, Location D, Oct. 14, 2014; Interview with Health Center, Location G, Oct. 21, 2014; Interview with Urgent Care Providers, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014 (stating "our law does not regulate [permit] it"); Interview with Police, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014 (deferring to police to take photos).

# **INTER-AGENCY ACTIONS**

Interviews revealed an increased focus on improving formal cooperation among sectors involved in responses to domestic violence. These activities have occurred on the local level in certain locations for several years.<sup>1245</sup> The General Protocol and Special Protocols have established specific actions for the police, CSWs, doctors, educational institutions, public prosecutors, and the courts, <sup>1246</sup> including regular meetings and discussion of specific cases.<sup>1247</sup> The General Protocol also enumerates participants in the local cooperation agreements.<sup>1248</sup> Women's NGOs are not specifically listed, but are signatories to some local agreements.<sup>1249</sup> Their omission overlooks the critical role NGOs play, however, and one participant attributed the success of their interagency coordination to groups like their women's NGO.<sup>1250</sup>

Under the protocols, CSWs take a leadership role in coordinating the community response to ensure institutions' actions are "timely and holistic" and meet victims' needs.<sup>1251</sup> The protocols direct CSWs to lead the creation and signature of local cooperation agreements on the local level, act as case leads, and host case conferences.<sup>1252</sup> By late 2014, the Ministry of Social Policy reported that 99 CSWs had established the multi-sectoral teams called for under the special protocol, while 11 were not familiar with the requirement.<sup>1253</sup> The ministry planned to follow up with those 11 CSWs on the protocol.<sup>1254</sup> The multi-sectoral teams also needed to create their own procedures on how they will operate. Some interviewees reported that procedures had been created; others were uncertain.<sup>1255</sup>

Moreover, the protocols address holding conferences on specific cases. Individual case conferences are a step forward that fosters information sharing among multiple agencies, but gaps identified in one case may not result in changes throughout the system. Directing interagency efforts toward overall, systemic change remains an area for development.

The 2017 LPDV includes provisions that require police, public prosecutors, courts, and CSWs to exchange information on a variety of cases, including domestic violence.<sup>1256</sup> The LPDV establishes, in each public prosecutor's office, a group for cooperation that includes representatives from the public prosecutor's office, the police, and CSWs.<sup>1257</sup> These groups are required to meet at least every 15 days to discuss new

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1245</sup> Interview with CSW, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014 (describing developing the first local protocol between 2006 and 2008); Interview with Doctor, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1246</sup> General Protocol, Section 7, at 20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1247</sup> Judicial Protocol, Section 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1248</sup> General Protocol, Section 7, at 20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1249</sup> Interview with CSW, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1250</sup> Interview with Health Center, Location H, Oct. 22, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1251</sup> General Protocol, at 28; CSW Protocol, Section 1, at 37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1252</sup> General Protocol, Section 9.9, at 27; CSW Protocol, Section 2, at 68.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1253</sup> Interview with Minister of Social Policy, Belgrade, Oct. 18, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1254</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1255</sup> Interview with Republic Institute for Social Protection, Belgrade, Feb. 25, 2015; Interview with Police, Location G, Oct. 20, 2014; Interview with CSW, Location I, Feb. 27, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1256</sup> LPDV, Art. 24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1257</sup> *Id.,* Art. 25.

reports of domestic violence, establish protection plans for the victims involved, and discuss ongoing cases.<sup>1258</sup> Of note, the LPDV does not require the group to invite representatives from organizations working with victims of domestic violence when discussing a victim's protection plan;<sup>1259</sup> however, the group is required to invite the victim if she requests to participate and is able to do so.<sup>1260</sup>

The new law also seeks to improve data collection. The LPDV requires the creation of a Central Register of information from the police, public prosecutor, basic courts, and CSWs on reported cases of domestic violence, emergency measures, and protective measures; however, only public prosecutors have access to all of the information.<sup>1261</sup> At the time of publication, the Central Register had not been established.<sup>1262</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1258</sup> *Id.*, Arts. 25-27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1259</sup> *Id.*, Art. 25 (meetings may be attended, where appropriate).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1260</sup> LPDV, Art. 31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1261</sup> *Id.*, Art. 32-33. The police, courts, and CSWs have limited access to the available information.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1262</sup> Personal communication from NGO to The Advocates for Human Rights, via email, Sept. 8, 2017 (on file with authors).

# **CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS**

Serbia has the legal structure to respond to domestic violence and comply with its international and regional obligations to protect victims and hold perpetrators accountable. It has taken significant steps to expand this legal structure over the last 15 years, since it first criminalized domestic violence in 2002, and it should be commended for being one of the first countries in its region to ratify the Istanbul Convention.

Nevertheless, gaps remain in its laws and practices to meet its obligations more effectively. The Advocates for Human Rights and Autonomous Women's Center provide the following recommendations to improve Serbia's response and implementation of its laws:

## PARLIAMENT

- As a matter of urgency, adopt legislation that ensures **accessible and free legal aid** for victims of domestic violence, including the Law on Free Legal Aid, that allows and funds NGOs to be legal aid providers.
- Adopt measures specifically intended to protect domestic violence victims throughout the duration of criminal proceedings and ensure that no contact orders are implemented in practice.
- Amend the Criminal Code to **disallow the use of rehabilitation** for domestic violence offenders.
- Amend the Family Law to **prohibit mediation and reconciliation** in divorce proceedings where there is domestic violence.
- Amend the LPDV in accordance with the commentary in Appendix B.
- Ensure the provision of **adequate resources to support NGOs** that serve victims of domestic violence.
- Establish and adequately fund a **national, free, 24-hour SOS hotline** for victims of domestic violence run by a coalition of NGOs that work with women victims of domestic violence.
- With regard to victim services, **amend privacy laws** that prevent NGOs from providing immediate helpline services to victims and that require victims' written consent to use those services.
- Consider the creation of multi-agency **domestic violence fatality review teams** that include NGOs that work with women victims of domestic violence to identify domestic violence homicides, identify gaps in the criminal justice system, and make recommendations to address those problems.
- Establish mandatory standards for batterer intervention programs based on best practice standards and consultations with NGOs who work with women victims of domestic violence.<sup>1263</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1263</sup> The Advocates for Human Rights, *Recommendations for Effective Batterer Intervention Programs in Central & Eastern Europe & the Former Soviet Union*, 2016.

## **MINISTRY OF THE INTERIOR**

- Support efforts to ensure that police officers have adequate professional support for their work to positively implement the LPDV and ensure steady implementation of the law across the entire country.
- Require **regular training on domestic violence for police** that is based on best practices and provided in consultation with or led by NGOs that serve domestic violence victims. Such activities should train and direct police to describe and document **physical injuries**, identify predominant aggressors, conduct effective and ongoing **risk assessments**, and implement relevant legislation, including the LPDV.
- Ensure appropriate **staffing and resources** to ensure victims receive services identified by law and the Special Protocol.
- **Develop written tools** for police responding to domestic violence incidents to carry and regularly monitor how police provide reports to specialized domestic violence officers.
- Ensure all police districts maintain **official records** under the requirements of the Special Protocol, Law on Police, LPDV, and other relevant laws.
- Continue training, develop written tools, and direct police to **conduct investigations** that support evidence-based prosecutions.
- **Provide security mechanisms for shelters and safe houses** to protect those who live and work there from threats or attacks from perpetrators.

## **MINISTRY OF JUSTICE**

- Require regular training on domestic violence for judges and prosecutors that is based on best practices and provided in consultation with or led by NGOs that serve domestic violence victims. Trainings should address dynamics and causes of domestic violence, sensitivity to victims, preparation and evaluation of risk assessments, victim recantation, use of self-defense, promotion of victim safety, and the laws relating to domestic violence, including the LPDV.
- Provide adequate resources to support the **specialization and training** of justice systems actors, including prosecutors and judges, in cases involving adult domestic violence.
- Ensure appropriate **staffing and resources** to ensure victims receive services identified by law and the Special Protocol.
- Develop systems to **facilitate communications** among police, prosecutors, and judges to ensure sharing of information regarding criminal and misdemeanor arrests, charges, prosecutions, Family Law protective measures, and LPDV measures.
- **Promote effective coordination** among family law judges, CSWs, executive judges, prosecutors, and police to ensure police receive information on orders for Family Law protective measures and agencies refer violations for prosecution as criminal offenses.
- Establish comprehensive, **national data tracking** of domestic violence reports, complaints, convictions, acquittals, and sentences. Undertake measures to:
  - Include data under the LPDV, criminal, misdemeanor, and family laws.
  - Ensure this information is accessible to the judicial systems, including in cases of rehabilitation;

- Systematically track criminal and misdemeanor sentences by article, gender, and relationship between the defendant and the injured party.
- Undertake measures to ensure that all murders committed as a result of domestic violence are tracked, including by incorporating indicators of "domestic violence" and "method of homicide" into existing crime data tracking and reporting systems.

## **MINISTRY OF HEALTH**

- Amend the Special Protocol to direct health care providers to give a **copy of completed medical reports** to the patient.
- Disseminate **informational materials on services and referrals** for victims of domestic violence in all health centers.
- Conduct **regular monitoring of health care institutions** to ensure all providers are properly trained in domestic violence and effectively implementing the Special Protocol and LPDV.
- Ensure appropriate **staffing and resources at health care institutions** to ensure victims receive services identified by law and the Special Protocol.
- Amend Ministry of Health procedures and laws to **require all doctors to implement the form** from the special protocol and impose sanctions on doctors who do not use it.
- Track data at a national level relating to cases of domestic violence.

## **MINISTRY OF SOCIAL POLICY**

- Ensure appropriate **staffing and resources at CSWs** to ensure victims receive services identified by law and the Special Protocol.
- Establish a **standardized risk assessment tool** for social workers and provide training on its use and the development of a **safety plan**.
- Review current financial assistance levels with a view to providing a sufficient and consistent level of financial support for victims of domestic violence that is available on the national and local levels.
- Establish a **mandatory screening mechanism** for CSWs to use to identify domestic violence in divorce cases.
- Provide sufficient resources to CSWs to expedite the preparation of **opinions and recommendations** relating to applications for protective measures to ensure their timely issuance.
- Provide training and a standardized form, including a standardized risk assessment, for CSW workers to draft their opinions, in consultation with NGOs that serve domestic violence victims,.
- Expand the number of **shelter and safe house beds** to meet Council of Europe recommendations.
- **Remove barriers for women seeking to enter a shelter or safe house**, including fees or requirements for women to take certain legal actions against their perpetrators. Prohibit the denial of entry into shelter and safe houses based on victims' region or ethnic origin.
- **Provide security mechanisms for shelters and safe houses** to protect those who live and work there from threats or attacks from perpetrators.

## POLICE

- Ensure ongoing training, in consultation with or led by NGOs that serve domestic violence victims, on the relevant legislation and dynamics of domestic violence, including:
  - Procedures under the Special and General Protocols and the LPDV, including the list of questions to collect information
  - Coercive control;
  - o Investigation and evidence collection;
  - Returning to visit the victim 36-72 hours after the incident to check her status, photograph newly appearing injuries, follow up with any new problems that have arisen since the last point of contact, such as the return of the perpetrator or victim needs with work, daycare, and housing;
  - o Completion of a written report on incidents of domestic violence;
  - Predominant aggressor determinations;
  - Best practice protocols to handle gone-on-arrival cases, which includes checking on the victim in the first 24 hours and locating a safe place for her if she is at risk at her home.
  - Provision of information to victims on their rights and resources.
- Treat and respond to all reports of domestic violence as urgent, without assessment of the caller's "veracity."
- Immediately **cease the use of warnings** in cases of domestic violence.
- Conduct thorough investigations and evidence collection that support evidence-based prosecutions, i.e. gather all evidence necessary for prosecution without dependence on the victim's court testimony;
- Complete a written report for all alleged incidents of domestic violence.
- Provide equipment and training to police officers to take photographs of injuries for use in legal proceedings.
- Offer victims-**transport** or arrange for her transport to a health care facility, shelter, or other safe place.
- Provide victims with written information on her rights, referrals to victim services, case status in misdemeanor or criminal proceedings, including any police initiation of misdemeanor proceedings.
- Undertake measures to ensure **police access to offenders' prior history**, records of Family Law orders for protective measures, and records of LPDV emergency measures.
- Ensure meaningful and consistent police participation in local **inter-agency responses**, including the Group for Coordination and Cooperation as set forth in the LPDV.
- **Provide security mechanisms for shelters and safe houses** to protect those who live and work there from threats or attacks from perpetrators.

## **PROSECUTORS**

• Ensure **ongoing training**, in consultation with or led by NGOs that serve domestic violence victims, on dynamics of domestic violence, victim absent prosecutions, risk assessment,

emergency measures under the LPDV, and other best practices with regard to domestic violence.

- Designate at least one prosecutor per municipality to specialize in domestic violence cases under the LPDV.
- Adopt a policy that directs prosecutors to **pursue domestic violence cases**, regardless of the level of injury or evidence, when there is sufficient evidence to support a conviction. Such a policy should be accompanied by trainings for prosecutors and police in how to collect and use evidence, such as photos, recorded statements, medical reports, and neighbor and family reports, with the anticipation victim testimony may not be available.
- Treat crimes involving domestic violence as or more seriously than other crimes and take measures to expedite these cases.
- Implement a policy that promotes **victim-absent prosecutions** in cases of victim recantation or refusal to testify. Prosecutors should pursue all domestic violence cases independent of victim cooperation, and use expert testimony to demonstrate to the court why victims recant or refuse to testify against the defendant.
- Ensure the collection of evidence to support **evidence-based prosecutions** with a view to promoting prosecutions that are not dependent on victim testimony. Evidence should include witness statements, photographs of injuries and the scene, forensic and medical documentation, call records, and other documentation of a history or reports of abuse, such as CSW reports.
- **Pursue all violations of Family Law civil protective measures** independent of and in addition to any other violence committed by the perpetrator.
- Initiate early contact with the victim to promote her safety, explain the prosecution proceedings, and obtain information that police may not have found.
- **Refrain from deferral** in all cases involving domestic violence.
- Ensure that when **psychosocial treatment** is ordered, that such programs are effective and offender participation is monitored.
- **Propose sentences** in domestic violence cases that are commensurate with the gravity of crimes of violence against women and promote sanctions that are comparable to those for other violent crimes.
- In cases where suspended sentences are imposed, propose **protective supervision** measures with the aim of protecting the victim, including a prohibition against visiting locations or events, in the context of the victim's stated wishes and the risk to her safety. Ensure victims have access to a trained service provider to assess her risk to help inform this decision.
- Consistently enforce protective supervision by **revoking probation** in cases of non-compliance with protective supervision measures.
- Upon sentencing, propose **security measures** to protect victims, including restraining orders and confiscation of objects, such as weapons.
- Promote victim safety:
  - during victim testimony by granting vulnerable witness status to domestic violence victims under the Criminal Procedure Code;

- o providing a separate and secure waiting area for victims in the courthouse;
- throughout criminal proceedings by proposing relevant measures to secure the defendant, including detention and a restraining order.
- Keep victims regularly informed of the status of proceedings and their rights, including court support systems to protect them as victims or vulnerable witnesses, and other victim resources.
- Apply for **Family Law civil protective measures** on behalf of victims where victims have provided informed consent to do so or the victim is unable to apply for a protective measure on her own.
- **Partner with community groups** that support domestic violence victims to promote victims' access to services and basic needs resources.
- Ensure meaningful and consistent participation in **local interagency responses**, including the Group for Coordination and Cooperation as set forth in the LPDV.

## **CRIMINAL JUDGES**

- Ensure training of all criminal judges, in consultation with or led by NGOs that serve victims, on the dynamics of domestic violence, the LPDV, best practices in domestic violence, and the implementation of the Ministry of Justice Special Protocol.
- Assign high priority to domestic violence cases and take measures to expedite them.
- Grant prosecutors' requests for **measures to secure the defendant's presence** that can protect victims of domestic violence. Upon confirmation of the indictment, proactively issue measures to secure the defendant's presence that protect victims of domestic violence, including a restraining order or detention.
- Impose sentences for domestic violence that are commensurate with the gravity of crimes of violence against women, are comparable to those for other violent crimes, including prison sentences. To this end, for domestic violence cases:
  - **Limit suspended sentences to cases where victim safety is not an issue**, including for violations of protective measures;
  - **Refrain from imposing fines** that punish victims who share joint financial resources with their perpetrators.
- If a suspended sentence is ordered in a domestic violence case, issue **protective supervision measures**, including the prohibition to visit special places.
- Upon conviction, **impose security measures**, including a restraining order and confiscation of weapons, in domestic violence cases with the aim of protecting the victim.
- Conduct **ongoing and effective risk assessments** based on best practice standards, such as using all appropriate and available sources to obtain information, avoiding eliciting safety or risk information from victims in open court, informing victims about the risk assessment and referrals to victim services and resources.
- Analyze effectiveness and enforcement of **criminal sentences** and the impact of sentences in recidivism rates.
- Refrain from using confrontation in all domestic violence cases.
## **MISDEMEANOR JUDGES**

- Establish and support a **specialized misdemeanor bench** dedicated to domestic violence cases and ensure an adequate number of judges and appropriate resources.
- Analyze effectiveness and enforcement of **misdemeanor sentences** and the impact of sentences in recidivism rates.
- Assess the effectiveness of the **precautionary measures of addiction and psychiatric treatments** with respect to reducing recidivism.
- Refrain from using confrontation in all domestic violence cases.

## **FAMILY LAW JUDGES**

- Ensure **ongoing training**, in consultation with or led by NGOs that serve domestic violence victims, on the dynamics of domestic violence, mechanisms for service of process, risk assessments, burdens of proof, and evidentiary requirements in family law proceedings, including the appropriate use of CSW reports.
- Refrain from using **confrontation** in Family Law proceedings.
- In consultation with NGOs that serve victims, develop and **distribute information** on Family Law civil protective measures, victims' rights, and referrals to services and resources.
- Conduct ongoing and effective **risk assessments** based on best practice standards (e.g., using all appropriate and available sources to obtain information, avoiding eliciting safety or risk information from victims in open court, providing information to victims about referrals to victim services and resources).
- Where requested or indicated by a risk assessment, **order all possible measures** as requested to protect the victim, including eviction, and issue other necessary protective measures that have not been requested but are deemed necessary.
- Where service is completed and the **respondent does not appear for a hearing**, issue the protective measures based on the victim's petition if there is sufficient evidence for a finding of domestic violence.
- Ensure the pronouncement of orders for Family Law protective measures at hearings to eliminate procedural gaps that allow perpetrators to delay their enforcement.
- **Issue interim measures** on the basis of the victim's fear of imminent danger of domestic violence.
- Establish and communicate the expectation of **full and timely information from CSWs, police, and prosecutors** in cases of Family Law protective measures and violations thereof.
- Require judges to **separately screen all parties to divorce proceedings** for domestic violence.
- Establish a system by which all **orders for protective measures are immediately transmitted** to CSWs, police, and prosecutors to ensure their implementation and the immediate enforcement of violations under Article 194(5) of the Criminal Code.
- Refrain from conducting **mediation or reconciliation** in divorce cases involving domestic violence.

## **CSWS**

- Ensure **ongoing training**, in consultation with or led by NGOs that serve domestic violence victims, for all CSW staff, on:
  - Preparation of applications for protective measures with the victim's consent;
  - Information they must provide to all victims with respect to their rights;
  - Impact of mutual child custody in situations of domestic violence; and
  - Preparation of opinions and recommendations relating to applications for protective measures and their timeframes.
- Conduct **ongoing risk assessment** that uses appropriate risk assessment tools, the practitioner's own expertise, the offender's history, and the victim's perception of the risk.
- Ensure that **victims of domestic violence participate** in the assessment of their needs and consent to the services they receive.
- Expand the good practice of establishing **job placement programs** for victims of domestic violence.
- Ensure meaningful and consistent CSW participation in **local inter-agency responses**, including the Group for Coordination and Cooperation as set forth in the LPDV.

## DOCTORS

- Require all doctors, medical students, and health care providers to complete mandatory and regular training on the Special Protocol and the identification and documentation of domestic violence cases, including:
  - Treating patients who may be victims of domestic violence, following a gender-sensitive, survivor-woman-centered, and human rights-based approach;
  - Recognizing and understanding the signs of domestic violence, including understanding coercive control and asking questions about domestic violence in cases of clinical symptoms that may suggest potential domestic violence;
  - Gathering the patient's medical history and conducting a medical examination;
  - Reporting requirements, including the harms of mandatory reporting without informed consent by the victim;
  - Referring victims to additional resources;
  - Using follow-up appointments to assess the patient's well-being;
  - o Discussing basic safety measures, risk assessments, and safety plans with patients;
  - Providing follow-up care.
- Require all doctors and medical students to **complete forensic training** to document and classify injuries and training on the completion of the Special Protocol form.
- Ensure that medical certificates or reports, including forensic reports, are available for free.
- Allocate resources to provide health care centers with **photography equipment and training on how to document physical injuries**, to supplement other means of documentation.
- Ensure the infrastructure to protect **privacy**, **safety**, **and confidentiality of patients**, including private consultation rooms and requirements that consultations be held without a partner or third party present.

- Provide for **electronic completion of medical records** and the Special Protocol form to promote efficiency in reporting, sharing, and maintaining records.
- Display and also make available in private hospital areas **informational materials** on domestic violence and services for victims.
- Ensure meaningful and consistent health care participation in **local inter-agency responses.**

## **INTER-AGENCY ACTIONS**

- **Incorporate NGOs** who work with victims of domestic violence in the coordination and cooperation meetings established under the LPDV when they request to participate.
- Continue to **foster the development of inter-agency coordination** and also incorporate the identification of **systemic problems** and a mechanism through which to correct them.
- Ensure **compliance with best practice standards** of an interagency response, including paying attention to risk, context, and severity; engaging with victims on an ongoing basis; ensuring swift and sure consequences for continued abuse; and reducing unintended consequences.

## **APPENDIX A. EXCERPTS OF LAWS**

Unofficial translations unless otherwise noted.

# Criminal Code (Official Gazette of RS, Nos. 85/2005, 88/2005, 107/2005, 72/2009, 111/2009, 121/12, 104/13, 108/14, 94/16)

## Article 4(3)), Criminal Sanctions and their General Purpose

(3) A criminal sanction may not be imposed on a person who has not turned fourteen at the time of the commission of an offence. Rehabilitation measures and other criminal sanctions may be imposed on a juvenile under the conditions prescribed by a special law.

## Article 43, Types of Punishment

The following sanctions may be pronounced to a perpetrator of criminal offence:

1) imprisonment;

2) fine;

3) community service;

4) revocation of driver's license.

## Article 64, Purpose of Suspended Sentence and Judicial Admonition

(1) Cautionary measures are suspended sentence and judicial admonition.

(2) Within the general purpose of criminal sanctions (Article 4, paragraph 2), the purpose of a suspended sentence and judicial admonition is not to impose a sentence for lesser criminal offences to the offender who is guilty when it may be expected that an admonition with the threat of punishment (suspended sentence) or a caution alone (judicial admonition) will have sufficient effect on the offender to deter him from further commission of criminal offences.

## Article 65, Suspended Sentence

(1) By suspended sentence, the court determines punishment of the offender and concurrently determines that it shall not be enforced provided the convicted person does not commit a new offence during a period set by the court, which may not be under one or longer than five years (probationary period).

(2) The court may order in a suspended sentence that the penalty shall be enforced if the convicted person fails to restore material gain acquired through commission of the offence, fails to compensate damages caused by the offence or fails to fulfil other obligations provided in provisions of criminal legislation. The court shall set the time for fulfilling such obligations within the specified probationary period.

(3) Security measures ordered together with suspended sentence shall be enforced.

## Article 66, Requirements for Pronouncing a Suspended Sentence

(1) A sentence of imprisonment of under two years may be suspended.

(2) For criminal offences punishable by imprisonment of ten years or more severe penalty, the sentence may not be suspended.

(3) A suspended sentence may not be pronounced when more than five years have elapsed from the time the sentence pronounced to a perpetrator for premeditated criminal offence became final.
(4) In determining whether to pronounce a suspended sentence the court shall, having regard to the purpose of suspended sentence, particularly take into consideration the personality of the offender, his previous conduct, his conduct after committing the criminal offence, degree of culpability and other circumstances relevant to the commission of crime.

(5) If both a term of imprisonment and a fine are imposed, only the prison sentence may be suspended.

#### Article 71, Suspended Sentence with Protective Supervision

(1) The court may order protective supervision of an offender under suspended sentence during probation.

(2) Protective supervision includes assistance, care and protection measures provided by law.

(3) If the court establishes during the course of protective supervision that the purpose of this measure has been achieved, it may terminate protective supervision before the expiry of the specified time period.

(4) If a convicted person under protective supervision fails to fulfil the obligations ordered by the court, the court may caution such person or may replace the previous obligation by another or extend protective supervision within the probation period or revoke the suspended sentence.

#### Article 72, Requirements for Ordering Protective Supervision

When pronouncing a suspended sentence, the court may order protective supervision of the offender if, considering his personality, previous conduct, attitude after committing of the offence and particularly his attitude towards the victim of the offence and circumstance of its commission, it may be assumed that protective supervision would enhance achieving the purpose of suspended sentence.
 The court orders protective supervision in the judgement pronouncing suspended sentence and determines measures of protective supervision, duration and manner of implementation thereof.

#### Article 73, Protective Supervision

Protective supervision may comprise one or more of the following obligations:

1) reporting to competent authority for enforcement of protective supervision within periods set by such authority;

2) training of the offender for a particular profession;

3) accepting employment consistent with the offender's abilities;

4) fulfilment of the obligation to support family, care and raising of children and other family duties;

5) refraining from visiting particular places, establishment or events if that may present an opportunity or incentive to re-commit criminal offences;

6) timely notification of the change of residence, address or place of work;

- 7) refraining from drug and alcohol abuse;
- 8) treatment in a competent medical institution;

9) visiting particular professional and other counselling centres or institutions and adhering to their instructions;

10) eliminating or mitigating the damage caused by the offence, particularly reconciliation with the victim of the offence.

#### Article 78, Purpose of Security Measures

Within the general purpose of criminal sanctions (Article 4, paragraph 2), the purpose of security measures is to eliminate circumstances or conditions that may have influence on an offender to commit criminal offences in future.

## Article 79, Types of Security Measures

(1)The following security measures may be ordered to offenders:

- 1) compulsory psychiatric treatment and confinement in a medical institution;
- 2) compulsory psychiatric treatment at liberty;
- 3) compulsory drug addiction treatment;
- 4) compulsory alcohol addiction treatment;

5) prohibition from practising a profession, activity or duty;

6) prohibition to drive a motor vehicle;

- 7) confiscation of objects;
- 8) expulsion of a foreigner from the country;
- 9) publication of the judgement;
- 10) restraining orders against approaching and communicating with the injured party,
- 11) bans on attending certain sporting events.

(2) Under the conditions prescribed by this Code, certain security measures may be imposed on a mentally incompetent person who committed an unlawful act provided under law as a criminal offence (Article 80, para 2).

## Article 80, Ordering Security Measures

(1) Where grounds under this Code exist, the court may impose one or more security measures on an offender.

(2) Compulsory psychiatric treatment and confinement in a medical institution and compulsory psychiatric treatment at liberty shall be imposed as an individual sanction on a mentally incompetent criminal offender. In addition to these measures, ban on practising certain professions, activities or duties, bans on driving a motor vehicle and confiscation of objects may also be ordered.

(3) Measures specified in paragraph 2 of this Article may be ordered to an offender whose mental capacity is substantially impaired, if under pronouncement of a penalty or suspended sentence.

(4) Compulsory drug addiction treatment, compulsory alcohol addiction treatment, bans on practising a particular profession, activity or duty, bans on driving a motor vehicle, confiscation of objects and publication of judgements may be ordered if the offender is under pronouncement of penalty, suspended sentence, judicial admonition or if the offender is remitted from punishment.

(5) Expulsion of a foreigner from the country and ban to attend certain sporting events may be pronounced if an offender is under pronouncement of penalty or suspended sentence.

(6) A restraining order prohibiting physical proximity and communication with the injured party may be made if an offender has been sentenced to a fine, community service, revocation of a driving license, or if he has received a suspended sentence or judicial admonition."

(7) For joinder of criminal offences a security measure shall be ordered if determined for one of the offences in joinder.

## Article 89a, Restraint to approach and communicate with the injured party

(1) The court may prohibit an offender from approaching the injured party at a specified distance, from accessing the area surrounding the injured party's residence or place of work, and further harassment of the injured party, *i.e.* further communication with the injured party, provided it is reasonable to believe that any such further action taken by the offender would pose a threat to the injured party.

(2) The court shall determine the duration of the measure specified in paragraph 1 of this Article, which may not be less than six months or more than three years, calculating from the date of final decision, with the proviso that time spent in prison and/or medical institution wherein the security measure was enforced is not calculated into the duration of this measure.

(3) The measure referred to in paragraph 1 hereof may be revoked before it has expired should grounds on which it was imposed have ceased to exist.

## Article 97, General Concept of Rehabilitation

(1) Rehabilitation shall delete conviction and terminate all legal consequences thereof, and the convicted person shall be deemed with no criminal record.

(2) Rehabilitation occurs either by virtue of law itself (legal rehabilitation) or by petition of the convicted person pursuant to decision of the court (judicial rehabilitation).

(3) Rehabilitation shall not prejudice the rights of third parties deriving from the conviction.

## Article 98, Legal Rehabilitation

(1) Legal rehabilitation may be granted only to persons who, prior to conviction in respect of relevant rehabilitation, had no prior convictions or are by law considered without prior convictions.(2) Legal rehabilitation ensues if:

1) the person convicted but remitted of a penalty, or under pronouncement of judicial admonition, does not commit any new criminal offence within one year after the judgement becomes final;

2) the person under a suspended sentence does not commit any new criminal offence during probation period and within one year after the end of probation;

3) the person sentenced to a fine, community service, revocation of driving licence or imprisonment up to six months does not commit any new criminal offence within the period of three years after the penalty is enforced, is under statute of limitations or remitted;

4) the person sentenced to imprisonment of six months to one year does not commit any new criminal offence within the period of five years after the penalty is enforced, is under statute of limitations or remitted.

5) the person sentenced to imprisonment of one to three years does not commit any new criminal offence within the period of ten years after the penalty is enforced, is under statute of limitations or remitted.

(3) Legal rehabilitation shall not ensue if the secondary penalty has not been enforced or if security measures are still in force.

## Article 99, Judicial Rehabilitation

(1) Judicial rehabilitation may be granted to a person sentenced to imprisonment of three to five years, if within the period of ten years after such sentence is served, is under statute of limitations or remitted, that person does not commit a new criminal offence.

(2) In the case referred to in paragraph 1 this Article, the court shall grant rehabilitation if it finds that the convicted person deserves rehabilitation due to his conduct and if, according to his financial abilities, he has compensated for the damages caused by his criminal offence, and the court is obliged to take into consideration all other circumstances of relevance for granting rehabilitation, and particularly the nature and significance of the offence.

(3) Judicial rehabilitation may not be granted if a secondary penalty has not yet been enforced or if security measures are still in force.

## Article 112, Meaning of Terms for the Purpose of this Code

•••

(28) A family member shall mean spouses, their children, spouses' progenitors in the direct line, common law partners and their children, adoptive parents and adopted children, foster parents and foster children. A family member shall also mean siblings, their spouses and children, former spouses, their children and parents of the former spouses if they live in the same household, as well as persons who have a child together or who have conceived a child even though they have never lived together in the same household.

## Article 114, Aggravated Murder

Whoever:

• • •

10) causes death of a member of his family whom he previously abused;

. . .

shall be punished with imprisonment from thirty to forty years.

## Article 122, Light Bodily Injury

(1) Whoever causes light injury or minor health impairment, shall be punished with fine or imprisonment of up to one year.

(2) If the injury is caused by a weapon, dangerous implement or other means suitable to inflict serious injury or serious health impairment, the offender shall be punished with imprisonment up to three years.

(3) A court may pronounce judicial admonition to the perpetrator referred to in paragraph 2 of this Article, if he was provoked by rude or violent conduct of the injured party.

(4) Prosecution for the offence referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article shall be instituted by private action.

## Article 125, Endangerment

(1) Whoever leaves another without assistance in a state or circumstances dangerous to life or health that he induced, shall be punished with imprisonment from three months to three years.

(2) If the act specified in paragraph 1 of this Article results in serious health impairment or grievous bodily harm of the abandoned person, the offender shall be punished with imprisonment from one to five years.

(3) If the act specified in paragraph 1 of this Article results in death of the abandoned person, the offender shall be punished with imprisonment from one to eight years.

(4) If the offence referred to in paragraphs 1 through 3 hereof has been perpetrated against a minor or a pregnant woman, the offender shall be punished with imprisonment of six months to five years for the offence from paragraph 1, with imprisonment of one year to eight years for the offence from paragraph 2, and with imprisonment of two to twelve years for the offence from paragraph 3.

## Article 138, Endangerment of Safety

(1) Whoever endangers the safety of another by threat of attack against the life or body of such person or a person close to him/her, shall be punished with fine or imprisonment up to one year.

(2) Whoever commits the offence specified in paragraph 1 of this Article against several persons or if the act has caused disturbance of the general public or other serious consequences, shall be punished with imprisonment of three months to three years.

. . .

## Article 138a, Persecution

(1) Whoever, during a certain period of time:

1) without authorization follows or take other actions aimed at the physical approximation of another person against the will of that person;

2) contrary to the will of another person is trying to establish contact with him directly, through a third party, or through the means of communication;

3) is abusing the personal information of another person or a person close to him for the sake of offering goods or services;

4) threatens to attack the life, body or freedom of another person or a person close to him;

5) takes other similar actions in a way that may significantly jeopardize the personal life of the person against whom action is taken,

shall be punished by a fine or imprisonment up to three years.

(2) If the offense referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article caused danger to life, health or body of the person against whom the offense is committed or the person close to him, shall be punished with imprisonment from three months to five years.

(3) If the offense referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article has caused the death of another person or a close relative, the perpetrator shall be punished with imprisonment from one to ten years.

#### Commentary: this article was recently added and entered into force on June 1, 2017.

#### Article 178, Rape

(1) Whoever forces another to sexual intercourse or an equal act by use of force or threat of direct attack against the body of such or other person, shall be punished with imprisonment from five to twelve years.

(2) If the offence specified in paragraph 1 of this Article is committed under threat of disclosure of information against such person or another that would discredit such person's reputation or honour, or by threat of other grave evil, the offender shall be punished with imprisonment from two to ten years.(3) If the offence specified in paragraphs 1 and 2 of this Article resulted in grievous bodily harm of the person against whom the offence is committed, or if the offence is committed by more than one person or in a particularly cruel or particularly humiliating manner or against a juvenile or the act resulted in pregnancy, the offender shall be punished with imprisonment from five to fifteen years.

(4) If the offence specified in paragraphs 1 and 2 of this Article results in death of the person against whom it was committed or if committed against a child, the offender shall be punished with imprisonment of minimum ten years.

Commentary: paragraph 1 of this article was amended and the minimum penalty increased from three to five years. This amendment entered into force on June 1, 2017.

#### Article 182a, Sexual Harassment

(1) Whoever sexually harasses another person shall be punished by a fine or imprisonment up to six months.

(2) If the offense in paragraph 1 of this Article is committed against a minor, the offender shall be punished with imprisonment of three months to three years.

(3) Sexual harassment is any verbal, non-verbal or physical conduct which has the purpose or effect of violating the dignity of persons in the area of sexual life, and which causes fear or creates a hostile, humiliating or offensive environment.

(4) Prosecution for the offense specified in paragraph 1 of this Article shall be undertaken by motion.

#### Commentary: this article was added and entered into force on June 1, 2017.

#### Article 194, Domestic Violence

(1) Whoever by use of violence, threat of attacks against life or body, insolent or ruthless behaviour endangers the tranquillity, physical integrity or mental condition of a member of his family, shall be punished with imprisonment of three months to three years.

(2) If in committing the offence specified in paragraph 1 of this Article weapons, dangerous implements or other means suitable to inflict serious injury to body or seriously impair health are used, the offender shall be punished with imprisonment from six months to five years.

(3) If the offence specified in paragraphs 1 and 2 of this Article results in grievous bodily harm or serious health impairment or if committed against a minor, the offender shall be punished with imprisonment from two to ten years.

(4) If the offence specified in paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 of this Article results in death of a family member, the offender shall be punished with imprisonment from three to fifteen years,

(5) Whoever violates a measure against domestic violence that was imposed on them by the court in accordance with the law shall be punished with imprisonment from three months to three years and a fine.

Commentary: "that regulates family relations" added after "law" in paragraph 5, as of June 1, 2017.

## Article 332, Failure to Report a Criminal Offence or Offender

(1) Whoever knows that another person has committed a criminal offence punishable under law by thirty to forty years imprisonment or only knows of such offence and fails to report it before the offence or perpetrator thereof are detected, shall be punished by imprisonment up to three years.

(2) An officer or a responsible person who knowingly omits to report a criminal offence of which he became aware in the performance of his duties, provided that under the law the offence in question is punishable with imprisonment of five years or more, shall be punished with imprisonment of six months to five years.

(3) An official or responsible person who knowingly fails to report a criminal offence of his subordinate who committed the offence in discharge of his official, military or work duty, if such an offence is punishable by imprisonment of thirty to forty years, shall be punished by imprisonment of one to eight years.

(4) A spouse, common-law spouse, lineal blood relative, sibling, adoptive parent or adoptee of the offender as well as a spouse of any of the former or person cohabiting with any of the former, as well as the offender's defence attorney, doctor or confessor shall not be punished for the offence specified in paragraphs 1 and 2 of this Article.

## Article 334, False Reporting

Whoever reports a person of committing an offence prosecuted *ex officio*, while aware that such person is not the offender, shall be punished by imprisonment of three months to three years.
 Whoever plants traces of a criminal offence or otherwise causes criminal proceedings to be instituted for an offence prosecuted *ex officio* against a person whom he is aware is not the perpetrator of that offence shall be punished with imprisonment of six months to five years.

(3) Whoever reports himself as perpetrator of an offence prosecuted *ex officio* although aware that he is not the offender, shall be punished by fine or imprisonment up to one year.

(4) The penalty specified in paragraph 3 of this Article shall also be imposed on whoever reports commission of an offence prosecuted *ex officio* although aware that such an offence has not been committed.

## Criminal Procedure Code (Official Gazette no. 72/2011, 101/2011, 121/2012, 32/2013, 45/2013, and 55/2014)

## Article 5, Taking the Start of Prosecution

For offenses which are prosecuted *ex officio*, the authorized prosecutor is the public prosecutor, and for criminal offenses which are prosecuted privately the authorized prosecutor is a private prosecutor. Criminal prosecution begins:

1) by the first action of the public prosecutor or authorized officials of the police at the request of the public prosecutor, undertaken in accordance with this Code to check the grounds for suspicion that a criminal act or that a person has committed a criminal offense;

APPENDIX A

2) by submission of a private prosecution.

If the Public Prosecutor declares that he is abandoning prosecution (Article 52), he may be replaced by a subsidiary prosecutor, under the conditions prescribed by this Code.

#### Article 43, The Rights and Duties of Public Prosecutor

The basic right and the basic duty of the public prosecutor is to prosecute offenders.

For offenses which are prosecuted *ex officio*, the public prosecutor is authorized to:

1) direct the pre-trial proceedings;

2) decide on the non-prosecution or disposal;

3) conduct an investigation;

4) conclude plea agreements and agreements on testimony;

5) file and represent prosecution before the competent court;

6) drop the charges;

7) appeal against court decisions which are not final and submit extraordinary legal remedies against final court decisions;

8) undertake other actions as prescribed by this Code.

#### Article 89, Confronting the defendant

The defendant may be confronted with a witness or another defendant, if their statements do not agree on the facts that are the subject of proof.

The persons confronting each other are placed facing each other and are asked by the authority conducting the procedure to one another repeat their accounts on each disputed circumstance and to discuss the veracity of their statements. The course of confrontation and statements made by the confronted persons will be entered into record by the authority conducting the proceedings.

## Article 94, Exemption from the duty to testify

The following are released from the duty of giving evidence:

1) the defendant's spouse or common-law spouse or other person with whom the defendant lives in a common law marriage or other permanent association;

2) the defendant's blood relatives in the direct line, collateral relatives to the third degree, and in-laws to the second degree ;

3) adopter and adoptees of the defendant.

Juveniles who are in view of their age and mental development not capable of understanding the significance of the right not to have to testify may not be questioned as witnesses, except if the defendant so demands.

The authority conducting proceedings is required to caution the person referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article that he does not have to testify before questioning or as soon as it learns about his relationship with the defendant. The caution and reply are entered into record.

A person with valid grounds to decline to testify in connection with one of the defendants is relieved of the duty to testify in connection with all the other defendants, if by the virtue of his testimony it cannot be limited only to the other defendants.

## Article 99, Confrontation of Witnesses

The witness may be confronted with another witness or defendant if their statements do not agree on the facts that are the subject of proof.

In the confrontation of witnesses shall apply the provisions of Article 89, paragraph 2 of the Code.

#### Article 102, Basic Protection

The authority conducting the proceedings shall protect an injured party or witness from insults, threats and any other attacks.

The public prosecutor or the court will caution a participant in proceedings or other person who, before the authority conducting proceedings insults an injured party or a witness, threatens him or endangers his safety, and the court may also fine him up to 150,000 dinars.

An appeal against a ruling imposing a fine is decided on by the panel. The appeal does not stay the execution of the ruling.

Upon receiving notification from the police or the court or on its own knowledge of the existence of violence or serious threats against the injured party or witness, the public prosecutor will prosecute or notify the competent public prosecutor.

The public prosecutor or the court may require the police to take measures to protect the injured party or a witness in accordance with the law.

#### Article 103, Particularly Vulnerable Witness

The authority conducting proceedings may *ex officio*, at the request of parties or the witness himself, designate as an especially vulnerable witness a witness who is especially vulnerable in view of his age, experience, lifestyle, gender, state of health, nature, the manner or the consequences of the criminal offence committed, or other circumstances.

The decision on determining the status of especially vulnerable witness is issued by a public prosecutor, the presiding judge or an individual judge.

If it deems it necessary to protect the interests of an especially vulnerable witness, the authority conducting proceedings referred to in paragraph 2 of this Article shall issue a decision on setting up a proxy to the witness, and a public prosecutor or the court will appoint an attorney in the order from the list of lawyers to the court submitted by the competent bar association for determination of the assigned counsel (Article 76).

No special appeal is allowed against a ruling approving or denying a request.

#### Article 104, The Rules of Questioning Particularly Vulnerable Witness

An especially vulnerable witness may be examined only through the authority conducting the proceedings, who will treat the witness with particular care, endeavoring to avoid possible detrimental consequences of the criminal proceedings to the personality, physical and mental state of the witness. Examination may be conducted with the assistance of a psychologist, social worker or other professional, which will be decided by the authority conducting proceedings.

If the authority conducting proceedings decides to examine an especially vulnerable witness using technical devices for transmitting images and sound, the examination is conducted without the presence of the parties and other participants in the proceedings in the room where the witness is located.

An especially vulnerable witness may also be examined in his dwelling or other premises or in an authorised institution professionally qualified for examining especially vulnerable persons. In such case the authority conducting proceedings may order application of the measures referred to in paragraph 2 of this Article.

An especially vulnerable witness may not be confronted with the defendant, unless the defendant himself requests this and the authority conducting proceedings grants the request, taking into account the level of the witness's vulnerability and rights of defence.

No special appeal is allowed against a ruling referred to in paragraphs 1 to 3 of this Article.

#### Article 188, Types of Measures

Measures that can be taken against the accused for securing his presence and for the smooth conduct of criminal proceedings are:

- 1) calls [summonses];
- 2) Bringing [a defendant in];

3) prohibition of approaching, meeting or communicating with a particular person and visiting certain places;

- 4) house arrest;
- 5) guarantee [bail];
- 6) ban on leaving the apartment;
- 7) detention.

#### Article 191, Content of Call [Summons]

The presence of a defendant in criminal proceedings is secured by summoning him. Summonses are issued to the defendant by the public prosecutor or the court.

A defendant is summoned by the delivery of a sealed written summons containing: the title of the authority conducting proceedings issuing the summons, first name and surname of the defendant, legal designation of the criminal offence with which he is charged, place where the defendant is to appear, date and time when he is to appear, remark that he is being summoned in the capacity of defendant and caution that in case of a failure to appear a harsher measure referred to in Article 188 of this Code will be ordered against him, official seal and first name and surname of the public prosecutor or judge issuing the summons.

#### Article 193, Calling Participants in the Proceedings

Before the indictment is filed, the public prosecutor summons witnesses, experts and other participants in the proceedings, and if the public prosecutor fails to do so, at the request of the defendant and his counsel, the summons is issued by the preliminary hearing judge.

After the indictment, the participants in the proceedings referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article is summoned by the court, or by parties and the defense counsel, if they undertake to do so.

When a minor who is under 16 is summoned as a witness, the summons is made through his or her parents or legal guardian, unless this is not possible because of the need to act urgently, or for other reasons.

A participant in the proceedings avoiding the receipt of a summons may be fined up to 150,000 dinars. The ruling on the fine is issued by the court.

An appeal against the ruling referred to in paragraph 4 of this Article is decided on by the panel. An appeal does not stay execution of the ruling.

The provisions of paragraph 4 of this Article shall not apply to a minor.

#### Article 195, The Order

The public prosecutor or the court may issue an order that the defendant be brought in:

1) if a duly summoned defendant fails to appear, without justifying his absence;

2) if service of the summons could not be performed, and the circumstances obviously indicate that the defendant is evading the receipt of a summons;

3) if a ruling ordering detention has been issued.

The order referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article shall be issued in writing. The order shall include the name and surname of the defendant who is to be brought in, place and year of birth, legal name of the offense with which he is charged with specifying the provisions of the criminal code, the reason for ordering the defendant to be brought in, the official seal and signature of the public prosecutor or judge who ordered the defendant to be brought in.

#### Article 196, The Execution of Orders for Bringing a Defendant In

The order under Article 195, paragraph 1 of the Code is executed by the police.

An authorised police officer entrusted with the execution of the order referred to in Article 195 paragraph 1 of this Code serves the order to the defendant and calls him to come with him. If the defendant refuses, he will bring him in by force.

. . . .

#### Article 197, The Conditions for Determining

If there are circumstances indicating that the accused might interfere with the process by influencing the victim, witnesses, accessories or accomplices or could repeat the criminal offense, complete an attempted criminal offense or to commit a criminal act in question, the court may prohibit the defendant approaching, meeting or communicating with a particular person or prohibited from visiting certain places.

In addition to the measure referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article, the court may order the defendant to report periodically to the police commissioner of the state administration body responsible for the enforcement of criminal sanctions or other state body specified by law.

#### Article 198, Deciding on the Extent

The court decides on ordering the measure referred to in Article 197 of this Code on a motion by the public prosecutor, and after the indictment is confirmed, also *ex officio*.

During the investigation, a reasoned decision on ordering, extending or terminating the measures referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article is issued by the judge for preliminary proceedings, and after the indictment is filed, by the president of the chamber, and at the trial, by the panel. If the measure was not proposed by the public prosecutor, and the proceedings are conducted for a criminal offense that is prosecuted *ex officio*, the opinion of the public prosecutor will be sought before the decision is rendered.

In the ruling pronouncing the measure referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article the defendant will be cautioned that a harsher measure (Article 188) may be ordered against him if he violates the prohibition ordered against him. The ruling is also delivered to the person in relation to whom the measure against the defendant was ordered.

The measure referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article may last for as long as a need for it exists, but not longer than the time of the final judgment, or the commitment of the defendant to serve a custodial criminal sanction. The court is required to examine once every three months whether the measure is still justified.

The parties and defence counsel may appeal against a ruling ordering, extending or repealing the measure referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article. The public prosecutor may also appeal against a ruling denying a motion for ordering the measure. An appeal does not stay execution of the ruling.

Control of the application of the measure referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article is performed by the police.

#### Article 211, The Reasons for Custody

Detention may be ordered against a person for whom there exists grounded suspicion that he has committed a criminal offence if:

1) he is in hiding or his identity cannot be established or in the capacity of defendant he is clearly avoiding appearing at the trial or if there exist other circumstances indicating a flight risk;

2) there exist circumstances indicating that he will destroy, conceal, alter or falsify evidence or traces of a criminal offence or if particular circumstances indicate that he will obstruct the proceedings by exerting influence on witnesses, accomplices or concealers;

3) particular circumstances indicate that in a short period of time he will repeat the criminal offence, or complete an attempted criminal offence, or commit a criminal offence he is threatening to commit; 4) the criminal offence with which he is charged is punishable by a term of imprisonment of more than ten years or a term of imprisonment of more than five years for a criminal offence with elements of violence, or he has been sentenced by a court of first instance to a term of imprisonment of five years or more, and the way of commission or the gravity of consequences of the criminal offense have disturbed the public to such an extent that this may threaten the unimpeded and fair conduct of criminal proceedings.

In the case referred to in paragraph 1 item 1) of this Article, detention ordered solely because the identity of the person cannot be established lasts only until that identity is established, and detention ordered solely because a defendant obviously avoids appearing at the trial may last until the publication of the judgment. In the case referred to in paragraph 1 item 2) of this Article, detention will be revoked as soon as the evidence because of which detention was ordered is secured.

When it pronounces a judgment ordering a term of imprisonment of less than five years, the court may order detention for a defendant who is at liberty if the reasons referred to in paragraph 1 items 1) and 3) of this Article exist, and it will revoke detention for a defendant who is in detention if the reasons for which it was ordered no longer exist.

#### Article 212, Deciding on Detention

The court decides on ordering detention on a motion by the public prosecutor, and after the indictment is confirmed, also *ex officio*.

Before issuing the decision referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article, the court will question the defendant in connection with the reasons for ordering detention. The questioning may be attended by the public prosecutor and the defence counsel.

The court is required to inform in a suitable manner the public prosecutor and the defence counsel on the time and place of the defendant's questioning. The questioning may also be performed in the absence of persons duly notified.

By exception from paragraph 2 of this Article, the decision ordering detention may be issued without questioning the defendant if the circumstances referred to in Article 195 paragraph 1 items 1) and 2) of this Code, or a danger of delays, exist.

If detention was ordered in accordance with paragraph 4 of this Article, the court will within 48 hours of the hour of the arrest question the defendant in accordance with the provisions of paragraphs 2 and 3 of this Article. After the questioning, the court will decided whether to leave the decision ordering detention in force or to repeal detention.

#### Article 214, Detention during Investigation

Detention during the investigation may be ordered, extended or repealed by a ruling of the judge for preliminary proceedings or the panel (Article 21 paragraph 4).

The ruling extending or repealing detention is issued *ex officio* or on a motion of the parties and the defence counsel.

The parties and defence counsel may appeal against the ruling on detention to the panel (Article 21 paragraph 4). The appeal, ruling and other documents are immediately delivered to the panel. An appeal does not stay execution of the ruling.

A decision on the appeal is issued within 48 hours.

#### Article 216, Custody after indictment

From the filing of the indictment to the court until the commitment of the defendant to serve a custodial criminal sanction, detention may be ordered, extended or repealed by a ruling of the panel.

The ruling ordering, extending or repealing detention is issued *ex officio* or on a motion of the parties and the defence counsel.

The panel is required even without a motion of the parties and the defence counsel to examine whether reasons for detention still exist and to issue a ruling extending or repealing detention, at the expiry of each 30 days until the indictment is confirmed, and at the expiry of each 60 days after the indictment is confirmed and up to the adoption of a first instance judgment.

If after the indictment is confirmed detention is repealed because there are no grounds for suspicion about the existence of a criminal offence, the court will examine the indictment in accordance with Article 337 of this Code.

The parties and the defence counsel may appeal against the ruling referred to in paragraph 2 of this Article, and the public prosecutor may also appeal against a ruling denying a motion for ordering detention. The appeal, ruling and other documents are immediately delivered to the panel. An appeal does not stay the execution of the ruling.

Detention ordered or extended in accordance with the provisions of paragraphs 1 to 5 of this Article may last until the commitment of the defendant to serve a custodial criminal sanction, but no longer than the expiry of the duration of the criminal sanction pronounced in the first-instance judgment.

#### Article 242, Basic Rules on Delivery

Documents are as a rule delivered by an official of the authority conducting proceedings which issued the decision or directly at that authority, through the post office or other organisation registered to deliver documentation, authorities of local self-government, by letter rogatory through another public authority, by telecommunication or electronic means, and exceptionally also through the police. Summons for a trial of other summons may also be verbally communicated by the authority conducting proceedings to a person who is before it, with a caution about the consequences of not attending. The summons and caution will be entered in the record which will be signed by the person summoned, except if it is designated in the trial transcript, and the service is thereby deemed executed.

Delivery may also be undertaken by posting on a notice board or webpage of the authority conducting proceedings, and, with the consent of the person to whom the delivery is to be made, also through a proxy for receiving documents, through a post office box or electronic mail. Delivery is deemed executed by the expiry of a time limit of eight days from the date of the posting of the document on the notice board or webpage of the authority conducting proceedings, or from the reception of a receipt that the document was served on the proxy for receiving documents, delilvered to a post office box, or to an electronic mail address.

#### Article 280, Submitting a Criminal Complaint

State and other bodies, legal and natural persons report criminal offences which are prosecutable *ex officio* about which they were informed or they learn in other manner, under the conditions stipulated by law or other regulation.

It is stipulated by the Criminal Code in which cases a failure to report a criminal offence represents a criminal offence.

The submitter of the criminal complaint referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article will relate details known to him and undertake measures to preserve the traces of the criminal offence, objects on which or by means of which the criminal offence was committed, and other evidence.

#### Article 281, The Manner of Submitting and Recording a Criminal Complaint

A criminal complaint is submitted to the competent public prosecutor, in writing, orally, or by other means.

If a criminal complaint is submitted orally, a transcript will be made thereof and the submitter will be cautioned about the consequences of false reporting. If the criminal complaint is communicated by telephone or other telecommunications medium an official note will be made, and if the complaint was submitted by electronic mail it will be saved on an appropriate recording medium and printed.

If a criminal complaint was submitted to the police, an incompetent public prosecutor or a court, they will receive the complaint and deliver it to the competent public prosecutor immediately.

#### Article 283, Deferral of Prosecution

The public prosecutor may defer criminal prosecution for criminal offenses punishable by fine or imprisonment up to five years if the suspect accepts one or more of the following measures:

1) to eliminate the detrimental consequences caused by the criminal offense or to compensate the damage caused;

2) to the account specified for payment of public revenues pay certain amounts of money, which are used for charitable or other public purposes;

3) to perform certain community service or humanitarian work;

4) to fulfill the payment obligations which have fallen due;

5) to submit to an alcohol or drug treatment program;

6) to undergo psychosocial treatment to eliminate the causes of violent behavior;

7) to carry out the obligation established by a final court decision, and respect the limit determined by the court.

The prosecuting attorney's order to defer will determine the time limit within which the suspect must fulfil commitments, but that period may not be longer than one year. Control over the execution of the obligations is performed by the Commissioner of the administrative body competent for execution of criminal sanctions, in accordance with the regulation issued by the Minister of Justice.

If the suspect fulfils the obligation referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article within the prescribed time limit, the public prosecutor will dismiss the criminal complaint by a ruling and notify the injured party, and the provision of Article 51 paragraph 2 of the Code shall not apply.

The funds referred to in paragraph 1, item 2) of this Article shall be awarded to charitable organizations, funds, public institutions or other persons or entities, after a public competition announced by the ministry in charge of judicial affairs.

The public tender referred to in paragraph 4 of this Article performed by the commission formed by the Minister of Justice.

Notwithstanding paragraphs. 4 and 5 of this Article, the commission may, at the request of a natural person, without conducting a public competition, propose that the funds referred to in paragraph 1, item 2), are awarded for medical treatment of children abroad, if the treatments are not provided in the Republic Fund for Health Insurance.

Implementation of a public competition, the criteria for allocation of funds, the composition and operation of the commission shall be regulated by an act of the Minister of Justice.

The decision on the allocation of funds under paragraph 1 item 2) of this Article by the Government.

#### Article 284, Rejection of Criminal Charges

The public prosecutor will dismiss a criminal complaint by a ruling if it proceeds from the complaint that: 1) the reported act is not a criminal offense that is prosecuted *ex officio*;

2) the statute of limitations has expired or the offense is subject to amnesty or pardon or there are other circumstances which permanently exclude prosecution;

3) there are no grounds for suspicion that a criminal offense which is prosecutable *ex officio* has been committed.

The public prosecutor will notify the injured party within eight days about the dismissal of the criminal complaint and the reasons thereof and advise him of his rights (Article 51 paragraph 1), and if the criminal complaint was submitted by a police authority, he will also notify that authority.

In the case of criminal offences punishable by a term of imprisonment of up to three years, the public prosecutor may dismiss a criminal complaint if the suspect, as a result of genuine remorse, has prevented the occurrence of damage or has already indemnified the damage in full, and in view of the circumstances of the case the public prosecutor finds that pronouncing a criminal sanction would not be fair. In this case the provision of Article 51 paragraph 2 of this Code will not be applied.

#### Article 285, The Authority of the Public Prosecutor

The public prosecutor manages preliminary investigation proceedings.

In order to exercise the powers referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article, the public prosecutor shall take the necessary actions to prosecute offenders.

The public prosecutor may order the police to take certain actions to detect crimes and locate suspects. The police are obliged to execute the order of the public prosecutor, as well as to inform him regularly on the actions taken. In the event of failure of the police on the orders, the public prosecutor shall act in accordance with Article 44 para. 2 and 3 of this Code.

During the pre-investigation proceedings the public prosecutor is authorised to assume from the police the performance of an action which the police had undertaken on its own pursuant to the law.

#### Article 286, Police Powers

If there are grounds for suspicion that a criminal offence which is prosecutable *ex officio* has been committed, the police are required to implement necessary measures to locate the perpetrator of the criminal offence, for the perpetrator or accomplice not to go into hiding or abscond, to detect and secure traces of the criminal offence and objects which may serve as evidence, as well as to collect all information which could be of benefit for the successful conduct of criminal proceedings.

For the purpose of fulfilling the duty referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article, the police may: seek necessary information from citizens; perform necessary inspection of vehicles, passengers and luggage; restrict movement in a certain space for a necessary period of time and up to a maximum of eight hours; undertake necessary measures in connection with the establishment of the identity of persons and objects; post a wanted circular for a person and objects being searched for; in the presence of a responsible person inspect certain facilities and premises of public authorities, enterprises, shops and other legal persons, inspect their documentation and if needed seize it; undertake other necessary measures and actions. A transcript or an official note will be made of facts and circumstances established during the performance of certain actions, as well as objects found or seized, which may be of interest for the criminal proceedings.

By order of the preliminary proceedings, and on the request of the prosecutor, the police can in order to fulfill the obligations specified in paragraph 1 of this Article obtain a record of telephone communications or the base stations used, or perform location of the place from where a communication is being conducted.

The police immediately, or no later than 24 hours after performing them, notify the public prosecutor about the performance of the measures and actions referred to in paragraphs 2 and 3 of this Article.

A person against whom any of the measures and actions referred to in paragraphs 2 and 3 of this Article has been applied is entitled to submit a complaint to the competent judge for preliminary proceedings.

#### Article 291, Police Arrest

The police may arrest a person if there exists a reason for ordering detention (Article 211), but it is required to take such a person without delay to the competent public prosecutor. When bringing the person in, the police will submit to the public prosecutor a report on the reasons for and time of the arrest.

The person arrested must be advised of the rights referred to in Article 69 paragraph 1 of this Code.

If the taking of the arrested person [to the prosecutor] due to unavoidable obstacles lasted more than eight hours, the police are required to explain the delay in detail to the public prosecutor, about which the public prosecutor will draft an official note. The public prosecutor will enter in the note the arrested person's statement about the time and place of the arrest.

#### Article 294, Keeping a Suspect in Custody

The public prosecutor may exceptionally keep in custody for the purpose of questioning a person arrested in accordance with Article 291 paragraph 1 and Article 292 paragraph 1 of this Code, as well as

the suspect referred to in Article 289 paragraphs 1 and 2 of this Code, not more than 48 hours from the time of the arrest, or the response to a summons.

The public prosecutor, or upon his authorisation, the police, issues and serves a ruling on custody immediately, or not more than two hours after the suspect was told that he would be kept in custody. The ruling must specify the offence of which the suspect is accused, grounds for suspicion, date and time of deprivation of liberty or response to a summons, as well as time of commencement of the custody.

The suspect and his defence counsel are entitled to appeal against the ruling on custody within six hours of the delivery of the ruling. A decision on the appeal is issued by the judge for the preliminary proceedings within four hours of receiving the appeal. The appeal does not stay the execution of the ruling.

The suspect is entitled to the rights referred to in Article 69 paragraph 1 of this Code.

The suspect must have a defence counsel as soon as the authority conducting proceedings referred to in paragraph 2 of this Article issues a ruling on custody. If the suspect does not retain a defence counsel on his own within four hours, the public prosecutor will secure one for him *ex officio*, according to the order on the list of lawyers submitted by the competent bar association.

#### Article 337, Examination of the Indictment

The panel (Article 21 paragraph 4) will examine the indictment within 15 days from the expiry of the time limit for submitting a response to the indictment (Article 336 paragraph 1).

If the panel determines that another court is competent for the criminal offence which is the subjectmatter of the charges, it will issue a ruling on the incompetence of the court and after the ruling becomes final it will deliver the case to the competent court.

When the panel determines that a better clarification of the state of the matter is required in order to assess whether the indictment is justified, it will order a supplemental investigation, or an investigation to be conducted, or certain evidence be collected.

The public prosecutor will, within three days from the day the decision of the panel referred to in paragraph 3 of this Article is communicated to him, issue an order to supplement or to conduct an investigation, and a private prosecutor will collect evidence within 30 days from the date of announcement of the decision. At the request of the prosecutor, the panel may extend this time limit, for justified reasons.

If the public prosecutor misses the deadline referred to in paragraph 4 of this Article, he is required to notify the immediately superior public prosecutor of the reasons for missing the deadline, and in case a private prosecutor misses the aforesaid time limit, it will be presumed that he has decided to desist from prosecution and the charges will be dismissed by a ruling.

If the panel determines that the files contain transcripts or information referred to in Article 237 paragraphs 1 and 3 of this Code, it will issue a ruling excluding them from the files. A special appeal against this ruling is allowed.

Once the ruling referred to in paragraph 6 of this Article becomes final the panel will act in accordance with Article 237 paragraphs 2 and 3 of this Code.

#### Article 512, The Conditions for Holding Hearings

For criminal offences punishable by a fine or a term of imprisonment of up to five years as the principal penalty, the public prosecutor may in his motion to indict request the holding of a hearing for the imposition of a criminal sanction.

The public prosecutor may make the request referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article if he deems the holding of a trial unnecessary because of the complexity of the case and the evidence collected, and especially because the defendant was arrested during the commission of the criminal offence or has confessed the criminal offence.

If the public prosecutor acts in accordance with paragraph 2 of this Article, he may propose that the court impose on the defendant:

1) a term of imprisonment of up to two years, a fine of up to two hundred and forty daily amounts or up to five hundred thousand dinars or probation with the ordering of incarceration of up to one year or a fine of up to one hundred and eighty daily amounts or up to three hundred thousand dinars and a probation period of up to five years – if the defendant has confessed to the commission of a criminal offence punishable by a term of imprisonment of up to five years;

2) a term of imprisonment of up to one year, a fine of up to one hundred and eighty daily amounts or up to three hundred thousand dinars, up to two hundred and forty hours of community service, revocation of the driver's license for up to one year, probation with the ordering of incarceration of up to one year or a fine of up to one hundred and eighty daily amounts or up to three hundred thousand dinars and a probation period of up to three years, with a possibility of placing the defendant under protective supervision or imposing a judicial admonition – if the defendant has committed a criminal offence punishable by a fine or a term of imprisonment of up to three years as the principal penalty.

#### Article 545, Initiation of Proceedings [to revoke probation]

Proceedings for revoking probation are instituted at the request of an authorised prosecutor before the court which adjudicated in the first instance:

1) if it was said in the judgment in which probation was imposed that the penalty would be enforced if the convicted person failed to return the proceeds from crime, indemnify the damage he had caused by the criminal offence or fulfil other obligations stipulated by the criminal law within a specified time limit; 2) if a convicted person on whom protective supervision has been imposed does not fulfil the obligations ordered by the court.

#### Family Law (Official Gazette no. 18/2005, 72/2011 and 6/2015)

#### Article 7, Parents

(1) Parental rights belong to the mother and father together . . . .

#### Article 10, Domestic Violence

(1) Domestic violence is prohibited.

(2) Everyone has, in accordance with the law, the right to protection from domestic violence.

#### Article 197, Domestic Violence

(1) Domestic violence, under this law, is the behavior of a family member that threatens the physical integrity, mental health or tranquility of another family member.

(2) domestic violence, in terms of paragraph 1 of this Article, shall be limited to:

First causing or attempting to cause bodily injury;

Second causing fear of the threat of death or bodily harm to a family member or another close to him/her;

Third forced sexual intercourse;

APPENDIX A

Fourth incitement to sexual intercourse or sexual intercourse with a person under 14 years of age or a disabled person;

Fifth restricting freedom of movement or communication with third parties;

Sixth insults, like any other presumptuous, reckless and malicious behavior.

(3) Family members within the meaning of paragraph 1 of this Article shall be considered:

First spouses or former spouses;

Second children, parents and other blood relatives, and persons in-law or adoptive relations or persons associated by foster care;

Third persons who live or have lived in the same household;

Fourth common-law spouses or former common-law partners;

Fifth Persons who have each been or are still in an emotional or sexual relationship, or who have a child together or the child is to be born, although they have never lived in the same household.

#### Article 198, Protection Measures

(1) The court may order one or more measures of protection from domestic violence pertaining to a family member who acts violently, temporarily prohibiting or restricting personal relationships with other members of the family.

(2) Measures of protection from domestic violence are:

1. order for eviction from the family apartment or house, regardless of the right of ownership or lease of real property;

2. issuing of orders to move into the family apartment or house, regardless of the right of ownership or lease of real property;

- 3. prohibition of getting closer to a family member than a certain distance;
- 4. restriction of access to the place of residence or place of work of a family member;
- 5. prohibition of further harassment of a family member.

(3) The measure of protection from domestic violence can last up to a year.

(4) The time spent in custody as well as any deprivation of liberty in connection with a criminal offense or an offense is included in the duration of the measures of protection against domestic violence.

#### Article 229, Scope of the Mediation Process

The mediation procedure (hereinafter: mediation) involves a process of reconciliation attempt (hereinafter: reconciliation) and procedure for attempted amicable resolution of disputes (hereinafter: the settlement).

#### Article 230, When Conducting Mediation

(1) Transmission is regularly carried out with the procedure in marital disputes launched by a lawsuit of one of the spouses.

(2) Mediation in marital conflict is not implemented:

- 1. If one spouse does not agree to mediation;
- 2. If one of the spouses is incapable of reasoning;
- 3. If the residence of a spouse unknown;
- 4. If one or both spouses live abroad.

#### Article 231, Who Carries Out Mediation

(1) Mediation, as a rule, is conducted by the court.

(2) The notice of the mediation hearing shall be submitted with the action for annulment or divorce.

(3) The judge in charge of the mediation cannot participate in the decision at a later stage of the proceedings, unless the mediation has been successful.

#### Article 232, Mediation

(1) Upon receipt of a claim for annulment or divorce, the court shall schedule a hearing for mediation that takes place before an individual judge.

(2) The judge in charge of the mediation shall recommend to the spouses to undergo psycho-social counseling.

(3) If the spouses agree to psycho-social counseling, the court shall at their request or with their agreement, entrust the mediation to the competent guardianship authority, marital or family counseling, or other institution that specializes in mediation in family relations.

(4) Delegating is done by submitting a claim for annulment or divorce.

#### Article 233, When conducting reconciliation

Reconciliation is conducted only in the marital dispute launched by a lawsuit for divorce.

#### Article 234, Purpose of Reconciliation

The purpose of reconciliation is to resolve the troubled relationship between spouses without conflict and without divorce.

#### Article 239, Duration of Reconciliation

(1) The court or the institution which is entrusted with the mediation process is required to implement reconciliation within two months from receipt of the action to the court or institution.

(2) If an institution which is entrusted with the mediation process does not inform the court on the results of reconciliation, within three months from the date when it was sent for divorce, the reconciliation procedure will be implemented by the court.

(3) The court shall schedule the reconciliation hearing within 15 days after the deadline referred to in paragraph 2 of this Article.

#### Article 240, When conducting settlement

The settlement is carried out in a marital dispute launched by a lawsuit for annulment of marriage or for divorce, in which reconciliation failed.

#### Article 241, The purpose of settlement

(1) The purpose of settlement is to resolve the troubled relationship between spouses without conflict after the annulment or divorce.

(2) The court or the institution which is entrusted with the mediation process will seek that the spouses reach an agreement on the exercise of parental rights and agreement on the division of joint property.

## Article 270, Findings and expert opinion

Before making a decision on the protection of children's rights or the award or taking of parental rights, the court is obliged to ask for the findings and expert opinion of the guardianship authority, family counseling or other institution specialized in mediation in family relations.

#### Article 284, Initiation of Proceedings

(1) The procedure in the dispute for protection against domestic violence is initiated by an action.
 (2) An action to determine the extent of protection against domestic violence, as well as the extension of the measures of protection against domestic violence, may be submitted: a family member against whom violence is committed, his legal representative, the public prosecutor and the guardianship authority.

(3) The claim for the termination of the protection of domestic violence may be submitted by a family member against whom the measure is determined.

#### Article 285, Particular Urgency

(1) The procedure in the dispute for protection against domestic violence is particularly urgent.(2) The first hearing shall be scheduled so that it takes place within eight days from the day the complaint was received by the court.

(3) The second instance court shall render a decision within 15 days of the submission of the appeal.

#### Article 286, Guardianship Authority

If the guardianship authority did not institute proceedings in the dispute for protection against domestic violence, the court may ask the guardianship authority to assist in obtaining the necessary evidence and to give an opinion on the appropriateness of the requested measures.

#### Article 289, Records and Documents about Domestic Violence

(1) The court is obliged to immediately submit the judgment in a dispute over protection of domestic violence both to the guardianship authority in the territory where the family member against whom violence is committed has permanent or temporary residence, and to the guardianship authority in the territory where a family member against whom is a measure of protection is determined has permanent or temporary residence.

(2) The guardianship authority shall keep records and documents both on the persons against whom violence is committed and on the persons against whom a certain measure of protection has been ordered.

(3) The minister responsible for family protection prescribes the method of keeping records and documentation.

## Law on Public Peace and Order (Official Gazette, no. 51/92, 53/93, 67/93, 48/94, 101/2005, 85/2005) (replaced by Law on Public Peace and Order (Official Gazette no. 06/2016)

#### Article 6

Whoever disrupts public order and peace by argument or shouting, or interferes with safety of citizens shall be punished by a fine of up to 20,000 dinars or imprisonment for up to 20 days.

Whoever interferes with safety of another by threatening one's life or bodily harm, or threatens the same to someone with a close relationship to that individual shall be punished by a fine of up to 25,000 dinars or imprisonment for up to 30 days.

Whoever uses insults or mistreatment of another, uses force against another, provokes physical fight or participates in one, which results in interference of citizen's peace or disruption of public order and peace, shall be punished by a fine of up to 30,000 dinars or imprisonment for up to 60 days.

When any violations 1 through 3 above are committed in a group, the punishment will be imprisonment up to 60 days.

#### Article 12

Whoever engages in the act of begging, indecent, impudent and ruthless behavior, which results in interference with citizen's peace or disruption of public order and peace, shall be punished by a fine of up to 20,000 dinars or imprisonment for up to 30 days.

Whoever organizes begging or who participates in group begging shall be punished by a fine of up to 30,000 dinars or imprisonment for up to 60 days.

Law on Public Peace and Order (Official Gazette of RS no. 06/2016) (replacing Law on Public Peace and Order (Official Gazette, no. 51/92, 53/93, 67/93, 48/94, 101/2005, 85/2005))

#### **Article 3, Definitions**

For the purposes of this Act the following terms have the following meanings:

. . .

2) a public place - is space available to an undetermined number of persons whose identity is not determined in advance, under the same conditions or without special conditions;

. . .

12) rude, impertinent, reckless behavior - is the behavior of a person or undertaking actions in public, endangering the safety of citizens or disturbs public order, offends morality of citizens, destroys or damages property;

. . .

It shall be a violation or an offense under this Act if it was committed in a public place, and when the action executed at a place in terms of paragraph 1, item 2) above is not considered a public place, if the place is available regarding the audibility or public places or the consequence occurred in a public place.

#### Article 7, Arguing, clamor and noice in public places

When a fight or cry disturbs public order or creates anxiety among citizens - shall be punished by a fine of 5,000 to 20,000 dinars.

Whoever disrupts public order or creates anxiety among citizens, performing music and other content, using musical instruments, radio and television receivers and other audio devices, as well as mechanical sources of noise and acoustic signals (ignition, horn, etc.) - shall be punished between 5,000 and 30,000 dinars.

When an offense referred to in paragraphs. 1 and 2 of this Article shall be in a group of three or more persons - shall be fined 20,000 to 50,000 dinars.

#### Article 8, Rude, insolent and ruthless behavior

When rude, insolent or arrogant behavior violates public order or endangers property or offends morality of citizens - shall be fined 10,000 to 150,000 dinars or work in the public interest 80-360 hours.

When an offense referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article shall be committed in a group of three or more persons - shall be sentenced to work in the public interest of 240 to 360 hours or by imprisonment for 30 to 60 days.

#### Article 9, Insulting, of violence, threat or hail

Whoever insults another or commits violence against others or threatens to disrupt public order shall be fined 20,000 to 100,000 dinars or by imprisonment for 10 to 30 days.

Whoever by provoking a fight or by participating in it disrupts public order - shall be fined 50,000 to 150,000 dinars or by imprisonment for 30 to 60 days.

When an offense referred to in paragraphs. 1 to 2 of this Article shall be in a group of three or more persons - shall be punished by imprisonment for 30 to 60 days.

The attempt to paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 of this Article shall be punished.

#### Article 25, Protective measures

Protective measures of forfeiture, compulsory treatment of addicts of alcohol and other psychoactive substances, mandatory psychiatric treatment, restraining the victim, facilities or place of the offense for violations of this law, in addition to fines, can be imposed under the conditions prescribed by the law regulating misdemeanors . . .

APPENDIX A

#### Misdemeanor Law (Official Gazette no. 65/2013)

#### Article 13, Self-Defense

No offense if the act is prescribed as an offense was committed in self-defense.

Self-defense is a defense that it is necessary to the offender of his good or good to another to avert an immediate and unlawful attack.

The perpetrator who has exceeded the limits of necessary defense may be punished less severely. If this exceeds the limits under particularly mitigating circumstances, the offender may be released from punishment.

#### Article 19, Insanity

An insane perpetrator is not responsible for the offense.

Insane is an offender who could not understand the significance of his proceedings or could not control his actions due to mental illness, temporary mental disorder, mental retardation or other severe mental disorder.

An offender whose ability to comprehend the significance of his work or the ability to control his conduct was considerably diminished due to a condition referred to in paragraph 2 above (considerably diminished mental capacity) can be mitigated punishment.

It is not considered insane, an offender who uses alcohol or otherwise brought himself in a state of not being capable to comprehend the significance of his actions or could not control his actions if at the time of bringing himself into such a state, he was aware or ought to and could be aware that in such a state, he can commit the offense.

#### Article 32, Penal Sanctions

Sanctions are: 1) fines; 2) penalty points; 3) warning; 4) protective measures; 5) educational measures.

#### Article 33, Penalties

For the offense, a prison sentence, a fine and community service may be prescribed.

Within the general purpose of sanctions (Article 5, paragraph 2) the purpose of punishment is to express social reproach to an offender for committing the offense and to influence him and to all other persons not to commit offenses in the future.

#### Article 34, The Method of Prescribing Penalties

For an offense, imprisonment and fine and both may be imposed together.

. . . .

#### Article 37, Imprisonment

Imprisonment may not be prescribed for a period of less than one or more than sixty days.

Imprisonment may not be imposed on a pregnant woman after three months of pregnancy, or the mother until the child reaches one year of age, and if the child was stillborn or died after birth until after six months from the date of delivery.

#### Article 38, Community Service

Community service is unpaid work for the benefit of society, which is not done under duress, that does not offend human dignity, and that does not generate profit.

Community service can not last less than 20 hours nor for more than 360 hours.

When imposing community service, the court will have regard to the type of offense, age, physical and working ability, psychological traits, education, preferences and other special circumstances related to the personality of the offender.

If the convicted person does not perform part or all punishment imposed in the sentence of community service, the court shall replace this punishment by imprisonment by fixing one day in prison for each initiated eight hours of community service.

#### Article 39, Money Fine

Law or regulation imposing a fine may be prescribed in the range:

1) 5,000 to 150,000 dinars for a natural person or a responsible person;

Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraphs. 1 and 2 of this Article, a fine may be prescribed in a fixed amount for a natural person and responsible person of 1,000 to 10,000 dinars for entrepreneurs from 5,000 to 50,000 dinars for a legal entity from 10,000 to 100,000 dinars.

#### 2016 amendments:

Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 1 of this Article, a fine may be prescribed in a fixed amount for a natural person and a responsible person from 1,000 to 50,000 dinars, for an entrepreneur from 5,000 to 150,000 dinars, and for a legal person from 10,000 to 300,000 dinars.

••••

## Article 42, Sentencing

The penalty for violations are measured within the limits prescribed for the offense, and in doing so take into account all the circumstances that affect the sentence to be higher or lower, in particular: the weight and consequences of the offense, the circumstances under which the offense was committed, the degree of responsibility of the offender, previous convictions, the personal circumstances of the offender and the offender behavior after the offense has been committed.

Previously imposed sanctions cannot be considered as an aggravating circumstance, if more than four years have elapsed from the date of the decision until a new passing.

In determining the amount of the fine, the financial condition of the offender shall be taken into account.

#### Article 50, Warning

APPENDIX A

Instead of a fine, a warning may be issued if there are circumstances which significantly diminish the responsibility of the offender, so that it can be expected that in the future refrain from committing offenses and without penalty.

A warning may be imposed if the offense is reflected in the non-fulfillment of requirement or the offense has caused damage, and the perpetrator after the initiation of the proceedings but prior to the conviction, has fulfilled the prescribed obligation, or eliminated or compensated for the damage suffered.

#### Article 51, The purpose of prescribing [protective measures]

Within the general purpose of sanctions (Article 5, paragraph 2), the purpose of the application of protective measures is to eliminate the conditions which enable or encourage the offender to commit new offenses.

Protective measures may be prescribed by law and regulation.

#### Article 52, Types of Protective Measures

For violations may be prescribed the following protective measures:

- 1) forfeiture;
- 2) prohibition to perform certain activities;
- 3) the prohibition of the legal person from performing certain activities;
- 4) prohibition of the responsible person from performing certain tasks;
- 5) prohibition of driving a motor vehicle;
- 6) compulsory treatment of alcohol and substance abuse;
- 7) compulsory psychiatric treatment;
- 8) access to the victim, objects or the scene of the violation;
- 9) ban on attending certain sports events;
- 10) publication of the judgment;
- 11) removal of an alien from the territory of the Republic of Serbia;
- 12) confiscation of animals and ban on keeping animals.

Protective measures of forfeiture, compulsory treatment of addiction to alcohol and other psychoactive substances, mandatory psychiatric treatment, access to the victim, objects or the scene of the offense, and the removal of aliens from the territory of the Republic of Serbia may be imposed under the conditions prescribed by this law and not provided for by regularion for a certain offense.

Protective measures to prohibit the performance of particular activities and the publication of the judgment cannot be imposed on minors.

#### Article 53, Protective Measures

When the conditions for the imposition of protective measures provided for in this or any other law, one or more protective measures may be imposed on the offender.

Protective measures shall be imposed with the punishment, warning or educational measure.

Notwithstanding paragraph 2 of this Article, protective measures may be ordered individually if such possibility is prescribed.

#### Article 59, [Treatment of Alcohol and Substance Abuse]

Mandatory treatment of alcohol and substance abuse may be imposed to a person who commits an offense due to addiction to alcohol or psychoactive substances and in which there is a danger that, due to this addiction, continues to commit a crime.

Before taking actions referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article, the court shall obtain the opinion of an expert, or an authorized health organizations.

In imposing the measures referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article, the offender shall be ordered compulsory treatment in an appropriate medical or other specialized institution. If the offender without justifiable reason refuses treatment, the measures will be enforced by force.

The protective measures referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article may last no longer than one year, and the enforcement of the measures shall be terminated before expiry of the period specified in the judgment if the health organization finds that the treatment is completed.

#### Article 60, Mandatory Psychiatric Treatment

An offender who has been in a state of mental incompetence has committed an offense, the court shall impose mandatory psychiatric treatment if it finds that there is a serious risk that the offender will reoffend, and psychiatric treatment is needed to eliminate the danger.

Mandatory psychiatric treatment is the only sanction that can be pronounced independently on an infequent offender.

Under the terms of paragraph 1 of this Article, the court may impose mandatory psychiatric treatment on an offender whose mental capacity is substantially diminished, if he was fined, community service, reprimand or is exempt from punishment.

Mandatory psychiatric treatment is carried out at liberty and lasts until there is a need of treatment, but not longer than one year.

For a more successful treatment, it may be determined to periodically carry out the treatment in a medical institutionm with the continuous treatment in an institution not exceeding 15 days, and can be taken up to two times during the year.

If in the case of no. 1 and 3 of this Article, the offender fails to undergo treatment at liberty or of his own accord, the court may order that the protective measure implemented in a medical institution under the terms of paragraph 4 of this article.

#### Article 61, Restrict access to the injured, building or [location]

Restricting access to the injured, buildings or spot is pronounced to prevent the offender from reoffending or continuing to threaten the victim.

The measure referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article shall be imposed on the applicant's written proposal for initiating criminal proceedings or on an oral request of the [injured] pronounced during the hearing in misdemeanor proceedings.

The decision of the court issuing the restraining order must contain: the time period in which it is executed, data on persons who the offender cannot access, an identification of objects the offender cannot access and at what time, place or location in which the offender is prohibited access.

Prohibition to approach the injured includes the measure of prohibiting access to a shared flat or household during the period covered by a ban.

Protective measures prohibiting access may be imposed for a period of one year, counting from the enforceability of the judgment.

The injured party, police department responsible for enforcement measures, and competent guardianship authority shall be informed of the court's decision to impose a restraining order if the measure applies to ban the perpetrator access to children, a spouse or family members.

#### Article 62, Violation of the prohibition of access to the injured, building, or [location]

The offender where in the final judgment has been prohibited access, and who approaches the victim, premises or [place] during the duration of the measure or makes contact with the injured party in an improper way or in unauthorized time shall be subject to sanctions under the regulation which provides for the offense for which he received this measure.

#### Article 85, Execution of Punishments and Protective Measures

The imposed sentence and the protective measure cannot be executed if one year and elapsed since the date of the verdict.

The statute of limitations to execute the punishment and protective measures begins from the date of the judgment imposing the punishment or protective measure.

The statute of limitations to execute the punishment and protective measures shall be suspended for the period during which the execution cannot be undertaken by law.

The statute of limitations is interrupted by any act of the competent authority which relates to the execution of the sentence or protective measures.

After each interruption, the statute of limitations begins to run again.

Execution of the sentence or protective measures is precluded in any case when twice as much time as is required by law for the enforcement of the sentence or protective measures.

#### Article 121, Representative of the Legal Person

A representative of the legal person is a person authorized to represent the legal person or represents the legal person on the basis of a law or other act.

A representative of the legal person referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article, except the legal representative, must have a written authorization of the authority that appointed the representative.

A representative of the legal person may be just one person.

#### Article 126, Damages

The injured party, in terms of this law, is the person whose personal or property rights have been violated or threatened by an offense.

The injured party who has reached the age of sixteen can file a request for initiating criminal proceedings.

The injured party has the right on his own or through his legal representative or authorized agent: 1) submits and represents a request for initiating criminal proceedings;

2) submit evidence, make proposals and point out a property claim for damages or restitution of things;3) declares an appeal against the judgment or decision was made on his request to initiate criminal proceedings;

4) submit evidence on which the court may order that the defendant, in the course of misdemeanor proceedings, must not approach the victim, facilities or the scene of the offense.

Process measure prohibiting access in paragraph 3, item 4) of this Article may last as long as the reasons for its imposition, but no later than when the proceedings are concluded.

An appeal against the ruling imposing a restraining order shall be filed within three days from the date of delivery and not postpone the execution.

#### Article 127, The Public Prosecutor as a Party to the Proceedings

The public prosecutor is a party to the offense proceedings.

Public Prosecutor:

1) takes measures to detect, investigate and obtain the necessary evidence for the prosecution of offenses and the successful conduct of misdemeanor proceedings before the court;

2) files a request for initiating criminal proceedings, appeal or extraordinary remedy against the court's decision;

3) takes other actions to which he is authorized by this law and special regulations.

The public prosecutor is actually competent to act in misdemeanor proceedings if he has submitted a request for initiating misdemeanor proceedings.

If the Public Prosecutor first filed for court proceedings, proceedings shall be conducted upon request, and continue at the request of the injured party or other authority responsible for the submission of the request for proceedings if the public prosecutor withdraws the request.

If he gives up the request for initiating msidemeanor proceedings, the public prosecutor shall within eight days from the date of withdrawal of the application, notify the injured party or other person authorized to institute proceedings in order to continue the process.

If the injured party or other authorized body to initiate misdemeanor proceedings already filed a motion to institute proceedings, the proceedings shall continue on that request.

#### Article 128, The Other Entity Authorized to Submit Claims

When another authority is in charge of filing misdemeanor proceedings, he has all the rights of the public prosecutor as a party to the proceedings, except those belonging to the public prosecutor, as a state body.

The competent authority referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article shall inform the injured party whether he submitted a request to initiate misdemeanor proceedings.

If the competent authority under paragraph 1 of this Article shall file a request for initiating misdemeanor proceedings for an offense for which a prison sentence is prescribed, it shall inform the competent public prosecutor, who will decide on the takeover of prosecution.

The competent public prosecutor shall inform the competent authority referred to in paragraph 1 of this article in writing of the decision referred to in paragraph 3 of this article.

#### Article 156, Delivery of Letters

Documents shall be served by mail, other services authorized for delivery, an official of the court or other authority or directly to the court premises.

Delivery can be carried out electronically, in accordance with special regulations if there are conditions.

The delivery is done every day in the workplace or in the business premises during business hours, or in an apartment from 7 to 22 hours, or in court when the person to whom delivery is to be made is there or when the court calls for the summons to be delivered.

Delivery may take place at another time and in another place on the basis of a special decision by the court at the request of the person to whom delivery is made, which the person to whom the delivery is made is obliged to show.

Call for an oral hearing or other summons and the court may verbally communicate to the person in front of it there, along with instruction on the consequences of failure to appear. Such verbal call will be recorded in the minutes which the person summoned shall sign, unless the call is recorded in the minutes of the hearing, which is deemed to have been served.

#### Article 160, Submission of an Absent Person

If one is not found at the address where the delivery was to be made, it will be left in the mailbox or to the door a notice that the person to be served take it over by the court within 15 days of attempted delivery.

At the end of the term in paragraph 1 of this Article, the writing will be posted on the bulletin board and website of the Court, if there are technical conditions. Delivery is completed after a period of eight days from the date of posting documents on the notice board and website of the court.

The notice referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article shall contain: name and surname of the person who has attempted delivery, status in the proceedings, the date and time when the delivery was attempted, the address where the delivery was attempted, indicating in writing a warning that in case of not taking copies of documents in court, in which deadline copies of the paprt will be displayed on the board and on the website of the court, and that in this case at the end of eight days, it will be deemed delivered.

If it is established that the person to whom the communication is to be delivered is absent or temporarily residing at a different address, and that it therefore cannot be written at the time of delivery, the document shall be returned to the court with an indication where the absent is, and when and where he will be able to perform the service of documents.

If, during a repeated attempt, the writing cannot be delivered in time and place to be determined in the manner described in paragraph 4 of this Article, the document will be posted on the bulletin board and website of the court if there are technical conditions. Delivery is completed after a period of eight days from the date of posting documents on the notice board and website of the court.

#### 2016 amendments:

If the writing can not be delivered to the address referred to in Article 158, paragraph 1 of this law, the court will check the address and if the repeated attempt writing cannot be delivered to the address at which the person is registered, shall be treated in the manner prescribed in paragraph second this article.

#### Article 179, The Application for Initiating Criminal Proceedings

The request for initiating misdemeanor proceedings shall be filed by the competent authority or injured party (hereinafter referred to as the applicant).

The authorized bodies referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article are administrative bodies, authorized inspectors, public prosecutors and other agencies and organizations exercising public authority in charge of direct enforcement or control over enforcement of rules regulating the infractions.

#### Article 180, The Subsidiary of the Motion to Initiate Misdemeanor Proceedings

The injured party is entitled to file a request for initiating msidemeanor proceedings always unless the law does not require the initiation of misdemeanor proceedings exclusively by the authorized body under Article 179, paragraph 2 hereof.

The injured party who has filed a request for initiating misdemeanor proceedings has the status of a party to the proceedings.

If in the case of paragraph 1 of this Article, the authorized body does not submit a request for initiating misdemeanor proceedings, the injured party may in accordance with the provisions of this Act submit such a request.

If a request for initiation of proceedings is filed by an authorized body before it starts the proceedings upon the request of the injured party, it shall proceed to request the initiation of proceedings from the competent authority.

Misdemeanor charges filed by the injured party to the competent authority under the terms of this Law shall be considered a request for initiating misdemeanor proceedings if the authorized body itself does not initiate misdemeanor proceedings.

In the case of the preceding paragraph, the authorized body shall, within eight days of the filed misdemeanor charges, inform the injured party in writing that he has acted with the misdemeanor charges.

The injured party may, during the proceedings, continue prosecution if the public prosecutor withdraws the request for proceedings. The injured party may remain in the earlier application or change it.

#### Article 190, Bringing the Suspect to Commit an Offense Before Initiating Proceedings

Authorized police officers can and without a court order arrest a person caught in the act of breaching: 1) if the person's identity can not be determined or there is a need authentication;

2) if there is no permanent or temporary residence;

3) if by going abroad you can avoid responsibility for a misdemeanor, and in terms of the offenses for which it can not issue a misdemeanor warrant;

4) if by bribing it is prevented from continuing the offense or if there is a risk that it will immediately proceed with the commission of an offense.

Bringing a suspect in the cases referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article shall be made without delay.

If in the cases referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article, the suspect is found committing the offense and cannot be immediately taken to court, and there are grounds to suspect that the suspect will escape or there is danger that they will immediately resume the offenses, a police officer may detain the suspect for up to 24 hours.

APPENDIX A

In the case referred to in paragraph 3 of this Article, the authorized officer shall forthwith notify the detained person, as well as diplomatic and consular representatives of the State of his country of residence, or representatives of relevant international organizations if the detained person is a refugee or a stateless person.

Notwithstanding paragraph 1, retention measures of this article can be imposed on a minor only by court order.

#### 2016 amendments:

The retention decision is taken on possession of the suspect.

Against the decision of detention, the accused and his counsel have the right to appeal within four hours of delivery of the decision on detention.

An appeal is decided by a single judge of the territorial competent magistrates' court within four hours of receiving the complaint.

The appeal does not stay the execution of the decision.

The provisions of paragraphs 6 to 9 of this article shall also apply to the detention of persons under the influence of alcohol or other psychoactive substances.

#### Article 191, Retention of the Defendant

In the trial, the accused may be detained by a court order in the following cases:

1) if you can not establish his identity or place of residence or temporary residence, and there is reasonable doubt that they will escape;

2) if by going abroad you can avoid responsibility for the offense punishable by imprisonment;

3) if he was caught in the commission of the misdemeanor and detention is required to prevent further commission of the misdemeanor.

A judge shall inform family members of detained persons or other persons responsible for the care of a minor if a detention is prescribed.

## Article 192, Order on Detention

On retention of the accused, the court makes an order indicating the day and hour when he was ordered detained as well as the legal basis for retention. Retention can not be longer than 24 hours.

The order of detention shall be communicated to the defendant with a signature.

An accused person who is detained shall be allowed without delay to notify the person of their choice, as well as diplomatic and consular representatives of the State of which he is a citizen or representative of relevant international organizations when it comes to refugee or stateless person or counsel, if the defense counsel was not present during his hearing.

## Article 193, Detention of Persons under the Influence of Alcohol or Other Psychoactive Substances

A person under the influence of alcohol or other psychoactive substances found committing offenses may be detained on the order of a court or upon the decision of authorized police officers if there is a risk that it will continue to carry out violations.

Detention in a case referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article may last until the sobering up, but no longer than 12 hours.

If the person referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article, the driver of a motor vehicle and has more than 1.20 mg/ml of alcohol in the blood or is under the influence of other intoxicating substances, retention is required.

Retention is mandatory when a person referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article refuses to submit to a test for the presence of alcohol or other intoxicating substances.

If possible, in the case referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article, the judge shall inform family members of the detained person or other persons responsible for the care of the minor if detention is prescribed.

#### Article 207, Property Witnesses

Persons who are likely to be able to give information about the offense and the perpetrator and other relevant circumstances are called as witnesses.

## 2016 amendments:

#### The injured party may be examined as a witness.

#### Article 211, Exemption from the Duty to Testify

They were released from the duty to testify:

1) the spouse of the defendant;

2) defendant's relatives by blood in a direct line, relatives in the lateral line to the third degree, and relatives by marriage to the second degree inclusive;

3) an adopted child and adoptive parent of the defendant;

4) religious confessor about what the accused has confessed to.

The judge conducting misdemeanor proceedings shall under paragraph 1 of this Article, prior to their hearing or as soon as it learns about their relation to the defendant, warn that they do not have to testify. The warning and answer must be entered in the record.

The minor who due to age and mental development is unable to comprehend the importance of his privilege not to testify may not be examined as a witness, unless the defendant himself demands.

A person who has basis to deny testimony to one of the defendants is exempt from the duty to testify against other defendants if his testimony, by its nature, cannot be restricted solely to the other defendants.

#### Article 215, Confrontation of Witnesses

Witnesses may be confronted if their testimony disagrees with respect to important facts. Faced with each other individually about each circumstance on which their testimony disagrees and to hear their answer on the record.

At the same time only two witnesses may be faced.

To confront witnesses, the provisions of Article 205, paragraph 2 hereof shall apply.

A minor under fourteen years, who will be heard as a witness, cannot face the defendant and the other witnesses.

The minor aged fourteen and under the age of eighteen, which will be heard as a witness, cannot face the defendant and the other witnesses, if due to the nature of the offense, the consequences and other circumstances, this person is particularly sensitive, or is at a particularly difficult mental state.

#### Article 252, Publication of the Judgment

The verdict is published orally if the defendant is present, and a written judgment with an explanation shall be forwarded to the defendant and the applicant only if it is requested.

If the judgment is announced, the minutes shall include only the verdict and notes that the judgment was orally delivered, a brief explanation of the judgment, and instruction on legal remedy.

If the defendant requests that it receive a written judgment, the court is obliged to submit it within eight days from the date of publication.

The defendant shall be served, and will only submit a copy of the sentence to the claimant if: 1) the defendant states that it does not require a written judgment to be delivered; 2) when the defendant waived the right to appeal.

Waiver of the right to appeal shall be filed with the minutes and must contain the signatures of the accused and the judge.

The court is obliged to elaborate and submit a written copy of the verdict with an explanation at the request of the applicant. The deadline for an appeal of the applicant shall run from receipt of the written copy of the verdict with an explanation.

#### Article 256, Delivery to the Participants in the Proceeding

Written judgment shall be delivered to the applicant and to the accused under the provisions of this law.

The judgment is delivered on the injured party which is not the applicant if the decision is on a property claim, a person whose item was forfeited under the verdict, as well as the person against whom the measure of confiscation orders was pronounced.

#### Article 259, Persons Authorized to Lodge an Appeal

An appeal may be filed by the defendant, the defense counsel and the applicant.

An appeal may be lodged against the judgment and on the decisions issued in misdemeanor proceedings only if the right to appeal is not excluded by law.

In favor of the defendant may appeal his or her spouse, blood relative in a direct line, brother, sister, legal guardian, foster parent, adopted child, foster parent and a person with whom, cohabiting or other permanent community life.

The deadline for an appeal runs from the date the defendant has been sent a copy of the judgment and if the defendant has a defense attorney from the day when it is delivered to the copy of the judgment.

A legal representative and a representative of a legal entity may appeal on behalf of the legal person.

If the protective measure of confiscation of objects whose owner is not the defendant is pronounced, the owner of the items may appeal only in respect of the decision on the measure.

#### Article 308, The Execution of a Finality

The conviction can be carried out before its finality in the following cases:
if the defendant cannot prove their identity or has no residence or does not live at the address at which he is registered, or has his permanent residence abroad or if he goes abroad to stay, and the court finds that there is reasonable doubt that the accused will escape execution the sanctions imposed;
if the defendant is sentenced for a serious offense in the field of public peace and order, traffic safety and gross misdemeanor endangering the life or health of people or if it is in the interest of overall safety and security of goods and financial transactions or morality or for an offense of which can cause serious consequences, and there is reasonable suspicion that they will continue with the infringement, repeat offense, or to escape the enforcement of the sanctions.

In the cases referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article, the court will determine the verdict that the defendant before the judgment approaches its execution.

If the defendant files an appeal against the judgment rendering execution of the judgment before its finality, the court is bound to submit the appeal with the case file to the second instance misdemeanor court within 24 hours, counting from the time when the appeal was received, and the second instance misdemeanor court shall on appeal decide its verdict to the court within 48 hours counting from the time of receipt of the case file.

The verdict from paragraph 1 of this Article, the applicant may file an appeal within 48 hours counting from the time of receipt of the judgment.

#### Article 324, Register of Sanctions

In order to keep a record of misdemeanor sanctions imposed shall be a single register of sanctions.

The sanction register is a centralized electronic database that stores and process all data.

#### Article 325, Storage and handling of data in the register of sanctions

The register is kept on a central electronic data carrier at the ministry in charge of Justice, which is responsible for its maintenance and preservation.

The ministry in charge of justice shall take technical, personnel and organizational data protection measures, in accordance with established standards and procedures, which are needed to protect data from loss, destruction, unauthorized access, alteration, disclosure and any other abuse, as well as to establish the obligation of people employed in the processing of keeping the confidentiality of the data.

#### Article 326, Data controller in the register of sanctions

The president of the misdemeanor court appoints operator data in the registry that has the following powers and duties:

1) to ensure the lawful, systematic and timely entry, delete and modify data in the registry;

2) provides authorized persons access to the register;

3) issue certified extracts from the register and verify that person is not entered in the register;

4) ensure the preservation and archiving of documents, which is the basis for registration, delete or modify data in the register;

5) undertake other actions necessary for the smooth and regular updating of data in the registry, in accordance with the law.

#### Article 327, The data entered in the register of sanctions

In the register of sanctions shall be entered the following data:

1) full name and personal identity number of the convicted natural person, entrepreneur or a responsible person in the legal entity or passport number of a foreign natural person, the entrepreneur and the name and headquarters operations;

- 2) for the punished legal entity name and address, tax and ID number;
- 3) decision, and the final decision on imposing sanctions;
- 4) legal qualification of the offense committed;
- 5) type and description of imposed sanctions;
- 6) the imposed protective measures;
- 7) misdemeanor court that rendered the judgment or authority that issued the misdemeanor warrant;
- 8) Magistrates Court that made the entry;
- 9) the date of entry.

# Article 328, Data entry in the register of sanctions

Data input from Article 327 of this law shall be made by the court which has issued a final or a final decision which is the basis for entry or the court of first instance in whose territory was issued a misdemeanor order which is the basis for the entry.

Data entry in the register of sanctions is done immediately after the occurrence of finality, and the finality of the decision imposing the sanctions, which the competent court takes into account *ex officio*.

The issuer of the misdemeanor order, in accordance with Article 173, paragraph 3 of this law, is obliged immediately after the deadline referred to in Article 173, paragraph 2 of this law to submit a copy to the competent court of the issued misdemeanor warrant with the statement of finality, and notes whether the fine was paid.

#### Article 329, Deleting data from the register of sanctions

Sanctions imposed on a legal, physical and responsible person and entrepreneur shall be deleted from the records *ex officio* if the person in question within four years from the date the decision imposing sanctions does not commit a new offense.

Notwithstanding paragraph 1 of this Article, a warning clears up within a year of the decision imposing the sentence.

Juvenile imprisonment shall be deleted within two years of when the sentence is carried out, outdated or forgiven, unless a new offense was committed.

Protective measures will not be deleted from the misdemeanor records until it is completed or until the expiration date of the protective measures expires.

#### Article 330, Issuance of information from the register of sanctions

Data on the punished persons from the register of sanctions can only be given to another court, competent prosecutor's office, police and inspection authorities in connection with criminal proceedings or proceedings for an offense pending against a person who has previously been convicted of a misdemeanor, the competent authorities responsible for the enforcement of sanctions for violations, or competent bodies participating in the deletion of the sentence.

At the reasoned request of a body in the previous paragraph, data from the register of sanctions for the accused can be provided for the person in question if certain legal consequences of the punishment or protective measures are still in place or if there is a justified interest based on law.

Citizens and legal entities must, at their request, be given information about their punishment for violations.

Citizens and legal entities cannot be required to submit proof that they are not punished for violations other than as expressly required by law.

The application for information from the register of sanctions shall be submitted with proof of payment for the requested service. The fees for issuing data from the register of sanctions are prescribed by a special act by the Minister of Justice.

#### Article 331, The Register of unpaid fines and other monetary amounts

In order to facilitate the collection of fines, compensation and payment of other monetary amounts adjudicated on the basis of damages, property claim or seizure of property, a single registry of unpaid fines and other monetary amounts (hereinafter referred to as the register of fines) shall be kept.

The register is a centralized electronic database where all data is kept in the register.

All unpaid fines, trial costs and other monetary amounts which have been imposed by a final and enforceable decision of the court or by a final and executive misdemeanor warrant shall be entered in the register of fines.

Storage and handling of data in the register of fines shall be pursuant to the provisions on the register of sanctions under Article 325 and 326 of this law.

# Law on Police (Official Gazette, 2005 and no. 92/2011) (replaced by Law on Police, Official Gazette, no. 06/2016)

#### Article 39, When Warnings May be Issued

Authorized officers shall warn a person whose actions or failure to act may endanger personal or thirdparty safety or property, disturb public order or endanger traffic, or when there are reasonable grounds to expect that a person may commit, or induce another to commit, a criminal offense.

#### Article 53, When a person may be detained

If the law does not specify otherwise, authorized officers shall detain a person who disturbs the peace or endangers public order when it is not possible otherwise to establish order or eliminate the disturbance. Detention can last up to 24 hours.

The detention of a person extradited by foreign security services or who is to be bound over to a competent authority may not exceed 48 hours.

A detention order must be issued and served on the detainee within two hours following his or her transfer to official property. The detainee is entitled, at any time during detention, to appeal against the detention order. The court shall rule on the appeal within 48 hours.

The appeal shall not suspend execution of the detention order.

Detention shall end when the grounds for ordering it have ceased to apply, or by order of the competent court.

If a member of the armed forces is detained, military police shall be notified without delay.

#### Article 76, Records of personal information and other data

The police shall keep records of:

- 1) Persons who for any reason are deprived of freedom in whole or part (transported, detained, restricted, arrested, in custody or other);
- 2) Persons under reasonable suspicion of having committed a criminal offense;
- 3) Criminal offenses subject to public prosecution committed by persons unknown; victims of such offenses;
- 4) Criminal offenses subject to private prosecution committed by persons unknown;
- 5) Persons wanted by the authorities , and objects and persons banned from entering the country;
- 6) Identity checks of persons;
- 7) Persons who have undergone identity checks, fingerprinting, police photographing or DNA analysis;
- 8) Field reports, field sources and persons under special police protection;
- 9) Field techniques and methods as applied;
- 10) Events;
- 11) Means of enforcement as applied;
- 12) Complaints.

# Article 81, Time-limits for maintaining records of personal information and other data

Information defined in Article 76 of this Act shall be kept in official records.

- 1) As to Point 1, for three years after a ruling on further proceedings against a person whose freedom has been restricted, after the person has been released from the restriction;
- 2) As to Point 2, for five years following the deadline for rehabilitation by law, if the person has not been charged again;
- 3) As to Point 3, for five years after the statute of limitations has expired for the offense;
- 4) As to Point 4, for one year after the statute of limitations has expired for the offense;
- 5) As to Point 5, until the person is found or it is determiend that further search is unwarranted;
- 6) As to Point 6, for two years following the identity check;
- 7) As to Points 7, 8, 9, and 10, permanently;
- 8) As to Point 11, for ten years following the use of the enforcement measures;
- 9) As to Point 12, for ten years after the complaint is received.

#### Article 153, Professional development and advanced training

Pursuant to this Law, professional development and advanced training means acquiring and improving professional knowledge, skills, attitudes and behavior, and increasing efficiency and effectiveness in the discharge of police tasks.

The Minister shall specify:

- 1) The program for professional development, including approach and training methods, and professional exams for trainees;
- 2) Content and form of professional development and advanced training pursuant to Point 1) of this article;
- 3) Rights, duties and responsibilities of trainees in professional development and advanced training;
- 4) Criteria for selection of candidates for attending professional development courses, pursuant to published notice;
- 5) Other issues related to professional development and advanced training.

Professional development and advanced training pursuant to paragraph 1 of this Article are implemented in the Ministry's in-house educational institutions and other united.

During professional development training, trainees shall be provided with board and lodging, as well as other rights as determined by the Minister in the decision specified in paragraph 2, Point 3) of this Article.

Trainees who successfully complete the professional development training are required to remain for a minimum of three years in the Ministry or to repay a proportional amount of costs from training and education.

#### Article 154, Implementing professional development and advanced training

The Minister shall issued programs for professional development and advanced training.

Pursuant to Paragraph 1 of this Article, the Director General of Police shall specify plans for individual forms of professional development and advanced training within the framework of available funds in the budget.

Police officers may participate in other forms of professional development and advanced training in programs conducted by domestic and foreign institutions, in accordance with separate programs and plans.

Foreign participants may take part in implementing professional development and advanced training specified in paragraph 1 of this Article, pursuant to agreement.

#### Article 189, Cooperation, protection of rights and providing legal assistance to individuals

In performing law enforcement duties, the police shall provide information and advice to individuals relevant to their personal safety and property, as well as other related information obtained by the police, unless doing so would constitute a violation of law.

An individual whose personal rights are endangered may turn to the police for the protection of rights if, in the particular case, there is no other legal protection for the rights and if infringement of the rights is related to the individual's personal safety or property.

The police shall provide assistance to an individual upon request pursuant to Paragraph 2 of this Article, if the request is in accordance with police purview; otherwise, the police must forward the request to competent authorities and inform the individual.

#### Law on Police (Official Gazette, no. 06/2016)

#### Article 18, The relationship between the police, public prosecutor, and the court

The police in preliminary investigation and pre-trial investigation apply police powers laid down in the Criminal Procedure Code and acting at the orders and requests of the public prosecutor and the court.

In trial, the police act at the orders of the Magistrate's Court.

#### Article 28, Police conduct in cases of domestic violence

If there are reports of violence or threats of violence in the family, police officers are obliged to, in cooperation with other competent authorities, immediately take the necessary measures and actions in accordance with the law, whose commission is to prevent or stop the violence that may result in bodily injury or deprivation of life.

# Article 35, Protecting rights and providing legal assistance to citizens

In performing police duties, police are obliged to provide citizens with information and advice on the nature of their personal and property safety, if it is not contrary to the law and does not endanger policing.

••••

# Article 53, Police assistance in the execution of the procedures in out of court settlement

If, during the execution of an act of the State body or natural or legal person with public authority, or an authorized legal or natural person in the extra-judicial settlement (hereinafter referred to as the execution) resistance is reasonably expected, the police will, upon written request, provide assistance to facilitate the safe conduct of the execution.

•••

# Article 54, Assistance in the execution

The written request of an authorized entity referred to in Article 53, paragraph 1 of this Law, shall be submitted to the relevant local organizational unit of the police, at least five working days before the date set for the execution.

The request for assistance shall specify the reasons for which the requestor needs police help, and the request shall be accompanied by a copy of the act to be done, with the confirmation of enforceability, evidence of the attempted commission without police assistance and evidence on the involvement of related services that are necessary for execution.

In urgent cases, the requirements of paragraph 1 of this Article may be presented verbally, by submitting a written request within 48 hours.

The chief of police department or the head of the police station shall decide on the involvement of the police and the scope and manner of providing assistance in carrying out the execution and promptly inform the applicant.

Before the start of the execution, police are obliged to warn the defendants or other persons present that [they] will use coercive measures against them if they are obstructed or prevented [from] the execution.

# Article 56, Police assistance to health workers

At the invitation of doctors, police officers will assist health professionals in coping with the physical resistance of a person with mental disabilities, who because of the mental distress, seriously and directly endangers his own life, health, or safety, or the life, health or safety of another person, which should be placed in a psychiatric institution without his consent, while the person provides physical resistance and until the disposal and elimination of immediate danger of that person is provided.

••••

# Article 72, The conditions for the use of warning

A police officer will warn the person whose behavior, operation or failure to act may endanger his safety or the safety of another person or the safety of property, disrupt public order or endanger road safety or when it is reasonably expected that this person could make or cause another person to commit an offense or a misdemeanor.

# Article 86, Conditions of detention

A police officer will retain the person when another statute prescribes it.

Passing judgment on the detention and an appeal procedure on a detention decision shall be made in accordance with the law under which the detention is determined.

Detention is terminated when the reasons for which it was specified cease, or by court decision.

# Article 88, Temporary restriction of freedom of movement

A police officer may, in accordance with the law, temporarily restrict, up to a maximum of eight hours from the decision, the freedom of movement of a person in a certain area or in the house, in order to:

- 1) Prevent the commission of crimes or offenses;
- 2) Locate and arrest perpetrators of crimes and offenses;
- 3) Find and arrest a person being traced;
- 4) Find clues and items that may serve as evidence in criminal and misdemeanor proceedings.

Decisions to restrict the freedom of movement in a particular area or facility are made by the police director or chief of the police administration or the person they so authorize.

Temporary restriction of freedom of movement cannot last longer than the achievement of the purposes for which the authorization was applied.

To limit the freedom of movement for more than eight hours requires the approval of the competent court.

# Article 131, Training, Professional Development, and Training

Training of employees in the Ministry, in terms of this law, for the purpose of career development, involves the acquisition and improvement of knowledge, skills, attitudes and behaviors in order to increase efficiency and effectiveness in the conduct of police and other internal affairs.

•••

The Ministry can carry out training, professional education and training of third parties, in accordance with the law.

# Article 133

Professional Education and Training in the Ministry is carried out according to relevant programs and training plans.

....

# Article 252

The police, in order to perform the tasks within the purview of the Ministry, may process personal information and keep records.

The records referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article shall be prescribed by a special law.

#### Law on Social Protection (Off. Gazette, no. 24/2011)

# Article 3, Social Welfare Obligations

Social welfare objectives shall be as follows:

- 1) Reaching or maintaining minimum financial security and independence of individuals in meeting their subsistence needs;
- 2) Enabling access to social welfare rights and services;
- 3) Creating equal opportunities for independent living and encouraging social inclusion;

- 4) Maintaining and improving family relations, and promotion of family, gender and intergenerational solidarity;
- 5) Preventing and removing consequences of abuse, neglect or exploitation.

The social welfare objectives shall be reached by providing the social welfare services and other activities which prevent, reduce, or eliminate dependence of individuals and families of social welfare services.

# Article 5, The social welfare services and financial assistance

The right to different forms of financial support is exercised in order to ensure existential minimums and support to social inclusion of the user.

# Article 35, Right to Self-Decision and Participation in Decision-Making

Users shall have the right to participate in the assessment of their condition and needs and in making a decision on whether to accept such service provision, as well as to timely receive all the information necessary for making such, including description, goal and benefit of the proposed service, as well as the information about the proposed alternative services and other information relevant to the service provision.

No service can be provided without the consent of users, i.e. their legal representative, except in cases specified by the Law.

....

# Article 37, The Right to Data Confidentiality

Users shall have the right to confidentiality of all private data contained in the documentation which is processed for report-making, i.e. for records, including the ones concerning their personality, behavior and family circumstances, manner of social service use during the procedure and use of social services.

Users' right to data confidentiality may be deviated from only in cases foreseen by the Law.

#### Article 38, The Right to Privacy

User shall have the right to respect of privacy during social service provision.

Asking for the information or undertaking actions necessary for providing the services or ensuring the right of user shall not be considered a violation of the user's privacy.

#### Article 55, Placement at the Shelter

Placement at a shelter shall ensure a short-term placement and safety of a user, finding of sustainable solutions for crisis situations and meeting of the user's basic needs and enable access to other community-based services.

Shelter service shall be ensured by a local self-government unit, except in cases foreseen by this Law.

#### Article 110, One-Off Assistance

One-off assistance shall be assistance provided to a person who is unexpectedly or momentarily in the state of social need, and a person who is referred to residential or family placement and does not have the funds to obtain clothing, shoeware and to cover travel costs that are necessary for placement.

One-off assistance may be cash and in-kind.

Local self-government unit shall be responsible for the provision of one-off cash and in-kind assistance.

The procedure and payment of one-off cash-assistance shall be conducted by a center for social work, while the procedure and allocation of assistance in kind shall be conducted by a body, organization or service designated by the act issued by the local self-government unit.

Local self-government unit shall prescribe in details the conditions and manner of exercise and amount of one-off assistance.

The amount of one-off assistance cannot be higher than the average income per employee in the local self-government unit, in a month before the month of the payment.

The Government shall decide on allocation of the one-off assistance referred to in Paragraph 7 of this Article.

# APPENDIX B. COMMENTARY ON THE LAW ON PREVENTION OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE

Unofficial translation – entered into force on June 1, 2017.

#### Commentary:

The Advocates for Human Rights ("The Advocates") reviewed the Law on Prevention of Domestic Violence (hereinafter, the "LPDV"). The Advocates bases its comments on an unofficial translation of the LPDV.

The Advocates congratulates the Serbian government for undetaking the difficult process of drafting laws to protect its citizens from domestic violence. The LPDV reflects an important step forward to meet Serbia's positive obligations under the international and regional treaties that it has ratified. In particular, The Advocates notes that there are several positive aspects of the LPDV that will promote victim safety, including:

- 1) The express aim of the LPDV is to enable the effective prevention of domestic violence and provide urgent, timely, and effective protection and support of victims of domestic violence
- 2) The creation of an emergency order for protection issued by the police that can be extended up to 30 days by the court
- 3) Sanctions for violations of the emergency order for protection
- 4) Inter-agency collaboration
- 5) Information sharing among system actors

The Advocates offers the following comments on the LPDV. Comments by The Advocates are incorporated below the relevant articles.

"Sl. glasnik RS", br. 94/2016

# I. GENERAL PROVISIONS

#### Subject of the Law Article 1

This law regulates the prevention of domestic violence and actions of state bodies and institutions in preventing domestic violence and providing protection and support to victims of domestic violence.

This law does not apply to minors who commit domestic violence.

# Purpose of the Law Article 2

The aim of this law is to regulate the organization and conduct of state bodies and institutions in a general and unique manner, thus enabling the effective prevention of domestic violence and the urgent, timely and effective protection and support for victims of domestic violence.

# Preventing domestic violence, immediate danger of domestic violence, domestic violence Article 3

Preventing domestic violence consists of a set of measures that reveal whether the immediate threat of violence is threatened and the set of measures that are applied when the immediate risk is detected.

The immediate danger of domestic violence exists when the behavior of the potential perpetrator and other circumstances show that he is ready, in the immediate time, to do for the first time or repeat domestic violence.

Domestic violence, under this Act, shall be the act of physical, sexual, psychological or economic violence of a perpetrator to the person with whom the offender is in a current or former marital or extra-marital or partner relationship or to persons with whom he is a blood relative in a direct line, and lateral to the second degree, or with whom-law up to the second level or to whom is adoptive parent, adopted, or foster child or foster parent or another person with whom he lives or has lived in the household.

Commentary: This definition of domestic violence is similar to the broader definition under the Family Law. This is a commendable step taken by the Serbian government in recognizing that domestic violence occurs in relationships where individuals do not or no longer live together. However, the more restricted definition of family member under the Criminal Code has not been modified and continues to exclude these relationships from protection under the criminal laws. The Advocates recommends amendments to the Criminal Code to make consistent the definitions under the LPDV, Family Law, and Criminal Code, in accordance with best-practice standards.

# The application of this law to certain offenses

#### Article 4

This law also applies to cooperation in preventing domestic violence (art. 24-27) in criminal proceedings for criminal offenses:

- 1) persecution (Article 138a Criminal Code);
- 2) Rape (Article 178 Criminal Code);
- 3) sexual intercourse with a helpless person (Article 179 Criminal Code);
- 4) sexual intercourse with a child (Article 180, Criminal Code);
- 5) sexual intercourse by abuse of position (article 181, Criminal Code);
- 6) illicit sexual intercourse (Article 182 of Criminal Code);
- 7) sexual harassment (Article 182a Criminal Code);
- 8) procuring and enabling sexual intercourse (Article 183 of the Criminal Code);
- 9) pimping (Article 184 Criminal Code);

10) showing, obtaining and possessing pornographic material and exploitation of minors for pornography (Article 185 of the Criminal Code);

- 11) indicuing a minor to attend sexual acts (Article 185a Criminal Code);
- 12) neglect and abuse of a minor (article 193 of the Criminal Code);
- 13) domestic violence (Article 194 Criminal Code);
- 14) failure to provide maintenance (Article 195 Criminal Code);
- 15) violation of family responsibilities (Article 196 of the Criminal Code);
- 16) incest (Article 197 Criminal Code);
- 17) trafficking in persons (Article 388 of the Criminal Code);
- 18) other criminal offenses, if the offense was the result of domestic violence.

This law shall also apply to the provision of protection and support to victims of offenses referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article (hereinafter: the offenses specified in this law).

# Application of regulations Article 5

Unless the law provides otherwise, the prevention of domestic violence, in proceedings against perpetrators of criminal offenses stipulated in this law, and in providing protection and support to victims of domestic violence and victims of crimes defined by this Law shall apply the Criminal Code, Criminal Procedure Code, the Law of Civil Procedure, Family Law and the Law on Police.

# Disciplinary Responsibility Article 6

Failure of judges, public prosecutors and deputy public prosecutors in the timeframe specified in this law constitutes misconduct.

Commentary: This article provides important accountability for system actors to act under the LPDV. Additional protections should be established to ensure the effective implementation and ongoing monitoring of their actions and an effective and accessible complaint mechanism to hold actors responsible for their obligations under the law.

# **II. AUTHORITIES AND INSTITUTIONS**

# Article 7

The police, public prosecutor's offices, courts of general jurisdiction and misdemeanor courts, as the competent national authorities, and centers for social work, as institutions, are responsible for the prevention of domestic violence and the provision of protection and support to victims of domestic violence and victims of crimes defined by this law.

In addition to the competent state authorities and centers for social work, other institutions in the field of children, social protection, education, education and health are involved in the prevention of domestic violence by providing assistance and information on violence, as well as providing support to victims of violence (hereinafter: State bodies and institutions responsible for the implementation of this law), as well as bodies for gender equality at the level of local self-governments.

Support to victims of domestic violence and victims of crimes defined by this law can also be provided by other legal and natural persons and associations.

Commentary: The Advocates recommends that this provision explicitly recognize that NGOs that serve victims of domestic violence also provide support.

#### *Police* Article 8

The head of the regional police administration designates police officers who have completed specialized training to prevent domestic violence and provide protection to victims of violence (hereinafter: the competent police officer).

Commentary: The Advocates commends the Serbian government for continuing to emphasize the need for police officers to have specialized training in domestic violence and recommends that all police officers, whether deemed domestic violence specialists or not, receive training on the dynamics of domestic violence. These trainings should be lead by or conducted in consultation with NGOs that serve victims of domestic violence.

# Prosecutor's Office Article 9

In each public prosecutor's office, in addition to those specific competencies, the public prosecutor determines deputy public prosecutors who have completed specialized training to exercise competencies of the public prosecution in domestic violence prevention and prosecution of offenders defined by this law.

Commentary: Serbia should be commended for recognizing the need for prosecutors to receive specialized training for domestic violence prosecutions. As indicated in the report, specialized knowledge is important because the dynamics in domestic violence crimes are different than in crimes between strangers. The Advocates recommends that all prosecutors receive training on domestic violence and that the Serbian government ensure that any specialized prosecutors receive adequate support and resources.

# Courts

# Article 10

The president of each court of general jurisdiction and the misdemeanor court determine judges who have completed specialized training to try cases of preventing domestic violence and the criminal acts defined by this Law.

As objects of preventing domestic violence are considered the procedures for the extension of the emergency measures, the procedures for determining the rate of protection against domestic violence provided by the Family Law (hereinafter: the degree of protection from domestic violence) and misdemeanor proceedings for offenses under this law (Article 36).

Commentary: Again, Serbia should be commended for recognizing the need for judges to have specialized knowledge on domestic violence. This specialized knowledge is important because there are different dynamics in situations of domestic violence that can impact a party's or a victim's actions in civil or criminal proceedings. The Advocates recommends that all judges receive training on domestic violence.

# Center for Social Work Article 11

The head of each center for social work determines, among the employees in the center, a team of experts to help prevent domestic violence and provide support to victims of violence.

Commentary: The Advocates commends the Serbian government for including provisions where each CSW will have a team of experts on domestic violence. The Advocates recommends that the Serbian government also require all CSW employees to receive training on domestic violence that is lead by or conducted in consultation with NGOs that serve victims of domestic violence.

# **III. PROCEEDINGS**

# General Rules Article 12

State agencies and institutions responsible for implementation of this law are obliged to prevent, in a fast, effective and coordinated manner, domestic violence and petty crime defined by this law and to provide victim protection, legal aid and psychosocial and other support for the sake of her recovery, empowerment and independence.

Commentary: The Advocates commends the Serbian government for recognizing the importance of providing immediate services to victims of domestic violence. The Law on Free Legal Aid has been pending for years, however, and still has not been passed. The Advocates recommends that Serbia adopt legislation that ensures accessible free legal aid for victims of domestic violence, including the Law on Free Legal Aid, which would allow NGOs to be legal aid providers.

# a) Prevention of domestic violence

# Registration and identification of domestic violence Article 13

Everyone must report domestic violence or imminent danger from it to the police or the public prosecutor without delay.

State and other bodies, organizations and institutions are obliged to immediately report to the police or the public prosecutor any knowledge about domestic violence or immediate danger from it.

The competent national authorities and centers for social work (Art. 8-11) are obliged, within their regular activities, to recognize domestic violence or the threat of it.

Recognition can arise from a study of the application which was submitted on a victim of violence by anyone, the detection of traces of physical or other violence on the victim, and other circumstances indicating the existence of domestic violence or imminent danger of it.

A public prosecutor who has reported violence or imminent threat of it, is obliged to immediately forward the application to the police officers, so that they notify the competent police officer (Article 14, paragraph 1).

#### Acting police officers Article 14

Police officers are obliged to immediately inform the competent police officer of any domestic violence or immediate danger from it, no matter how they find out, and are entitled to, on their own or at the request of a competent police officer, bring the potential perpetrator to the relevant organizational unit of the police to conduct the procedure.

Staying in the competent organizational unit of the police to conduct the procedure may not exceed eight hours.

During the proceedings in the competent organizational unit of the police, a potential offender has to be instructed and be allowed to contact and use services of counsel and legal aid in accordance with the Constitution and laws of the Republic of Serbia.

# Acting competent police officer Article 15

The responsible officer must make it possible for the perpetrator who was brought to the relevant organizational unit of the police the opportunity to comment on all relevant facts, to collect the necessary information from other police officers, immediately assess the risk of immediate danger of domestic violence (hereinafter referred to as risk assessment ) and that, under the conditions stipulated herein (Article 17, paragraph 1), to issue an emergency measure for preventing domestic violence (hereinafter referred to as an emergency measure).

If the offender has not been brought to the relevant organizational unit of the police, the competent officer assesses the risk immediately upon receipt of notification of police officers on domestic violence or immediate danger from him.

Prior to the completion of the risk assessment, the competent officer may, if necessary, seek the opinion of the center for social work.

# Risk Assessment Article 16

Risk assessment is based on available information and takes place as soon as possible.

In the assessment of risk, particular consideration is given to whether the possible perpetrator has, before or immediately before the risk assessment, committed domestic violence and whether he is ready to repeat it, has threatened murder or suicide, possesses a weapon, is mentally ill or an abuser of psychoactive substances, whether there is a conflict over child custody or on ways of maintaining personal relations between the child and the parent who is a possible perpetrator, whether he is a possible perpetrator with imposed emergency measures or specific measures of protection from domestic violence, whether the victim is experiencing fear and how she assesses the risk of violence.

The competent police officer immediately submits all available information of domestic violence or imminent danger from him and risk assessment - if it indicates an immediate threat of violence – to a basic public prosecutor in whose territory is the permanent or temporary residence of the victim, the center for social work and group of coordination and cooperation.

If the competent officer establishes that the danger is not immediate, all available information of domestic violence or the threat of it, and its risk assessment is delivered to the basic public prosecutor and the center for social work.

#### Emergency Measures Article 17

If, after risk assessment, there is an imminent danger of domestic violence, a competent police officer brings an order imposing an emergency measure to the perpetrator brought to the relevant organizational unit of the police (Article 15, Paragraph 1).

Emergency measures are: measures of temporary removal of the offender from the apartment and measure of a temporary ban on the offender to contact the victim of violence and approach her.

The order can include both emergency measures.

The order contains: name of the body that brings it, information about the person to whom emergency measures are imposed, the type of urgent measures to be imposed and their duration, day and time of imposing emergency measures and the obligation of a person to whom an emergency measure was ordered to report to the police officer after its expiration.

The order is given to the person to whom the urgent measures are imposed. If he refuses to receive orders, the authorized officer shall draw up on the note, which is considered to be the order delivered.

The competent officer shall submit the order, immediately after its delivery, to the basic public prosecutor in whose territory is the permanent or temporary residence of the victim, the center for social work and group for coordination and cooperation, and the victim of violence in writing to inform on the type of emergency measures imposed.

#### Acting Public Prosecutor Article 18

Upon receipt of the notification, risk assessment and orders, the basic public prosecutor examines the notification and evaluates the risk assessment of the competent police officer.

If it subsequently establishes an immediate danger of domestic violence, he is obliged to file a court motion to extend the emergency measures, within 24 hours from the time of delivery of orders to the person to whom emergency measures were imposed.

In addition to the proposal, the basic public prosecutor submits to the court the risk assessment of the competent police officer, his evaluation of its risk assessment and other evidence pointing to an immediate risk of domestic violence.

# *Of the court in the first instance* Article 19

The proposal to extend the emergency measures shall be filed with the basic court in whose territory the permanent or temporary residence of the victim is located, and the judge shall decide on the proposal.

The court extends the emergency measure if, after evaluating the risk assessment of the competent police officer, the evaluation of the risk assessment made by the basic public prosecutor, the appraisal of the presented evidence and claims from the proposal of the basic public prosecutor and the statement of the person to whom the emergency measure was pronounced establish immediate danger of domestic violence; otherwise, the judge refuses the proposal as unfounded.

Decision on the proposal shall be adopted without holding a hearing, within 24 hours of receipt of the proposal to extend the emergency measures.

# An appeal against the decision of the basic court Article 20

The public prosecutor and the person to whom emergency measures are imposed can file an appeal against the decision of the basic court with a higher court within three days of receipt of the ruling, and through the basic court that issued the decision.

The basic court is obliged to forward the appeal and all case files to the higher court within 12 hours of receipt of the appeal.

An appeal shall be decided by a larger higher court of three judges, within three days after it has received an appeal from the basic courts.

The High Court may reject the appeal and confirm the decision of the basic court or adopt the appeal and revise the decision of the basic court. The court cannot abolish the decision of the basic court and returned the case to the main court for a new action.

The appeal does not stay the execution of the decision of the basic court.

The law governing civil procedure shall apply to the procedure for deciding on the extension of an emergency measure, unless this law provides otherwise.

#### The duration of the emergency measures Article 21

Emergency measures imposed by the competent police officer are in effect for 48 hours after delivery of the order.

The Court may extend an emergency measure for 30 days.

If the emergency measures for temporary removal of the offender from the apartment are extended, the person to whom it is pronounced may take necessary personal belongings from the apartment accompanied by police officers.

#### b) Special provisions on criminal proceedings

#### Obligation to Report offense Article 22

A person who has information on the criminal offense defined by this Law shall be obliged to report it to the police or public prosecutor.

# The urgency in decision-making on measures to ensure the presence of the accused Article 23

In criminal proceedings conducted for the criminal offenses defined in this law, the court shall within 24 hours decide on the proposal of the Public Prosecutor to determine the extent of prohibition of approaching, meeting or communicating with a particular person and visiting certain places, measures of house arrest and ban on leaving the apartment.

# **IV. COOPERATION IN THE PREVENTION OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE**

#### The persons designated liaison Article 24

The persons responsible for the connection shall be appointed in the police administration, basic and higher public prosecutor's office, primary and higher court, and center for social work.

They are appointed by the head of the police department, the public prosecutor, the court president and head of the Center for Social Work, from among the competent police officers and judges and deputy public prosecutors who have completed specialized training, and employees of the center for social work.

The persons designated for the purposes of daily communication exchange information and data relevant to the prevention of domestic violence, detection, prosecution and trial of offenses specified in this law and to provide protection and support to victims of domestic violence and victims of crimes defined by this law.

The Minister for Internal Affairs, Minister of Justice and the minister responsible for family protection shall mutually prescribe the manner of exchanging information and data between the persons designated for liason.

Commentary: The Advocates commends Serbia for requiring these key actors to coordinate with respect to domestic violence cases and notes that it is an important step; however, it is critical that NGOs who work with victims of domestic violence are an integral part of this collaboration and are able to participate on their request. In addition, all participants should receive training so that these collaborations are effective.

# The group for coordination and cooperation Article 25

In the area of each of the basic public prosecutor's office shall be established a group for coordination and cooperation.

It examines each case of domestic violence that was not concluded with a final court decision in a civil or criminal proceeding, cases when the protection and support to victims of domestic violence and victims of offenses under this Act should be provided, makes an individual plan of protection and support to victims and proposes to the relevant public prosecutor's office measures of judicial procedures.

The Group for Coordination and Cooperation holds meetings at least once every 15 days, and minutes of the meetings are kept.

Meetings may, where appropriate, be attended by representatives of education, educational and health institutions and the National Employment Service, representatives of other legal entities and associations and individuals who provide protection and support to victims.

The group for coordination and cooperation shall adopt rules of procedure that will govern its operation and decision making.

Commentary: The Advocates recommends that NGO participation should not be discretionary. These collaborations should include representatives from NGOs who work with victims of domestic violence, and those representatives should be central to this process and able to participate on their request.

# *The composition of the group for coordination and cooperation* Article 26

Group for Coordination and Cooperation consists of representatives of basic public prosecutor's offices, police departments and centers for social work, from the areas for which the group is formed.

Members of the group for coordination and cooperation are appointed by managers of the authority, from the ranks of deputy public prosecutors who completed specialized training and competent police officers and employees in centers for social work who work on domestic violence cases.

The group for Coordination and Cooperation is chaired by a member of the group from the ranks of deputy public prosecutor.

If prosecuting offenders of criminal offenses determined by this law are more publicly prosecuted, the senior public prosecutor appoints his deputy, who has completed specialized training, to participate in and chair working groups.

# Rules on Cooperation Article 27

The Minister of Justice, the Minister for Internal Affairs, and the minister responsible for family protection shall, by mutual consent, issue rules on cooperation, which shall closely regulate their respective rights.

The rules of cooperation define the obligations and cooperation of state bodies and institutions responsible for implementation of this law in preventing domestic violence and providing protection and support to victims of domestic violence and victims of crimes defined by this law.

Commentary: This Article follows some of the best practices of inter-agency actions: that there are rules of cooperation that define the roles of the participants and that responses are victim-centered. Again, The Advocates recommends that NGOs who work with victims of domestic violence be included as key participants in these collaborations.

# V. TRAINING

# Specialized Training Article 28

The police officials and public prosecutors, deputy public prosecutors and judges who apply the law are required to complete specialized training according to the program adopted by the Judicial Academy.

Specialized training conducted by the Judicial Academy for public prosecutors, deputy public prosecutors and judges, in cooperation with other professional institutions and organizations, and for police officers specialized training is conducted by the Criminal Police Academy.

Upon completion of specialized training, the Judicial Academy and the Police Academy trainees are issued certificates of completion of training.

The issuance and form of certificates shall be regulated by an act of the Judicial Academy and the Police Academy.

Commentary: The Advocates recommends that the Judicial Academy and Criminal Police College receive input from representatives of NGOs who work with victims of domestic violence to ensure that the required specialized training reflects the unique dynamics of domestic violence crimes and trains participants in how to protect and support victims of domestic violence.

# VI. PROTECT AND SUPPORT VICTIMS OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE AND VICTIMS OF CRIMES DEFINED BY THIS LAW

# The right to information Article 29

State agencies and institutions responsible for implementation of this law are obliged, in the first contact with a victim of domestic violence or a victim of an offense under this Act, to give the victim a complete information about the authorities, legal entities and associations that provide protection and support, in a way and in a language the victim of violence understands.

Commentary: The Advocates recommends that, to ensure effective implementation of this Article, one entity should be designated as responsible to review and maintain the list of information provided to victims. In addition, the responsible entity should be required to consult with NGOs who work with victims of domestic violence to ensure that the information is up-to-date.

# The right to free legal aid Article 30

A victim of domestic violence and victim of an offense under this Act shall be entitled to free legal aid, under a special law.

Commentary: The Advocates recommends that Serbia adopt legislation that ensures accessible free legal aid for victims of domestic violence, including the Law on Free Legal Aid, which would allow NGOs to be legal aid providers.

# Individual plan of protection and support to victims Article 31

Upon receipt of the risk assessment that identified an immediate danger of domestic violence, the group for coordination and cooperation develops an individual plan of protection and support of victims, which contains comprehensive and effective measures to protect and support victims, but also other family members needing support.

The victim also participates in the preparation of an individual plan of protection and support, if he so wishes and her emotional and physical condition allows.

Measures of protection must ensure the safety of the victim, stop the violence, prevent it happening again and protect the rights of victims, and provide measures of support to enable the victim to provide psychosocial and other support for the sake of her recovery, empowerment and independence.

The individualized plan of protection and support to the victim determines the executors of concrete measures and deadlines for their implementation, as well as the plan to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of planned and implemented measures.

Individual plans of protection and support to victims are also made for victims of criminal offenses under this Act.

Commentary: The Advocates recommends amendments to this article to recognize that any safety plan for an adult victim of domestic violence requires her input and that victims should not, and will not, be compelled to participate in or take any actions with respect to safety plans. In addition, The Advocates repeats its recommendation that collaborations include representatives from NGOs who work with victims of domestic violence.

# **VII. A RECORD OF CASES OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE**

# Logs

#### Article 32

The competent police department keeps records of reported cases of domestic violence and of imposing and carrying out of emergency measures and enforcement of protective measures against domestic violence.

The records of the police administration contain:

 data on reported cases of domestic violence (participants of the event, time, place, collected statements, the circumstances of the case, the information about possible victims and others);
information on the notified possible perpetrator (name, surname, ID number, address of residence or domicile, information on previously defined measures of protection from domestic violence);

3) information on risk assessment and the names of the authority which has risk assessment submitted;

4) information on the imposition of emergency measures (the date and the number of orders to impose emergency measures, their duration and the time of the beginning of their lifetime);5) information on the extension and execution of emergency measures (number and date of the basic court to extend the emergency measures, information on the execution of emergency measures);

6) data on the execution of measures of protection from domestic violence.

The Basic Court shall keep records of their decisions on the proposals for the extension of emergency measures and of certain measures of protection against domestic violence.

Record of the Basic Court on proposals for the extension of emergency measures include:

1) information about the person to whom an emergency measure was extended (name, surname, ID number, address of residence or domicile, information on previously defined measures of protection from domestic violence);

2) number and date of the decision extending an emergency measure;

3) number and date of the decision rejecting the proposal to extend the emergency measures;

4) information on the appeal against the decision rendered on the proposal for the extension of emergency measures;

5) information concerning the decision taken on the appeal.

The records of the Basic Court on certain measures of protection against domestic violence include:

1) information about the person against whom is issued a certain measure of protection from domestic violence (name, surname, ID number, address of residence or domicile, information on previously defined measures of protection from domestic violence);

2) information about the court decision on measures of protection from domestic violence (number and date of the decision, the type of measure that is defined and its duration);

3) information on the appeal against the court's decision on measures of protection from domestic violence;

4) information concerning the decision taken on the appeal;

5) information on the extension or termination of protective measures against domestic violence.

The basic prosecutor's office keeps track of proposals for the extension of emergency measures and requirements for the determination of protective measures against domestic violence.

Records of the basic public prosecutor's office include:

1) Information regarding the person against whom is the proposed extension of emergency measures (name, surname, ID number, address of residence or domicile, information on previously defined measures of protection from domestic violence);

2) information on the extension of emergency measures (date and number of the proposal for the extension of emergency measures, the name of the court where the proposed extension of emergency measures, the court's decision on the proposal of the public prosecutor, data about the decision on appeal);

3) the identity of any action for the determination of protective measures in the family;

4) the type of protective measures against domestic violence whose determination is sought;5) information on the court's decision concerning the action to determine the degree of protection from domestic violence (number and date of the decision, the type of measure that is determined and duration of the measure);

6) information on the extension or termination of the measures of protection from domestic violence.

The competent social work center keeps track of the implementation of individual plans of protection and support to victims.

The records center for social work includes:

1) name, surname, ID number and address of permanent or temporary residence of the victim;

2) information on the individual level of protection and support to victims;

3) information on planned measures to protect victims;

4) information on planned measures to support the victim;

5) information on the executors of concrete measures to protect and support and deadlines for their implementation;

6) information on the plan to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of planned and implemented measures.

The records of police departments, basic courts, basic public prosecutors' offices and social work centers are kept in electronic form and make the main record on cases of domestic violence (hereinafter: the Central Records), led by the Republic Public Prosecutor.

Data can be entered into the Central Records only by using the corresponding protected access codes.

Data is stored in the registers and in the Central Records for ten years and thereafter deleted.

# Access to records

#### Article 33

Access to data from the Central Records is allowed only to exercise the jurisdiction provided for in this law and with the use of protected access codes.

The deputy public prosecutor who exercises the competencies of the Public Prosecutor's office in preventing domestic violence and prosecuting offenders defined by this law (Article 9) has the right to access to all data from the Central Records.

The competent police officer has the right to access the Central Records for the section that contains the records of regional police departments and competent social welfare centers, the competent courts

only in the part which contains data from records kept by basic courts, and the centers for social work - just in that part which contains data from records kept by the centers for social work.

Commentary: The Advocates commends the creation of a centralized database of information shared among key systems actors. The Advocates recommends that it is created as soon as possible and that there is one entity designated to monitor that all designated actors are submitting up-to-date information.

#### Protection of personal data Article 34

State agencies and institutions responsible for implementation of this law are obliged to protect personal data, according to the law governing the protection of personal data.

To collect the data contained in the records did not require the consent of the person to whom the data relate.

# **VIII. APPLICATION OF MONITORING**

#### Council for combating domestic violence Article 35

The government establishes the Council for the Prevention of Domestic Violence (hereinafter: Council), which monitors the application of this law and improves the coordination and effectiveness of prevention of domestic violence and protection from domestic violence.

The members of the Council are composed of representatives of state bodies and institutions responsible for implementation of this law.

The Council may, if necessary, engage in the work and representatives of scientific and other professional institutions and associations whose activities are related to the protection of domestic violence.

The composition, operation and decisions of the Council shall be regulated the Government's act on the Council's education.

# **IX. SANCTIONS**

#### Violations

#### Article 36

Imprisonment for up to 60 days shall be imposed on a person who violates an emergency measure that had been imposed or extended.

A fine of 50,000 dinars to 150,000 dinars shall be imposed on the responsible person in the state and other authorities, organizations, and institutions that fails to immediately report or react to the police or the public prosecutor, or obstructs reporting or responding to any knowledge about domestic violence or immediate danger of it (Article 13, paragraph 2).

Conviction for an offense referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article may be enforced before its finality, according to the Law on Misdemeanors.

# X. CLOSING AND FINAL CONDITIONS

The deadline for the adoption of implementing regulations

# Article 37

Bylaws envisaged by this law shall be passed within three months from the entry of this law into force, with the exception of the measure taken by the group for coordination and cooperation that will be issued within 30 days from the date of their education.

# Deadline for education group for coordination and cooperation between the Council and the posting of certain liaison

# Article 38

Until the effective date of this law shall be formed groups for coordination and cooperation between the Council and appointed the persons designated as liaison.

# Final provision Article 39

This law comes into force eight days after its publication in the "Official Gazette of the Republic of Serbia", and shall apply from 1 June 2017.

# **APPENDIX C. LIST OF TERMS AND ABBREVIATIONS**

Admonition – sanctions on conviction that are warnings from a judge that do not require the defendant to pay fines or serve time in prison and are intended to deter offenders from committing further criminal offenses. See also Judicial Admonition.

Aggravating factors/circumstances – factors that increase liability or make a crime more serious

**Batterer Intervention Program (BIP)** – a program that batterers attend designed to teach how to resolve family problems without using violence, usually as part of the legal system response to an act of domestic violence. A BIP may also be referred to as a "perpetrator behavior program," "behavior treatment program," or "perpetrator rehabilitation program."

**Cautionary Measures** – there are two types of cautionary measures under the Criminal Code: a suspended sentence and judicial admonition (Art. 64, CC).

Center for Social Work – also referred to as CSW.

**Confrontation** – a process employed by courts where parties can question or address witnesses and opposing parties face-to-face.

**Court executors** – appointed by the courts to implement or enforce court orders.

**CSW** – Center for Social Work.

**CSW Protocol** – Special Protocol for Action of the Centre for Social Work – Custody Authority in Cases of Domestic and Intimate Partner Violence against Women.

*Ex officio* – "from the office." These may refer to *ex officio* powers that can be exercised by an officer which are not specifically conferred upon him, but are implied by his office. *E.g.*, a prosecutor may initiate prosecution *ex officio* for certain crimes and does not require the victim to initiate proceedings.

*Ex parte* – a court proceeding or order that is done for the benefit of one party only, and without notice to the opposing party. In the domestic violence context, *ex parte* generally means a process granting protective measures without both parties present.

**Expunge** – to remove. Expungement in domestic violence could mean that the domestic violence case is erased from the perpetrator's criminal record.

Femicide – the murder of a woman because she is a woman.

General Protocol – General Protocol for Action and Cooperation of Institutions, Bodies and Organisations in the Situations of Violence against Women within the Family and in Intimate Partner Relationship

**Guardianship authority** – activities of family protection, family aid and guardianship, in terms of the Family Law that are performed by a Center for Social Work (Art. 12, Family Law)

Health Protocol – Republic of Serbia Ministry of Health – Special Protocol for the Protection and Treatment of Women Victims of Violence

Interim Protective Measures – temporary protective measures that are intended to be issued more quickly to provide protection during court proceedings for longer-term protective measures (Family Law)

Judicial Admonition – a warning or caution from the judge instead of punishment. Judicial admonition can also be imposed along with a suspended sentence (Art. 77, Criminal Code)

Judicial Protocol – The Special Protocol for the Judiciary in cases of violence against women in the family and intimate relationships.

Judicial Rehabilitation – deletes conviction and terminates all legal consequences of the Criminal Code, and the convicted person shall be deemed to have no criminal record (Art. 99, Criminal Code). Judicial rehabilitation is granted by a judge in certain circumstances. Contrast to Legal Rehabilitation, Art. 98, Criminal Code, which occurs by virtue of the law itself in certain circumstances.

Legal Rehabilitation – deletes conviction and terminates all legal consequences of the Criminal Code, and the convicted person shall be deemed to have no criminal record (Art. 98, Criminal Code). Legal rehabilitation occurs by virtue of the law itself in certain circumstances. Contrast to Judicial Rehabilitation, Art. 99, Criminal Code. Judicial rehabilitation is granted by a judge in certain circumstances.

Mandatory reporting – when someone is legally required to report that they know of domestic violence or suspect potential domestic violence.

Marital rape – non-consensual sex in which the perpetrator is the victim's spouse.

**Measures to secure the defendant** – mechanisms to secure the defendant's presence in court and facilitate unobstructed proceedings (Criminal Procedure Code, Art. 188, et al.).

Mediation – legal process, generally supervised by the courts, where parties negotiate their differences and attempt to reach a mutual solution. This often involves a neutral third party facilitator, which is the court under Serbian law. In Serbia, mediation includes both "reconciliation" and "settlement" (Art. 229, Family Law).

Mitigating factors/circumstances – factors that decrease liability or partially justify the behavior. Mitigating factors can result in a reduced sentence.

**Ombudsman** – the Ombudsman of Serbia (also referred to as the Protector of Citizens) is an independent and autonomous government body, responsible for the protection and promotion of rights and liberties.

**Police Protocol** – Special Protocol on Conduct of Police Officers in Cases of Domestic and Intimate Partner Violence against Women.

**Precautionary measures** – measures that may be imposed as part of a misdemeanor sentence to eliminate conditions that enable or encourage a perpetrator to commit a new offense (Arts. 51 and 53, Misdemeanor Law).

**Private prosecution** – when a victim or injured party must carry out the prosecution by herself or hire an attorney to do so. The private prosecutor is the person who has submitted a private prosecution in connection with a criminal offence prosecutable by law by private prosecution.

**Protective measures** (Art. 198, Family Law) –measures ordered by the court to restrict a domestic violence perpetrator's rights, such as eviction, a restraining order, prohibition against further violence of the family member, and an order to move into a family home.

**Protective Supervision** – measures of assistance, care, supervision and protection that can be ordered in addition to a suspended sentence. (Art. 71, et al., Criminal Code).

Protector of Citizens – see Ombudsman.

**Psychosocial** – a mental health term meaning something, such as a treatment plan, that has both mental and social aspects.

**Reconciliation** – process to "resolve the troubled relation between spouses without conflict and without divorce." (Art. 234, Family Law). Reconciliation may also include an informal practice by police and other authorities to encourage parties to reconcile and stay together.

**Risk assessment** –a procedure used to assess the danger and likelihood of death for a victim in a domestic violence situation.

Security measures – measures ordered with a criminal sentence to eliminate circumstances or conditions that may have influence on an offender committing criminal offences in future. (Art. 79, 80, Criminal Code) There are several security measures including compulsory psychiatric, alcohol, and drug addiction treatments; confiscation of objects; and restraining orders prohibiting physical proximity and communication with aggrieved parties.

*Sua sponte* – of one's own will; voluntarily. Commonly used when judges issue orders not specifically requested by parties to a proceeding.

Summary proceedings – expedited court proceedings. Also referred to as urgent proceedings.

**Suspended sentence** – when the court issues a sentence but it is not imposed on the perpetrator unless he violates a condition of the sentence during a specific timeframe. (Art. 65, Criminal Code).

Urgent proceedings – see summary proceedings.

Warning – when a perpetrator is not sanctioned, but instead is told that future punishment will occur if the actions happen again.

# The Advocates for Human Rights

# **Women's Human Rights Report Series**

(Publications are available at TheAdvocatesForHumanRights.org)

Implementation of Montenegro's Domestic Violence Legislation, July 2017

Assessment of Domestic Violence Laws, Policies, & Practices in Central and Eastern Europe and the Former Soviet Union, 2016

Implementation of Croatia's Domestic Violence Legislation: Follow-Up Report, March 2016

Recommendations for Effective Batterer Intervention Programs in Central & Eastern Europe & the Former Soviet Union, January 2016

Safe Harbor: Fulfilling Minnesota's Promise to Protect Sexually Exploited Youth, 2013

Implementation of Mongolia's Domestic Violence Legislation, 2014

Implementation of the Republic of Moldova's Domestic Violence Legislation, 2012

Implementation of Croatia's Domestic Violence Legislation, 2012

Documenting the Implementation of Domestic Violence Laws: A Human Rights Monitoring Methodology, 2011

Sex Trafficking Needs Assessment for the State of Minnesota, 2008

Domestic Violence in Tajikistan, 2008

Implementation of the the Bulgarian Law on Protection against Domestic Violence: A Human Rights Report, 2008

Journey to Safety: The Battered Immigrant Woman's Experience, 2008

Domestic Violence and Child Abuse in Georgia: An Assessment of Current Standings of Law and Practice Regarding Domestic Abuse and Child Abuse in Georgia, and Recommendations for Future United Nations Country Team Involvement, 2006

The Government Response to Domestic Violence Against Refugee and Immigrant Women in Minneapolis/St. Paul Metropolitan Area: A Human Rights Report, 2004

Domestic Violence in Poland, 2002

Sexual Harassment and Employment Discrimination in Poland, 2002

Domestic Violence in Armenia, 2000

Domestic Violence in Moldova, 2000

Domestic Violence in Ukraine, 2000

Domestic Violence in Uzbekistan, 2000

Trafficking in Women: Moldova and Ukraine, 2000

Sex Discrimination and Sexual Harassment in the Workplace in Bulgaria, 1999

Domestic Violence in Nepal, 1998

Domestic Violence in Macedonia, 1998

Domestic Violence in Albania, 1996



Changing the world for good.